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From 1987 through 1990, three group photographs adorned the 
walls of my office inside a vault within the American embassy in 
Tegucigalpa, Honduras. During those years I was Senior Liaison 
Officer, or SLO, to the Nicaraguan Democratic Resistance move- 
ment in the regon, a career foreign service officer engaged in the 
decidedly undiplomatic task of overseeing in the field, as best I 
could, a large covert project the world knew as Nicaragua's Contra 
War. One photograph was of the Nine Comandantes of the 1979-90 
Sandinista Revolution, the second was of the civilian directors of 
the Nicaraguan Resistance, and the thud was of a group of coman- 
dantes of the Fuerza Democratica Nicaragiiense, or FDN, the main 
Contra army1 The similarities and differences between the groups 
in the three photographs constantly intrigued me. 

The people in the first two photographs, the Sandinistas and the 
Resistance civilian directors, were all what Nicaraguans call espafioles, 
white Europeans, from their country's dominant elite. The coman- 
dantes were indios from a different world. The comandantes in the 
third photograph were the field commanders of an armed resis- 
tance movement against the Sandinista Revolution that began 
deep in Nicaragua's mountainous central highlands in mid-1979 
and continued throughout the Revolution and afterward. The 
highlander Resistance was largely responsible for keeping the 



xvi PREFACE 

Sandinistas from consolidating their hold on Nicaragua. Eleven 
years later in 1990 the Sandinista Revolution was abruptly ended 
at the polls by the Nicaraguan people, making it what former 
Sandinista Front national director Plutaro Hemhdez calls 'lustory's 
shortest revol~tion."~ 

After the defeat of the Revolution in 1990, as part of an interna- 
tionally brokered peace process, the Contras began to lay down 
their AK-47s and go home. Also as part of the negotiated process, 
the Organization of American States (OAS) agreed to assist with 
their return and reintegration into civil society, and developed a 
mission plan for doing so that was based on the public wartime 
image of the Contras: an unrepresentative army created by the 
American CIA under orders of President Reagan consisting of 
former Guardia Nacional thugs of the Somoza dictatorship the 
Sandinistas had overthrown. The OAS established a special office in 
Nicaragua to perform this mission, the Comisi6n Intemacional de 
Apoyo y Verificacih, known as CIAV/OAS. Several OAS officials 
who then went to Nicaragua to implement the mission informed 
me that because they initially believed in the Contra's wartime 
propaganda image, they were caught entirely off guard by the 
geography, numbers, and social origins of the real Contras when 
they emerged from their sanctuaries. The officials were especially 
impressed by the force of the FDN's combatants, its Comandos as 
they called themselves, who comprised more than 80 percent of all 
the Contra combatants. By mid-1991, the OAS office in Nicaragua 
had registered more than 28,000 Contra combatants, including 
22,435 FDN Comandos, three times more than they had expected.3 

The most significant revelation for American officials at this 
time was the social profile of the Comandos, Nicaragua's unknown 
Contras. Ninety-five percent of the FDN Comandos were high- 
lander indio peasants. Seven percent were women. Nine thousand 
returned to just 17 peasant communities deep within Nicaragua's 
central mountains. In addition, more than 80,000 entirely unan- 
ticipated civilian FDN supporters who had been with them in 
their sanctuaries also appeared, increasing the number of Contras 
going home to more than 100,000. And when they arrived at their 
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peasant communities an even larger and less expected group of 
Contras was there to greet them, the 400,000 to 500,000 peasants of 
their organized support system who had fed, housed, healed, and 
hid the Comandos through 11 years of war. The "Contras" turned 
out not to have been a small, unrepresentative American-created 
army but merely the armed tip of a popular peasant Resistance 
movement with more than half a million participants and even 
more sympathizers. 

On the question of why American officials were caught so far 
off guard, a top OAS peacemaker who was still involved in 1999, 
Sergio Caramagna, states bluntly: "The very first lesson we learned 
in Nicaragua was not to bring prejudices and preconceptions to 
such a process. For indeed we brought our own biases and fears 
with us. . . . It [the highlander Resistance] was very difficult and far 
more complex than we had been led to believe by our only previ- 
ous source of information, wartime pr~paganda."~ The Comandos 
called the wartime propaganda image assigned to them La Layenda 
Negra, the Black Legend of the Contras. And because the OAS, 
along with the rest of the outside world, had believed it, the peace 
process initially failed and the unknown Contra War continued in 
the highlands for six more years, until it finally ended in 1996.= 

This is the story of the resistance movement at the heart of the 
Contra War that the outside world never knew and the OAS only 
began to discover in 1990. I sometimes feel I have been preparing 
for most of my life to write it. I first came to know Nicaragua 
during a 1956-59 tour at the American embassy in Managua, and 
it was then and there I met and married my Costa Rican bride, now 
my wife of forty-two years, and learned idiomatic Spanish (not 
entirely unrelated events). From then on more than half my life has 
been spent dealing with Latin American affairs, including overseas 
tours in Paraguay Mexico, El Salvador, and Honduras, and as desk 
officer for Paraguay/Uruguay and deputy coordinator for Cuba 
in Washington. During my ten years in the Marine Corps, twenty- 
seven years as a career foreign service officer (FSO) of the Depart- 
ment of State, and eight years studying Nicaragua, guerrilla wars 
have been my second major focus, including Marine service related 
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to insurgencies in Malaysia, Thailand, Burma, Laos, the Philip- 
pines, and Indonesia, and two tours during my diplomatic career, 
including one as a district senior advisor in Vietnam. Twenty-two 
years on Latin America, ten on insurgencies. 

When in 1987, and despite the Iran-Contra scandal, President 
Reagan asked for and received from Congress $100 million in 
covert lethal aid for the Contras, it came with a proviso: the secre- 
tary of state was required by Congress to take personal responsi- 
bility for the project. In response, two offices were created, one in 
the State Department, the other in Central America near the main 
Contra sanctuaries. I went to head up the one in Honduras, which 
is how I came to spend so much time inside my vault in Teguci- 
galpa contemplating the three photographs. For the next three- 
and-a-half years, from 1987 through 1990, I spent more time with 
Contras than with Americans. 

In 1992, when my twenty-seven-year diplomatic career ended, 
I began working toward a Ph.D, choosing the unknown Contra 
War as my dissertation subject. I wanted to do my best to minimize 
the impact of my own admitted sympathies for the Comandos on 
my findings. So, in addition to leaning heavily on my dissertation 
committee and other knowledgeable professionals, I first attempted 
to base my study primarily on published materials. But while a 
review of the literature and public documents turned up a small 
library of books, articles, speeches, transcripts of hearings, and 
occasional papers on the Contra War, almost none described the 
Comandos themselves. Then the Comandos, and some rocket- 
propelled grenades (RPGs), came to my rescue. 

Most of the FDN archives had disappeared, but some had 
been saved. These were in the hands of their postwar veteran's 
organization, the Asociacion Civica Resistencia NicaraNense 
(ACRN), whose president and directors I had known well during 
the war. In 1992, as I began my dissertation field research, small- 
scale fighting continued in Nicaragua's central mountains, and 
even the former Comandos in its cities remained at risk. Just a 
week before my first research visit to Managua the ACRN offices 
were fired on with RPGs and automatic weapons. To protect their 
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surviving archives the ACRN agreed to my putting them in a safer 
place and gave me exclusive permission to use them in my 
research. They turned out to contain approximately 265,000 pages 
of original documents, some dating back to the very beginnings of 
the Resistance in 1979-81. From them I compiled data on the 
Comandos' social o r ip s ,  birth places, dates of entry, and family 
backgrounds. I further obtained more than thirty thousand pages 
of formerly classified U.S. government documents, most origi- 
nated by the Department of State, the Agency for International 
Development (AID), or the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), as 
well as an eight-volume Costa Rican investigative archive concern- 
ing the war. I also reviewed a number of public arduval collections. 
I was especially happy to receive among the Freedom of Informa- 
tion and Privacy Act (FOIA) releases many of my own reports from 
the SLO office in Tegucigalpa. With FOIA approval, I could now 
use information of which I had been aware but could not other- 
wise include because of its special SECRET EXDIS CONTRA classifica- 
tion. And yet even then the voices of the Comandos themselves 
remained silent. Once again they, as well as some officers of 
CW/OAS (the OAS office in Nicaragua still dealing with the rein- 
sertion problem), came to my rescue. 

From the ACRN archives I was able to develop a list of 
Comandos who had entered the movement during its first three 
years, between 1979 and 1981, and the ACRN set about locating 
them for me. Many had been among the 8,500 to 10,500 Comandos 
who had been killed during the war, many others feared for their 
lives, others lived deep in the mountains where fighting contin- 
ued. But I was able to find more than forty who agreed to provide 
me with structured oral histories. Because some Comandos lived in 
zones s td  at war, CIAV/OAS officers who knew the zones accom- 
panied me when I conducted several of the histories deep in the 
mountains. All were videotaped. Each explores the subject's iden- 
tity, motives for becoming a Comando, combat history, opinions 
of other actors, and conclusions about the war. Thirty-three are 
listed in the bibliography by name. For the safety of the subjects, 
ten are not. These oral histories became a prime source of both 
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comparative data and individual comments. I also drew up a list 
of other people with knowledge pertinent to this study which 
led to several more oral histories and more than a hundred other 
less structured interviews. Again, for security, privacy and legal 
reasons, only some are listed in the bibliography. 

Two features of this book may warrant explanation. One is my 
treatment of noms de guerre, or pseudonyms. Revolutionaries, 
guerrillas, and others engaged in clandestine enterprises usually 
use pseudonyms to disguise their true identities. They also change 
them occasionally. When known and when it is safe to disclose 
them, real names and principal pseudonyms are both given when 
first mentioned in the text. Thereafter only principal pseudonyms 
are used. In some cases, only pseudonyms were available. 
Pseudonyms are put in quotation marks at first mention only. The 
other feature is the book's organization. For readers unfamiliar 
with the subject, it is useful to learn something about Nicaragua in 
general and the historical, geographic, and social contexts within 
which the unknown Contra War was fought. But the main focus 
of the book is the Comandos and the peasantry they represented. 
If four or five chapters on context were to come first, their story 
would be pushed back more than a hundred pages. So I chose to 
start with the war, put short synopses of the Comandos' history, 
geography, and social roles in my introduction, and leave more 
detailed discussion of these topics for chapters 11-15. Thus, follow- 
ing a short introductory chapter, chapters 2-5 discuss the earliest 
armed highland peasant Resistance groups, the Militias Populares 
Anti-Sandinistas, or MILPAS, who independently took up arms in 
197941. Chapters 6-8 then introduce exile paramilitary groups 
that organized outside Nicaragua from the ranks of former soldiers 
of the Somoza Guardia Nacional, the arrival on the scene of the 
CIA and its Argentine surrogates in 198042, and the uneasy 
alliance between the MILPAS and Guardia exiles that became the 
FDN. Chapters 9-10 then describe the formal organization of the 
Resistance movement and the key roles women played in it. 
Chapters 11-13 provide discussions of the conflict's historical, 
geographic and social contexts. The final chapters, 14-17, place the 
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war within a larger theoretical framework and discuss how it 
ended, its aftermath, and my conclusions. This, then, is the story of 
the unknown Contra War, told for the first time from the perspec- 
tive of the Contras themselves. 
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Three different groups joined with me to produce this study: 
former Comandos of the Nicaraguan Democratic Resistance intent 
on telling their stories, academics dedicated to making sure that it 
met their high professional standards, and my family. Without all 
three I would not have been able to write the book. Accounts of 
the Contras written by outsiders abound. Most are hostile, a hand- 
ful sympathetic. My listing of these materials ran more than 135 
pages, not including tens of thousands of declassified U.S. govern- 
ment documents. But I quickly discovered that these sources could, 
at best, provide only background. Only the Comandos themselves 
could tell their own story. My very special thanks go to those who 
did, especially Oscar Sobalvarro, "Comandante Rubh," who gave 
me invaluable and exclusive access to surviving archives, and Abel 
Cespedes, "Comandante Cyro," who helped me find and inter- 
view more than a hundred former Comandos in Nicaragua and 
Honduras. They and many others gave me hours, even days and 
weeks of their time. Because the war itself was still under way as 
I was doing the research, many risked their lives to help me. Even 
today, in the year 2000, many cannot be named without jeopar- 
dizing their safety. But without them I could not have completed 
this study. To them, my deepest admiration and thanks. 
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C H A P T E R  ONE 

INTRODUCTION 

"A Whole Bunch of Really Pissed-off Peasants " 

Iran-Contra, Oliver North, Congressional hearings, campus demon- 
strations, Contras as archvillains in movies and novels: Nicaragua's 
Contra War was at the center of a political fire storm second 
perhaps only to Vietnam in the passions it generated. At the height 
of the controversy, the Contras were regularly maligned as being 
no more than a mercenary gang of forrner Guardia soldier thugs of 
Nicaragua's odious Somoza dictatorship, hired by the Central 
Intelligence Agency (CIA) under orders from reactionary American 
President Ronald Reagan to fight the popular Sandinista Revolu- 
tion. In reality, more than 80 percent of the Contras were highland 
peasants and the remainder were tribal Indians or Black Creoles 
trying to defend themselves against what they saw as an attempt 
to destroy their ways of life. 

In public, President Ronald Reagan called the Contras Freedom 
Fighters, but in private, even Reagan and his insiders apparently 
shared the darker vision of the Contras. Even though the CIA spent 
about $250 million for covert military aid to the Contras and 
worked with them daily for almost a decade, it now seems evident 
that they never really understood who the Contras were. As a 
result, President Reagan, CIA Director William Casey, and the U.S. 
Congress also got it wrong. The media and academics did no 
better. 



4 THE REAL CONTRA WAR 

Who were the "real Contras"? To begin with, they called them- 
selves Comandos, not Contras, which was a propaganda pejora- 
tive coined by their enemies. The largest "Contra armyu-there 
were five-was led primarily by former anti-Somoza Sandinistas, 
not former Somoza Guardia. Their war began in 1979 as a peasant 
uprising, not in 1982 as a Reagan initiative. They initially organized 
themselves under the name of MILPAS, for Militias Populares 
Anti-Sandinistas. For the first three years they fought with no 
outside help or interference. It was not until 1982, when the United 
States sponsored an alliance between the MILPAS and exiled 
former Somoza Guardia, that armed opposition to the Sandinistas 
came to world attention. The alliance was called the Fuerza Demo- 
cratica Nicaragiiense, or FDN. It was not a Guardia-only move- 
ment, but an uneasy alliance between a large MILPAS army of 
peasants and a small Guardia staff. 

Two recent books by insiders demonstrate that even the best 
informed and most sympathetic Reaganites still do not understand 
the Contras. One of these books, A Twilight Struggle, is by Robert 
Kagan, a Reagan point man in the State Department on the Contras, 
speech writer for Secretary of State George Schultz, and deputy to 
the assistant secretary for Latin America. Kagan says that as part of 
his job he "helped carry out U.S. policy towards Nicaragua and, in 
particular, American support for F e  armed Nicaraguan Resistance 
[the Contras]." According to Kagan, the earliest Nicaraguans to take 
up arms against the Sandinista Revolution were a small number of 
former Somoza Guardia: "bands of marauders, fighting their own 
private wars in the northern countryside of Nicaragua . . . foraging 
and cattle rustling, fighting only to stay alive and, on occasion, for 
revenge." He states further that "as late as February of 1981, clashes 
between opponents and the Sandinistas had taken violent form 
only on the Atlantic Coast."' 

A Spyfor All Seasons, by Duane Clarridge, dates the beginnings 
of the Contra War even later, to November 1981. Clarridge, the 
CIA's deputy director for operations (DDO) for Latin America 
from 1981 through 1984, states categorically that before then the 
only armed men opposing the Sandinistas were "five hundred 
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rag-tag troopers along the Nicaragua-Honduras border . . . 
remnants of the Nicaraguan National Guard" who were receiving 
some help from Argentina. As required by law, and drawing on 
this CIA analysis, Reagan's CIA director William Casey in much 
the same words formally informed the Senate Select Committee 
on Intelligence (SSCI) that the CIA planned to initiate a covert 
project to organize these rag-tag troopers into a "500-man force as 
a carefully limited group whose target was the Cuban support 
structure in Nicaragua." Clarridge quotes President Reagan as later 
calling the Contra army that Casey had then produced the CIA's 

"~andals."~ 
Kagan, Clarridge, Casey, and Reagan had the very best infor- 

mation available to the U.S. government, and their comments 
presumably reflect what they thought were the facts. Nevertheless, 
they were wrong. The portrait they painted coincided much more 
closely with the Left's wartime propaganda image of the Contras 
than with the truth. This darker image nonetheless became the con- 
ventional wisdom on the Contras, even according to Reaganites. 

No one ever asked if therBlack Legend was true; perhaps every- 
one from Reagan and his staff to the most learned academics was 
firmly convinced that they already knew the answer. Had every- 
one been less certain, someone just might have asked the Contra 
Comandos themselves who they were, and when, where, and why 
they had started fighting. Had they done so, they would have 
heard answers from the fighters that differed vastly from the 
myths.3 Perhaps then the image of the Contras would have changed 
from one of either devils or angels, to one more human, of simple 
peasant farmers trying to protect their tiny farms and families from 
outsiders they saw as trying to "revolutionize" them against their 
will. But no one asked, so the war and the accompanying political 
vitriol boiled for more than a decade, with both groups in equal 
ignorance. 

This study was undertaken to try to fill the void left by failure 
during the Contra War to ask the right questions of the right 
people. Albeit belatedly, I tried to answer four questions: Who were 
the first Comandos? Where were they from? When did their war 
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start? Why did they rebel? At first the task seemed straightfor- 
ward: contact as many veteran Comandos as possible, especially 
founding members, and ask them these questions. Then, as a 
cross-check, find non-Comandos with personal knowledge of the 
period and ask them the same questions. Finally, review their 
answers against existing records: look at the limited literature on 
the earliest Contra period, consider other contemporary records: 
derive some conclusions from this evidence, and write up the 
results. This approach, seemingly simple and direct, proved to be 
neither. 

One of the first Comandos with whom I spoke was a legendary 
guerrilla fighter, a very old man whom I knew only by his nom de 
guerre, "Abuelito," Great-Grandfather. A peasant from Nica- 
ragua's mountainous north, Abuelito as a young man had joined 
Gen. Augusto C6sar Sandino's rebel army to fight against the U.S. 
Marines. Years later he again joined the Sandinistas to fight 
Somoza. In 1979, he joined the Contras. Abuelito's answer would 
have startled Ronald Reagan and his point men: 

Nosotros? Guardia? Norombre! No somos mas que un 
aterro de campesinos bien encachimba'os! (Us, Guardia? 
No way! All we are is a whole bunch of really pissed-off 
 peasant^!)^ 

General Sandino's last Segovian highland campaigns began in 
1918 and ended in 1933. By 1979 his surviving soldiers were 
getting on in age, so few joined the Contras. But the younger 
peasants who did join them were the children and grandchildren 
of the same peasantry that had made up almost all of Sandino's 
army. Without the support of these people-the forefathers of the 
Contras-Sandino would probably have been little more than a 
minor historical footnote in an obscure episode. With them he 
had an army and a popular support base. 

In addition to Abuelito, I located one other former Sandino 
soldier and Contra who turned out to have been exceptionally 
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close to Sandino himself. This was his former chief bodyguard, 
Alejandro P&ez Bustamante. "Don Alejandro," as he is affection- 
ately called, was nearing his eighties when the MILPAS war started 
and could not become a Comando, but he did head up a local 
correo network. Such networks, along with clandestine support 
committees, formed the massive support base that from the begin- 
ning sustained the MILPAS in the field. The correos were their 
extended eyes and ears and link to the clandestine committees in 
local peasant communities. They collected food, supplies, and other 
help from sympathizers and carried these items to the MILPAS. 
(Correos are discussed in greater detail in chapter 9). 

A number of peasant comma leaders headed up such networks. 
Don Alejandro, who became an active Contra supporter after he 
was arrested and mistreated and after his wife was killed by the 
Sandinistas in 1980, was one of them. From 1918 to 1923, during 
Sandino's first Segovian campaign, he was personal bodyguard to 
Sandino, after whom the Sandinista Front was named. During my 
oral history interview with him, Don Alejandro insisted that "if 
Sandino had been alive during the Sandinista's Revolution, he 
would have been a C~nt ra ."~  

By the time Casey's five hundred "rag-tag" former Guardia 
troopers finally arrived on the field of battle in mid-1982; Abuelito 
and thousands of peasants lke him had been at war for three years, 
and dozens, if not hundreds, had died.9 From 1982 on, former 
Guardia, later defectors from Sandinista ranks, tribal Indians, and 
south Atlantic coast peasants did join the rebellion, and all played 
important roles. But because these later participants were far more 
accessible, visible and articulate than the peasants, their presence 
masked, even from the CIA, and c e r t d y  from Kagan and Clar- 
ridge, the underlying reality of who the "Contras" really were. 
Neither Reagan nor the rest of the world ever learned at the time 
that from their first stirring in May of 1979, until they laid down 
their arms in 1990, more than 96 percent of the troopers and combat 
leaders of Nicaragua's largest Contra army were simple mountain 
people: illiterate, unsophisticated, unworldly, perhaps, but also free, 
extremely attached to their land, homes, and families, and fiercely 
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independent. Abuelito, not Casey, the director of the world's most 
powerful intelligence organization, best knew who the real "Contras" 
were. He also best understood that theirs was not the externally 
generated war that the world, Reagan, academia, and even Casey's 
CIA thought it had organized. They were just "really pissed-off 
peasants." 

Yet even Abuelito understated the case. As this study pro- 
gressed, it became clear that the Comandos had merely been the 
armed tip of a much larger highland peasant movement they 
called La Resistencia. The highland war of 1979-90 was not only a 
local conflict fought by angry peasants. It was the armed manifes- 
tation of a much larger regional rebellion by a previously margin- 
alized, faceless, yet historically, geographically, and ethnically 
homogeneous populace that comprised between 37 and 52 percent 
of Nicaragua's entire population. This hidden reality became clear 
only after the geographically highly concentrated nature of the war 
became apparent. Armed resistance efforts from the beginning 
were found to be centered in Nicaragua's Segovian highlands, as 
were the birthplaces and historical origins of the Comandos. Also 
highly concentrated were the size, form, and peasant origins of the 
popular movement that fed, clothed, and housed them, guided 
their units, supported their recruiting efforts and political activi- 
ties, and kept them exceedingly well informed on their enemy's 
movements. 

The discovery that the Comandos had merely represented a 
much larger populace in rebellion caused me to look in much 
greater depth at the Segovian highlanders. They proved to be a 
homogeneous group with a shared history, pre-Columbian roots, 
and a centuries-old tradition of violent resistance to outsider chal- 
lenges that sets them apart from other Nicaraguans. In fact, their 
history can be traced back more than four thousand years. 

Before the Spanish arrived, Nicaragua was home to two very 
different Indian peoples. The Pacific lowlands, heavily populated 
by sixteenth-century standards, were settled by Nahua-Mexica 
Indians who were the descendants of Nicaragua's first conquis- 
tadores, an Indian group that, beginning in the ninth century, had 
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descended from the area of present-day Puebla, Mexico, into 
Central America and conquered the Pacific littoral all the way 
from Soconusco in present-day Chiapas, Mexico, to the Gulf of 
Nicoya in Costa Rica. Nahua societies were hierarchically orga- 
nized with well-defined and rigid class structures. Their main 
settlements, with names like Managua, Irnabite, and Jalteba, took 
the form of city-states. The Nicaraguan Nahua were a distant but 
integral part of the Aztec empire, to which they were linked 
historically, culturally, and commercially. Their most valuable 
export was cacao beans, which served the empire as both a 
medium of exchange and a sumptuary item to be consumed only 
by members of the nobility. These were carried to the empire's 
capital, Tenochtitlan, present-day Mexico City, on the backs of 
human porters, or tamemes. 

Nicaragua's central highlands were also heavily populated but 
by a very different people. The highlanders were Chibchan Indians 
of South American origin who had been slowly drifting into 
Central America since before 2000 B.C. Unlike the Nahuas, they did 
not live in cities or even villages but rather on individual farms. 
The Chibchas also had no central government and apparently 
liked it that way, coming together under temporary war leaders 
only when threatened from the outside. Both Nicaragua's Nahuas 
and its Chibchas were heavily populated by sixteenth-century 
standards. Managua, for example, appears to have been larger 
than most contemporary Spanish cities and second in the New 
World in size only to Tenochtitlan. Given their levels of technol- 
ogy, the size of both groups was near the optimal carrying capac- 
ity of the lands they occupied. The Nahuas and Chibchas were also 
constantly at war against one another, the Nahuas pushing 
outwardly into Chibchan territory, the Chibchas reacting. 

The Spanish arrived in Nicaragua in 1523 and by 1526 had con- 
quered the Pacific lowland Nahua. Within two decades, slaving and 
other forms of exploitation had reduced the Nahua population 
from more than one million to about 27,000. Those who survived 
became the base Indian population of Spanish colonial Nicaragua. 
In the highlands things went very differently. The Spanish did not 
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immediately conquer the highlands and as a result most of the 
region's 350,000 to 400,000 Chibchas survived. For the next three 
centuries, until Nicaragua's independence in 1821, Spanish colo- 
nial Nicaragua was divided between the Spanish Pacific and 
Indian highlands, with Indian wars occurring regularly in the 
highlands. Over the centuries and under constant pressure from 
the outside, the highland Chibchas did slowly convert to Catholi- 
cism and lose their native language. But even as they were being 
transmuted under pressure from Indians into indios, the high- 
landers continued to violently resist Pacific lowlander domination. 

The last widely recognized highland Indian war took place in 
Matagalpa in the 1920s. But if the geography and history of the 
region, and the Comandos' self-identification as indios (discussed 
further in chapters 11-13) are taken into account, Nicaragua's 
unknown Contra war should probably be added to the list. Map 1 
and table 1 illustrate my reasons for reaching this rather unex- 
pected conclusion. Map 1 shows the following: (1) where Indian 
wars took place from 1526 through the 1950s, (2) where the first 
Contra groups emerged in 1979-81, and (3) the locations of the 
seventeen peasant communities to which 8,977 FDN Comandos 
returned in 1990-91. Table 1 lists the number of Comandos who 
returned to each of them. Maps 2-9, and tables 3-7, which appear 
in later chapters, further reinforce these findings. The Sandinistas 
and their sympathizers may have viewed the Comandos as useful 
counterrevolutionary foils, the Americans may have seen them as 
convenient surrogates in a late cold-war skirmish, and civilian 
politicians may have thought of them as useful stepping stones to 
power. But the peasants of Nicaragua's highlands saw them as 
their shield against yet one more in a thousand-year-old string of 
attempts at subjugation by outsiders. The highlander peasants 
were almost entirely illiterate and had long since been robbed of 
their own history. But to them the conflict the outside world called 
the Contra War was a struggle to defend their embattled identity. 
Although they did not speak in such modern academic terms, the 
responses of the Comandos to my interview questions made the 
same point in even more poignant terms. 
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T A B L E  1 
FDN Returnees: Seventeen Top Locales 

Rio Blanco 
Waslala 
Jinotega 
Wiwili 
Santo Domingo 
Matagalpa 
San Jos6 de Bocay 
El Cu5 Bocay 
Quilali 
Santa Maria de Pantasma 
San Juan del Rio Coco 
Yali 
Chontales 
Juigalp a 
Villa Sandino 
Rancho Grande 
Santo Tomas 

SOURCE: C I A V / O A S ,  Numero de Desrnovilizados por Lugar de Nacimiento, 
Managua, Computer  run, 1993. 

The peasant Comandos made it clear to me that they saw 
themselves and the peasantry from which they had emerged as 
different from others in their country. They also saw themselves 
in "us-versus-them" terms and their war as not only a battle 
against a revolution, but also a peasant fight against urban Pacific 
lowland espafioles, or Spaniards. Of forty-four Comandos formally 
interviewed, all but one idenidied himself or herself as indio. This 
strongly suggests that the highland war had an ethnic dimension 
and that the Comandos had consciously placed themselves on the 
Indian side of Nicaragua's principal ethnic divide.1° 



Map 1. Comparison of the Nicaraguan highlands (Segovian and adja- 
cent), the Pre-Columbian division of highland Chichban Indians to the 
east and Pacific coastal Nahua-Mexica to the west, the 1523-1920s Indian 
wars, and the 17 locales to which almost 9,000 Comandos returned most 
frequently in 1990-91. 
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THE MILPAS WAR, 1979-1982 

When the last Somoza, Anastacio Somoza Debayle, fled Nicaragua 
in July 1979, the most radical of the leaders of the Frente Sandinista 
de Liberacih Nacional, Sandinista National Liberation Front or 
FSLN, who had led the effort to overthrow him, took power almost 
immediately and launched a socialist revolution. Even before they 
began, however, an incipient revolt against their plans to revolu- 
tionize Nicaragua had begun to brew among guerrillas of a 
Sandinista unit made up of Segovian highlander peasants, known 
as the Militias Populares Anti-Somocistas (People's Anti-Somoza 
Militias, or MILPA).' The MILPA battalion was part of the 
Sandinistas' northern Carlos Fonseca F r ~ n t . ~  (Why they rebeled so 
early is explained in Chapter 3.) 

Only days after they took power, the radical Sandinistas began 
sending political cadre from Nicaragua's Pacific cities into the 
highlands to implement their new programs. Almost as quickly, 
the highland peasants began to resist. It is not clear exactly when 
or how they first linked up with the already rebellious anti- 
Somoza Milpistas, but within weeks peasants in several rural 
highland comarcas3 joined efforts with Milpistas to organize an 
armed resistance movement. According to involved Milpista 
Comandos, such cooperation resulted in the earliest comarca-based 
small guerrilla groups in August 1979.4 Each was autonomous and, 
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in the beginning, usually unaware of the existence of other 
groups. Even so, and despite their lack of central organization, 
several of them chose to call themselves the Militias Populares 
Anti-Sandinistas (People's Anti-Sandinista Militias, or MILPAS) 
deliberately, in order to indicate continuity with their earlier anti- 
Somoza incarnation. MILPAS combatants were still called 
Milpistas. 

The first serious battle of the Contra War was fought on the 
slopes of El Chipote in November 1979. Seventy peasant rebels 
attacked a Sandinista military camp northeast of the small 
Nicaraguan mountain town of Quilali. On the slopes of this 
legendary mountain, deep in the Segovian highlands, Augusto 
Cesar Sandino had stationed his main camp during his 1927-32 
fight against the United States  marine^.^ Five of the attackers were 
killed, and a sixth ~ o u n d e d . ~  (Two who died went by the noms de 
guerre of "Chacal" and "Rudino." The names of the other three 
have been lost to history7 A sixth peasant, "Ciiliz," was wounded. 
The story of the battle was recounted to me by Caliz's half-brother, 
"Pry~r.")~ By then a number of MILPAS groups, each with from 
forty to eighty Milpista guerrillas, had become active in comarcas 
on Nicaragua's agricultural frontier. This lay along the Coco River 
and its tributaries, the Murra, Pantasma, Chachagua, and El CuA 
Rivers. The groups were established, in particular, near the river- 
side towns of Quilali, Wiwili, El Cu& Las Praderas, and nearby 
villages. A few were also active along the Bocay R i ~ e r . ~  All these 
places are in the heart of Nicaragua's highlands (see map 2), and 
are primarily populated by peasants. 

One of these guerrilla groups was led by "Ger6nimo,"lo a peas- 
ant from a comarca in Jinotega near Santa Maria de Pantasma just 
east of Las Praderas. Ger6nimo was a veteran guerrilla who had 
fought for several years as an anti-Somoza Milpista under legen- 
dary Sandinista MILPA commander Germ6n Pomares Ordofiez, 
"El Danto."" By November 1979, Ger6nirnoJs new MILPAS group 
had about seventy combatants, thirty-five of whom were workmg 
in teams of two or three near Jinotegan areas known as Planos de 
Bilh, La Pita del Carmen, Aguas Calientes, and La Zompopera.12 
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Map 2. The earliest MILPAS operating areas in 1979, from El Chipote 
south through Quilali to Las Praderas. 

The teams cooperated with the peasants, organizing correos and 
clandestine comarca committees in anticipation of the coming war.13 

Pryor's half-brother Cdiz  was with one of the teams and told 
the following story. A number of peasant comarca caciques (com- 
munity chiefs)l4 complained to Gerbnirno's teams about a new 
Sandinista cooperative farm, a form of collective, being developed 
nearby on the slopes of El Chipote.l5 The Sandinistas were creating 
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the cooperative out of ten smaUFncas (farms) that they had seized 
and were turning it into what the campesinos called an "aldea 
armada," or armed hamlet. The campesinos feared that if the 
Sandinistas succeeded, they would be encouraged to seize their 
fincas as well, in order to create even more cooperatives. Because 
the Milpistas also wanted to stop the Sandinistas from establish- 
ing themselves in the rural highland comarcas and to push them 
out of the mountains, they were receptive to the complaints. 
Ger6nimo and his Milpistas agreed to attack a military base being 
built to protect the new cooperative, which was garrisoned by 
about thirty-five soldiers of the Sandinista's Nuevo Ejercito (New 
Army)16 and by some 160 militiamen.l7 

From a military perspective, Ger6nimo's attack did not go espe- 
cially well. Five of his Milpistas were killed; his group captured 
only one weapon; and they did not inflict any known casualties on 
the Sandinistas. But from a political point of view it was a success, 
and that was more important; the peasants were pleased and their 
support for Ger6nimo's group increased,18 and the Sandinistas' 
efforts to establish a viable cooperative on the slopes of El Chipote 
were seriously delayed. The attack also advanced the Milpistas' 
objective of stopping the consolidation of the Sandinista Revo- 
lution in the highlands. 

Another former anti-Somoza Milpista, "Tigre," described two 
other early MILPAS clashes with Sandinista military units.19 In 
early January 1980, he and three comrades were ambushed near a 
settlement known as La Morena near La Chachagua. Like Chliz, 
they had been working as a team in nearby comarcas and helping 
organize systems of correos and clandestine comarca committees. 
The campesinos had given them a few hunting weapons that they 
hoped to use to capture superior weapons from Sandinistas. But 
before they could do so, they themselves were attacked by a San- 
dinista patrol one night, as they slept in the hut of some friendly 
campesinos. In the ensuing skirmish one of the Milpistas, "Olla 
Fuerte," was killed,2O and a Sandinista soldier was wounded. Tigre 
escaped by dressing in women's clothes and mnning through the 
darkness into a nearby woods while screaming in a falsetto voice 
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that he hoped sounded female.21 He was also involved in a skir- 
mish in October 1980, near San Antonio La Cuchilla, while with 
another small group of Milpistas that included "El Nortefio," 
"Gato Brunks," "Silvio Picado," "Pocoyo," and "Jimmy Leo."* The 
group was ambushed by a Sandinista patrol while going to pick 
up some hunting weapons from sympathetic campesinos. Another 
Milpista, "La Sorpresa," was killed. 

Several Comandos said that during 1979 and 1980, the Sandin- 
istas captured and executed a number of Milpistas, including a 
member of the extensive Galeano clan, in December 1979.23 
Another, Richard Zelaya, suffered the same fate in January 1980. 
A half-brother of Zelaya, Denis Meza, was reported missing in 
action and presumably executed that June." Another well-known 
Milpista, the first "Rigoberto," is said to have been executed by the 
Sandinistas after he was captured in a clash in September 1980.25 
Another prominent fellow Milpista, Tirso Moreno, promptly 
adopted his nom de guerre in tribute.26 

In addition to those killed in battle or executed after they were 
captured, a few Milpistas were killed or executed by their own 
companions. Tigre recalled that one known as "Caturra" died in late 
1980, victim of a Milpista ambush. A peasant from Wiwili, Caturra 
had been with El Danto during the war against Somoza. In 1979, 
he had a serious falling out with the leader of his MILPAS group, 
Irene Calder611,2~ and he was killed shortly thereafter in an ambush 
led by Calderbn, while bringing back ammunition that Calder6n 
had sent him to buy in Honduras. Tigre was not sure whether 
Caturra's death was deliberate or a matter of "friendly fire."28 

Oscar Sobalvarro, whose o r ipa l  nom de guerre was "Culebra," 
was one of the earliest Milpista leaders, eventually rising up the 
ranks to become the FDN's last overall commander. He later 
changed his nom de guerre to "Rubh," which is how I knew him. 
During one of numerous conversations we held, he described the 
circumstances of another case in more certain terms than had Tigre 
regarding the case of Caturra. A former Guardia, Antonio ArAuz, 
joined Rub6nrs group in late 1980 but could not be c0ntrolled.~9 
R u b h  and his peasant Milpistas were fully aware that they were 
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there as representatives of the comarcas, not as individuals. They 
knew that they were dependent on the campesinos for their 
survival and success as guerrillas, and many compesinos were, in 
any case, personal friends or family members. They were therefore 
extremely sensitive to local feelings and sensitivities. Ar6uz was 
not so restrained and was reprimanded several times for miscon- 
duct but would not stop behaving unacceptably. His final infrac- 
tion occurred only a few weeks after he joined the group, when he 
raped a schoolteacher. Rub6nfs group, appalled, held a field trial, 
found Ar6uz guilty of rape, shot him, and buried his body in the 
rno~nta ins .~~ 

Rub& commented that during this early period, when possi- 
ble, the Milpistas preferred to avoid combat and even tried to 
avoid inflicting unnecessary casualties on the Sandinistas. This was 
difficult during skirmishes, but possible in casual contacts. In June 
1980, his group captured two State Security soldiers near the settle- 
ment of Agua Fresca. They turned out to be young students from 
the Pacific Coast who were going to visit some girls in the nearby 
hills. Much to the troopersf surprise, Ruben's group took their 
weapons but did them no harm. Instead, after subjecting them to 
a harangue, they sent the soldiers back to their base with a 
message. "We're not Guardia, just very angry peasants. If you 
leave us alone, we won't fight you."31 

At first, although sometimes aware of other groups, each 
MILPAS group operated more or less autonomously within its 
defined territory and in cooperation only with its home comarcas. 
But as the rebellion spread, and the number of MILPAS groups 
multiplied and became more active, a few began to coordinate 
their efforts. At this point, the MILPAS groups stopped avoiding 
direct military action. This became clear even to outside observers 
when, on 23 July 1980, several MILPAS groups emerged from their 
mountain sanctuaries and, in a planned joint attack, captured 
Quilali. 

Cuba's Fidel Castro, in Nicaragua at the time to help celebrate 
the first anniversary of the Sandinista revolution, was a mere fifty 
miles away, giving a speech in another mountain town, E ~ t e l i . ~ ~  
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Perhaps in part because of Castro's proximity, Sandinista State 
Security chief Lenin Cerna rushed to the region, and the army 
launched helicopter patrols and infantry sweeps in search of the 
Milpista attackers.33 The Sandinistas also acted against one of their 
own units that had mutinied and refused to fight when the 
Milpistas attacked. They arrested the police commander of Quilali, 
who had abandoned his post under fire and led away most of the 
town's best-armed troops, leaving the city defenseless. Eighteen 
other Sandinistas were placed under in~estigation.~~ Apparently 
to blunt rampant rumors, the Sandinistas also found it necessary 
to make a nationwide announcement that they still controlled 
northern Ni~aragua .~~ The Sandinistas blamed the Quilali attack 
and other guerrilla actions then talung place in the highlands on 
former Guardia, although no Guardia had yet taken part in the 
combat. Following that one newsworthy episode, the outside 
world's attention turned quickly to other events. Inside Nicaragua, 
however, the reality of serious armed highlander resistance to the 
Sandinista Revolution had been driven home. 
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The MILPAS attack on Quilali had been planned and led by the 
former deputy commander of the anti-Somoza MILPA, Pedro 
Joaquin Gonzilez Charnorro, whose nom de guerre was "Dimas." 
Although Dimas had fought against the Somoza dictatorship from 
1961 to 1979, for almost eighteen years, by July 1980 he had been 
at war against his former Sandinista comrades-in-arms for over a 
year. Dimas told those who asked that he was fighting because he 
was convinced that the Sandinistas, having first betrayed hls old 
commander El Danto, were also betraying Nicaragua.l 

Gonzilez kept Dimas as his nom de guerre when he rebelled. 
Dimas was killed, almost certainly under the orders of his erst- 
while Sandinista comrades-in-arms, in August 1981. I pieced 
together his story from several sources, including from interviews 
with people who had been close to him during both his wars. 
Among those I interviewed were two senior Sandinista comman- 
ders of the initial 1959-79 phase of the Sandinista revolution, 
Plutarco Hernhdez and Alejandro Martinez, who had both also 
known well Dimas's commanding officer, Germh Pomares 
Ordofiez, "El Danto" (discussed below). I was also able to locate 
Dimas's two wives. His lawful wife was not willing to be inter- 
viewed, but his common-law wife Marina, whom I found in 
Quilali, was especially cooperative. She even provided two 
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photographs of Dimas that are included in the photo gallery. 
Several Comandos who had served under him during both conflicts 
also provided me with information. I reconstructed his story from 
their comments and a meager handful of published accounts. 

Born in the town of S6baco but raised in Quilali, Dimas was the 
most prominent highlander among the Sandinistas' guerrilla field 
commanders during the war against S~moza .~  He had joined the 
struggle against the dynasty in 1961. From 1972 through 1979 he 
commanded a guerrilla column and was serving as principal 
deputy to the MILPA batallion's well-known guerrilla comman- 
der, Sandinista leader Germh Pomares, El Danto, when El Danto 
was killed by a bullet fired from within the ranks of his own unit 
during an attack on Jinotega in May 1979.3 

EL DANTO 

El Danto himself was a fascinating, near-legendary figure. Born 
and raised in the Pacific lowland Department of Chinandega, he 
was a farmworker with little formal ed~cation.~ Nevertheless, he 
demonstrated early on the leadership qualities that were to make 
him an admired and feared guerrilla leader by helping found, in 
opposition to the Somoza government, a branch of the Juventud 
Conservadora (Conservative Youth) movement on the Hacienda 
El Puert6n where he worked. Although he had been an active 
opponent of the Somoza r e p e  for several years, El Danto's first 
attempt to become an armed anti-Somoza fighter came in April 
1958 when he and four companions went to Managua, intent on 
joining a group then planning to go to Costa Rica to prepare an 
armed attack against the Somozas. On that occasion he and his 
companions were rejected because of their peasant origins. In 
retrospect, their rejection on these grounds proved symbolic.5 

El Danto's first paramilitary experience came in 1960, when he 
received some training in the use of military weapons, including 
the .45 caliber pistol, M-l Garand rifle, and Thompson sub- 
machine gun.6 By July 1961, he had been recruited by a Conservative 
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rebel leader, Cristobal Guido, to join another group then leaving 
Nicaragua to receive professional guerrilla warfare training. El 
Danto made the first of many trips to Cuba.7 Once in Cuba, 
Castro's irregular warfare experts trained and equipped El Danto's 
group in preparation for their retum to Nicaragua as guerrillas. El 
Danto also visited other countries that were supporting attempts 
to overthrow the Somoza 

From 1961 until his death in 1979, El Danto was an active anti- 
Somoza guerrilla, eventually advancing to become one of the 
Sandinista Front's national directors and a senior field commander. 
In 1969, he was with the Sandinista commando led by then-FSLN 
Director Plutarco Hernhdez that briefly freed FSLN founder 
Carlos Fonseca from a Costa Rican jail in Alajuela, just outside the 
capital of San Jose? Unlike Fonseca or the others in the team, who 
were captured almost immediately, El Danto escaped capture by 
the Costa Ricans. Between 1969 and 1976, however, he was arrested 
at least twice inside Nicaragua for his revolutionary activities but 
released on both occasions. Two Guardia Nacional colonels who 
spoke extensively with him while he twice was in custody during 
the 1960s described El Danto as being very charismatic, able to be 
charming when he wanted to, and a natural leader.1° Hemindez 
and Martinez, and the former Sandinista comrades-in-arms,ll char- 
acterized him using many of the same words but added that he 
could also be cold-blooded when he believed that it was necessary 
and also very independent-minded. Hernhdez noted that, given 
his roots within the Conservative Youth movement, his Marxist 
comrades were concerned about the latter tendency.12 

According to a former Comando who was himself present as a 
MILPA officer, in early May 1979 the FSLN political cadre began 
telling their officers at meetings in the Segovian mountains that the 
Front, convinced Somoza would soon fall, had developed a 
comprehensive plan of how it would rule once it had seized power. 
What they described was a Marxist revolution.13 He and other 
former Comandos, who as MILPA officers had also been present at 
the meetings, said that El Danto had become incensed and railed 
loudly and forcefully against the Sandinistas' plans. He argued 
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that he and his Milpistas had fought hard and long for a Costa 
Rican-style democracy, not a socialist revolution, in Nicaragua. A 
few of his Milpista comrades tried to shut him up because they 
knew the Marxist Sandinistas and were afraid for his safety, but he 
would not stop.14 

About three weeks later, on 24 May, El Danto was killed during 
an attack on the highland town of Jinotega. Initial reports claimed 
that he had been shot by a Guardia sniper firing from the tower of 
the town's cathedral. But the place where he fell, which is now 
marked by a small red metal monument, cannot be seen from the 
cathedral, and everyone familiar with Jinotega knew it.15 A San- 
dinista correo, active in Jinotega at the time under cover as a Red 
Cross volunteer, was with El Danto five minutes before he was shot 
and said that when he visited, no Guardia were anywhere nearby.16 
A posthumous note attached to El Danto's Sandinista-authorized 
posthumous "autobiography" says simply that he was killed by 
"una bala averiada," a stray bullet, fired from within his own 
ranks, making his a "death by friendly fire."17 But three of El 
Danto's closest comrades challenged this version. Sandinista field 
commander Martinez, or "Comandante Martinez," then a column 
commander in southern Nicaragua, was told within days by a 
Milpista en route to FSLN army headquarters in southern Costa 
Rica that it was common knowledge that El Danto had been killed 
under orders from the Sandinista leadership. Hernkdez, then 
Martinez's immediate commander and close to El Danto, heard 
and believed the same story, as did a top Mexican Marxist liaison 
agent in Mexico City, Jose Ovidi6 "Pepe" Puente Le6n.ls 

More important, El Danto's Milpista troops seem to have fully 
agreed that the bullet that killed their commander was fired from 
within the Sandinistas' own ranks. They did not believe it was a 
case of "friendly fire." They believed instead that his erstwhile 
Sandinista comrades had killed him deliberately. Whether or not 
they were right, the actions that they then took based on that belief 
started the Contra War. 

Dirnas continued on as a senior Sandinista combat commander. 
He was, however, convinced the Sandinistas had murdered El 
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Danto to remove him as a challenge to the impending Sandinista 
Revolution. As a result, by July, when he helped capture the town 
of Ocotal just before Somoza fled, he was already two months into 
preparing for a new armed struggle against that revolution. He too 
had been shocked by the Sandinistas' plans to launch a Marxist 
revolution. Unlike El Danto, Dimas had kept his opinion secret 
from his Sandinista superiors.lg He did, however, begin in May 1979 
to carefully recruit like-minded Milpista comrades, explaining to 
his common-law wife Marina that "Germk Pomares's [El Danto's] 
ideology was not the ideology of the Sandinistas. When Pomares 
fell is when they began to twist everything into a different form." 
He also told Marina that it was the death of El Danto more than 
anything else, that led him to turn against his erstwhile comrades- 
in-arms.20 Most of Dimas's fellow Milpistas were also angered by 
the Sandinistas' revolutionary plans and outraged by the killing. 
They quietly rallied to Dimas's side even before Somoza fell. 

THOSE AROUND DIMAS 

Marina 

[In Quilali] it  was the Sandinistas who created the MILPAS. 
In the beginning, eve y o n e  i n  Quilali was pro-Sandinista. 
A f e w  important Sandinistas, but no Guardias, were even 
from here. But they turned the people against them by their 
own actions. 

-MARINA2' 

The story of Marina is instructive. A campesina woman raised 
in the mountains near Q~~ilali in the hamlet of El Yocite, she moved 
to Quilali while a young teenager, soon married, and had two chil- 
dren.22 During the war against Somoza, she served as a correo for 
the Sandinistas' Carlos Fonseca Front, taking goods and informa- 
tion to El Danto, Dimas, and others in the nearby mountains. Her 
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first husband, from whom she was separated and who had custody 
of their two children, was drafted into the Guardia Nacional 
toward the end of the war and became a truck driver for about six 
months. In early August 1979, shortly after Somoza fell, the 
Sandinistas detained him with their two children. While they were 
in custody State Security agents beat all three to death with base- 
ball bats.23 

Apparently because of her first husband's Guardia service, and 
despite her own service with the Front, the Sandinistas also 
detained Marina and severely abused her.24 When asked if they 
had tortured or raped her, Marina became extremely agtated and 
would only say that since her detention she had suffered constant 
nightmares and nervous attacks, as well as occasional memory 
loss. She was released after a few days and promptly contacted 
Dimas. She once again became a correo for him but this time as an 
anti-Sandinista, and was later to have his daughter. Their teenaged 
daughter stood quietly beside her in 1994 as Marina was inter- 
viewed for this study. 

After Dimas was killed in 1981 (his death is described below), 
Marina moved to the highland town of San Jos6 de Bocay and 
became a jefa de correos, or chief of an intelligence and support 
network, serving the MILPAS group of "Tigrillo" (introduced in 
chapter 5), and was responsible for that very dangerous work over 
a wide area.25 She remained an active correo chief for the rest of the 
war. The killing of her two children and first husband by the 
Sandinistas, her own detention, mistreatment, and a powerful 
sense of betrayal, as well as her personal closeness to Dimas gave 
her more than enough reasons to join the MILPAS and to remain a 
highland Resistance activist. 

Marina's account i l l m a t e s  the reasons for highland resistance 
to the government. Soon after the Revolution began, Sandinista 
security forces fanned out into the mountains where they quickly 
began seizing the campesinos' personal goods, and detaining, 
torturing, even killing, without trial, anyone who resisted. 
They charged that all resistance to their actions was "counter- 
revolutionary activity." Reports of rapes of peasant women were 
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common, and life in the deepest mountains where most of the 
campesinos lived became unbearable. Almost all the earliest anti- 
Sandinista rebels were peasants. They told Marina that as long as 
they remained withm reach of Sandinista security forces, they lived 
in constant fear of being beaten, arrested, or killed for resisting 
"seizure" of their meager personal properties "in the name of the 
Revolution" or for "failing to report the presence of counterrevo- 
lutionaries," even if they knew of no such activities. They joined 
the MILPAS in anger and self-defense. 

As a correo, Marina lived under cover in the region's towns. She 
saw people accused of being counterrevolutionaries killed by 
being dragged alive through the streets of Quilali behind Sandin- 
ista army trucks. She remembered two occasions when the people 
of Quilali, herself included, were forced to watch as accused 
Contras were burned alive atop pyres behind the town's church. 
These horrors still figure in her nightmares. Once she saw the body 
of an accused Contra that had been laid out in a town square for 
public display. He had been tortured by having the skin peeled 
strip by strip from his face before being killed, a method that 
harkened back to Indian warfare before and during the Spanish 
Conquest. She believed such atrocities were the primary reason 
that the people in her region turned against the Revolution. 

Marina confirmed that after the fall of Somoza, the Sandinistas 
made Dimas military commander of E ~ t e l i . ~ ~  He was later trans- 
ferred to Ocotal and then to their home town of QuilalLZ7 Begin- 
ning in May 1979, he played a double game, secretly organizing 
his new anti-Sandinista MILPAS guerrilla group. By late July 
several comarca chiefs who had cooperated with his MILPA against 
Somoza had contacted him. They asked that he work with them to 
coordinate networks of correos, clandestine comarca committees, 
and popular base supporters. Dimas was especially attentive to 
this clandestine organizational process because he understood that 
strong and secure local support networks, good intelligence, and 
a secure logistical system were critical to a successful guerrilla 
effort. Several of Dimas's Milpistas described how they came to 
join 
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Pirata 

Pirata, a former Milpista, was unusually sensitive to his ethnic 
roots and described himself and his entire comarca as "indios 
puros," pure Indians.29 He became aware of the anti-Sandinista 
guerrilla movement almost as soon as the Revolution began but, 
although disturbed by the course of the Revolution, did not imme- 
diately join the Resistance. A first cousin, "El Cadejo, "26 had been 
with Omar Cabezas during the war against Somoza and was then 
still in the Sandinista army. But when this cousin contacted Pirata 
in September 1979 to say he was so disillusioned with the Revo- 
lution that he was going to join the rebels, Pirata also acted. By 
November he was a correo for Dimas. His cousin, an experienced 
guerrilla with Omar Cabezas, immediately became a Milpista 
combatant. 

During his time as a correo, Pirata regularly visited the MILPAS 
camps and observed that almost all those with Dirnas had served 
under El Danto as Milpista fighters during the war against 
Somoza. Of the twelve guerrillas at Dimas's main camp on Piratafs 
first visit, several went on to become important Resistance coman- 
dantes. This group included "Coral," "Douglas," "La Iguana," 
f f M ~ n ~ , f '  and   gall^."^^ 

Oscar Kilo 

"Oscar Kilo" joined Dirnas in late 1979 as a Milpistae31 His father 
was a small farmer who eked out a marginal livelihood from about 
fifteen acres of land near the remote Segovian mountain town of 
Wiwili, and Oscar Kilo had continued to work on his father's finca 
during the war against Somoza. His family began having problems 
with the Sandinistas in August 1979, within weeks of the start of 
the Revolution. 

Oscar Kilo vividly recalled the actions and attitudes of the State 
Security forces and political cadre who arrived in his area almost 
immediately after the fall of Somoza to implement the Sandinistas' 
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revolutionary plans. Virtually without exception, they were arro- 
gant and abusive outsiders from the Pacific lowlands who clearly 
looked down on the highland peasants as unlettered indios. They 
quickly took up stealing domestic animals and personal property 
in the guise of "loans to the Revolution." Some of the property the 
Sandinistas stole belonged to his family, but when Oscar Kilo's 
father objected, the Sandinistas labeled him a "counterrevolution- 
ary" and began taking reprisals.32 

In September 1979, Oscar Kilo was kicked to the ground and 
severely beaten by a Sandinista officer who overheard him criti- 
cizing the Sandinistas' actions. His father was arrested. At the age 
of twenty, in fear of what the Sandinistas might do to him next, 
Oscar Kilo fled deep into the mountains. When he arrived at 
Dimas's camp, the commander had with him over a dozen guer- 
rillas. W i h  weeks, more frightened campesinos flocked to join 
them, and the group had grown to between twenty and thirty.33 
Most were armed with hunting weapons, .22 caliber rifles, or shot- 
guns. Oscar Kilo himself had only a machete. 

By November Oscar Kilo was helping a correo named David 
Valenzuela smuggle arms and supplies to the group. The anti- 
Sandinistas were being fed and protected by local campesinos who 
were as angry as Oscar Kilo's family at the Sandinistas. Beyond 
seizures of private property and physical violence, the Sandinistas 
were manifesting disrespect for the traditional Catholic Church. 
This included desecrating churches and quartering of troops in 
chapels, as well as constant verbal insults directed at traditional 
religious practices. These provocative acts added fuel to the grow- 
ing fires of rebellion. 

Oscar Kilo remembered Dimas himself as a short, hirsute, 
bearded commander with one eye noticeably smaller than the 
other. Friendly and charismatic, Dimas called almost all the men 
herrnanito, or little br0ther.3~ A former Sandinista comrade who for 
fifteen years fought side by side in the mountains with Dimas 
added that he was also an excellent field commander.35 

Rub& had his own MILPAS group and was not one of Dimas's 
Milpistas. But he knew personally almost all the Cornandos who 
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had been with him and confirmed that both Dimas and his Milpistas 
were highlanders who had served under El D a n t ~ . ~ ~  

Hombrito 

Mejor irme donde me gustaba (y) el Sandinismo no me gusto 
desde el principio. 

(It was better to go where I liked [and] from the beginning I 
didn't like Sandinismo.) 

-HOMBRITO 

"Hombrito" (Little Man) was another highlander Comando 
who joined Dimas in 1979.37 His was a family of peasant farmers 
who made their living working a tiny plot near the Honduran 
border. His father was a very indio campesino from Las Trojes, 
Honduras, who had married a mostly india mestiza Nicaraguan 
woman and moved to Nicaragua while still a youth. They raised 
bananas, beans, and some corn, mostly for home consumption, 
and had a few head of cattle. They sold their modest surpluses in 
a nearby market town to buy what they could not produce. 

In August 1979 the Sandinistas began pressuring Hombrito to 
join one of their new Committees for the Defense of Sandinismo 
(CDS).38 He considered them, however, little more than nests of 
police informers and resisted. As a consequence, he was denounced 
as a "counterrevolutionary Somocista," and threatened with 
reprisals. As his situation became increasingly difficult, he began 
to look for a way to fight back. By October he had become an active 
correo supporting Dimas. But the Sandinistas quickly became 
suspicious, and he had to flee into hiding in the mountains by 
November. Early in 1980, after a short period of testing and prepa- 
ration, he became a c0mbatant.3~ 

Hombrito remembered that most of Dimas's group, almost 
eighty Milpistas strong when he joined them, were former 
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anti-Somoza guerrillas who had been with El Danto. Those like 
himself who had not fought had also been pro-Sandinista during 
the uprising. Most carried only hunting weapons and were 
dressed in ragtag civilian clothes. The most sophisticated weapons 
he saw were three M-l rifles.40 Those around Dirnas included 
members of three family clans, the Mezas, Rugamas, and 
Galeanos. (The Galeano clan is described in chapter 4.) The former 
anti-Somoza Milpistas told Hombrito that the Sandinistas had 
deceived them about their real intentions during the war against 
Somoza. These carnpesinos had then been angered by the killing 
of their leader. The Sandinistas had promised that after Somoza 
fell, Nicaragua would become a Costa Rican-style democracy, but 
they had been preparing all along, in secret, to stage a Marxist 
revolution. 

The peasants who had rallied to Dimas, like Dimas himself, 
said they joined the Resistance mostly because they were angry 
at the conduct of the Sandinistas' security forces and new laws 
that forced them to sell their surpluses to the state at low prices 
and then buy what they needed from the state at high prices. This 
system put them in a double bind, simultaneously terrorized and 
rapidly pauperized, and they could see no way to escape. If they 
went along with the Sandinistas' demands, they would be ruined 
and unable to support their families. If they resisted, they were 
labeled "Somocistas" and "counterrevolutionaries"; their already 
meager personal goods were confiscated, their farms endan- 
gered, and their families still threatened with starvation. Either 
way, they were unable to survive as independent farmers. This 
group was especially embittered by the only alternative offered 
them: to join new agricultural cooperatives, because they saw 
these as nothing more than the Revolution's way of taking their 
land and destroying their independence. Another Sandinista 
practice generated further resistence. Local students were being 
taken away to Nicaragua's Pacific coast cities for ideological 
indoctrination that often turned them against their own families. 
This was especially tragic for the family-centered peasants of the 
highlands. 



DIMAS, FATHER OF THE CONTRAS 31 

Name Withheld 

Cuando 10s Sandinistas entraron todo el mundo les quierian, 
pero no aprovecharon de esto. Ellos traicionaron el amor que 
el pueblo les tenia. Los hacian hacer lo que el pueblo no estaba 
acostumbrado hacer, y se reventb. (When the Sandinistas 
came to power, everyone loved them, but they didn't take 
advantage of their popularity. They betrayed the love the 

people had for them. Instead they forced them to do what , they 
were not accustomed to doing, and the people exploded). 

El que toca el estomago de u n  pueblo tiene que encachim- 
barlo. (He who makes a people hungry also inevitably pisses 
them o f )  

-NAME WITHHELD" 

A Comando I interviewed, who asked that neither his real name 
nor nom de guerre be mentioned, was the son of a peasant 
carnpesino family from the Department of Madriz and had been a 
member of the tiny group that had joined Dimas by September 
1979. He had not fought on either side during the war against 
Somoza, but one of his older brothers had been in the Guardia 
Nacional. He was markedly indio in appearance and described his 
home comarca as being almost pure Indian. 

Shortly after the Revolution began, the Sandinistas established 
an arrny post and a political action center near his family's farm. At 
that time they began pressuring members of his family to join vari- 
ous revolutionary organizations and to participate in political 
activities. When they resisted, two of his brothers were arrested, 
including the one who had been an enlisted man in the Guardia. 
The Sandinistas threatened to confiscate the family farm, and one 
night their home was machine-gunned.42 

When this Comando and his brothers came under intense pres- 
sure in early 1980 to join the new Sandinista Militia, their family 
sent them instead to join Dirnas. In doing so, they became part of 
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the growing stream of carnpesinos traveling to the mountains to 
join the MILPAS. By mid-1980, most of his family, including three 
other brothers and some nephews, cousins, and uncles, had also 
fled to join the growing rebellion. Their farms were seized. 

The Comando's comments on why the highlanders rebelled 
emphasized the Sandinistas' extensive use of coercion and force. 
They regularly employed threats, detentions, beatings, and k ihgs .  
He also emphasized the destructive impact of the Sandinistas' 
agrarian policies on the peasants' ability to survive as independent 
farmers and the decidedly unwelcome pressures to join the new 
CDS and militias. He believed that these measures together had 
jeopardized the peasants' very ability to survive, and they had 
reacted accordingly. 

T H E  G R O W T H  OF DIMAS'S G R O U P  

Dimas's group was the most prominent of the early MILPAS 
groups. Led by a very experienced former senior Sandinista guer- 
rilla commander and made up largely of veteran anti-Somoza 
Milpista guerrillas, its roots lay deep in the anti-Somoza Sandinista 
guerrilla movement itself. The rebellion leading up to their revolt 
dated all the way back to May 1979, when they were still fighting 
against Somoza. Later estimates of the numbers of correos, 
committee members, and base supporters it would have taken to 
support his group in the field suggest that by the end of 1979 
Dirnas's MILPAS would have had at least 400-600 correos, clan- 
destine committee members, and peasant comarca popular-base 
supporters. This estimate may be By then the group had 
captured or been given some military small arms by militiamen 
but was still mostly armed with hunting weapons, .22 caliber rifles, 
shotguns, pistols, or machetes, which they had either brought to 
the war themselves or been given by sympathetic peasants. 

By early 1980, Dirnas's group had almost tripled in size and 
would have had perhaps two to three thousand correos, comarca 
committee members, and active supporters. Unarmed correos such 
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as Marina, Hombrito, and Oscar Kilo, working as intelligence and 
logistics runners, were bringing them intelligence information, 
ammunition, and supplies unavailable in the mountains such as 
rubber boots,44 medicines, and candles. The peasants who were 
living deeper in the mountains, where the MILPAS had their base 
of operations, were providing them with food and protection 
from detection or surprise attacks by keeping them informed of 
Sandinista movements. 

ACTIVITIES 

During 1979 and early 1980, Dimas's MILPAS group concentrated 
on establishing a strong base of support within the cornarcas. 
Security and food availability concerns led the Milpistas normally 
to camp in widely dispersed small groups. Many moved about in 
areas near their homes. Those who stayed permanently in the 
mountains were poorly dressed in raggedy civilian clothing, were 
short on decent shelter, usually avoided contact with Sandinista 
patrols, and generally did not engage in offensive operations. 

By mid-1980 Dimas's MILPAS and other nearby groups had 
become acquainted with one another, had grown considerably, and 
felt strong enough to stage a major attack. It was then that Dimas, 
Irene CalderBn, and a third MILPAS leader known as "Fabian" 
agreed to make the attack on Quilali (mentioned in chapter 2). 
They timed their attack to coincide with the first anniversary of the 
Sandinista Revolution. Their planning was greatly simplified by 
Dimas's detailed knowledge of the town and its defenses. On 23 
July, four days after the Revolution's 19 July anniversary, seventy 
to eighty of Dimas's Milpistas attacked and occupied Quilali. The 
two other MILPAS groups made simultaneous diversionary 
attacks. Fabian, another former anti-Somoza Milpista from near 
Quilali, hit the hamlet of La Jicara with an eight-man unit. Irene 
CalderBn, with twenty men, attacked La Cha~hagua.~~ Hombrito, 
a participant, recalled that the attack on Quilali went smoothly and 
led to the recovery of a fair amount of arms and ammunition. The 
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Map 3. Dimas's (Pedro Joaquin Gonzhlez's) MILPAS areas of operation, 
1979-81. 

mutiny by Quilali's defenders that was described earlier suggests 
Dimas may have had inside help. 

The Sandinistas responded sharply to the MILPAS challenge 
and, following the attack on Quilali, Dimas broke his force into 
small detachments. Most went back to the nearby rn0untains,4~ but 
one was sent to Honduras in search of support and to buy ammu- 
n i t i ~ n . ~ ~  Before the attack, Sandinista pursuit of the MILPAS had 
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been rather desultory. But after the MILPAS had occupied Quilali, 
the Sandinistas became notably more determined, sending in 
larger units and using helicopters for the first time.48 At least a 
platoon of Sandinista soldiers and several of their helicopters 
reportedly pursued the detachment across the Honduran border, 
triggering protests from the Honduran government and the 

Dimas's MILPAS was forced to range across a large area, 
especially up and down the course of the Coco River.50 

Several Milpistas who had been involved in the attack had 
indelible memories of this sudden pursuit, the strength and feroc- 
ity of the Sandinista response, and their reactions to the first use 
against them of such advanced military systems as helicopter gun 
ships and massed rocket fire. Some Milpistas cited h s  experience 
as the one that convinced them they would either have to find 
external help or accept defeat. 

Despite these more vigorous Sandinista actions, or perhaps in 
part because of them, the highlander rebellion continued to grow 
rapidly. A year later, in August 1981, Dimas was killed at San 
Bartolo just outside Quilali, and the Milpistas who had been with 
him joined other groups.51 But by then the armed conflict that was 
later to become known as the Contra War had been under way for 
over two years. 

THE DEATH OF DIMAS 

A booklet on the Sandinista Militia describes one version of 
Dimas's death: 

The Militias, operating together with the EPS [Ej&cito 
Popular Sandinista, Sandinista People's Army] and MININT 
[Ministry of the Interior] had been engaged in major opera- 
tions in the mountains, disrupting and annihilating gangs of 
counterrevolutionaries, criminals, and thieves. One of the 
gangs that was murdering and pillaging in the region 
between Wiwili, Quilali, and other communities was that of 
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"Dirnas," which had been terrorizing all the campesinos in 
the area. 

"Dimas" and his gang launched a cowardly attack from 
Honduran territory against a native dugout canoe, killing 
three persons and wounding many others. "Dimas" was tied 
in with Somocistas in Honduras and with other groups of 
terrorists who had a vast plan of counter-revolution against 
our people. 

In July 1980 they had attacked the town of Quilali where 
they killed four persons who fell beneath the bullets of the 
counterrevolutionary murderers. 

The counterrevolutionary "Dimas" had established contact 
with officers of the former Guardia Nacional and other anti- 
social elements in Honduras and El Salvador who provided 
economic help and military supplies so that he could con- 
tinue his campaign of crimes and felonies. [An accompany- 
ing sketch shows Dimas accepting M-16 rifles from Miami.] 

He was chased night and day by the indefatigable patrols 
of the Militias who knew the region tree by tree, together 
with EPS and forces of the General Directorate [of State 
Security]. 

On Thursday September 19 the gang was located near 
Quilali, Nueva Segovia, and an operation was mounted 
against them. When the gang found itself under attack, it 
opened fire. The gang put up fierce resistance and increased 
its fire from protected positions behind large boulders. 

The Territorial Militias, determined in their struggle against 
the criminals who had murdered so many of their brother 
workers, and armed with BZ-M52s, opened fire beneath the 
banner of "Patria o Muerie" [My Country or Death]. 

"Dirnas" died in combat along with many of his follow- 
ers. The rest of his gang escaped to Honduras. The death of 
"Dimas" and so many of his lieutenants destroyed the vast 
counterrevolutionary plot, known as the "October Plan" 
which had sought to bring together all the groups of Somo- 
cistas and criminal  assailant^.^^ 
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This version of Dimas's death varies significantly from others. 
Nevertheless, it warrants extensive quotation because, although 
it makes no mention of his eighteen years as an anti-Somoza 
guerrilla commander, it does confirm most of the Comandos' 
comments on the who, when, and where of the origins of the 
MILPAS movement. 

Other accounts of Dimas's death, including later Sandinista 
versions, concur that, in fact, neither Militia, EPS, nor State 
Security, save possibly the Ministry of the Interior's covert opera- 
tions section, were involved. According to these accounts, he was 
assassinated in August 1981 by a close friend or cousin, Marnerto 
Herrera, a veteran Sandinista who had first helped recruit him into 
the movement in 1961.53 Oscar Kilo remembered that Herrera 
visited Dimas at his mountain camp on numerous occasions and 
that Dimas always called him cornpadre and treated him with 
particular affection. As it turned out, by pretending to support his 
war against the Revolution, Herrera had simply been retaining 
Dimas's trust. On the fateful day Herrera engaged Dimas in a 
drinking bout, and then killed him while he was drunk.S4 No other 
Milpistas died with him. Shortly after his death, Dimas's Milpistas 
dispersed to join other MILPAS groups. All stayed with the 
Resistance. More than half died in the war that followed.55 



C H A P T E R  FOUR 

THE MILPAS OF IRENE CALDERON 

While Dimas's group became the best known of the 1979-80 
MILPAS rebel groups, a second if less well known MILPAS 
group was of comparable importance. It was led by Irene 
Calderbn, the leader of one of the MILPAS groups that later 
joined Dirnas in the July 1980 attack on Quilali. He had also been 
with El Danto earlier as a member of the Sandinista MILPA 
battalion and had fought against Somoza's forces for several 
years.l He was among the earliest Milpistas to turn against the 
Sandinista Revolution. 

"Bruce Lee," who fought with Calderbn, remembered that 
when they first met in October 1979, Calder6n had been in the 
Segovian mountains for about three months with four other 
former anti-Somoza guerrillas. This would date the birth of 
Calder6n1s MILPAS in July, the month Somoza fell. In early 
August 1979, Calder6n's group attacked a new Militia camp near 
San Jose de Bocay, beside the Bocay River to the west of the Coco 
River basin, and captured a few military weapons and some 
munitions, an attack they had planned even before they went into 
the mountains. Although not large enough to be called a battle- 
that distinction belongs to Ger6nimo's November 1979 attack on 
the new cooperative at El Chipote discussed in chapter 2-this is 
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Map 4. Irene Calder6nJs MILPAS areas of operation, 1979-82. 

the earliest MILPAS raid on a Sandinista military target men- 
tioned by the Comandos I interviewed. (Map 4 shows Calder6n's 
area of operation.) From San Jos6 de Bocay, Calderdn moved 
westward across the mountains, to near Quilali. Although 
Calderdn survived the war, he chose not to be interviewed, so a 
profile of his MILPAS group was developed from other sources. 
One was Bruce Lee. 



BRUCE LEE 

THE REAL CONTRA WAR 

A campesino from San Sebastian de Yali, Bruce Lee fought against 
the Somoza dynasty as a guerrilla with El Danto. He remembered 
clearly how his own guerrilla career had started. On 3 May 1977, 
then just sixteen years old, he had expressed some anti-Somoza 
sentiments too loudly during a religious procession and was 
clubbed to the ground by a passing Guardia officer. He promptly 
fled into the nearby mountains to join the Sandinistas, who first 
sent him to their clandestine training base in Pantasma, near the 
Jinotegan settlement of Las Praderas, and then assigned him to a 
unit called Los Yacob, part of the Sandinistas' larger Picado 
Column. 

Bruce Lee was an enthusiastic young recruit and was especially 
pleased when the Sandinistas initially promised him that, follow- 
ing their victory, they planned to set up a Costa Rican-style democ- 
racy that would be much more prosperous than Somoza's 
Nicaragua. In May 1979, after he had been with them two years, 
he was very angry when they acknowledged that, far from 
setting up a Costa Rican-style democracy, they intended to stage 
a Cuban-style revolution. He was particularly incensed when 
Sandinista cadre he knew told him that, as part of their revolution, 
they planned to break up Nicaragua's traditional social structure 
by taking children from their homes to receive ideological indoc- 
trination. They explained that the children would then be sent back 
to begin establishing a new social order. Bruce Lee was deeply 
shocked by this deliberate attack on Nicaragua's traditional family 
structure. But he also knew that the Sandinistas would punish him 
if he expressed his opinion, so he kept quiet. 

Despite his secret anger, Bruce Lee stayed in the Sandinista 
Nuevo Ejercito (New Army) after Somoza fell, assigned to a unit 
near Lake Apank, just north of the town of Jinotega. While a 
soldier, he was even more shocked than he had been as a civilian 
by what he saw fellow Sandinista soldiers do to carnpesinos "in 
the name of the Revolution," especially the widespread "seizures" 
of private goods and property and the harassment and detention 
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of any who dared to p r~ t e s t .~  Bruce Lee began to clash openly with 
the Sandinista cadre over him. In September 1979, angered by his 
criticism, a Sandinista officer took a shot at him. He missed. But 
soon after, several friends warned him he was going to be arrested 
for his counterrevolutionary attitude. Before this could happen, he 
fled into the mountains. 

In hiding, angry, and feeling betrayed and thoroughly disillu- 
sioned, Bruce Lee found a temporary job near El CuA Bocay. There, 
he soon heard about a group of Milpistas in the nearby mountains, 
organized under Calderh, an experienced guerrilla leader he had 
known during the war against Somoza. In October, fearing that 
Sandinista State security was closing in on him, he fled even deeper 
into the mountains to join Calderbn's MILPAS. When he arrived, 
there were only four Milpistas at the camp, including Calder6nrs 
girlfriend. Calderh told Bruce Lee that he had been in the moun- 
tains since July and that others in his group were not then at the 
camp. He said he was also in touch with another nearby MILPAS 
group led by Dimas, whom Bruce Lee also knew from his years as 
an anti-Somoza Milpista. Calder6n was short of firearms but had 
a few hunting weapons that had been gven to them by a syrnpa- 
t h i ~ e r . ~  During the several months that Bruce Lee stayed with the 
group, it grew to about sixty combatants. 

TIGRE 

Alli estuvo Sandino; alli estuvo Pomares [El  Dan to]; alli 
tambien estuvo Dimas. [Wiwilfl es una zona de guerrillas. 

(Sandino was there; Pomares was there; Dimas was there. 
[Wiwili] is guerrilla county). 

-TIGRE 

"Tigre" served as a correo for Calder6n's MILPAS.4 Born in 
Somoto, he was raised near the Segovian mountain town of Wiwili 
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on his family's fifteen-manzana (twenty-five acre) tobacco farm.5 
He was in high school when Somoza fell and did not fight in that 
war. But he did meet both Calderdn and Dimas during the war 
against Somoza. He learned soon after the Sandinistas took power 
that both had gone back into the mountains to form new MILPAS 
guerrilla groups. 

Tigre's family's farm was quite small, and his father had never 
been politically involved. Nonetheless, in September 1979, the 
Sandinistas tried to seize it, claiming that his father had allowed 
Guardia to visit the farm to pick fruit from the family's trees and 
that this proved he was a Somocista. Tigre believed that the real 
reason for the attempted seizure was that his father raised excellent 
tobacco, an especially lucrative cash crop, and the Sandinistas 
wanted to get their hands on his father's profits. 

Tigre's family was able to block the Sandinistas' first attempt to 
seize their farm by mobilizing neighbors to help them, but the 
Sandinistas persisted, and shortly thereafter they seized lus father's 
farm permanently in the name of the Revolution and arrested 
Tigre. The officer who arrested him threatened Tigre with execu- 
tion for his counterrevolutionary attitude. He was blindfolded and 
a pistol was put to his temple. After a slow countdown, the officer 
fired a second pistol into the ground at his feet. Apparently satis- 
fied that he had terrorized Tigre sufficiently, the officer freed him 
after warning him never to mention the threatened execution to 
anyone. 

Tigre was outraged, not intimidated, and began looking for a 
way to avenge himself. In early 1980, he became a correo for 
Calderdn. After a few months, aware of what their son was doing 
and worried about his safety, Tigre's family insisted that he go 
away to school in Managua, which he did. Despite the distance, he 
continued to help Calderdn whenever he could, especially during 
visits home. 

In 1981 the Sandinistas came to his high school in Managua and 
asked for volunteers to help root out "a small group of about 
seventy counterrevolutionaries who were in the mountains." Tigre 
could not understand why the Sandinistas "were sending [high 
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school students] when they had plenty of men in their army." He 
also knew that by then there were actually well over a thousand 
guerrillas in various MILPAS groups the mountains, not seventy, 
and that almost all were former Sandinistas, not Guardia. Some of 
Tigre's high school acquaintances volunteered, and he remem- 
bered later attending several of their funerals. None had received 
decent military training, and seven were killed during one engage- 
ment alone. A short while later, Tigre, still an occasional correo for 
Calderh, started to worry about his own security and left to join 
the MILPAS in the mountains. This time, when he arrived, Calderh 
had more than a hundred Milpistas with him, almost all of whom 
were former Sandinistas. 

Tigre cited several reasons why the rebellion had gathered so 
many early adherents. He pointed first to the arms sweeps staged 
by the Sandinistas in the highlands, including one in May 1979, 
even before Somoza fell, that had generated considerable fear and 
anger among the peasants. The sweeps had also put them on 
guard that worse was probably to come. He commented that "even 
Somoza had not felt the need to disarm the highland peasants." 
The sweeps convinced many carnpesinos that they were going to 
be special targets of revolutionary zeal. Seeing the soldiers coming 
from afar, many had hidden their best weapons, which they later 
gave to the MILPAS. Tigre next mentioned Sandinista agrarian 
policies. The Sandinistas touted their seizures of farms as aimed 
only at Somocistas. But in reality, they confiscated the lands of 
many non-Somocistas as well through the simple device of label- 
ing anyone whose property they wanted a Somocista counter- 
revolutionary, whether or not they were. Because there was no 
judicial process and no avenue of appeal, confiscations were 
normally final. 

Tigre, who had firsthand experience with the Sandinista Army 
both in Managua and in the highlands during the early years of 
the war, drew some interesting contrasts. In general, the Sandinista 
soldiers conducted themselves relatively well in the cities and 
towns of the Pacific. In the highlands, however, their behavior was 
vastly different. This was especially obvious at road blocks or 



44 THE REAL CONTRA WAR 

during other security operations, and even at such events as coun- 
try dances or social gatherings. On these occasions, arrned Sandin- 
ista soldiers, mostly young men from Pacific lowland cities, tried 
to intimidate the highlander men and take advantage of the peas- 
ant girls. The Ministry of the Interior's State Security forces were 
the worst. They were especially brutal and engaged in systematic, 
not only episodic, intimidation and coerrion. xgre noted as a third 
reason for the early resentment that Cuban and other foreign advi- 
sors became highly visible in the highlands very early on and 
"acted as though they were actually in charge."6 

LA CHAPARRA 

Another former Comando who remembered CalderBn's group 
well was female Comando Elisa Maria Galeano Cornejo, "La 
Chaparra," slang for Shorty, and a member of the extensive 
Galeano clan7 She became a correo for CalderBn in early 1980.8 At 
the same time, she infiltrated the Sandinista army garrison in 
Quilali as a cook. While working inside the Sandinista base, she 
was able to steal some 1,200 rounds of ammunition, which she 
gave to Calderh, and to collect about fifteen thousand Nicaraguan 
Cordobas (about two thousand U.S. dollars at the time) from 
sympathizers, which she used to buy boots for his Milpistas. She 
also became a member of the Sandinistas' People's Militias and 
used her access to steal weapons for those she referred to as 
"chilotes," a popular term for Milpi~ta.~ La Chaparra recalled that 
by the autumn of 1980, about thirty guerrillas had joined CalderBn, 
all campesinos from the nearby countryside, including a number 
of her brothers, sisters or cousins. She listed many of them by their 
noms de guerre: "Tiro a1 Blanco,"" "Pajaro," "El Cacao," "Julio," 
"Sergio," "Johnny,"" "David,"" "El Negro," "Yorli," "Irma,"" "G-3," 
"Juan Viejo," "El Bufalo," "Salto," and "Evelor" (asterisks indicate 
her siblings). Most were from Jinotega or Nueva Segovia.lo 

La Chaparra joined the rebellion for personal reasons. Because 
her family refused to allow Literacy Brigade personnel (urban 
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Sandinista youth ostensibly dedicated to teaching reading and 
writing but also serving as ideological cadre) to be quartered in 
their home, they were branded as Somocistas, and her father and 
older brother "Franklyn"ll were jailed and mistreated. An entire 
family of relatives, the Polancos, were similarly labeled and then 
chopped to death with machetes by a Sandinista mob. Two uncles 
were also killed.12 

Other Participants 

Several Milpistas who had been with Dimas and had personal 
knowledge of Calderbn's group also commented on it. Oscar Kilo 
remembers that at various times Calder6nfs MILPAS operated near 
the small hamlets of La Chachagua, Puna, and Wamblin.13 "Dimas 
Tigrillo," a brother of Tigrillo, one of many Comandos who later 
took the name of Dimas, met Calder6n in early 1980, just after h s  
MILPAS had clashed with a Sandinista force. He too confirmed 
that Calder6n had been with El Danto and also remembered that 
the group was made up of former Sandinista guerrillas and 
campesinos, had an independent system of collaborators, and was 
growing rapidly.14 "Jimmy Leo" remembered that once Calder6n's 
group had grown to about eighteen Milpistas, it moved westward 
to be nearer the homes of its members in regions around La 
Zompopera, Kilambe, Plan de Grama, and Planos de Bilh, near 
Quilali and Wiwili.15 He said that Calder6n's men were almost all 
former Sandinista guerrillas who had fought under Germiin 
Pomares, "El Danto." Bruce Lee estimated that Calder6n had close 
to sixty guerrillas by the end of 1980.16 In addition to guerillas, the 
organization would have had fifteen to twenty times that number 
of correos and clandestine comarca committee members. All 
together, Calder6nJs comarca support organization probably num- 
bered over a thousand, only slightly smaller than that of Dimas. 

Calder6n remained an active Milpista until early 1982. But when 
a MILPAS-Guardia alliance emerged (see chapter 8), Calder6n was 
angered that he was not accepted as the principal leader of the 
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Milpistas who joined it. That distinction went to another MILPAS 
leader, Tigrillo, who is discussed in the next chapter. Calder6n 
stayed with the alliance for a while, but disappeared from the scene 
in early 1984.17 

Several versions of what happened to him circulated. Some 
former Comandos believed Calder6n had returned from Hon- 
duras to Nicaragua independently, accompanied by a few of his 
men, only to be killed in an unreported ambush. Others thought he 
defected to the Sandinistas. Still others said that whether he had 
defected or been captured, Calder6n was then recruited by the 
Sandinistas as a guide. Subsequently, according to this version, he 
led a Sandinista army unit into an ambush in which it lost a large 
number of men, after which he disappeared. In 1992, well after the 
war had ended and other prisoners had been freed, Calder6n 
emerged from a Sandinista prison where he had been held incom- 
municado for eight years. In 1998 he was living quietly in a small 
Nicaraguan town and remained in touch with a handful of his 
former Milpista comrades, but an interview could not be arranged. 



C H A P T E R  FIVE 

OTHER MILPAS GROUPS 

Dimas and Calder6n were not the only two anti-Somoza combat- 
ants among El Danto's Sandinista Milpistas to have sec~tly rebelled 
against the Sandinistas' even before Somoza fell. And, unlike in 
the case of Calder6n, who was reluctant to speak to me, I was able 
to obtain oral histories from several of the more prominent among 
these combatants, including Calder6n's later rival for leadership 
of the MILPAS, Tigrillo. Two others proved to be representative of 
a second phenomenon, the participation of entire clans in the high- 
lander Resistance movement. 

T H E  G R O U P  O F  TIGRILLO 

Tigrillo (Wildcat) and his younger brother Dimas Tigrillo were 
among dozens of members of the highland Baldivia clan who were 
first anti-Somoza and then anti-Sandinista Mi1pistas.l Operating 
from a rural comarca near La Concordia, the two brothers had been 
guerrilla commanders with the Sandinistas during the war against 
Somoza. Tigrillo went on to lead a small unit with El Danto. Dirnas 
Xgrillo started with Ed6n Pastora in 1977, before transferring north 
to join the Blanca Arhuz de Sandino Column, where he too led a 
small unit for El Danto. Both became officers of the Sandinista 
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army after the fall of Somoza. At the same time both were secretly 
dismayed when in May 1979 the Sandinistas announced that the 
fall of Somoza was to be followed by a Cuban-style revolution and 
the killing of their leader.2 

As had Dimas, Calderbn, and others, the Baldivia brothers 
began in May 1979, even as they fought to overthrow Somoza, to 
prepare to fight later against the impending Sandinista Revolution. 
They were even more cautious than Dimas but followed essentially 
the same path to rebellion. For six months after the fall of Somoza 
they served as Sandinista army officers while simultaneously 
hiding arms and ammunition in preparation for their own rebel- 
lion. By February 1980, they were ready, and they went into the 
mountains, taking with them M-l rifles, .38 caliber pistols, and 
ammunition that they had been secretly stashing away? A MILPAS 
group quickly began to coalesce around them. By July 1980, they 
felt strong enough to join Dimas for the attack on.Quilali. Pursued 
by the Sandinista army following the attack, they moved their 
group to the region of Kilamb6, a very mountainous area about 
thirty miles to the east. 

By late 1980, Tigrillo's force had grown considerably. Dirnas 
Tigrillo remembers that by then they had about eighty combatants. 
Two were former Guardia, but even they were first and foremost 
peasants from the Quilali/Wiwili r e g i ~ n . ~  All except the two 
Guardia had fought against the Somoza regime as Sandinistas, 
most as guerrillas with El Danto's force. Many were either Baldivias 
or Galeanos. As with Dimas and Irene Calderbn, Tigrillo's group 
developed its own independent networks of correos and other 
supporters. Johnny, one of the Galeanos with Tigrillo, recalled that 
these included quite a few supposedly Sandinista activists, includ- 
ing at least two members of the intelligence services of the new 
Sandinista army. He also confirmed that Marina was one of 
Tigrillo's c~rreos.~ 

Jirnmy Leo, who was first a Sandinista and then a Milpista with 
Tigrillo, remembered how he began his own war as a Milpista: "El 
mismo Frente provoc6 nuestros resentimientos con sus reprisalias, 
golpes, asesinatos, robos, y amenazas. [It was the (Sandinista) Front 
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itself that provoked our resentment, with reprisals, beatings, assas- 
sinations, thefts, and threats.Ifr6 Having attended high school for 
three years, he was one of the most educated of the Milpistas. He 
had a mestizo father and an india mother, and before the Revo- 
lution the family lived in Los Planos de Bilh in the Jinotegan 
mountains north of Las Praderas and Santa Maria de Pantasma. 

Jimmy Leo became a Sandinista in 1977 when his older brother 
was charged by local Somoza officials with being a Sandinista and 
was beaten by a Guardia Nacional colonel. Jimmy Leo joined the 
Sandinistas out of resentment, serving them as a correo until early 
1978, when he went into the mountains to join Dimas Tigrillo's 
Blanca Arhuz de Sandino Column. Perhaps because he had an 
unusually good education by regional standards, he rose quickly 
to command a column of his own. One of his most memorable 
tasks was helping establish the Sandinistas' clandestine training 
base at Pantasma, just south of his Planos de Bilh home. 

After Somoza fell, Jimmy Leo, satisfied with what he had done, 
returned to his family's farm. But neither his prior service as a 
Sandinista Front guerrilla nor the militant anti-Somocismo of his 
family protected them. Within weeks the Sandinistas threatened 
to confiscate his family's farm, and he clashed openly at several 
mass meetings with former Sandinista comrades-in-arms over the 
path the Revolution was taking. His paternal grandfather "Pech6nU 
Altamirano, who was openly critical of the Revolution, was 
detained by the Sandinistas, beaten, and then hanged. Jimmy Leo 
recalled other carnpesinos who he believed were innocent of 
anything other than criticizing the Revolution's programs and who 
were also killed in the fall of 1979 by the Sandinistas. They 
included several of his close  friend^.^ 

Jimmy Leo remembered in vivid detail the Sandinistas' arms 
sweeps in May, July, and August of 1979, and other actions that 
alarmed the campesinos, who became both frightened and angry. 
In the peasant way they kept their anger and resentments to them- 
selves, especially after they saw how anyone who protested openly 
was silenced by accusations, labeled as counterrevolutionary, 
threatened, sometimes detained, often beaten, and occasionally 
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killed. This is typical of how highland peasants respond to threats 
and pressures. They smile and pretend to accept what is being 
forced on them but begin secretly to seethe with anger and look 
for ways to avenge themselves, from silent go-slow tactics, to petty 
acts of sabotage such as cutting fences or killing livestock, to 
violent revenge whenever they have the chance. By September 
1979 the Sandinistas had thoroughly alienated almost all the 
carnpesinos of Planos de Bilk, and most began seeking revenge 
by helping the MILPAS in the nearby mountains and by sending 
their sons to join their ranks. 

Shortly after the Sandinistas hanged his grandfather, Jimmy Leo 
and a handful of other youths from Planos de Bilk joined Xgrillo, 
and Sandinista reprisals against the peasants of their comarca 
began in earnest. His parents' small farm was confiscated. This 
pushed even the few fencesitting peasants into rebellion. By the 
end of 1981, some 480 carnpesinos from Planos de Bilk, half its 
population, had fled. Almost all of its young men and many of its 
young women, about 220 in all, became Milpista combatants. 

Jimmy Leo recalled that for the first few months he was with 
them, Tigrillo's group concentrated on polishing its relations with 
the peasant popular support base. These people were vital because 
they provided the group with early warnings of Sandinista move- 
ments and with other intelligence information, as well as food, 
medicines, and other goods not available in the mountains. The 
challenge of solidifying this support, however, was purely organi- 
zational. The Sandinistas were the MILPAS' best allies because 
their actions made proselytizing all but unnecessary; they had 
already convinced the peasants they would have to fight. For the 
peasants the only remaining question was how. 

The Sandinistas' labeling of the MILPAS as merely gangs of 
former Guardia apparently convinced outsiders ignorant of the 
highlanders' participation and of Nicaragua's historical divisions. 
But the propaganda campaign backfired in the mountains, where 
even those rare peasants who did not know some Milpistas 
personally knew who they were. Jimmy Leo commented, "If we 
had been Guardia, we would not have had so much success. We 
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were successful because we were from the mountains ourselves, 
from the same region, and the campesinos knew it."8 Because the 
Sandinistas' claims were so far off the mark, their credibility among 
the highlanders went into free fall, and the rebellion spread rapidly? 

EL GRUPO PIRATA 

Las ciudades hicieron bien. Pero para 10s campesinos en las 
montafias, la llegada de la Revoluci6n era una Via Crucis, 
un Calvario. 

(The cities did well. But for the peasants in the mountains 
the arrival of the Revolution was a Stations of the Cross, a 
Calva y). 

-PIRATAIO 

"Pirata" is from a peasant family. His father raised corn and 
beans for home consumption on a thirty-acre plot near Wiwili. The 
family was poor but usually managed to produce a small surplus 
to buy things they could not make for themselves, such as sewing 
needles, cloth, or kerosene. Pirata and his seven brothers, all of 
whom were to become Comandos, helped their father work the 
farm, living together in an isolated dirt-floored house built of wood 
that they had hewed by hand from local trees. Pirata proudly 
described himself and his entire family not just as "indios," but as 
"indios puros," pure Indians, and commented that his paternal 
grandfather actually spoke "more Indian than Spanish."ll His 
fellow comarquefios, or comarca neighbors, were suspicious of all 
outsiders, even peasants from nearby communities. He mentioned 
with evident pride that his community's most prestigous family 
was known as the Walakitans,12 from a lineage of tall dark-skinned 
people from which came the community's hereditary cacique, or 
chief. They were always addressed formally as usted, never with 
the informal vos.13 
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When the Revolution began, Pirata became a member of both a 
local CDS and a new Militia battalion.14 The Sandinistas consid- 
ered him a loyal supporter and offered him military training in 
Cuba. They may have been pleased with him, but he was not 
pleased with them. He had been pressured into joining the CDS 
and Militia and was unhappy in both. He was also displeased with 
Sandinista criticisms of the traditional Catholic Church, with the 
way their rural programs were destroying the independence of the 
campesinos, and with the way that the Sandinistas intimidated 
anyone who opposed them and by doing so made everyone afraid 
to speak out honestly. He was even more disturbed because the 
Sandinista cadre were all outsiders from the Pacific lowlands, 
openly contemptuous of the highlander indio campesinos and 
obviously bent on changing their traditional customs and habits, 
by force if necessary.15 

By November 1979, Pirata had had enough.16 He had known 
Dimas as a Sandinista commander and knew that he was orga- 
nizing a new insurgent group, so he made clandestine contact with 
him. He continued publicly as a Sandinista, but began to give 
secret support to the Milpistas. Taking a leaf from Dimas's book, 
Pirata also began to recruit a new MILPAS unit of his own from 
among Militia companions. Like Pirata, they were highlander 
indio carnpesinos who were rapidly becoming disillusioned by the 
Revolution. The Sandinistas quickly became suspicious and threat- 
ened to kill him if they could confirm allegations against him. 

Pirata recalled in detail the day he finally acted. On 28 January 
1980, he and about twenty other indio militiamen from his comarca 
deserted and, taking their weapons with them, fled into the nearby 
mountains to join Dirnas. But, after a short time with Dimas, they 
decided that they were not comfortable being led by an "espafiol" 
former Sandinista, even one of Dimas's reputation and experience, 
and preferred to operate autonomously. They soon became a sepa- 
rate MILPAS group. By April 1980, almost one hundred men from 
Pirata's former militia battalion had joined him, Dimas, or one of 
the other MILPAS groups around Wiwili. Fifteen stayed together 
to form the nucleus of what became the Grupo Pirata, which was 
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to retain its status as an autonomous unit throughout the war. 
Seven of the fifteen were later killed in combat. Eight were still 
together when they laid down their arms in 1990.17 

Asked why he and his group had so insistently maintained their 
autonomy, Pirata explained that they were indios who were deeply 
distrustful of all outsiders and did not like to submit to outside 
leadership.18 They were unwilling to serve under former Guardia, 
equally resistant and suspicious of former Sandinistas, and did not 
even fully trust carnpesinos from other comarcas. Pirata ascribed 
these feelings to a particularly deep streak of Indian suspicious- 
ness. Because they were excellent guerrilla fighters, their wishes 
were respected throughout the war. The families and friends of 
Pirata's group became its internal support structure, correos, clan- 
destine comarca committee members, and popular support base. 

The motives Pirata adduced to his other Militia battalion 
companions for rebelling were much like his own. They were 
unhappy at having been pressured into joining a CDS or the Militia 
against their will and angered by being obligated to sell their prod- 
ucts to the state at low prices and then buy from the state at high 
prices. They opposed land seizures and pressuring to join new 
agricultural cooperatives, which they saw as threats to their land 
and independent survival. Coercion by security forces jeopardized 
their safety and limited their freedom. That the Revolution was 
being imposed by outsiders from the Pacific lowlands, who neither 
understood nor respected them, made matters infinitely worse. 

T H E  GROUP O F  F A R O L ~ N  A N D  PALOMA19 

"Segovia" remembered well his first Milpista experiences with a 
small MILPAS group led by "Farolin" and "Pal~ma."~~ Although 
Segovia's father was from San Juan de Limay and his mother from 
Condega, their children had been born and raised in the moun- 
tains near EstelL21 They were a rarity in one sense, a Protestant 
family in a very Catholic region. But like their Catholic neighbors, 
they made their living on a small farm, producing almost all their 
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own food. They also grew some coffee that they sold to buy goods 
not made on the farm or available by barter locally.22 

During the war against Somoza, Segovia had been a correo for 
Sandinista guerrilla forces operating in the region of Jalapa just 
south of the Honduran border in the Department of Nueva 
Segovia, from which he took his nom de guerre. On several occa- 
sions, he helped to evacuate wounded fighters to Honduras for 
medical treatment and remembered one in particular, Rufo 
Zeledh, who was to become a Sandinista army first sergeant after 
the fall of Somoza, only to change sides and become a corn and^.^^ 
When Somoza was defeated, Segovia joined the Sandinistas' 
Nuevo Ejkrcito. As a reward for his services, he was sent to study 
auto mechanics at a new facility in Montelimarz4 and then became 
a driver for Ejkrcito Nuevo drivers. But even as he chauffeured 
army officers around Nicaragua, Segovia developed serious doubts 
about the Revolution. 

On occasional trips home, Segovia found himself subjected to a 
steady stream of bitter complaints about how the Sandinista army 
was acting. People he had known all his life, including members of 
his own family, began to fear him. Despite Segovia's service, his 
father was also being harassed by the local CDS, and his mother 
was terrified. An uncle, Ruy Espinosa, already an early Milpista 
under the pseudonym Farolin, bluntly told him: "Choose. Your 
mother or your rev~lution."~~ Segovia chose. 

Disillusioned with the Revolution and the Sandinistas' treat- 
ment of his family, and hurt by his family's hostility toward him, 
Segovia began to work as a clandestine MILPAS supporter in mid- 
1980 from within Sandinista army ranks. He exploited his mobil- 
ity as an officer's driver to help the burgeoning insurgency by 
carrying supplies to the Milpistas in Sandinista vehicles, prosely- 
tizing in their favor while on official trips and then preparing with 
his family to launch yet another MILPAS group. 

Shortly after he became a MILPAS supporter, Segovia, one of 
his brothers, and a first cousin went to join his uncle, Farolin, in 
the  mountain^.^^ By the end of 1980 the group had twenty-six 
members. Its fifteen combatants were led by Farolin and one of 
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Segovia's older brothers, who had taken the pseudonym Paloma. 
The rest were mostly family members hiding with them in the 
mountains to avoid Sandinista reprisals. The group was active in 
the hills west of Jalapa along the Honduran border. A few of its 
members occasionally crossed the border into Honduras to buy 
ammunition for their weapons and to obtain other goods. They 
were armed only with hunting weapons and received food and 
other help from nearby campesinos, including a Honduran peas- 
ant named Jorge Alvarenga, who had a farm close to Cifuentes, 
H ~ n d u r a s . ~ ~  They had no direct contact with any of the other 
MILPAS until early 1981 when, for the first time, they withdrew as 
a group to H o n d u r a ~ . ~ ~  

LAS CULEBRAS 

Rubh (whose first nom de guerre was Culebra and who was cited 
earlier in connection with Dimas) had mixed feelings about the 
overthrow of Somoza since his father was a juez de mesta, or 
m a ~ s t r a t e . ~ ~  He and his family had come under pressure from the 
Sandinistas even before Somoza fell. In March 1979, Rub& was 
detained by a local Sandinista guerrilla column and sentenced to 
death. Friends talked the Sandinistas out of executing him, but he 
remarked, rather laconically, that being sentenced to death "both- 
ered me a lot."30 For the first several months after the Revolution, 
Rub6n tried to avoid trouble by going about his own business 
quietly, but reprisals against his father and family made that 
impossible. 

0 

On 29 March 1980, a date engraved in Rub6nfs memory, a friend 
named Antonio Jarquin, "ChilindrinfU3l came to the Sobalvarrofs 
farm at Los Cedros near Kilambe. He appears to have been one of 
the few Guardia neither jailed or forced into exile by the 
Sandinistas. Jarquin had just been arrested by the Sandinistas, 
severely beaten, but then released. After some discussion they 
joined forces to organize an insurgent group. Their approach was 
pure Nicaraguan: they started a baseball team.32 Jarquin and Rub& 
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then using the nom de guerre Culebra,33 collected fifteen "baseball 
players" and, in keeping with their cover, from March through 
May met only on weekends at a local baseball field. Among the 
participants were "Ivan" (Abelardo Zelaya) and "Calarnbrito."34 
The group, which dubbed itself Las Culebras, began to gather 
hunting weapons to use in the war to come. 

By the end of May, Las Culebras were ready and went in to the 
nearby Segovian highlands to become a MILPAS group. They soon 
began to capture arms and munitions from the Sandinistas' new 
militias. Militia members, many of them relatives or friends of the 
Milpistas, usually just handed over their weapons without a fight. 
On the few occasions when they seemed reluctant, Las Culebras 
would help the process along. Rub& said he did not remember 
this as a difficult task. It was his impression that although the mili- 
tiamen were responsible for their weapons, they were not espe- 
cially adverse to having the MILPAS take them as long as they 
could explain their loss to their Sandinista superiors. Asked why 
he thought the procurement of arms from the Militia went so 
smoothly, Rub& asked in return, "Why not? After all, they were all 
really on our side anyway."35 Chilindrin was Las Culebras's first 
leader. They often operated as one of the MILPAS groups allied 
with Dimas. After Dimas was killed, Las Culebras began to coop- 
erate with Irene Calder6n. When Chilindrin was killed in combat 
in late 1981, Rubkn, still using the norn de guerre Culebra, took 
his place. 

Rub& believed that the carnpesinos' initial violent reaction to 
the Revolution arose from repeated Sandinista arms sweeps in 
May, June, July, and August 1979, which they saw as signals that 
the Sandinistas intended to treat them like enemies from the very 
beginning, especially since the sweeps began even before the fall 
of Somoza and well before any visible opposition to the San- 
dinistas among the highla11ders.3~ He also elaborated at length on 
the early nature and conduct of the Sandinista army and State 
Security. He called them unprofessional forces who were being 
taught how to repress a general populace by Cuban and other 
internationalist advisors. Adding insult to injury, most of the 
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Sandinista officers and troops were from the Pacific coastal low- 
lands and displayed clear racial biases against the campesinos, 
whom they treated as indio mferiors. Rub& said they acted like 
an occupying army serving on foreign soil, behavior that gener- 
ated considerable resentment among the region's peasants, already 
highly suspicious of outsiders, especially espafioles from the Pacific. 

Interestingly, Rub& also considered the Sandinista's Literacy 
Crusade another key cause of campesino  resentment^.^^ The Cru- 
sade's literacy workers, or Brigadistas, were largely urban Pacific 
coast student ideologues imbued with revolutionary zeal. The 
campesinos were eager to learn to read and write, but the political 
content of what the Brigadistas tried to teach along with reading 
and writing shocked the country folk: attacks on the traditional 
family and the church and effusive praise of Cuba and for Fidel 
Castro, often even at the expense of Sandinista heroes such as 
Carlos Fonseca. The Brigadistas were usually quartered on the 
populace, which had to feed them from its dwindling food stocks 
and house them in their homes, even though many Brigadistas 
treated them with outright contempt. Consequently, the peasants 
soon began to see the Brigadistas as enemies and to designate them 
as targets for MILPAS actions. By early 1980, MILPAS actions 
against Brigadistas had become so widespread that the Sandinistas 
had to send troops and assign special militia units to protect 

and the program had become a major problem at the 
national 

Rub& commented with some irony that with their literacy and 
political consciousness-raising campaigns, the Sandinistas did, as 
they intended, sharply raise the political consciousness of the 
peasant masses. What they then failed to do was guide this new 
consciousness into channels that favored the Revol~t ion.~~ The 
program raised political awareness among the previously apoliti- 
cal peasants efficiently enough, but the peasants rejected the 
Sandinistas' message; instead the process backfired and served 
primarily to prepare the campesinos to receive the message of the 
Milpistas. Unlike the Sandinistas' message, that one accorded with 
their own interests and values systems. 
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HIGHLAND CLANS 

In addition to the Baldivia clan of Tigrillo and Dimas Tigrillo, other 
prominent clans that joined the highlander Resistance movement 
were the Mezas, Rugamas, Sobalvarros, Herreras, and Galeanos. 
The Galeanos serve as an example of how important these clans 
were from the very beginning. The clan's homeland is near Wiwili. 
Seven Galeano brothers and sisters from one nuclear family alone 
became Milpistas in 1979-80 and then went on to become impor- 
tant Comando leaders. One of the seven was killed during the war 
and another, Franklyn, the 198849 chief of staff of the FDN, died 
after the war in a suspicious one-car accident in 1995.41 An assort- 
ment of uncles, aunts, and cousins of Franklyn also joined the 
MILPAS during the earliest years of the organization. All together, 
eighty-seven Galeanos were Comandos during the war, and several 
hundred others were correos or members of clandestine comarca 
committee~.~~ 

When the Revolution started, the Galeanos held combined 
properties, which were shared among some twenty nuclear fami- 
lies and covered about 1,250 acres, including 150 planted with 
coffee and about 1,100 in pasture for some 600 head of cattle. At 
about fifty-five acres per family, the Galeanos were classified as 
small or medium-sized farmers. Their farms were worked by a 
combination of clanspeople and sixty to seventy full-time work- 
ers, plus as many as two hundred additional hired workers to pick 
coffee at harvest The Galeanos lived on their farms and 
were not absentee landlords. They had little formal education, and 
none had gone beyond primary school. Although better off than 
the average highlanders, they could not be classified as wealthy. 
All the Galeanos interviewed for this study identified themselves 
as peasants, indios, Liberals, and  catholic^.^^ According to La 
Chaparra and Johnny, both Galeanos, the clan is close-knit and 
very resistant to outside interference. 

Galeano clanspeople, with family blessings, had fought against 
the Somoza dictatorship as Sandinista guerrillas, including three 
uncles who had been with El Danto. The clan had also lent its 
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properties to Sandinistas operating in the region and had provided 
food, supplies, and money to the anti-Somoza cause.45 But despite 
their support for the struggle against Somoza, as landowners the 
Galeanos came under Sandinista pressure almost immediately 
after the Revolution began. The clan's patriarch and one of his 
older sons were arrested, and another of his sons, Pastor Galeano, 
disappeared. Pastor's body was recovered in 1990, when it was 
exhumed from a clandestine cemetery used by the Sandinistas to 
dispose of the bodies of campesinos killed early in the Revolution. 
Francisco "Foncho" Galeano, one of those who had fought on the 
Sandinista side, was arrested in 1983 along with his wife. La 
Chaparra said he was tortured at a prison known as La Perrera46 
and then castrated, after being forced to watch as his wife (her 
aunt) was gang-raped by their capt0rs.4~ 

The Galeanos began organizing against the Revolution as soon 
as they came under pressure in late July 1979. By late August they 
had begun preparations to fight the Sandinistas, working quietly 
among themselves. For the first few months, none joined the 
MILPAS, although whenever a nucleus of guerrillas came to their 
attention, such as those around Dimas, Irene Calderbn, or Tigrillo, 
a Galeano or two would slip out to visit them. By October some 
Galeanos had gone to the mountains to stay. Others remained on 
their farms, moving quietly back and forth between them and the 
guerrills camps. Although they did not create their own group, 
they became a prime source of combatants for several of the 
MILPAS groups and for the larger rebellion to follow. 

Johnny recounted some of his own memories of the period.48 
Even as the Sandinistas threatened to seize Galeanos' family farms 
and severely mistreated members of the clan, he was being pres- 
sured by them to join their new militia and a CDS committee. 
When he resisted, he was publicly labeled a "Somocista" and 
"counterrevolutionary" and threatened with reprisals. He also 
remembered being concerned and frightened by the early Sandin- 
ista arms sweeps in the countryside. A neighbor, Don Alesi0,4~ died 
of a heart attack in September 1979 when the Sandinistas took h s  
farm. A year later Johnny joined the flood of Galeanos into the 
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ranks of the rebels and became the leader of a small unit in a 
MILPAS group led by Tiro a1 Blanc0.5~ As he recalled, by then 
almost his entire family and most of the Galeano clan had joined 
the insurgency. Tiro a1 Blanco's group was active in the area of 
Wiwili, Plan de Grarna, El Triunfo, and Chachaguita. Only one of 
its members, "Relhpago," was a former G~ardia.~' The rest were 
former Milpistas or peasants ralliers. When he arrived, the group 
had about thirty combatants and an extensive network of correos 
and other collaborators, including many within the Sandinistas' 
ranks and even some within the Sandinistas' intelligence services. 
Although Johnny's group did engage in some skirmishes with 
Sandinista security forces, most of its early activities were dedi- 
cated to developing its relationships with its peasant popular 
support bases. He said that almost all of the Milpistas felt they had 
simply exchanged a dictatorship of the right for one of the left and 
harbored deep feelings of resentment for having been de~eived.5~ 

A number of Galeanos became key Contra commanders, includ- 
ing Franklyn. Johnny himself went on to command the Masaya 
Task Force of the FDNfs Jorge Salazar I Regional Command. Tiro 
al Blanco commanded the Juan Castro Castro Regional C0mmand.~3 
"Adolfo" led the Prudencia Gonzdez Task Force, part of the Rafael 
Herrera Regonal Task Force.54 La Chaparra commanded the 280 
women Comandos of the Diriangen Regonal Command. A younger 
sister, Irma, became a head nurse at the main h~spital~for the 
Resistance in Yarnales, Honduras. 

O T H E R  G R O U P S  

Other MILPAS groups were operating during 1979 and 1980 that 
were less well known to those interviewed. According to La 
Chaparra, two, led respectively by  ferna and^"^^ and "L-20," were 
operating near Matagalpa in late 1979,56 while a third, under "El 
Coyote," was active in the regon of Rio Blanco, far to the south on 
the border between the departments of Matagalpa and Z e l a ~ a . ~ ~  
Jose Antonio Aguirre Zamora, "Chino-4,"58 knew of a small 
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MILPAS group in 1979 and 1980 under one Hermia Hernhdez 
that had been active near the Jinotega hamlets of Wina, Arnacona, 
and Waslalita. Hernhdez later came to be called L-20. Jimrny Leo 
also remembered the groups that La Chaparra mentioned, plus 
another under the leadership of "El Cuervo." Johnny recalled a 
group of twenty to twenty-five under a commander known as 
"Aureliano" that had been active around El Zhgano and Cerro 
del Cacho.59 The Aureliano, as Johnny remembered, had fought 
against Somoza under El Dant~.~O 

Luis Fley Gonziilez, "Jhonson," who provided information on 
several other MILPAS groups, was an officer in the Sandinista 
Army from 1979 to 1981. He was later to become a Resistance 
comandante after he became convinced that, as he put it, "the 
people wanted Somoza to go . . . and things got worse."61 But 
during the first phase of the highlander war, Jhonson, as a Sandin- 
ista Army officer, was kept informed by Sandinista intelligence of 
some eight to ten MILPAS groups operating in the highlands.62 In 
addition to those of Dirnas, Tigrillo, Chilindrin, Tiro a1 Blanco, and 
"El Cadejo," he remembered being told of a group near Rio Blanco 
(perhaps that of El Coyote) and another led by a Juan Hernhdez, 
known as "Juan:23." He recalls that Juan:23 was said to have about 
fifteen guerrillas, including one known as "El Sordo"63 and another 
known as "Picho" Jarquin. 

Jhonson is among the most quoted of the former Resistance 
comandantes. He served near the end of the confhct as the FDN's 
judge advocate general and, in that capacity, came to be known to 
a number of foreign journali~ts.~~ Born and raised in a rural comarca 
near El Tuma, Matagalpa, he was a correo for Omar Cabezas's 
forces around Kilambk during the war against Somoza. He remem- 
bered bringing food, medicine, and intelligence informati~n.~~ He 
fell under suspicion and was arrested by the Somoza government. 
After his release, he went into the mountains to join the guerrillas 
and served in the Sandinistas' Bernardo Villas Ochoa Column. 

Jhonson's most memorable combat experiences during the war 
against Somoza were attacks on Jinotega and Matagalpa. He was 
aware that there was a highlander MILPA unit with the Sandinistas 
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and recalled being told that almost all its fighters were from 
Jinotega. As he remembered events, when the three Marxist tenden- 
cias, or factions, within the Sandinista Front were united by Castro 
in the non-Marxist highlander MILPAS fell through the 
cracks and became a sort of fourth 

Jhonson remained in the Sandinista army for almost two 
years following the fall of Somoza. When he left the army in 
early 1981, he was rewarded by being made the manager of a 
government company in Managua. Soon, however, he began to 
have problems when he criticized policies that the Sandinistas 
were implementing. Labeled a reactionary by Front cadre on his 
staff, he was fired, and his local CDS committee began to make 
his life miserable. He was accused of being a counterrevolution- 
ary and jailed. Jhonson's three brothers had stayed in the army 
and were able to obtain his release but warned him that the 
Sandinistas might kill him and recommended that he leave 
Managua quickly. Jhonson first returned home. But during April 
and May of 1981, several of his friends were killed for criticiz- 
ing the Revolution. None had actively opposed the Revolution. 
Critical comments alone had been enough to cost them their 
lives. As a marked counterrevolutionary himself, he became 
fearful for his own safety and tried to leave the country, but was 
denied a passport. Finally, with six companions, he fled to the 
mountains and joined the MILPAS.68 

POCOYO 

One study of the period mentions a MILPAS group under a 
"Pocoyo" that was reportedly active near La Pita del Carmen, Yali, 
and Quilali in July 1980.69 The group was said to have attacked a 
number of militia and army posts and suffered some casualties 
before being captured en masse on 13 September of that year.70 It 
may have been led by the Pocoyo mentioned earlier, but the former 
Comandos who were interviewed could not remember a MILPAS 
group led by him. 
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STAY-BEHINDS A N D  OTHER NON-MILPAS 

Not all the early arrned rebel groups in 1979 were MILPAS. In addi- 
tion to the highlander MILPAS that came to form the basis of the 
main Contra army, some small non-MILPAS armed groups of stay- 
behinds remained inside Nicaragua after Somoza fell. These were 
among a handful of other anti-Sandinistas who quickly organized 
themselves during this time. While relatively little information 
about them was uncovered, the earliest of these organizations may 
have been two small groups in the hills near Masaya. A former 
Resistance activist, Rodolfo Robles, "Raul," said that in July 1979, 
he and eight others organized themselves and took to the hills near 
Managua with the intention of engaging in guerrilla operations, 
but their efforts were short-lived. Sandinista security forced them 
to disperse within a few weeks. At the time, Raul was aware of 
another group of about the same number that was active nearby.71 

One Comando remembered a group of twelve men under a 
leader known as "El Chino" that was active during the latter half 
of 1979 in eastern Le6n; all were from the Guardia National's elite 
EEBI (Escuela de Ensefianza Basica de InfantQia) unit? The group 
broke up when El Chino was killed in a clash at El Roble, near El 
Jicaral, Le6n, on 9 January 1980." Pirata recalled another group 
of about fifteen others led by a "Kalimh" that had two former 
members of the EEBI in its ranks.74 He had also heard of an even 
smaller group of five under a Frank Montenegro, "Frijol," that had 
been active near Masaya but was quickly pushed north into the 
mountains by Sandinista security patrols. He recalled that Frijol's 
deputy was known as "RAfaga."75 Jimrny Leo and La Chaparra 
remembered hearing of a group of about fifteen others under El 
Cuervo, who had been active in Matagalpa, but he did not know 
who they were or precisely where they had operated.76 La Chaparra 
also added that she thought there had been a large group of 
former Guardia active near Rio Blanco led by a guerrilla who 
called himself El Coyote. No confirming evidence was found on 
any of these groups. In any case they had little lasting impact and 
soon disappeared. 
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I N D E P E N D E N T  EVIDENCE OF 
MILPAS OPERATIONS: 

A SANDINISTA OFFICER'S DIARY 

The most convincing document used to cross-check many of the 
comments by the Comandos concerning the earliest MILPAS was 
the contemporary handwritten field combat diary of Lt. Fidel 
Tinoco Zeledbn, the commander of an elite Sandinista reconnais- 
sance platoon. His platoon spent the better part of two years chas- 
ing Milpistas in the  highland^.^ From 30 December 1980 to 29 June 
1982, Tinoco led the pursuit of Milpistas as they moved in and out 
of many of the mountain communities named by the Milpistas 
during interviews, especially Wiwili, Aguas Calientes, Kilamb6, 
Plan de Grama, and San Jos6 de Bocay. In his diary, Tinoco gives 
the names of thirty-seven of the Milpistas he was pursuing, includ- 
ing several Sobalvarros and a number of Mezas, Herreras, and 
Blandones. Irene Calderh is repeatedly mentioned, as are Josk 
Danilo Galeano, Tiro a1 Blanco, and several Milpistas who were 
with Tigrillo. 

Tinoco's reconnaissance platoon supported the operations of 
two nearby Sandinista Army units he identifies as U.M. 6027 and 
B.O.N. 6009 and spent much of its time trying to obtain informa- 
tion from campesinos or searching for weapons.78 It appears not to 
have had much success at either mission. In one instance, Tinoco's 
platoon was ordered to take up a hidden position near Aguas 
Calientes to try to spot MILPAS correos and other collaborators 
known to be active there. Sandinista intelligence provided them 
with a clandestine peasant contact to help them. Tinoco personally 
observed so many campesino-Milpista contacts that he finally 
noted down in his diary, in exasperation, that it looked to him as 
if all the peasants of Aguas Calientes were collaborating with the 
MILPAS. After fifteen days his mission was aborted. By then he 
was personally convinced that even his undercover Sandinista 
contact was actually a MILPAS collaborator.79 During his eighteen 
months in the field, the only weapons Tioco reported capturing 
were four .38 caliber pistolss0 and a .22 caliber rifle, although he 
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did seize some ammunition and a telescopic sight for a rifle and 
reported seeing two M-16 rifles on 21 November 1981, in the hands 
of the leaders of a passing MILPAS unit.81 

Perhaps the most striking feature of Tinoco's diary is its docu- 
mentation of the rapid growth and evolution of the MILPAS rebel- 
lion. In late 1980 and early 1981, his platoon's spottings of MILPAS 
were usually fleeting and the number of Milpistas they saw were 
few. By the autumn of 1981, Tinoco was reporting larger and larger 
units, a group of seventeen from Aguas Calientes on 10 October, 
including sixteen members of the Herrera and Cornejo families, a 
platoon-sized unit of fifty on 21 November. By July 1982, Tinoco 
was reporting on company-sized units of the new FDN. One he 
observed even had an official name, the Gmpo Lorenzo Cardenal.g2 

Tinoco's diary confirms, with individual names, places, dates, 
and other details, the accuracy of much of what the former 
Comandos said concerning the MILPAS war. All of those he men- 
tions in the be-g were campesinos, none former Guardia; the 
peasantry was rebelling en masse. The diary information also 
confirms that the war was well under way and spreading rapidly 
by early 1981, and that up to the end of that year the MILPAS were 
the only Nicaraguans engaged in armed combat operations against 
the Sandinistas. Tinoco was killed in combat on 29 June 1982 during 
a clash with a Comando unit led by Luis Payh, "Mike Lima," who 
then used the diary as his own for a short period." Mike Lima 
asked me to note that Tmoco had proven a competent foe and died 
courageously. (Map 5 shows the areas of operation of the MILPAS 
groups mentioned by Tinoco and by former Comandos.) 

T H E  MILPAS WAR PERIOD 

In addition to the above comments by early Milpistas and those 
found in Tinoco's diary, other independent sources confirm that 
there was fighting in the Segovias during this period. Many of 
these accounts are in press reports published by the Foreign Broad- 
cast Information Service (FBIS).84 
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Map 5. The combined zones of operation of fifteen MILPAS groups, 
1979-82. Note their spread south to Rio Blanco and east to Bocay on the 
Rio Coco (Coco River). 

The comments of the Milpistas in particular display a high 
degree of internal consistency. The Milpistas who had been with 
the anti-Somoza MILPAS of El Danto and Dimas all said they had 
reached a point of disillusionment by early May 1979. Their 
response followed announcements, at officers' meetings in the 
highlands, of Sandinista plans to stage a radical revolution, not 
establish a Costa Rican-style democracy. Several mentioned El 
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Danto's open opposition to these plans, and his later death by 
"friendly fire," as turning points. Dimas's common-law wife, 
Marina, quoted Dimas kumself as expressing such views at the time 
and dated Dimas's disillusionment and initial acts of rebellion back 
to May 1979. Several Milpistas, including Segovia, Dimas Tigrillo, 
and Tigre, traced their own active opposition to the Revolution to 
the same events in the same month. Others confirmed that the 
rebellions of Irene Calder6n and Tigrillo also began during the 
same period. Those who had not been anti-Somoza Milpistas 
became disenchanted because of the same events that followed 
after the Sandinistas took power. 

The former Milpistas were consistent in their comments on 
what they believed had led the peasants of the Segovian highlands 
to rebel. A number mentioned Sandinista arms sweeps in May, 
June, July, and August of 1979 as having alerted the campesinos to 
trouble to come. All pointed to revolutionary policies that required 
the campesinos to sell their crops at low prices and then buy neces- 
sities at high prices from the government, to seizures of private 
property "in the name of the Revolution," to coercive violence of 
one sort or another, and to ethnic and class tensions between the 
highlanders and Pacific coast revolutionary cadre. Several also 
mentioned land tenure problems. Unhappiness with involuntary 
associations, especially pressure to join new d t i a  units and CDSs, 
was also cited as widespread and important. Because the Sandin- 
istas took power on 19 July 1979, and the first Agrarian Reform 
Decree was issued on 22 July, the July-August period at which the 
Milpistas dated the beginning of the Resistance movement was 
historically consistent.g5 

The Milpistas also responded consistently to questions concern- 
ing their individual and family identities and their ethnic, class, 
and geographic origins. This was particularly suggestive. All iden- 
tified themselves and their families as campesinos and small farm- 
ers. All but one, Rub&, identified themselves as indios. All said 
they were from particularly rural cornarcas in either Nueva Segovia 
or Jinotega. None were former Guardia. Their information gener- 
ated questions about the class, ethnic, historical, and geographic 
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roots, not only of the Cornandos, but also of the people who had 
given birth to the MILPAS war. It also raised another question. If 
the 1979-81 MILPAS war had been decidedly Segovian, peasant, 
indio, and non-Guardia in origin, how had these people come to be 
"Contras" in a so-called "Contra War"? 



C H A P T E R  S I X  

At the same time MILPAS units were fighting inside Nicaragua, 
other anti-Sandinista forces were gathering outside the country. 
The earliest paramilitary exile groups were a small armed group in 

San Marcos de Col6n and Choluteca, Honduras known as Los 
Zebras, organized in July 1979; a group of Guardia led by Major 
Pablo Emilio Salazar, "Comandante Bravo," that had fled to El 
Salvador in July and then began moving to Honduras in August; 
an original Southern Front that had organized in Costa Rica in 
August 1979 and begun some cross-border raiding into Nicaragua 
late that year; and the largest and best-known of these early exde 
paramilitary groups, the Legi6n 15 de Septiembre, organized in 
Guatemala City on 31 December 1979. 

LOS ZEBRAS 

The archives of the Nicaraguan Resistance contain a document 
dated 22 July 1979 that proved to be a personnel roster for the orga- 
nization known as Los Zebras. It lists 141 members by name, noms 
de guerre, and function. Most of the former Comandos I inter- 
viewed were unaware of this exile group, but several, including 
former Guardia Col. Ricardo Lau, "Chino Lau," confinned that Los 
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Zebras had, in fact, been created in July 1979, in Choluteca, Hon- 
duras, by some former Guardia and 0thers.l When I showed him 
a copy of the roster, Chino Lau said that both the personnel named 
and the date of the information on it appeared correct, although 
the document itself seemed to be a later copy of an o r ipa l  list. He 
called Los Zebras one of the precursor groups of the Legi6n 15 de 
Septiembre, which he helped found in December 1979. Members 
of Los Zebras who are named on the roster later formed the 
nucleus for an early Legi6n unit known as the Base Operacional 
Zebra, which was established in April 1981. This was one of the first 
three Resistance operations bases in Honduras2 Of those named, 
fifty-seven, or 40 percent, are identified as former G~ard ia .~  This 
percentage coincides with later data on the Base Operacional Zebra 
that, at 40 percent, had the hghest percentage of former Guardia in 
any Resistance formation. Several names are also the same.4 

Another former Comando, "Johnny 11," also remembered Los 
Zebras and recalled that they were organized in Honduras in July 
1979.5 He remembered them as former Guardia and civilians whose 
intent was to organize guerrilla warfare against the Sandinistas. 
The group had contacts with other anti-Sandinista elements in 
Guatemala and Hond~ras .~  Two other former Comandos, Jimmy 
Leo and Rubh, also remembered them,7 although Jimmy Leo 
recalled little other than hearing of them during the early part of 
the war. Rubh was better informed and described the group as 
former Guardia who were active along the Honduras/Nicaragua 
frontier between the Gulf of Fonseca and the San Marcos de 
Col6n/El Espino border area in 1979 and 1980. He remembered 
that they brought attention to themselves by stealing cattle in 
Nicaragua and selling them in Honduras to pay for their opera- 
tions. During that period the MILPAS were also active as guerril- 
las but only inside Nicaragua and in regons much farther to the 
east in Nueva Segovia and Jinotega near the Coco R i ~ e r . ~  Los 
Zebras were probably the origin of Robert Kagan's image of the 
earliest Contras (see chapter 1). 

On 9 April 1980, Sandinista State Security chief Lenin Cerna 
confirmed the presence of an active exile group in Choluteca, 
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complete with a board of directors, that was planning to stage 
guerrilla operations near Chinandega in Nicaragua's northern 
Pacific. Based on details given by Cerna during his public com- 
ments, the group appears to have been Los Zebras? No other docu- 
ments were found on the activities of Los Zebras, and none of those 
interviewed had been personally involved. But according to Rub6n's 
comments and Cerna's press statements, it appears to have been 
this exile group that generated charges during 1979 and 1980 that 
former Guardia were engaged in cattle rustling raids into north- 
em Pacific Nicaragua from Honduras. What is not clear is the real 
intentions of these participants. 

Smuggling cattle from Nicaragua northward for sale in Honduras 
or El Salvador without "benefit of customs inspections" is a time- 
honored practice among Nicaraguan ranchers, and 1979-80 marked 
the beginnings of Sandinista agrarian reform efforts, with cattle 
growers among those most affected. By late 1979, smuggling cattle 
was a counterrevolutionary crime carrying harsh penalties, yet 
many ranchers must have felt the need to liquidate some of their 
assets by selling cattle, lest they be seized. Reporting them as stolen 
would keep them from getting into trouble with the new regime 
and, if done in collusion with Los Zebras or others in Honduras, 
both parties could profit. Thus, it is unclear whether this mstling 
was criminal or collusive. In either case, the region in which Los 
Zebras were operating is distant from the operational areas of the 
MILPAS. (See the upper margin of map 6.) 

COMANDANTE BRAVO 

The most prominent of the former Guardia to be militarily active 
during 1979 was Maj. Pablo Emilio Salazar, who had commanded 
Guardia forces opposite the Sandinistas on Nicaragua's southern 
front during the anti-Somoza war. Under the nom de guerre 
Comandante Bravo, he had been one of the few "heroes" on the 
Somocista side. When Somoza fled, Bravo negotiated directly by 
radio with the Salvadoran army to withdraw his troops by sea to 
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Map 6. Comparison of 1979-82 areas of operation for the Zebras, 
MILPAS, and First Southern Front. Note the distances between the three 
areas. 

Puerto La Unih,  El Salvador. The withdrawal took place 20-21 
July, aboard a small flotilla of fishing and coastal vessels. 

At first Bravo's troops, as members of Nicaragua's armed 
forces, assumed that once the situation inside Nicaragua settled 
down, they would be allowed to return home peacefully.1° But by 
mid-August they realized that they would not be able to do so 
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safely and began to think about their next move. Some joined the 
Salvadoran armed forces, and others sought refuge in third coun- 
tries, including the United States. But most, still under the command 
of Bravo, began moving to Honduras. 

Bravo was given some arms and ammunition from Salvadoran 
arsenals and encouraged by local Salvadoran army commanders to 
establish his force along the Honduras-Nicaragua border and to 
begin raiding into Nicaragua. It not clear whether this encourage- 
ment was part of an approved policy or the result of Bravo's rela- 
tionships with friendly Salvadoran army officers. In any case, a 
logistical pipeline was established from La Unibn, El Salvador, 
across southern Honduras to Bravo's force and was used to send 
his men arms, munitions, and other help as they tried to reorga- 
nize into a force that could stage cross-border guerrilla raids.ll 

Bravo's men did launch several small cross-border raids, but 
these apparently had little impact. Nonetheless, the Sandinistas 
apparently saw him as a major threat and decided to eliminate 
him, perhaps because, having successfully blocked their southern 
invasion from Costa Rica for much of the war, he was a proven 
combat leader and had, for some, an aura of heroism. On 10 
October 1979, he was lured to a rendezvous in Tegucigalpa by a 
female Sandinista agent, Miriam Barbarefio, and tortured to death.12 
Those who had gathered around him scattered or joined other 
groups. 

Former top Sandinista "P6pe" Puente, cited earlier in connec- 
tion with El Danto, confirmed to me during a conversation at his 
home in Mexico City in October 1999, that Comandante Bravo was 
considered by the Nine Comandantes to have the potential to be 
the most dangerous leader of an organized armed effort against 
the Revolution. He said he himself planned the operation under 
orders from Sandinista comandante Tom& Borge, the revolution- 
ary government's new minister of the interior responsible for intel- 
ligence and counter-intelligence operations. At the time Puente 
was Borge's top intelligence aide, and his son Lenin Obidio was 
Borge's personal bodyguard. 
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T H E  LEGION 15 DE SEPTIEMBRE 

The best-known exile paramilitary organization of this early 
period was the Legidn 15 de Septiembre, established on 31 
December 1979 in Guatemala City and named for Nicaragua's 
Independence Day. Chino Lau was among its founders. He said 
that it was created by Guardia officers, some civilians then in 
Guatemala, and a few other Nicaraguans who flew in from Miami 
for the occasion.13 They met in the home of a Guardia colonel, Juan 
Gomez, "Fighter," who was then working as the private pilot of 
Guatemalan army General Lucas.14 Among those present were 
Francisco Urcuyo Maliafio, who had been president of Nicaragua 
for three days between the fall of Somoza and the arrival of the 
Sandinistas in Managua, Guardia colonels Enrique Bermiidez and 
Justiniano Pkrez, and captains Frixione and Francisco Ribera.15 
Captain Ribera brought a small supply of propaganda leaflets 
from Miami. Those who met also created a parallel political orga- 
nization, ADREN (Alianza Democratica Revolucionaria Nicara- 
giiense).l6 The Legidn quickly made contact with several other, 
smaller exile paramilitary groups that were also active in Guate- 
mala, including the Uni6n Democratic0 Nicaraguense (UDN), the 
Fuerza Armada de Resistencia Nicaragiiense (FARN), and the 
Frente Revolucionario para la Liberacidn de Nicaragua (FRPLN). 
The Legidn began, too, to reach out to other groups in Costa Rica, 
Honduras, and the United States. 

Another former Guardia who was present at the founding of 
the Legdn 15 de Septiembre, but who did not immediately join, 
was Filemdn Espinal Aguilera, "4-2."17 When Somoza fled Nica- 
ragua, 4-2 took asylum in the Guatemalan embassy in Managua.ls 
Allowed to leave in late 1979, he went to Guatemala City, where 
he found work as a municipal garbage collector. While working 
for the city, he also made contact with the exiled Guardia commu- 
nity that was preparing to create the Legidn, a number of whom 
were being housed and supported by Guatemalan businessmen in 
a safe house near Guatemala City's La Aurora International 
Airport. The exiles were using the house's gardens to conduct 
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makeshift training courses while trying to keep their activities and 
location secret. Initially 4-2 joined the FRPLN because, although a 
former Guardia himself, he felt those in charge of the Legi6n were 
not the best leaders available. He held out for a few weeks but 
finally became a Legionnaire after he concluded that the Legi6n 
was the more viable of the two groups.19 

"Chino 85," Later a vice minister in the 1996 Liberal govern- 
ment, was yet another former Guardia who went to Guatemala to 
join the Legih. He described the exiled group's activities during 
that period.20 At first its members engaged only in limited para- 
military training on their own. But the Guatemalan army soon 
began to help them and Chino-85 joined a twenty-man group of 
Legionnaires being grven basic military training at an army base 
known as Destacamento 110.21 AS with the Salvadoran army's 
support for Comandante Bravo's group, it was not entirely clear 
whether the Guatemalan military was acting on its own or with its 
government's approval.22 

By March 1980, the Legi6n felt strong enough to establish a 
presence on the Nicaragua/Honduras border. It had continued to 
receive support from some Guatemalan businessmen and had also 
received some arms and ammunition from the Guatemalan mili- 
tary. Its first detachment on the Honduran border, as yet unnamed, 
soon began to stage small incursions into Nicaragua in the region 
of the Jalapa valley and managed to capture some weapons from 
militia In April, the Legi6n increased its presence in the 
mountains of southern Honduras, under a plan called Proyecto 
Ariel, by establishing three bases of operations known as Atenas 
Ariel, Zebra, and Sagitar i~.~~ 

By early 1980, the Legi6n was also broadcasting into Nicaragua 
over its own station, Radio 15 de Septiembre, a fact confirmed by 
regional media reports.25 When Chino 85 later went to Honduras, 
he was told to report in to Legidn offices at Radio 15 de Septi- 
embre's transmitter site on top a hill known as Cerro de Hule, near 
Tegucigalpa. He remembers that Honduras's civilian authorities 
were none too happy with the radio station, but it was being 
protected by Honduran army officers, so there was little they could 
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do.26 Once the Legidn's first three bases were operational, the 
group established three more, Pino-l, Agateite, and Arenale~.~~ A 
seventh, Fenix, was added later in the Honduran Mosquitia and 
staffed by mostly former Guardia cadre to train Miskito, Sumo, 
and Rama Indians who were beginning to stream out of Nicaragua 
to join the rebellion. 

T H E  ORIGINAL S O U T H E R N  FRONT 

In August 1980, the Legidn was asked by Argentine intelligence 
operatives in contact with the group through Guardia Col. Enrique 
Berrntidez, "Comandante 3-80,"28 Somoza's former military attach6 
in Washington D.C., for a favor in return for more support. (Argen- 
tina's 1979-84 role in the Contra War is discussed in chapter 7.) In 
this instance, in Guatemala City, the Argentine military said it was 
interested in helping the Legdn, but first wanted the members to 
demonstrate their ability to stage a paramilitary operation. If the 
Argentines were satisfied, they would take three groups of twenty- 
two Comandos each to Argentina for courses in intelligence, 
counter-intelligence, and special warfare. The Argentines speclfied 
that for the Le@& to demonstrate its seriousness it needed to stage 
a commando raid in Costa Rica. At the time, leftist Argentine Mon- 
tonero guerrillas opposed to the Argentine government were oper- 
ating a powerful short-wave radio transmitter at Punta Piedras near 
Grecia, Costa Rica, known as Radio Noticias del Continente, broad- 
casting southward into Argentina, and Argentine intelligence 
wanted it silenced. Johnny I1 remembered that the Nicaraguans 
fully understood that the Argentines had made its destruction the 
price of their support.29 

The Legidn, with no presence of its own in Costa Rica, turned to 
the original Southern Front, a small non-Guardia exile group that 
had been active there since 1979 but was not part of the Legidn. 
(The better-known second Southern Front led by Ed6n Pastora, 
"Comandante Zero," did not appear untd later.)30 The group's raids 
had already caused the Sandinistas, on several occasions, to send 
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troops to Nicaragua's southern border in reaction to its attacks31 
By mid-1980 the o r ipa l  Southern Front had some 174 combatants. 
Most were peasants from Nicaragua's Pacific lowlands. About 10 
percent were former Pacific lowland businessmen. Several dozen 
were former Sandinistas, and seven were former G~ardia.3~ The 
group agreed to stage the raid on behalf of the Legi6n and, shortly 
thereafter, attacked the Radio Noticias transmitter site, knocking it 
off the air for a short time. 

A former business manager who was to go on to command an 
FDN Special Forces unit had been a member of the original South- 
em Front. A third-generation native of Managua, his parents were 
both "muy indios y muy Liberales" (both very Indian and very 
Liberal).33 To protect him from possible reprisals, his name is with- 
held. His father was a sugar cane specialist who helped manage 
several Somoza farms; the Sandinistas consequently labeled the 
family as Somocista. When the Salvadoran company he worked 
for closed its offices in Managua, it transferred him to Costa Rica. 
He did not become involved in exile activities until late 1980, when 
he joined the original Southern Front. From then until late May 
1982 he was actively involved in supporting cross-border raids into 
Nicaragua from Costa Rica. 

This Comando and another Comando, Johnny 11, who was 
interviewed separately, both remembered several raids the group 
had staged during 1980-81 from Costa Rica against Sandinista 
targets at Los Chiles, Pefias Blancas, Naranjo-Conventillos, and 
Cbrdenas. A June 1981 attack on a military basic training camp at 
a place called La Cruz that was under the direction of three Cubans 
was the most successful. The Comando claimed that they inflicted 
twenty-seven casualties, including wounding all three Cubans. 
Only one of the raiders, a Costa Rican known as "El Tico," was 
wounded.34 Both he and Johnny I1 recalled that although they were 
not officially welcome in Costa Rica, they received considerable 
informal help from Costa Rican Guardia Civil officers and other 
officials, including protection, arms, munitions, and other equip- 
ment. He remembered three or four Guardia with the group. 
Johnny I1 placed the number at four. 
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This Comando also recalled that on one occasion in early 1981 
the origmal Southern Front was contacted by another group that 
had been hiding for over a month in the hills h i d e  Nicaragua near 
San Carlos on Lake Nicaragua just north of Los Chiles, Costa Rica. 
Of the twenty-six members, eighteen were former Sandinistas, but 
they had no weapons. Costa Rican officials gave the first Southern 
Front some rifles and three LAW rockets from leftover Sandinista 
arms caches.35 They thought it ironic that the weapons were from 
stocks the Sandinistas had left behind in Costa Rica. It turned out 
that none of the new group's members knew how to use any of 
them, so the Comando's group also had to give them a crash 
weapons course.36 He finally left Costa Rica for Honduras when 
pressure was applied on the Costa Rican government by the 
second Southern Front of E d h  Pastora, after it began to organize 
in 1982. By then the Argentines had made good on their promises. 
According to a handwritten personnel report dated 20 December 
1981 (see appendix A), sixty-two had been trained in Argentina 
and sixteen in Guatemala. By then the Legi6n also had fifteen 
oficiales in the United States, ten in Miami, and five in "pr0jects."3~ 
The implications of this are discussed in the forthcoming chapter. 



C H A P T E R  SEVEN 

Cuba, Costa Rica, and the CIA 

SUPPORT FOR THE SANDINISTAS 
AGAINST SOMOZA 

Alone among the major antagonists in Nicaragua's recent wars, 
the MILPAS of 1979-82 had no foreign military support. All the 
others did, including those who made earlier attempts to over- 
throw the Somozas, the Sandinistas both during their struggle 
against the Somozas and later when in power, the FDN alliance, 
even Augusto C6sar Sandino in his time. 

The Somoza dynasty, which was widely described by its critics 
as a "client" of the United States, probably could not have retained 
power for so long without American political supp0rt.l Although 
some scholars have expressed doubts that this was so categorically 
true, little question exists that part of this support-the provision 
of arms-was of major value to the Som~zas.~ But the Somozas 
were not the only players with foreign government support in 
Nicaragua's wars. 

Attempt after attempt to overthrow the Somozas by force were 
also supported by other countries. Foreign governments had m e d  
and sustained several guerrilla incursions against Somoza-for 
example, the repeated efforts by former Sandino Gen. Ramon 
Raud&les,3 the Olama y Mojellones incursion of Pedro Joaquin 
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Chamorro, and other efforts to topple the dyna~ty.~ Costa Rica, 
Venezuela, Mexico, and Guatemala were especially invol~ed.~ But 
a former senior Sandinista, who participated for over eighteen 
years, labeled all such foreign-trained, armed, and supported efforts 
to eject the Somozas "injertos rechazados," attempts to graft out- 
sider guerrilla groups onto an unreceptive host that were reje~ted.~ 

The final and successful push to oust the last Somoza came only 
after 1977. At that time, Nicaragua's traditional oligarchy, which 
until then had largely sat out the process, finally made common 
cause with the country's radical revolutionaries. This occurred for 
a number of reasons, not least because the third Somoza, unlike his 
father and older brother who had been presidents before him, had 
become excessively forceful not just as a competitor for political 
power but also as a rival for economic dominance. The Carter 
administration of the United States also turned its back on the thud 
Somoza, and Fidel Castro flooded the Sandinistas with arms and 
other war materiel from Cuba. In order to mask their actual origin 
in Cuba, a widely reported cover story was put out that the arms 
that flowed to the Sandinista Front in 1978-79 were from Panama 
and Colombia, but this was never true. According to Costa Rican 
congressional investigative archives, confirmed by the minister 
who had been personally charged by the Costa Rican president 
with facilitating movement of the arms, by a senior Sandinista field 
commander who had been directly involved, and by numerous 
others who had seen or monitored various shipments from early 
1978 through July 1979, Cuba shipped at least two thousand tons 
of arms and munitions to the Sandinista Front in Costa Rica alone 
and did so with the active cooperation and support of the Costa 
Rican government. The materiel arrived via more than four hun- 
dred cargo flights directly from Cuba.? Other shipments arrived by 
way of Honduras or directly by air drop. Forrner Costa Rican pres- 
ident Jose "Pepe" Figieres said flatly of the final 1978-79 push 
against the Somozas that had it not been for arms from Cuba and 
Costa Rican government support for Sandinista operations, the 
"war [against Somoza] could not have been fought. It would not 
have been possible."g 
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When the Sandinistas took power, they brought most of this 
Cuban-supplied arsenal with them from Costa Rica. At the same 
time, they also began to benefit from a second flood of foreign aid, 
advisors, and arms.9 During their first three years in power, the 
Sandinistas received an estimated $310 million in military assis- 
tance.1° According to Sandinista military inventories classified Muy 
Secreto, or Top Secret, that were brought out by a defector, by 
October 1987 the Sandinista Army had 420,000 small arms and 567 
million rounds of ammunition in its official arsenals and was 
asking for 149,056 more small arms, mostly automatic rifles, and 
230 million more rounds of amrnunition.ll These inventories, several 
pages of which are reproduced in appendix E, did not include 
about 180,000 small arms left over from the estimated 267,000 Cuba 
had supplied to overthrow Somoza.12 By comparison, during their 
first years, the MILPAS inside received no foreign help and the 
exiled paramilitary elsewhere got a mere trickle. 

T H E  CIA's FIRST INVOLVEMENT, 1979-80 

The first serious offers of covert American paramilitary help made 
to those who were to become Nicaragua's Contras were reportedly 
presented to the Legi6n 15 de Septiembre in Guatemala at the very 
end of 1979 and early 1980. They involved both Americans and 
Argentines, with the Argentines acting as the CIA's cover. The 
evidence became convincing because so many separate sources 
that were unacquainted with one another described initial contacts 
during that period with American and Argentine intelligence 
agents. 

According to eyewitnesses, also in December 1979, two Amer- 
ican CIA agents visited the Nicaraguan exile's safe house near 
Guatemala City's La Aurora airport. The senior of the two told 
them he was the agency's chief of station in Tegucigalpa and that 
the United States was ready to give them covert paramilitary help 
if they could show that they were serious.13 He suggested that they 
demonstrate their resolve by generating some funds independently. 
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Desperate for the legitimacy that would come with American 
involvement in their struggle, as well as for the help itself, they 
staged a series of kidnappings and bank robberies in Guatemala. 
The senior CIA officer rushed back, appalled by what they had 
done, but convinced they meant what they said. He told them that 
kidnapping and robbing were unacceptable but that he was satis- 
fied they meant business. Shortly thereafter, the Argentines made 
their first contact, the exiles organized themselves as the Legi6n 15 
de Septiembre, and the Legih began to receive funds and para- 
military support from Argentine operatives.14 

Apparently these contacts led to late-1980 efforts to enrol1 a 
non-Guardia commander for the enterprise. After several 
approaches, CIA operatives and Argentine military intelligence 
officers tried to recruit a very experienced guerrilla combat leader 
who was well known both for his earlier fierce opposition to the 
Somoza dictatorship and his equally fierce opposition to the new 
Sandinista revolutionary government. Alejandro Martinez Saenz, 
an anti-Somoza guerilla since 1948 and an original member of the 
Fuerza Revolucionaria Sandino (FRS) that predated the FSLN by 
more than ten years, was approached in December 1980 in San 
Jos6, Costa Rica. A Conservative and son of a Conservative 
national deputy who had been forced into exile in Costa Rica by 
Somoza, Martinez had fought as a Sandinista commander from 
1972 through August 1979. But, as with El Danto, when in May 
1979 he became convinced that his Sandinista comrades intended 
to stage a socialist revolution, he openly rebelled. His erstwhile 
comrades-in-arms made attempts to kill him. In August 1979 a 
bullet was fired from within his unit's own ranks that took off part 
of his left ear, and he decided to retire from the battlefield. A 
subsequent attempt in Costa Rica to assassinate him was also 
unsuccessful. Presumably the CIA and Argentines looked at him 
as a potential leader of the paramilitary forces they were build- 
ing. Martinez went to Washington, D.C., in early January 1981 to 
discuss the project in detail but decided not to cooperate when he 
was told he would have to accept a general staff of former 
Guardia.15 
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ARGENTINA A N D  THE CIA 

The widely believed story that Argentine military intelligence had 
become independently involved in the nascent Central American 
Contra guerrilla enterprise seems on the surface hard to under- 
stand. Central America is, after all, of far greater interest to the 
United States than to distant Argentina. That they would have 
done so against the wishes of the United States seems even bizarre, 
and the idea that they could possibly have mounted such a major 
operation in cooperation with the Honduran government without 
American knowledge and acquiescence seems, simply put, not 
credible. It was only after I heard witness after witness insist that 
the Argentines had been enthusiastic cut-outs for the CIA that 
Argentina's reasons for becoming involved made sense. After all, 
Argentina's then-military government was unhappy with the 
Sandinistas well before they took power, and many Argentine 
Montonero guerrillas had served in the Sandinistas' ranks during 
the war to overthrow Somoza.16 

Covert Argentine interest in anti-Sandinista guerrillas appears 
to have begun in late 1979, but the Argentines' real passion for the 
project was greatly increased at the first anniversary celebration of 
the Sandinista Revolution when the Sandinistas deliberately and 
publicly insulted the Argentine ambassador before numerous 
international delegations, including some heads of state. When the 
Argentine ambassador arrived to take his place of honor on the 
reviewing stand at the celebration's parade, the official Argentine 
box was already occupied, at the invitation of the Sandinista 
Foreign Ministry, by Montonero guerrillas who were under 
sentence of death in Argentina for terrorist acts. The ambassador 
and his government were incensed.17 Later, the fomer Costa Rican 
minister of public security, "Johnny" Echeverria Brealy, who had 
been responsible for ensuring that the Sandinistas received their 
arms shipments from Cuba during the war against Somoza, 
suggested that this was the event that triggered Argentine involve- 
ment.18 But, in fact, the Argentines had already been involved for 
many months. 
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In any case, according to other witnesses, the next month two 
American and two Argentine agents also visited a small group of 
Milpistas at the farm of Jorge Alvarenga, near the town of 
Cifuentes in southern Hondurasl9 They were accompanied by two 
Legi6n 15 de Septiembre leaders, one of whom was Col. Enrique 
Bermiidez, plus some Honduran military personnel.20 By then the 
Legi6n had already been working for some four months with 
Honduran military protection and help to establish its first bases 
near the Honduras-Nicaragua border. The presence of American 
and Argentine agents with the Hondurans strongly suggests that 
by then the three countries were working together.21 

If true, this meant that American involvement with Nicaragua’s 
Contras began with President Carter, not President Reagan, a 
finding that came as a surprise to me, since I had previously 
accepted as true the conventional wisdom that Reagan had been 
first. Because of the implications, I explored the question of the 
earliest date of U.S. involvement during numerous additonal 
interviews. Among those I reinterviewed were several former 
senior Costa Rican officials, three Costa Rican security operatives, 
seven intelligence professionals from three other countries who 
had detailed information on events of the times, and a number 
of Nicaraguan Resistance personnel. All of those contacted were 
surprised that I was surprised. Three responded with the same 
Spanish phrase. T o r  supuesto. No 10 sabias?” (Of course. Didn’t 

Adolfo Calero, one of the most prominent longtime activists in 
the Resistance, said categorically and repeatedly during a reinter- 
view in Managua that he and all of the movements leaders had 
understood from the very beginning that the Argentines were 
never more than a front for the CIA. He commented that it should 
have been obvious. The Argentines lacked the money, supplies, 
and expertise and, even if they had these, would never have 
engaged in an extensive clandestine paramilitary operation in 
Central America without American involvement. Such CIA 
involvement in a covert operation would, of course, have required 
a formal Presidential Finding and notification to the Senate Select 

you know?) 
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Committee on Intelligence (SSCI). Carter reportedly made two 
Nicaragua-related findings in 1979-80, but these have not been 
made fully public. Regardless, Calero insisted that he had been told 
by Americans with whom he later had contact that covert para- 
military support to the Legi6n 15 de Septiembre was started 
during the Carter administration using the Argentines as a front 
to cover the CIA's in~olvement.~~ 

Another longtime Resistance activist, a medical doctor known 
as "Doctor Javier," who joined the FDN in 1981, confirmed 
Calero's claim, saying that he too had been made fully aware 
from the beginning that the Argentines were acting as front men 
for the CIA. Several of the Argentine operatives with whom he 
worked daily told him privately, during drinking bouts, that they 
were being paid by the CIA and were sometimes made to feel 
very uncomfortable by the cavalier fashion in which their 
American case officers treated them in private. As an officer of the 
FDN's headquarters staff in 1984, Doctor Javier also recalled being 
present at a small change-of-command ceremony at a Honduran 
base at which direct control of clandestine paramilitary support 
operations for the FDN was passed from Argentine military intel- 
ligence to American CIA hands. The Argentines were being 
roughly and abruptly ejected by their American counterparts, and 
he recalls that the way the Americans went about dismissing them 
made the Argentines feel more than a little insulted and abused. 
Nonetheless, the Argentines tried to keep their dignity as best they 
could. He still remembers verbatim what the senior Argentine 
colonel said as he passed control over to the Americans: 

Hace cuatro aiios ustedes nos encomendaron una misi6n. Hoy 
podemos decir, con orgullo y dignidad: Misi6n curnplida! 

(Four years ago you [the Americans] entrusted us with a 
mission. Today, with pride and dignity we can honestly say: 
Mission accomplished!)23 

"Four years ago" was 1979. 



CHAPTER E I G H T  

BIRTH OF THE FDN 

A Guardia/MILPAS Alliance 

After the original Southern Front attacked the Montonero's Radio 
Noticias in Costa Rica at the behest of the Legih, arms, money, 
and training support began to reach the Legi6n through the Argen- 
tines. Several months later, in April 1981, the LegiCrn took the lead 
in the creation of a new umbrella organization, the Fuerza Demo- 
cratica Nicaraguense (FDN) which became the principal conduit 
for help from Argentina, the United States, and other foreign spon- 
sors. It was to the FDN that the CIA director, William Casey 
referred in November 1981 and that Clarridge called "five hundred 
rag-tag troopers."l 

Although precise details cannot at this time be uncovered, avail- 
able evidence strongly suggests what happened next. The FDN 
was not large enough to accomplish much more than the limited 
missions that Casey had envisioned when he formally told the 
Senate Select Committee on Intelligence (SSCI) in December 1981 
of CIA plans to mount the covert operation that came to be known 
as the Contra project. The Sandinistas later claimed, even in Top 
Secret documents circulated to their own senior staff, that the FDN 
had ten thousand former Guardia in Honduras on whom it could 
drawa2 In reality, the presence of so many Guardia in Honduras 
was a mathematical impossibility, since the Guardia's peak combat 
strength in July 1979 had been at most six thousand,3 and of them, 
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more than three thousand were in Sandinista prisons and several 
thousand more in the United States or other countries. According 
to internal FDN documents, the former Guardia in the FDN 
peaked in strength at 437 in August 1982, well within the CIA's 
estimate as reported by Casey to Congress but clearly not enough 
to wage a serious war. 

What did exist, however, were the MILPAS, an already mobi- 
lized and operational army of highland peasants who had been 
fighting for well over two years in Nicaragua's central mountains. 
By the end of 1981, the MILPAS had from 2,000 to 3,000 armed 
combatants, plus several times that number of already mobilized 
auxiliary combatants ready to join as soon as weapons became 
available. The MILPAS also could draw on a large manpower pool 
of highland  peasant^:^ a ready-made guerrilla army. Even more 
important than the numbers, however, was that these potential 
fighters were members of the very large, homogeneous, and geo- 
graphically distinctive populace of actual or potential campesino 
supporters from which the MILPAS had emerged. The FDN had 
only to tap into this pool. 

Nevertheless, serious obstacles remained. Almost all the 
Milpistas and their commanders, and much of the peasantry, had 
been anti-Somocista, and the FDN was led by former Guardia. 
Furthermore, Pacific coast urban ethnocentrism was a principal 
generator of highland anger against the Sandinistas, and most of 
the Guardia were from Pacific coastal towns or cities. But the major 
incentive that overrode the obstacles were the arms and other 
resources that the Americans promised to deliver through the 
Argentines. The Sandinistas were rapidly growing in strength and, 
especially after Dimas's attack on Quilali, were using helicopters, 
artillery, and other systems from which the MILPAS could no 
longer defend themselves independently. The rebellion was also 
rapidly outstripping locally available arms and other resources. 

Again, it is not exactly clear who then decided to do what when, 
but circumstances and available information suggest that the 
Argentines and Americans were acquainted with the FDN in exile 
in Honduras but apparently knew little if anything about those 
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fighting inside Nicaragua. So when the Argentines and the CIA 
settled on the new FDN as their instrument for harassing the 
Sandinistas, they inadvertently decided the issue. In their decision 
to choose a Guardia-led organization as their preferred conduit for 
paramilitary covert aid, they transmuted what had been a sponta- 
neous highland peasant MILPAS rebellion into an alliance with the 
Guardia. 

The FDNs Guardia leaders moved quickly to take advantage 
of the opportunity. In June 1981, they started a careful campaign 
to attract the Milpistas under their umbrella, using their monopoly 
over foreign resources as the main inducement. A special recruit- 
ing unit was set up, of which 4-2 was a member. The unit devel- 
oped a list of prospects and began a carefully planned campaign, 
offering resources to selected MILPAS groups and to individual 
Milpistas if they joined the FDN.? Among its earliest recruits were 
Tigrillo; Tiro a1 Blanco; several Galeanos, including Franklyn and 
La Chaparra;6 Irene Calderon; and according to one source, Dimas 
himself .7 

As the Milpistas rallied to the new alliance, they were sent to a 
camp known as La Lodosa, (The Mud Patch), for basic training. 
Some remembered being less than impressed. La Lodosa’s train- 
ing program was run by former Guardia advised by Argentines. 
Although neither the Guardia nor the Argentines had any experi- 
ence as rural insurgents, they treated the Milpistas like raw recruits. 
The Milpistas themelves, as seasoned mountain guerrilla fight- 
ers, often with many years combat experience, should have been 
teaching the Guardia and the Argentines, not the other way around.8 
But in the characteristic peasant way, they smiled and buried their 
feelings in exchange for the resources and support the Guardia 
promised them. 

The process of amalgamating the Guardia and Milpistas went 
slowly at first, since the Milpistas were skeptical about whether the 
Guardia would really deliver on their promises. But once Ameri- 
can support began to arrive in quantity in early 1982, and to reach 
MILPAS hands, the alliance grew quickly. By August 1982, the FDN 
was telling the Argentines that they had about 3,700 Combatants 
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under arms. Internally, however, the FDN estimated its actual 
combatant strength at 11,270. Almost all, an estimated 96 percent, 
were Milpistas. The number of Milpistas officially enrolled in the 
FDN's ranks was only 1,571, but an additional 2,200 armed 
combatants were not formally on its rosters. There were also 6,100 
auxiliaries (see table 2). The number 3,700 appears to have stood 
only for those Comandos formally engaged in the new Argentine- 
American covert project, and the 6,100 others were a sort of army- 
in-waiting of organized but not yet armed peasants. This in turn 
suggests the project had a limited budget that did not provide 
sufficient support to all the organized peasants of the highlander 
Resistance movement, a challenge that became evident at the end 
of the Contra War when first the U.S. Agency for International 
Development and then CIAV/OAS found that the actual number 
of rebels greatly outstripped their expectations. 

The army produced by the FDN/Milpista alliance process was 
a curious hybrid. Colonel Ckspedes, "Cyro," who directed FDN 
air logistical operations throughout the war, described it as two 
armies in one. The face was Guardia, but the body was Milpista.9 
The two armies were fundamentally different in several ways. 
Many of the Guardia were of urban Pacific coast origins, and liter- 
ate, with at least several years of formal education. The Milpistas 
were, with few exceptions, illiterate highlander owners of small 
farms with an average of fewer than two years of formal schooling. 
But there were also similarities. Perhaps the most striking was that 
most of the Guardia, and virtually all of the Milpistas, identified 
themselves as indios, considered themselves members of the 
masses, not the oligarchy, and were Liberals. At least some of the 
key Guardia were also highlanders, especially combat leaders. Of 
fifteen mid-level Guardia Contra Comandantes, nine, including 
the most prominent commander in Chontales and Boaco, Juan 
Ram6n Rivas "Quich6," were from the mountains.1° A third stream 
of Comandos later also became important Sandinista ralliers. This 
mixture gave the postalliance FDN three institutional origins, 
which sometimes caused tensions, but these werenormally sub- 
ordinated to the larger interest. On occasion, the tensions caused 



TABLE 2 
Guardia vs. Non-Guardia, 12 August 1982 

GUARDIA 

F D N  BASE C A M P  
Sagitario 58 
Ariel 7 
Pino-l 20 
Zebra 57 
Nicarao 41 
Agateyte 64 

SUBTOTAL 247 (31 %) 

MILPISTAS (IN F D N )  
Kilambe Tigrillo 
Pino-I1 
Flecha 
Aguila 
Matagalpa y Boaco 

SUBTOTAL 

N O T  YET E N R O L L E D  

Base Operativo 
Base Clandestino 
Reservas 

SUBTOTAL 

GRAND TOTAL 

Percentage 

MILPAS / OTHER 

83 
113 
151 
80 
76 
58 

571 (69%) 

300 
100 
300 
100 
200 

1,000 (86%) 

2,200 
1,800 
4,300 

8,300 

9,871 

97% 

SOURCE: "Estado de Fuerza local y general, porcentaje ex-G.N. en las 
bases, e informe de bajas a la fecha," Cuartel General General 
Fuerza Democratica Nicaraguense, 12 Agosto 1982. ACRN 
archives. 
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problems, but by and large the groups worked effectively together 
throughout most of the war. (See table 2 for data on the relative 
importance of the MILPAS and former Guardia in 1982.) 

It seems clear that the main 1982-88 "Contra" FDN army was 
primarily a Milpista/peasant force. The Guardia brought military 
professionalism and were the conduit for covert aid. But the 
MILPAS comarca campesino base was the element in which they 
all had to operate. Without the MILPAS and their campesino 
supporters, the Guardia could not have survived as guerrillas 
among the highlanders. 



C H A P T E R  NINE 

STRUCTURE AND ORGANIZATION 
OF THE HIGHLANDER RESISTANCE 

MOVEMENT 

Beyond serving as the source of its Comandos, the highlander 
Resistance movement provided the entire FDN/MILPAS alliance 
with its popular support base, without which it simply could not 
have functioned successfully. At first the internal dynamics of the 
highlander Resistance movement may seem baffling to the Western 
observer. The confusion occurs when one applies a Western 
cultural model to this decidedly non-Westem organization. Withm 
this movement, power and authority flowed upward from the 
peasantry, not downward from a government, military headquar- 
ters, or ideological elite. Unlike any other insurgency, it had no 
intellectual author or articulated unifying ideology, nor was it the 
product of an external conflict. The Resistance movement was a 
spontaneous grassroots rebellion and drew its strength and raison 
d'etre from the individual comarca communities that produced it. 

The Resistance, thus, can best be visualized not as a unified hier- 
archical organization similar to a Western army or ideological 
movement, but as a series of small pyramids, each planted in a 
comarca community, with Comando combat formations at their 
tops. Rather like locally raised British regiments in the days of the 
British Empire, most units came from and relied on a particular 
local populace. When tactically feasible, a unit was most active 
militarily in or near the communities from which its Comandos 
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came. Just below the Comandos in each comarca pyramid was a 
h layer of correos. Directly below them lay a larger strata of clan- 
destine comarca committees. And beneath these committees lay 
yet another, and even larger, layer of supporting activists, a popu- 
lar support base. At the foundation of each pyramid was a final 
layer of peasant sympathizers, without whom the entire edifice 
would have collapsed. The FDN as a whole relied on hundreds of 
such pyramids. 

S U P P O R T  S T R U C T U R E S  

The vast majority of the activist participants in the highland 
rebellion remained hidden from public view throughout the war. 
Even the closest of outside observers were not aware of them. For 
security reasons, each comarca's system of correos, clandestine 
committees, and popular support bases were free-standing and 
compartmentalized, existing only in relation to the local cornmu- 
nity. FDN's Strategic Headquarters knew of and promoted their 
existence, but they were not centrally organized at that level and 
had no headquarters. In all but rare instances, the identities, 
numbers, and activities of correos, clandestine comarca committee 
members, and popular base supporters were kept secret by the units 
that they served and almost never reported to higher headquarters. 

The general staff knew how the system worked, but security at 
the local level was exceedingly tight. Compartmentalization assured 
that no one had more than a tiny fraction of data concerning indi- 
vidual identities, precise numbers, or specific missions, so very little 
was recorded in central FDN files. Even after the war ended, the 
Comandos kept the identities of almost all their correos and clan- 
destine committee members secret, and neither group participated 
in the demobilization process. Postwar events, especially the Re- 
Contra war of 1990-96 and the 1996 ad hoc electoral registration 
process (see chapters 15 and 16), indicate that these networks 
remained intact, strongly suggesting that they had and still have an 
existence and strength independent of the rebellion itself. 
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The support structure of the Resistance movement provided 
most of what was needed to sustain Comando units in the field. 
Clandestine committees organized the movement of goods and 
services supplied by the popular support base and provided them 
to the Comandos via the correos. The system also provided them 
with food, shelter, political support, local security, and intelligence 
information while they were in their operational zones. Unlike the 
Comandos, who occasionally moved in and out of Nicaragua, 
correos, committee members, and popular base supporters stayed 
permanently in their comarcas. 

CORREOS 

The correos were the eyes, ears, and brains of the Resistance. 
Without  them it could not have succeeded. 

-EMILIANO1 

Angel Sosa, "Emiliano," one of the FDN's most successful field 
commanders, considered the correos the most important part of 
the insurgency and believed that they were vital to the operations 
of every major Comando unit. A former anti-Somoza Milpista, and 
then for a short while a Sandinista People's Army soldier, Erniliano 
joined the Resistance in its earliest days. He helped organize the 
correo networks that later supported the five Jorge Salazar Regional 
Commands. For him an effective system of correos was vital. 

Because correos had to move around to perform their missions, 
they lived and worked covertly within communities. Normally they 
were neither uniformed nor armed; they were therefore especially 
vulnerable to discovery and reprisals. Many former Comandos 
considered the mission of the correos the most dangerous of all those 
performed by Resistance activists. Because they were more familiar 
than anyone with the current tactical situation and the terrain in a 
comarca, the correos were the key cadre on the ground. Their 
primary missions were to act as links between clandestine comarca 
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com.mittees and the local combat unit and to help Comandos and 
supporters from other comarcas move across their zone of opera- 
tions from one area of conflict to another. When they did have 
weapons, correos sometimes also served as clandestine auxiliary 
forces.* Because they were so exposed to danger or compromise 
and were trusted and experienced, correos who feared exposure, 
or simply wanted to become combatants, were a prime source of 
new Comandos. Within the .highlander Resistance army, it was 
normal for a person to progress from correo to combatant. 

Because their activities placed them in constant peril of discov- 
ery, many hundreds if not thousands of correos were arrested or 
killed. Partial data presented below suggest just how dangerous 
their work was and why security surrounding correo networks 
was so exceedingly tight. Even in the year 2000, prudence contin- 
ues to dictate that their identities be protected. Consequently, not 
only is this discussion based on limited documentary evidence, 
many of the details that are available to me have been deliber- 
ately omitted or masked. Even so, enough usable information is 
available and can be disclosed here to give a partial picture of the 
situation. 

The few available reports on correo strengths found in the FDN 
archives reveal an average ratio of one active correo to every 2.5 
Comandos. This suggests, albeit with limited statistical confidence, 
that, assuming an average troop strength of 17,000, the correo 
networks consisted of 6,000-7,000 members during much of the 
war. A few other documents support this estimate. A handwritten 
report of 12 August 1982, on one of several FDN operational zones 
of varying sizes indicates that 735 Comandos and 143 agregados, or 
correos, were operating inside Nicaragua in Zona V3 A typed 
memorandum of 20 October 1983 gives similar numbers for Zonas 
I-IV.4 A May 1987 report by the Jorge Salazar Regional Command 
notes that this command had 299 active correos in 6 comarcas near 
Quilali5 No data were found on correos in the Zones V1 and VII. 
The Jorge Salazars had about 1,300 Comandos in Zone V at that 
time. Partial data on correos found in several 1988 Status of Forces 
reports have been combined in table 3 be10w.~ 
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T A B L E  3 
Correos by Regional Command (10 of23 units) 

(partial data) 

REGIONAL COMMAND 
Jorge Salazar ('82) 
Nicarao ('83) 
Segovia ('83) 
San Jacinto ('83) 
Diriangen ('83) 
Jorge Salazar ('83) 
Jorge Estrada ('83) 
Jorge Salazar I ('87) 
Jorge Salazar TV ('88) 
Santiago Meza ('88) 

The number of mentions that correos received in combat commu- 
nications generated by both the Resistance and several Sandinista 
military headquarters confirms their importance to military oper- 
a t i o n ~ . ~  FDN message traffic for September 1984 includes eleven 
mentions of correos. For example, on 11 September, FDN Corn- 
andante Chicle reported that 29 new correos in the comarca of 
Rmflin were asking for weapons to establish a self-defense unit. 
On 17 September, he reported having given them several Mauser 
rifles and some ammunition.8 On 15 September, he noted the pres- 
ence of 272 correos and clandestine comarca committee members 
in 7 comarcas and mentioned 11 other correos from two comarcas 
two days later? In an intercepted radio message dated 26 September, 
a Sandinista army regional headquarters reported on correo and 
clandestine committee activities in support of the Comandos. 
Other messages contain similar information (see table 3). 

Data from 1986 documents allow for some individualized 
breakdown of correos by dates of entry into service. Of 124 identi- 
fiable by year of entry, 15 had joined in 1980,43 in 1981,23 in 1982, 
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and 20 in 1983. Some 101, or 80 percent, had been active by 1983. 
The remainder joined during the following three years. Assuming 
this pattern was typical, it seems evident that correos on average 
entered the Resistance movement much earlier and stayed much 
longer than did Comandos. This finding is consistent with com- 
ments by Comandos who were interviewed. 

CLANDESTINE COMARCA COMMITTEES 

Scant as documentary information is on the correos, it is abundant 
compared to what can be presented on the clandestine comarca 
committees. At the same time, the Comandos consistently 
described the clandestine comarca committees as by far the largest 
group of Resistance activists. The committees, made up of civilian 
supporters, collected food, provided shelter, and gathered intelli- 
gence information for the Comandos. They were organized accord- 
ing to function, with several committees in each comarca, each 
with a specific mission. In some comarcas they were further 
compartmentalized along societal h e s  that took in to account such 
factors as religion (Catholic or Protestant), local hierarchies, and 
the like. Different committees performed distinct functions, the 
most important being intelligence, logistics, and recruitment. 
Insofar as was possible, each committee had independent commu- 
nications both upward toward the Comandos via correos and 
downward into the Resistance movement's popular support base. 
Committees tried to avoid engaging in activities that were the 
responsibilities of other committees. Logistics committees did not 
recruit, recruitment committees did not engage in intelligence 
activities, and so forth. 

If, as Mao Tse Tung said, a guerrilla movement survives by 
swimming among the masses, then, in the highlander Resistance 
movement, the clandestine comarca committees did most of the 
swimming. Multiplying the approximate number of campesino 
comarcas in the highlands by the average number of committees 
per comarca and the estimated number of members per committee 
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yields a rough figure of around ninety thousand active clandestine 
committee members in the highlands. 

One document found in the ACRN's archives describes the 
system in several comarcas in some detail, listing nine principal 
missions they performed.1° It is the only documentary description 
available of clandestine comarca committee operations.ll This par- 
ticular report was generated by a special operations group of the 
Base Operacional Nicarao, working from the comarca of San 
Fernando. It identifies the committees in each of eight comarcas, 
Mosonte, Achuapa, Salamaji, Ciudad Antigua, Arrayh, San Fer- 
nando, and San Nic015s.~~ Each comarca had six committees: one 
for political matters, one for military matters, one for propaganda, 
one for logistics, one for finances, and one for central coordination. 

The team from Base Nicarao established in each comarca buzones, 
or supply and weapons caches, that were under the responsibility 
of a member of a clandestine comarca committee. Two of the 
buzones were under comarca coordinators, two under members 
of finance committees, one under a member of a political cornmit- 
tee, and two under other collaborators. The team also described 
the missions of the committees: 

Mission 1: To coordinate both overt and covert operations in 

their commas. [As Erniliano and other Comandos described 
this, once a unit entered the area of activities of a comarca 
Resistance network, its operations were normally subject 
to that network's control. Even when a mission had been 
assigned by a higher military command, the decision on 
whether or not it would be carried out was subject to 
comarca-level approval.] 

Mission 2: To manage local contributions in kind or in cur- 
rency. [In practice, this rarely involved cash, as the 
campesinos were almost always cash poor.] 

Mission 3: To direct pro-Resistance political activities in 
their comarca. [Committee members proselytized one- 
on-one and also organized meetings and rallies by the 
Comandos.] 



STRUCTURE AND ORGANIZATION 99 

Mission 4: To collect and disseminate military and political 
intelligence on Sandinista activities in and near the comarca. 
[In this role, the committees, through the correos, became 
the eyes and ears of the Comandos.] 

Mission 5: To establish and maintain safe houses and weapons 
caches. [Small Comando detachments and even individu- 
als on special missions often moved in and out of the 
comarcas. Larger units infiltrating in or out of the zones 
of conflict often left weapons and supplies behind for their 
own use or the use of others. The widespread system of 
buzones reduced problems of resupply.] 

Mission 6: To establish and operate escape and evasion 
networks. [These served many customers, from Comandos 
who had been separated from their units, through San- 
dinista deserters or escaping civilian supporters, to ralliers 
exfiltrating to sanctuary.] 

Mission 7: To collect and provide logistical support to the 
combat units. [Usually this support included food, medi- 
cines, and incidental materials such as shelter and rain boots. 
The Comandos had only three other alternative sources of 
supplies-rare air-drops, shank's mare,'3 and supplies cap- 
tured from the Sandinistas. Capture could provide weapons 
and military supplies14 but not dady rations.] 

Mission 8: To organize, equip, and train a warning network 
that could give the alarm in case of Sandinista army or 
other suspicious movements near Comando units. 

Mission 9: To recruit new Comandos. [The number of Com- 
andos interviewed who had once been correos demon- 
strated that in practice the correos were often the main 
pool on which the committees drew.] 

POPULAR BASE SUPPORT 

A number of Resistance comandantes who were interviewed con- 
firmed that the committee structure described above was the usual 
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pattern, although they explained that it was often flexible and 
subject to variation. But they were also quick to point out that the 
committees were only the coordinators of popular base support. 
Emiliano, Rub&, Chino-4, and others said that throughout the 
rebellion, it was the mass of campesinos, not just the committees or 
correos, who actively helped the Comandos. Their help took the 
form of direct assistance with food, clothing, shelter, transporta- 
tion, raw intelligence, rudimentary medical assistance, and myriad 
other needs. h areas where preinsurgency populations remained, 
almost all the campesinos were sympathizers-in-place, and many 
had friends or family members among the Comandos. This was 
the rebellion's first and largest source of supporters. In October 
1982, a Resistance report on Nueva Segovia estimated its popular 
support in one operating area at 98 percent. 

A second type of popular-base support involved peasants living 
in areas beyond the effective control of Sandinista troops or admin- 
istrators. These were usually internal refugees who had fled the 
region's more populated areas for many of the same reasons the 
Comandos had joined the insurgency. Their only other alternatives 
were to be forced into state farms or resettlement camps, or to leave 
Nicaragua for refugee camps in Honduras or Costa Rica. These 
peasants chose instead to withdraw into even more remote areas 
and survive by returning to their traditional practice of slash-and- 
bum agriculture, used by their indio ancestors. Among these inter- 
nal refugees, all the inhabitants of a given zone were sympathizers, 
and they shared whatever they could with Comandos moving 
through their areas. These supporters were especially valuable to 
Comando units infiltrating or exfiltrating the zones of conflict by 
way of Nicaragua's more remote wilderness areas. The Coman- 
dantes described the campesinos living in such regions as among 
the poorest of the poor but usually able to provide water, shelter, 
information, guide services, and some food. 

A third important set of popular base supporters lived in the 
region's rural market centers or small towns where they had access 
to supplies, transport, or other goods or services not available in 
the countryside. Although less numerous and more susceptible to 
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Sandinista detection, these supporters were especially helpful to 
units that remained in nearby operational areas for extended periods 
of time. 

T H E  WEBS T H E  C O R R E O S  W O V E  

One unexpected finding of this study was the convincing evidence 
that the Resistance movement had successfully woven a web of 
correos across the entire highlands. Initially, this seemed to contra- 
dict what had been learned about the carefully compartmentalized 
comarca-level nature of the movement and its networks. That 
description fit nicely into a schema of geographically isolated corps 
of correos each in comarca serving only nearby units. A successful 
comarca-to-comarca network of correos seemed anomolous because 
it placed the safety of correos from one comarca in the hands of 
people from the next mountain valley, requiring confidence between 
cornarcas beyond the local level. The existence of a highlands-wide 
network of correos seemed at first to contradict the nature of the 
movement. 

Because of the implications of this finding, I felt it important to 
substantiate it with extensive interviews. Those consulted included 
Rub&, La Chaparra, and numerous other Cornandos, as well as 
knowledgeable religious leaders, merchants who worked in the 
mountains, Nicaraguan government officials who worked in the 
highlands, and informed international observers with years of 
experience in the repon. Because the Cornandos and the highland 
peasants were still very protective of the system even in 1996 and 
1997, many asked not to be identified. 

Their unexpected answer was that in the highlands there is, and 
apparently always has been, a previously unrecognized but dense 
web of highlands-wide loyalties and relationships of mutual trust. 
These are based on intracarnpesino comarca-to-comarca social and 
economic relationships that completely bypass Nicaragua's urban- 
centered economic and social systems. The campesinos live, in 
effect, in a second Nicaragua. Nicaragua's first world is on the 
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peasants' periphery at Nicaragua's center: an urban-based set of 
economic, political, and social networks that reach out from the 
Pacific coastal lowland cities. With these the highland campesinos 
have only episodic contact. At the center of their universe lies a 
second campesino world where they live most of their lives.15 

The great majority of the hghland campesinos make their living 
by working relatively independent small farmsteads, mostly 
producing food crops for their own consumption. Any surplus 
products are sold to buy items not available locally such as salt, 
spices, cloth, thread, needles, kerosene for lamps, batteries for 
radios, and the like. Until the Revolution, the process of exchang- 
ing surplus products for such goods relied on merchants in the 
region's market centers. For a traditional peasant, a trip to a market 
center was and is a major undertaking. Not only must he or she 
leave a familiar environment for one that is socially threatening, 
but the journey itself often requires several days' travel and involves 
risks and relationships that can generate considerable unease.16 
Some campesinos develop sufficient social skills to be comfortable 
with the process, but for most it is an excursion into an alien and 
disconcerting world. Marketing visits are therefore often limited 
to only one or two trips a year, with many family members never 
going at all. 

But this social unease relates only to the web that links the 
campesinos to Nicaragua's formal market economy, not their daily 
lives. Within their own world the campesinos enjoy a great deal of 
social interaction at the local level. They may live in scattered farrn- 
steads or clusters of houses too small even to be called hamlets, but 
they are not isolated from their fellow campesinos. To the contrary 
while contact with outsiders is rare, interaction with neighbors is 
constant and a favorite form of both recreation and social inter- 
course. With no electricity, television, newspapers, or town centers, 
and few radios, personal interaction is the main entertainment. 

Family relationships, both nuclear and extended, lie at the heart 
of this social interaction among campesinos. Extended in this 
context is very extended indeed and embraces a large number of 
connections at three levels-relatives by blood (siblings, uncles and 
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aunts, cousins to several removes), by marriage (in-laws become like 
blood relatives), and by choice (compadres, or godparents).l7 These 
extended families and clans often live not in one, but in several 
neighboring comarcas. Furthermore, despite many exceptions, by 
and large the highlanders honor a system of what might best be 
described as extended incest taboos. In addition to condemning 
parent-child, sibling, and first/second cousin unions, unions are also 
discouraged between other residents of the same comarca. 

These patterns result in highly developed networks of comarca- 
to-comarca relationships. Visiting and social exchange between 
comarcas occur daily. These may be visits to relatives, friends or 
compadres (literally coparents), courting excursions by the young 
(and sometimes the not-so-young), economic barter exchange trips 
(your beans for my corn, your guaro18 for my chicken, and so forth), 
attendance at religous services or such social events as birthdays, 
weddings, marriages, wakes, "Quince hers" (fifteenth birthday) 
coming-out parties, or visits to folk-medicine practitioners. The 
dense, constant and long-standing networks of family and peer 
relationships among nearby comarcas generated by these daily 
activities, farruly ties, relationships by marriages, friendslups, code- 
pendencies for barter exchange, multicomarca systems of inter- 
relationships and trust are ubiquitous throughout the highlands. 

As their autonomous small guerrilla groups began to coalesce, 
the Comandos understood that they would need a regionwide 
network of contacts. They also understood that creating one would 
require only linlung these comarca-to-comarca relationships into a 
sort of reponal daisy-chain. By linking each comarca to its neigh- 
bors via correos who had long-established ties to the correos of the 
next comarca, they could cast a web across the entire highlands 
region from Nueva Segovia and Jinotega to southern Chontales 
almost to Costa Rica. This web would be all but impenetrable to 
Sandinista intelligence infiltration. 

To the Comandos' surprise, when they started trying to weave a 
regional web, they found the campesinos who had remained in the 
comercas were well ahead of them; they had already begun to weave 
one in anticipation of the emergence of a repon-wide Resistance 
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movement. Using this precreated network, La Chaparra traveled 
in mid-1981 alone, on foot, and in absolute security passing from 
comarca correo to comarca correo all the way from Honduras to 
Chontales, even though the southern comarcas she traversed in 
Boaco and Chontales did not even have guerrilla units. The MLPAS 
had not reached south of Matagalpa, but the campesinos had 
already rebelled, and correo webs had been woven by them that 
completely bypassed Nicaragua's formal farm-to-market and 
government networks. 

The existence of such networks seems reasonable. Nicaragua's 
fonnal networks extend outward from the core Pacific coast lowland 
cities into the peripheral countryside using Pacific-centered roads 
and communications systems that can be drawn on maps. They 
are densest in the Pacific coast lowlands but in general do not pene- 
trate deeply into the peripheral highlands where the carnpesinos 
live. In the highlands, comarca-to-comarca relationships among 
campesinos are more important. 

These two Nicaraguan worlds, the one of its formal core, the 
other of its highland peasantry often touch one another but each 
leads a largely independent existence. The first Nicaragua is rela- 
tively modern, the second more traditional. When the Sandinistas 
triumphed, they took control only of the first Nicaragua's networks, 
and it was these that they used to try to revolutionize the country. 
But the highlanders controlled the second Nicaragua, and they 
used its networks to defend themselves. The Sandinistas were to 
find the comarca campesino networks virtually impenetrable. 

RESISTANCE NUMBERS 

Most correos and clandestine committee members remained in 
place and were continuously active in support of the insurgency 
during the entire period of the conflict. A number of the Coman- 
dantes interviewed insisted that, on average, 25 to 30 percent of 
the inhabitants of the comarcas with which they were personally 
familiar were active supporters, while the remainder were almost 
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universally sympathizers. It was not possible to establish a statis- 
tical base against which to measure these claims, but historical 
evidence confirms that the Comandos operated throughout the 
region with a great deal of security of movement. 

Based on fragmentary evidence in published sources,19 the few 
available documents, interviews, and Comando estimates, it seems 
reasonable to believe that almost all the peasants in most rural high- 
land comarcas were either Comandos, correos, co~llTnittee members, 
popular-base activists, or sympathizers. The weakest support for the 
Resistance in the highlands was apparently in the region's market 
centers and scattered areas of plantation agriculture. But even there 
the movement's leaders appear usually to have been able to count 
on extensive assistance when needed. In the countryside, even many 
members of Sandinista organizations, such as the militias and CDS, 
sympathized with the rebels. According to those interviewed, 
corroborated by archival evidence, this sympathy extended even 
into the ranks of the Sandinista army and security services. 

An account by a Sandinista supports this finding. In 1986, Maj. 
Roger Miranda, in his capacity as personal aide to Sandinista 
People's Army Commanding General Humberto Ortega, made an 
inspection tour of much of the highlands. Miranda commented 
that when visiting remote villages he found he was "looked on 
with suspicion, fear and hatred." Surprised, he asked a local 
brigade commander, Major Lorente, about this hostility. Lorente's 
response, which Miranda remembered verbatim, was both cate- 
gorical and significant: "Look chief, all these peasants you have 
seen, all these little villages we have passed through, all these sons- 
of-bitches are Contras. All of them."20 

In 1987, in connection with an FDN offensive known as Opera- 
tion Olivaro, a major attack on the three northern Zelaya mining 
towns of Siuna, Bonanza, and La Rosita, more than half the 
Comandos inside Nicaragua, about six thousand combatants, with- 
drew from their normal positions and marched for more than six 
weeks through inhabited rural areas from as far away as southern 
Chontales and the Rarna road to reach the attack zone more than 
halfway across Nicaragua. The attack came as a complete surprise 
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to the Sandinistas. Executing such a sophisticated and extensive 
maneuver through inhabited territory without being detected by 
Sandinista intelligence required near-perfect operational security 
that, in turn, would have required virtually universal popular 
cooperation in the areas traversed. Because the peasants were fully 
aware that failure to report Comando movements to the Sandin- 
istas was a major counterrevolutionary crime and would be severely 
punished, their silence implied active complicity, not merely 
passive sympathy. Considering the several groups that combined 
to form the Resistance-Comandos, correos, comarca committees, 
and activists-it would seem that, conservatively, at least half the 
peasants of the Segovian highlands were involved in the effort, or 
between 500,000 and 600,000 people. 

FORMAL MILITARY STRUCTURE 

In 1982 the structure of the armed forces of the highland Resistance 
movement changed, although its support system remained the 
same. From 1979 through 1981, only individual MILPAS groups 
operated without a central structure in the field. But when the 
Milpistas allied themselves with the FDN in early 1982, they found 
themselves part of a formally organized force. Although this force 
was later reorganized several times, during most of the war it was 
divided into regional commands, each with several subordinate 
task forces that, in turn, had several subordinate groups. By the 
end of the war twenty-four regonal commands were in place, well 
over a hundred task forces, and several hundred groups. Com- 
pleting the structure were three independent task forces, an artillery 
unit, a naval (riverine) force, a Special Forces command with two 
Special Forces groups, a Center for Military Instruction (CM), and 
the Grupo Pirata (discussed in chapter 5).21 The alliance had a 
central administrative structure, and the FDN's Strategic Head- 
quarters had a formal staff similar to a classic military headquar- 
ters, including G1 (personnel), G2 (intelligence), G3 (operations), 
and G4 (logistics). 
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It is essential to note, however, that FDN Strategx Headquarters 
did not exercise the sort of command authority it would have in a 
traditional army. The general staff managed logistics, central 
communications, medical services, base operations, intelligence 
and police functions, air operations, training and transport, and 
coordinated overall military operational planning. But the actual 
flow of authority was the reverse of that of a classical army because 
Strategic Headquarters derived its authority from both the com- 
manders of the individual regional commands and from a council 
of commanders. Combat unit commanders were not generally 
appointed from above by headquarters but rather elected from 
below. With some exceptions, a group's members selected their 
group leader. The group leaders then selected the commander of 
their task force, and task force commanders, in turn, selected the 
commander of their regional command.22 The latter became mem- 
bers of a committee of commanders that evolved into a formal 
Consejo de Comandantes (council of commanders) with decision- 
making authority. The minutes of numerous Consejo meetings 
were found in the archives of the Resistance. 

Toward the end of the war, the Consejo de Comandantes exer- 
cised its rarely used authority to appoint or remove the FDNrs 
overall Jefe de Estado Mayor (chief of the general staff), the army's 
titular top commander, and its senior general staff members. In one 
sense this made all the more remarkable the stability displayed by 
strategic headquarters, which was led from the beginning almost 
to the end by Enrique Bermiidez, Cornandante 3-80. To keep that 
position and maintain such stability, he had both to satisfy the 
FDN's American suppliers and maintain the confidence of the 
combat commanders below him. 

When a regional commander was inside Nicaragua, as most 
usually were, he kept a representative at headquarters to act on his 
behalf. Field commanders and various subcommands normally 
had the authority to initiate local operations and to approve or dis- 
approve those that Strategic Headquarters suggested.23 Occasion- 
ally the chain of command functioned as though the FDN were a 
conventional army but normally it was more like a confederation. 
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This was because the movement itself had been created from 
below by the comarca peasantry, and its ultimate authority rested 
with them, not with Strategc Headquarters, and authority flowed 
from the bottom up, not from the top down. Task forces and 
regional commands were thus representative of the populace from 
which they were drawn. The movement was neither a creation of 
outsiders nor a centrally coordinated insurrection but essentially a 
confederation of local rebellions. In 1981-82, when the alliance first 
took shape, the highland rebels viewed the FDN, but not the 
MILPAS, as the outside group. At the same time, to succeed, the 
alliance depended absolutely on an extensive, organized, and 
secure support structure, and that structure, belonged lock, stock, 
and barrel to the campesinos of the cornarcas and the MILPAS. 

The structure, nature, and extent of the highlander Resistance 
movement, hidden throughout the war, was partially revealed in 
1990, when the Comandos laid down their arms, and the geo- 
graphic, historic, and social origms of the rebellion became visible. 
The following chapters attempt to provide an overview of what 
was revealed. One of the more noteworthy and surprising revela- 
tions was the important role played by women in the rebellion. 



C H A P T E R  T E N  

WOMEN COMANDOS 

Heroes, Combatants, and Comarca Leaders 

Women played a crucial role in the rebellion. "Legionnaire L-332," 
Juan Jose Martinez Tercero, was killed in combat in November 1983, 
two years after he entered the Resistance in 1981. His mother, 
Dominga, could not mourn his death. She had died in battle earlier 
in 1983 during Operation Marathon.' On 5 September 1984, in the 
middle of an extended combat patrol inside Nicaragua, FDN 
Comandante "Dimas Negro" received a message from fellow Com- 
andante "Toro" that forced him to perform one of a commanding 
officer's saddest tasks. He had to tell a Comando serving under him, 
"Pablo," that lus wife had been killed that day in combat while serv- 
ing as a frontline Comando with another unit, that of  tor^.^ 

"Angelica Maria" was a Comando in the Jorge Salazar Regional 
Command for more than six years, remaining inside Nicaragua 
almost the entire time although wounded more than once.3 A 
carnpesina, she was offered a '%attlefield commission" as a group 
leader4 after she took command of her unit during a firefight in 
which all its officers had been killed. She is still widely recognized 
by her peers for her heroism. Another female Comando became 
recognized as one of the FDN's most heroic fighters. Maritza 
Zeledbn, "Daysi," joined the Resistance in January 1983 as a com- 
batant of the Salvador P6rez Regonal Command. Although trained 
as a paramedic, whenever her task force went into battle, Daysi 
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would lay aside her medical kit and join the fray as an infantry 
combatant, AK-47 in hand, returning to her kit to treat the wounded 
when necessary. On 6 April 1985, Daysi was fatally wounded by an 
incoming round of 105 mm artillery during a firefight at Cerro El 
Guapinol in Jinotega. To honor her service and heroism, her com- 
rades in arms renamed their unit the Maritza Zeledh Task Force.5 

Although recognized for their bravery, female Comandos faced 
a glass ceiling. No woman ever became an official member of the 
Council of Regional Commanders or commanded a task force. 
Although they did not advance in rank or power to the very top, 
women Resistance fighters played key roles during the insurgency. 
They served by the hundreds as frontline Comandos with FDN 
combat units. Others were radio operators, nurses, or trained 
cadre. They were fully integrated into infantry task forces, carried 
the same backpacks, ate the same food, slept under the same condi- 
tions, wore the same kinds of piforms, and carried the same 
weapons as the male Comandos. They also engaged in the same 
skirmishes and fire-fights, and paid the same price in lost health 
and injury. Like the men, many gave their lives. Some adjustments 
had to be made of course. They did need smaller uniforms and 
combat boots, different underwear, and items to use during their 
menstrual cycles and to serve a few other feminine needs.6 Because 
the Resistance was often a family or comarca affair, many women 
Comandos served alongside brothers, other relatives, or life-long 
friends. In other instances, they weE as much on their own as their 
male combat companions. 

Most of the male and female comandantes and Comandos inter- 
viewed estimated that about 10 percent of the combatants were 
women. This was a slight exaggeration, as according to documents 
in the FDN's archives the actual number was closer to 7 percent. 
But the 10 percent estimate demonstrated that the Comandos 
clearly viewed women as a major element within the military forma- 
tions of the Resistance. That their numbers were overestimated said 
much for how their peers perceived them. The Comandos' estimates 
were cross-checked against the ACRN's archives, which contained 
several documents that permitted estimates of the number of female 
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Comandos. An April 1989 memorandum listed 272 women Com- 
andos whose names were to be added to the rosters of combat 
units.7 Two other documents give data for women Comandos in 
sanctuary (Honduran rear areas) as of September 1988. According 
to these sources, they totaled 885 of the 12,615 Comandos reported 
and included women in noncombat units such as medical person- 
nel, rear-echelon staff workers, and the like.8 If a similar percentage 
of the 4,572 Comandos then inside Nicaragua were also women, that 
would add 275, for a total at that time of more than 1,160, or almost 
7 percent. 

Once a woman joined a frontline unit and developed some 
experience in military matters, she was marginally more likely to 
be assigned certain tasks. Within a combat task force, a woman 
Comando was somewhat more likely to rise to a techrucal position, 
such as radio operator or pararnedic. And because most Comandos, 
both male and female, were young and healthy, and women were 
mixed into mostly male units, many women Comandos married 
their male comrades and even more established stable liaisons 
outside of marriage. About half of all women Comandos had at 
least one child while with the Resistance. Once a woman Comando's 
pregnancy was advanced, and especially after her child was born, 
units normally retained her as a task force member but tried to 
assign her to rear echelon duties9 

According to a September 1988 Status of Forces report, 456 of 
the women in rear echelon positions had a total of 867 children at 
that time. In some instances a Comando mother might ask for 
reassignment to other duties and leave her unit to work in a rear- 
echelon hospital, a headquarters operation, a training center, in a 
communications and intelligence office, with a military police 
detachment, or the like. She might then formally become a member 
of a rear echelon organization although, as was also the case with 
male combatants assuming similar duty changes, her primary 
identification usually remained with her home regional task force. 
This did not necessarily excuse her from combat duties. A set of 
poignant photographs taken during the last battle of Bocay in 1988 
shows woman Comandos with babies in their arms, AK-47s on 
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their shoulders, and combat packs on their backs moving forward 
toward the front lines.1° 

The casualty lists found in the Resistance archives disclose the 
names of 504 Comandos killed in action during 1982-84 and 1988. 
I reviewed the lists to determine what percentage of those killed 
were women, even though they do not separate names according 
to sex. Because Latin American men sometimes have apparently 
feminine first names-for example, Dolores, Maria, or Irene (as in 
Calder6n)-I excluded such names from the count. I identified 
with certainty twenty-nine women Comandos by name, and the 
conservative methodology I used probably makes this an under- 
count. Even so, in this limited sampling, it appears that 5.7 percent 
of the Comandos killed were women. Extrapolation from the esti- 
mated 8,50&10,500 total of FDN Comandos killed in action suggests 
that from 456 to 570 women Comandos died in combat. 

Frontline Comando was not, however, the most dangerous role 
a woman could play during the rebellion. Serving as a correo or 
member of a clandestine comarca committee was even more 
hazardous, and women played a crucial role at this level. Correo 
lists found in the archives suggest that close to 20 percent of jefes 
de correos, or chiefs of correo networks, were female, almost triple 
the percentage of female Comandos in the combat units. This 
figure probably greatly understates the percentage of women in 
the networks themselves. According to two female jefes de correos, 
Marina and La Chaparra, women were often preferred as correos 
over men because they tended to attract less attention, could move 
about more freely, and were not subject to conscription. In their 
own two networks, more than 50 percent of those serving were 
women. Of the few names I found of clandestine committee heads, 
15 percent were female. Given the relative absence of young men 
in the comarcas during the war, and with women relatively less 
suspect than men, a reasonable assumption is that half or more of 
the movement's clandestine committee members were women. 

Most of the comandantes interviewed considered the missions 
of correo or clandestine committee member the most dangerous in 
the Resistance. The Comandos also insisted that the correos and 
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committees were key to the movement's success because the 
combat units depended heavily on them. If, then, as this review 
indicates, about half the correos and committee members were 
women, the importance of women in the highland Resistance move- 
ment was extraordinary, and the casualties they suffered while 
serving with these two corps would have been correspondingly 
high. It proved impossible to develop from available data a depend- 
able estimate of the number of women correos or clandestine 
comarca committee members killed. But because these corps were 
both more numerous and more exposed to reprisals than were the 
Comandos, their casualties must have pushed the number of female 
deaths during the Resistance to well over one thousand. 

In sum, while the Resistance made no special effort to enlist 
female combatants and activists, they were welcomed as partici- 
pants at all levels below that of cornandante. The price they paid 
is visible in the casualty reports. But it was as correos and clan- 
destine committee members that they played their most decisive 
role. It seems no exaggeration to suggest that without the active 
involvement of women, the highlands war would have gone very 
differently. 



C H A P T E R  ELEVEN 

GEOGRAPHY OF THE REBELLION 

In 1990, eleven years after the first Nicaraguan highlands comar- 
cas rose up in rebellion, the FDN and the two smaller Resistance 
armies, YATAMA and the second Southern Front, had more than 
twenty-four thousand Comandos formally enrolled in their ranks. 
Following the defeat of the Sandinistas at the polls in 1990, newly 
elected Nicaraguan President Violeta Chamorrol asked the Com- 
andos, as part of the peace process, to lay down their arms and 
return to their homes. The new president enlisted the United 
Nations and the Organization of American States (OAS) to coman- 
age the process. The Comandos reluctantly agreed.2 By far the 
largest army of Comandos to demobilize was the FDN. 

As we have already seen, the nature and identity of those who 
disarmed bore little or no resemblance to their demonized wartime 
image defining them as Somoza Guardia with no geographic or 
popular base. Even more unexpected was the size and nature of 
the movement on which their army had rested. Those FDN 
Comandos who returned from outside Nicaragua, about half the 
FDN's Comandos, were accompanied by more than eighty thou- 
sand civilian supporters and were welcomed home by hundreds of 
thousands of others. Given the wartime image of the Resistance, 
this was totally unexpected both by the UN and OAS, and even by 
the best-informed Americans. 



GEOGRAPHY OF THE REBELLION 115 

By June 1991, some 22,340 former Comandos of all fronts3 had 
presented their weapons to a new UN peacekeeping organization, 
Observadores de Naciones Unidas en Centramerica (ONUCA), a 
multinational military force.4 About 80 percent were FDN. By 
November 1992, the Centro Nacional de Planificaci6n y Apoyo a 
Polos de Desarrollo (CENPAP), a postwar Resistance-oriented 
nongovernmental organization (NGO), was reporting that 27,450 
former Comandos had demobilized, a number confirmed sepa- 
rately by CIAV/OAS. Most, but not all, had been active Comandos 
at war's end. Since mid-1991, more than five thousand additional 
combatants had deposited their arms. In terms of the total number 
of Comandos who had served during the war, this was many more 
than had been expected by the UN, OAS, or even the Americans 
closest to the project, to comply An estimated 2,500-3,000 Comandos 
did not participate in the pro~ess.~ 

Over the course of the conflict the Comandos' ranks had been 
subject to constant change as new Comandos enrolled and others 
left or were killed in combat. At the rank-and-file level they were 
an unpaid volunteer force.6 The repeated charges during the war 
of forced recruitment by the Contras had led to the contracting by 
the US. government of a professional sociologist, Robert Gersony, 
to study the problem. Gersony spent several months living in FDN 
and YATAMA camps interviewing hundreds of Comandos. He 
found "no/no evidence of forced recruitment." The Comandos 
told him that they were volunteers but that their parents either had 
to Lie and say they had been forcibly recruited or risk losing their 
land and being jailed for having children who participated in the 
Resistance. Captured Comandos routinely made the same claim 
to protect themselves and their families. 

Although a surprisingly high percentage of the Comandos 
who volunteered early on stayed the course, they were not forced 
to do so, and thousands departed voluntarily. Also, some 8,500 
to 10,500 FDN Comandos were killed in a ~ t i o n . ~  All together, per- 
haps 45,000 to 50,000 Nicaraguans served at one time or another 
as FDN ~ombatants.~ According to CIAV/OAS estimates, of those 
who laid down their arms in 1990-91, not only were 97 percent 
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campesinos, 64 percent had no formal schooling, only 1 percent 
had gone beyond the fifth grade of primary school, and 70 percent 
were under the age of twenty-four.9 Fewer than 1 percent had 
been Guardia.l0 

More than 100,000 other personsll accompanied the Comandos 
back to their communities, where they were received by an addi- 
tional 400,000 to 500,000 other Resistance activists. Beyond the 
numbers, their return demonstrated the impressive homogeneity 
of the geographic and social origins of the rebels, especially in the 
case of the FDN. The great majority of FDN Comandos and sup- 
porters returned to communities along the Rio Coco and Bocay 
River valley corridors in the heart of Nicaragua's northern high- 
lands, or those of the Tuma/Rio Grande de Matagalpa to the 
south.12 AS was discussed earlier, almost 9,000 Comandos and a 
proportional number of their supporters went back to only seven- 
teen rural locales.13 (Table 1 shows these places of return.) The 
much-feared and widely demonized "Contras" turned out to be 
only poor dirt farmers from Nicaragua's equivalent of Appalachia, 
historically marginalized but insistently independent mountain 
"hillbillies. " 

In addition to what was reported at an earlier time, the demog- 
raphy and geography of the FDN Comandos, and the regional 
nature of the war were documented from a number of later sources 
as well. Table 4 is constructed from the data in more than twenty 
thousand FDN personnel dossiers, some compiled by the Legih 
15 de Septiembre.14 Among other information, each gives the 
Comandos' place of birth and year of entry into the Resistance.15 
This archive may well constitute a unique window into a guerrilla 
movement. Table 5 is developed from separate postwar data pro- 
vided by CIAV/OAS that identify the department of origin of 
Comandos who came under its aegis after they were demobilized. 
The regional nature of the war is also demonstrated by table 6, 
which is constructed from postwar Nicaraguan government data 
on war claims, and by table 7, which is developed from data in the 
ACRN's postwar files on the process of integrating the Comandos 
into society. 



T A B L E  4 
Earliest Comandos by Department of Birth and Year of Entry 

H I G H L A N D S / ~ T H E R  
Jinotega 
Nueva Segovia 
Madriz 
Esteli 
Chinandega 
Matagalpa 
Zelaya 
Boaco 
Chontales 
Rio San Juan 
Honduras 

SUBTOTAL 
% OF TOTAL 

PACIFIC LOWLANDS 
Le6n 
Managua 
Carazo 
Masaya 
Rivas 
Granada 

SUBTOTAL 
O/o OF TOTAL 

TOTAL 

NOTE: The highlanders were mostly Milpistas. During 1979, 1980, 
and 1981 most of the lowlanders were with exile paramilitary 
groups, not the MILPAS. 

SOURCE: FDN records. 



TABLE 5 
Demobilized Comandos by Department of Origin, 1991 

HIGHLANDS 
Matagalpa 
Nueva Segovia 
Jinotega 
Chontales 
Boaco 
Esteli 
Madriz 
Unspecified, est. 

TOTAL 

PACIFIC 
Managua 
Le6n 
Chinandega 
Masaya 
Rivas 
Granada 
Carazo 
Unspecified, est. 

SUSTOTAL 

ATLANTIC (EST.) 

TOTAL 

SOURCE: CIAV/OAS data. This table does not account for 5,000 who 
disarmed later or an estimated 2,500 to 3,000 who did not 
disarm at all. 
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TABLE 6 
Resistance Victims by Regzon 

PACIFIC HIGHLANDS RATIO 

Sandinista 9,587 14,637 1:1.5 
Resistance 470 7,058 1:15 

Ratio 

SOURCE: 

20: 1 2: 1 

Nicaragua: Boletin Estadistico Sobre la Poblacibn Afectada por Za 
Guerra por Departamento y Region (Managua: INR, October 
1992) and monthly reports of the Instituto Nicaragiiense de 
Repatriacibn, January-November 1991, to Minister Jaime 
Incer, Managua. 

A high percentage of Sandinista casualties were reservists or 
militia. Even Salrnan Rushdie in his book on revolution-era 
Nicaragua, The Jaguar Smiles, despite his sympathy for the Revo- 
lution, expressed shock that so many militia and so few soldiers of 
the regular army were among the Sandinista wounded he saw.16 
Sandinista casualties were more often suffered in firefights, whereas 
many FDN casualties were caused by land mines, artillery or air 
bombardments. 

An examination of the geographic and social o r i p s  of the FDN 
provides answers to important questions. A preliminary review of 
available texts clearly reveals a number of correlations between the 
historically dominant ethnic group in the highlands, the birth- 
places of the earliest FDN Comandos, and key historical events. 
Maps 1 and 7-9 demonstrate correlations between the homeland 
of South American Chibchan Indian groups in pre-Columbian 
Nicaragua as of 1523 and the birthplaces of 274 Comandos identi- 
fied as having entered the Resistance in 1979,1980, or 1981.17 As is 
discussed in the next chapter, the great majority of Comando birth- 
places fell within the 1523 Chibchan region or straddled a colonial- 
era divide known as the Spanish Line, or "La Linea de la Frontera 
Espanola," that divided Chibchan from Spanish Nicaragua for 
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T A B L E  7 

Resistance War Claims by Department 

HIGHLANDS 
Jinotega 
Nueva Segovia 
Zelaya Sur/Norte 
Rio San Juan 
Chontales 
Esteli 
Matagalpa 
Madriz 
Boaco 

PACIFIC COAST 
Managua 
Chinandega 
Le6n 
Masaya 
Carazo 
Rivas 
Granada 

NOTE: Claims by widows, orphans, and the disabled serve as surro- 
gates for casualties. All Fronts are included, not only the FDN. 
Claims in Zelaya were mostly YATAMA. 

SOURCE: Resistance postwar data. 

over three centuries.18 Most of the Comandos whose places of 
origin fell outside the Chibchan region were former Guardia. 

These correlations strongly suggest that the highlander Resis- 
tance movement was actually part of a cenhuies-old historic pattern, 
not simply an isolated late twentieth-century aberration. Addi- 
tional review of the literature on Nicaraguan history allows iden- 
tification of places where Indian-Spanish clashes have taken place 
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Map 7. Birthplaces of Comandos (both Milpistas and former Guardia) 
known to have enrolled in the Resistance in 1979 and 1980. Given the 
map scale, a great many of the birthplaces overlap as many Comandos 
were from the same family or comarca. Note the close correlation with 
pre-Columbian Chibchan Nicaragua (see map 1). Source: Legion 15 de 
Septiembre and FDN personnel files. 

since the Conquest. The CIAV/OAS list of communities to which 
FDN Comandos returned can be compared to these historical 
data.19 Of the top seventeen communities on the CLAV/OAS List, 
fifteen are places where Indian-Spanish clashes recurred over four 
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Map 8. Birthplaces of Comandos known to have enrolled in the Resis- 
tance in 1981. Milpistas, former Guardia, and others are not differenti- 
ated. The many overlaps are due to the identical family and/or comarca 
origins of most of the Comandos. Source: FDN personnel files. 

centuries, between 1526 and 1923. To emphasize this point, these 
data were presented in map 1. The other two are settlements on 
Nicaragua's twentieth-century southern agricultural frontier. Both 
lists also correlate closely with the birthplaces of the FDN 
Comandos. These correlations suggest that the highlander rebel- 
lion had ethruc roots that had gone unnoticed. 
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Map 9. Comparison of the 1979-1990,highlands Resistance war zone, the 
1990-96 Re-Contra silent war zone, and the 26 municipios nearly dis- 
enfranchised in 1996. Note the correlations with map 1 to the pre- 
Columbian Chichba/Nahua division, the 1523-1920s Indian wars, and 
the 17 municipios to which almost 9,000 Comandos returned most 
frequently in 1990-91. 

Beyond the geography of the rebellion, this concept can also be 
cross-checked by comparing pre-Columbian Chibchan sociolo~cal 
markers to modem patterns in the highlands described by former 
Comandos. Closely correlated markers that possibly link today's 
highlands to a Chibchan social ancestry include settlement patterns, 
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kinship structures, agricultural practices, house construction 
methods, forms of sorcery and witchcraft, and attitudes toward 
authority. Some 97 percent of the Comandos lived on dispersed 
homesteads, a Chibchan pattern; the Nahua lived in cluster or line 
communities. About 70 percent of the highlander Comandos were 
linked by blood or marriage as members of some thirty extended 
family/comarca clans, and most lived in traditional huts of hgh- 
land architecture, not Spanish or lowland houses. Popular forms of 
sorcery and witchcraft followed Chibchan, not Nahua models.20 
The Comandos were decidedly libertarian in their attitudes and 
lack of local authority structures; the Nahua had been herarchical. 
Most of the Comandos, including all those interviewed who were 
highlanders, identified themselves as ethnic indios, a practice rare 
among Pacific coast mestizos, most of whom consider that label 
pej~rat ive.~~ 

A significant finding is that colonial-era commentaries on the 
Chibchans parallel FDN accounts of organizational structure and 
authority patterns, which reflect Chibchan-like rejection of central- 
ized authority and an insistence on near-absolute individual and 
family autonomy. These were certainly unusual, if not unique, for 
an army, and decidedly non-Western. They were also distinctly 
different from the pre-colonial authority patterns of Pacific coast 
lowland Nicaragua. In judging the Contras, outside observers erro- 
neously projected conventional Western command models onto 
them and their army. But its structure and authority patterns were 
far less conventional and far more Chibchan than these models 
suggested (see maps 7-9). 



Dimas (Pedro Joaquin 
Gonzhlez), left, the father of 
the "real" Contras, in 1977 
while still a top anti-Somoza 
Sandinista MILPA guerrilla 
commander. Beside him are 
Sandinista guerrillas 
Marianela, Gonzhlez, and 
Pinell. Author 'S collection, 
courtesy of Marina (Andrea 
Pinell). 



Dimas (Pedro Joaquin GonzAlez), center, with four unidentified Sandinista activists, 1977. Author's 
collection, courtesy of Marina (Andrea Pinell). 



A press briefing in the White House in 1989. Vice President Dan Quayle is flanked on his 
right by Comandante Franklyn (Israel Galeano Comejo), then chief of staff of the FDN/ERN 
army (and later killed in a suspicious one-car accident in 1994), and RubGn/Culebra (Oscar 
Sobalvarro) on his left, later to fill the same position. Both were founding members of the 
1979-82 MILPAS movement. The woman beside Franklyn is a State Department interpreter. 
Author's collection, courtesy of Comandante Franklyn. 



Chino Lau (Ricardo Lau), secondfrom right, with three Argentine intelligence operatives in 1982 
at the Honduran army's Quinta Escuela near Tegucigalpa. Author's collection. 



Resistance unit led by Suicida, inside Nicaragua, May 1983. Author's collection. 



Cornandante 3-80 (Enrique Bermbdez), in his headquarters in Yamales, Honduras, in 1987. Under CIA pres- 
sure, the FDN had officially been renamed the ERN by this time. But most Comandos did not agree, and 3- 
80's FDN patch is still on his left arm. Author's collection. 



Mike Lima (Luis Moreno Payan), in Yamales circa 1986. His right arm was 
blown off by an 82mm mortar round. Author's collection, courtesy of 
Mike Lima. 



A Comando unit planning an ambush inside Nicaragua, circa 1985. Author's collection. 



Villagers feeding a Resistance force. The Cornandos depended on the peasantry for food. 
Author 'S collection. 



A YATAMA Indian Task Force crosses open terrain in the Nicaraguan Mosquitia in 1986, 
well spread out to minimize casualties in case of attack. Author's collection, courtesy of 
Comandante Blass (Salom6n Osorno Coleman). 



A Comando gunner sighting a Red-Eye surface-to-air missile. Although not as lethal as the 
Stinger supplied to Afghanistan's Mujahadin, the Red-Eye still sharply limited the effec- 
tiveness of the Sandinistas' helicopter transports and gun-ships. Author's collection. 



Sandinista AK-47s, SAMs (surface-to-air missiles), and munitions captured by Comando fight- 
ers. The Resistance filled at least half its military through such captures. Author's collection. 



Comandos in training in the use of command-detonated Claymore mines, a deadly antiper- 
sonnel weapon. The United States did not normally supply pressure mines to the Resistance, 
although it did capture many from the Sandinistas. Author's collection. 



A Comando on combat patrol inside Nicaragua. His expression tells its own story. Author's 
collection. 



A Comando wounded in a skirmish on a hill in La Salvadora near El Cuartelon, 
Jinotega, in May 1987. Shrapnel from an 82mrn mortar had ripped a large piece 
out of his left shoulder. Author's collection. 



FDN headquarters cook Ciriaco, in front of his kitchen in Yamales, circa 1986. 
Wounded in combat and unable to return to the front lines, Ciriaco found 
another way to be useful. Author's collection. 



YATAMA Comando Fernando Chow in front of his Mosquitia home, circa 
1986. His daughter Alvia is playing with his grenade launcher. Chow is half- 
Chinese, half-Miskito Indian. Author's collection, courtesy of Comandante 
Blass (Salom6n Osorno Coleman). 



A sniper from Regional Command San Jacinto, upon completion of May 1987 
training by a U.S. CIA team on Swan Island in the Caribbean. The rifle is a 
Czech version of a Soviet 7.62mm Dragunov (SVD) with a 4x scope. Author's 
collection. 



An air drop under way inside Nicaragua in Jinotega in 1987. Air drops were conducted whenever 
possible and provided much-needed supplies otherwise unavailable, but they were expensive, 
risky, and too often unreliable. Author's collection. 



A cache of munitions 
captured from retreating 
Sandinistas in May 1988 
during the battle of Bocay: 
82mm mortar rounds, 
plastic antipersonnel 
pressure mines, an AK-47, 
and munitions. These 
mines, undetectable by 
sweepers, are especially 
dangerous. Of perhaps 
150,000 planted by the 
Sandinistas in Nicaragua 
and Honduras, about 
90,000 remained in the 
ground in the year 2000. 
Author's collection. 



C H A P T E R  TWELVE 

THE NAHUA CONQUEST 

Beginning in the ninth century, Nahua groups started arriving in 
what was later to become Nicaragua, as part of a centuries-long 
march southward from central Mexic0.l Skirting the Maya high- 
lands, they moved slowly down the Pacific coastal plains of the 
narrowing Central American land bridge. As they advanced, they 
either conquered or displaced earlier  inhabitant^.^ In the region 
that would become Nicaragua, they encountered Chibchan hunter- 
gatherers with rudimentary farming skills, who themselves had 
been drifting northward from South America for about four thou- 
sand years.3 By the time Colurnbus first visited the New World in 
1492, the Nahua had seized and settled Soconusco,4 the Pacific 
lowlands of Guatemala, all of El Salvador, much of Honduras, and 
Pacific lowland Nicaragua and Costa Rica as far south as the Gulf 
of Nicoya. In Nicaragua they had established a number of proto 
city-states, the most recent dating from less than a century before 
the Spanish Conquest. 

When the conquistador Gil GonzAlez reached Nicaragua in 
1523, its Pacific lowlands were one of the most heavily populated 
regions of the Americas. Although the precise number is still 
subject to debate, two of the best-informed modern students of 
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fifteenth- and sixteenth-century Nicaragua, Linda Newson and 
William Denevan, after reviewing many archives, have estimated 
its population in the 1520s at around 1.4 million. Over one million 
were Nahua living in the Pacific lowlands. The remainder were 
almost all Chibcha in the central highlands.5 

Pre-Spanish Nahua Nicaragua was surprisingly urbanized. 
Managua alone reportedly had a population of some 40,000 and 
was as large as any city of Spain in the same period.6 Other large 
settlements were Imabite, with 15,000, Jalteba with 8,00OI7 and 
Denochari, the latter a collection of six villages with a total of 2,000 
 inhabitant^.^ 

Although the Nahua had a writing system, no Nicaraguan 
Nahua written records survive. Nevertheless, surviving commen- 
taries by Spanish colonial chroniclers reveal glimpses of their 
society and c ~ l t u r e . ~  Modern historians caution readers that the 
chroniclers were often prone to hyperbole and excessive zeal.10 To 
this should be added another caveat. They were all also outsiders 
and, although occasionally critical of Spanish behavior, were 
themselves participants and beneficiaries of the Conquest. Some 
objected to tactics, but none opposed the Conquest itself. 

According to the early Spanish colonial chroniclers, the Nahua 
city-states of Pacific lowlands Nicaragua were centralized auto- 
cratic chiefdoms with top-down power structures.ll With popula- 
tion densities of about thirty people per square kilometer, and 
many large settlements, their social, political, and economic 
systems were densely organized. They had highly developed pyra- 
midal class systems. For example one of the most prominent city- 
states, Nicarao, had as its ruler a hereditary chief, also named 
Nicarao, after whom Nicaragua is named. He ruled with the 
support of a small upper class of nobles, priests, warriors, and 
managers. They, in turn, were lords over a middle class of artisans 
and a lower class of laborers. At the bottom were numerous slaves, 
either captured in battle, purchased at market, or enslaved as a 

form of punishment for transgre~sions.~~ 
Economic activity was centrally organized. Plantation agri- 

culture was a major source of income, and cacao plantations were 
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especially prominent. As cacao served as both a medium of 
exchange (money) and a sumptuary good for the privileged elite 
of the entire Nahua region from Nicoya to Mexico, it was especially 
valuable.13 Cacao was exported to Nahua centers to the north on 
the backs of farnernes, human porters,14 or in coastal vessels, to be 
paid as tribute or in exchange for import luxury goods for the elite. 

The invaders had displaced Chibchan groups of South Arneri- 
can origin that had drifted into Nicaragua several millennia prior 
to the Nahuas' arrival.15 They had conquered the Pacific lowlands, 
which the Chibcha had previously occupied, but Chibcha continued 
to dominate the central highlands.l6 The Nahua and Chibcha were 
continuously at war with one another.17 Unlike the hierarchically 
organized and class-riven Nahua city-states, the sixteenth-century 
Chibchan groups were "smaller societies which were essentially 
egalitarian and did not possess idols, temples, or an instituted 
priesthood."lg They had no large urbanized settlements but rather 
lived in scattered individual farmsteads in the mountains. The 
Chibcha shared amongst themselves a common linguistic heritage 
and culture. One of their most important characteristics was that 
they were not, and apparently did not want to be, centrally orga- 
nized. Because their population was close to the maximum carry- 
ing capacity of the mountains in which they lived, they were 
apparently well adjusted to their environment. Socially they pre- 
ferred individual family group independence and freedom from 
external interference. Most of the few settled locales in the high- 
lands were small outposts of Pacific Nahua known as pocheca that 
mostly lay along a trade route reaching through the mountains to 
other Nahua groups in present-day Honduras.19 Although fewer 
in number than the Nahua, the Chibchan population of the moun- 
tains was not small. Newson estimates that at the time of the 
Conquest, they numbered about 358,000, an estimate that Denevan 
accepts.20 

According to Nicaraguan historian Jaime Incer, "When the 
Conquistadores first arrived the Nahua and Chibchans were at 
war. In the mountains to the north of the lakes and volcanoes. . . . 
lived the much-feared Chontales, whom the Chorotegas and 
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Nicaraos21 considered crude and ill-spoken, and with whom they 
engaged in constant warfare."22 Thus, even centuries after the 
Nahua invasion had begun, the Chibcha continued successfully to 
offer resistance. In addition to warding off continuing Nahua 
efforts at domination, the Chibcha were reacting to sporadic armed 
"entradas," many of which were slaving raids.23 They appear to 
have limited their responses to defensive actions. Reports of large 
standing armies among the Nahua may attest more to the extent of 
these hostilities than to clashes between Nahua city-states. 

Nicaraguan historians such as Incer, as well as Jairne Wheelock, 
the husband-and-wife team of Julian Guerrero and Lola Soriano, 
Germ& Romero, and Cecilia Guillkn de Herrera, consider this 
Chibcha-Nahua division critical to understanding modern Nica- 
r a g ~ a . ~ ~  As Incer comments: 

To the west, on the dry plains [of the Pacific] lived indige- 
nous groups whose historic roots and culture were tied to the 
notable civilizations of Mexico; to the east [the highlands], 
among rain drenched mountains and torrential rivers wan- 
dered tribes of clearly circumcaribbean origins and customs. 
As a consequence of these differences of geography and of 
origins, Nicaragua is really made up of two nations living in 
one country, sharing an isthmian bridge where the natural 
and the cultural have come together from the most remote of 
times to allow the passage of both biological and ethnic 
migrations from North to South America, and vice versa.25 

Pablo Antonio Cuadra, one of modern Nicaragua's grand men of 
letters, goes so far as to call this ethnic division the founding dual- 
ity of modem Nicaraguan character.26 

THE SPANISH CONQUEST 

Spain's conquistadores arrived in Nicaragua in the early 1520s 
from both Panama and Mexico, entering Nicaragua via its Pacific 
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coast lowland Nahua regton. Those from recently conquered 
Mexico were accompanied by Nahua-speaking guides and, on 
occasion, Nahua auxiliary troops. The conquistadores found 
Nicaragua extraordinarily attractive. One of the earliest conquis- 
tadores, Lopez de Gomara, described it as "healthy, fertile and full 
of gardens and orchards." Bishop Bartolomb de las Casas called 
the province "a delightful and happy find for the human race . . . 
which fills me with more wonder than any other place I know, so 
fertile, so abundant, so fresh and agreeable, so healthy, so filled 
with fruitfulness, as orderly as the orchards and villages of Castilla, 
and completely provisioned to comfortably house, entertain and 
provide gracefully for man."27 

Another conquistador, Jeronimo Benz6ni, reported that the 
Spanish "for the abundance of all they found there, called [Nica- 
ragua] the Paradise of M~hammed."~~ In his monumental Conquest 
of Peru, Prescott remarked that conquistadores who had been in 
Nicaragua before joining Pizarro, when faced by the dreary 
Peruvian landscape, longingly remembered "their pleasant quar- 
ters in their luxurious land, [and] sighed only to return to their 
Mahometan ~aradise."~9 

Perhaps the conquistadores who had departed for Peru sighed 
for Nicaragua, but those who stayed quickly converted it into a 
purgatory for the Nahua. The Spanish came armed with modern 
steeds and the steel of Castile, a hunger for fortune and power, and 
the missionary zealotry of true believers in the era of the Spanish 
Inquisition. To advance all these interests simultaneously, the 
Spanish employed a procedure known as a requerimiento. This 
involved reading to each native group as it was encountered (no 
doubt to the complete bewilderment of its members) declarations 
that henceforth they would be required, requerido, to convert to a 
new ideology, Spanish Catholicism, and to submit to a new master, 
the king of Spain. Submission to the king was to be demonstrated 
by acts of fealty and payments of tribute. Acceptance of Catholic 
Christianity was to be demonstrated by baptism followed by 
participation in activities and organizations led by the priests. 
Those who refused to do either voluntarily would be forced to 
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comply. The requierimiento is perhaps understandable in the 
context of the times. The Spanish state and Catholic Church were 
inextricably intertwined. From the perspective of the state, abso- 
lute submission and loyalty to the king was (at least in theory) 
mandatory for all subjects of the realm, no matter how recently 
enrolled or how bewildered. From the perspective of the church, a 
person who had never been exposed to Christianity might die in 
limbo and would not go to hell, but once offered an opportunity to 
convert, refusal was a mortal sin. The demands of this duality 
made concurrent political and ideological conquest both manda- 
tory and inevitable. 

In their very first meeting in 1522, Spanish conquistador Gil 
Gonzalez offered Nahua-Chorotega Chief Nicarao3O the stark 
choices of a requerimiento: accept Catholic Christianity and baptism 
and become a vassal of the king of Spain or meet the Spanish on 
the field of battle. In either case, bring gold. Nicarao chose to 
submit, bringing with him as tribute gold worth 18,500 Castillian 
pesos. He accepted baptism and became a vassal of the king. Gil 
Gonziilez reciprocated by gving him a linen shirt and a red cap.31 

The second important Nicaraguan Nahua chief to meet with Gil 
Gonzdez, also in 1522, was Diriangen,32 accompanied by over five 
hundred retainers. He brought an even larger tribute of gold, 
worth over nineteen thousand Castillian pesos. But unlike Nicarao, 
Diriangen was not submissive. Asked why he had come, Diri- 
angen replied that he wanted to meet the Spaniards, to touch them, 
and to see if they really did have beards and travel astride beasts 
of prey. But he did not promptly submit to baptism nor did he 
agree to become a vassal of the Spanish king. Instead, he left, 
promising to return in three days. Return he did, but at the head of 
a Nahua army of some three thousand warriors. The battle that 
followed appears to have been noisy and, for the Nahua, bloody. 
But the Spanish emerged triumphant, reportedly without the loss 
of a single soldier. Other battles followed the Gonziilez-Diriangen 
confrontation. The city-state of Managua alone reportedly fielded 
ten thousand archers dwring one battle against the conquistadores.33 
But, on balance, the conquest of the Nicaraguan Nahua took place 
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swiftly and with minimal Spanish casualties, leading Newson to 
say that the Spanish "conquest of Pacific Nicaragua was relatively 
easy. "34 

DECIMATION OF THE NAHUA 

For the Nahua, the price of defeat was appalling. In one genera- 
tion, the Spanish annihilated almost the entire population of Pacific 
lowland Nicaragua. In 1544 Spanish oidor, or crown inspector, 
Diego de Herrera, reported that the population in the Nahua 
repon had been reduced to only thirty thousand.35 By 1548 
Managua had only 265 tributary Indians while Jalteba had been 
reduced to 195 tributary I n d i a n ~ . ~ ~  The principal cause of this 
decline was trading Indians as slaves.37 

The supply of existing gold and other precious goods available 
in Nicaragua was exhausted almost immediately by early Spanish 
exactions of tribute. With the exception of a small mining district 
in the highlands at Nueva Segovia, Nicaragua had no other 
substantial sources of gold or silver.38 Farming was the most impor- 
tant remaining generator of riches Nicaragua offered, but that was 
hardly an attractive option to the early conquistadores. They were 
extractors of existing wealth, not long-term foreign investors. With 
the native populations of the Antilles disappearing rapidly and 
every Spaniard demanding personal servants and concubines as 
his price for continued service in the New World, Indian slaves 
quickly became colonial Nicaragua's second-most valuable export 
commodity.39 Pedro de Alvarado brought commercial Indian 
slaving to Nicaragua by way of Soconusco, Guatemala, and El 
Sa lvad~r .~~  MacLeod, in his study Spanish Central America, calls the 
amassing of existing stock of gold and silver and the trade in 
Indian slaves the two "golden keys to wealth" for the conquista- 
d0res.4~ For the slave trade, "Central America was the most con- 
venient center of large Indian populations, and within Central 
America lacustrine Nicaragua was the closest nucleus. Thus it 
became the main center of the slave trade in Indians."42 
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The Spanish also quickly replaced the Nahua oligarchy as 
Pacific coast Nicaragua's rulers and installed themselves and their 
descendants as its new hereditary elite,43 employing both the ideol- 
ogy of the Catholic Church and the power of the Spanish state to 
establish and retain control. Because relatively few Spaniards were 
present, even after the destruction of most of the Nahua masses, 
they resorted to a series of institutions and instruments to domi- 
nate the Pacific lowland's remaining Indians and a slowly growing 
number of mestizos. At first, when a Nahua chief or leader subrnit- 
ted to a requerimiento, the Spanish exerted control through the 
Indians' own pre-Conquest hierarchy. But such indirect methods 
quickly gave way to other approaches, especially direct military 
coercion combined with religious persuasion, each reinforcing the 
other. 

The most important early institution of domination was the 
encomienda, a state grant to a Spaniard of a tract of land and of 
authority over the Indians living on it. In return the grantee, or 
encomendero, was supposed to provide "his" Indians with "protec- 
tion and instruction in the Catholic faith."44 Its principal real effect 
was to remove land from Indian control and put both it and an 
Indian labor force under the control of the new Spanish elite. But 
by and large, because the Spanish were interested in living like 
Europeans, not Indians, they were more concerned with generat- 
ing income than with protecting Indians. Many maximized their 
immediate incomes by stripping their properties of workers; 
encornienda Indians quickly became a prime source of slaves for 
export. Because the Pacific coast was the only region under effec- 
tive Spanish control, the highlands were largely ~pared.~5 Soon 
slaving, excessive labor demands, and disease took a major toll 
and caused what one writer laconically called "a drop in labor 
supplies. "46 

Faced by a severe labor shortage of their own making, the 
Spanish created another new institution, the repartimiento, or forced 
assignment of Indians to the control of selected Spaniards, a system 
designed to mobilize remaining manpower to the benefit of the 
now labor-short new regime.47 The repartimiento process swiftly 
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became a key instrument for generating free forced Indian labor 
for the dominant Spanish elite? Within a decade, stripping the 
countryside to profit urban Pacific coast Spanish communities had 
become a Spanish-Nicaraguan habit. 

Survival of the Chibcha 

In the highlands, "resistance to Spanish colonization was vastly 
different and, in fact, persisted throughout the colonial period."49 
The first two Spanish soldiers killed in combat against Nicaraguan 
Indians were to die in the mountains at the hands of Chibchan 
Chontals, not Nahuas50 This resistance to the Conquest by the 
highland Chibcha resulted in their survival as a group, a result not 
unrelated to the fierce resistance they put up against Spanish domi- 
nation, and standing in sharp contrast to the relatively quick 
submission and subsequent near-annihilation of the Pacific coast 
lowland Nahua. 

The differing responses of the two groups had multiple origms. 
The Chibcha had little that the Spanish could exploit for profit. 
They had no gold or silver and did not offer the Spanish, as did 
the Pacific Nahua, an already organized system of agricultural 
plantations complete with proletarian labor forces of docile work- 
ers accustomed to taking orders. But, also unlike the Nahua, the 
Chibcha put up a fierce, constant, and violent resistance. 

By the mid-1500s, the few remaining Nahua were launched into 
a process of deracination from the Indian and acculturation to the 
Spanish. Although some cultural and social markers survive, and 
certain communities such as Subtiava and Monirnbo still retain a 
strong sense of indio identiW1 by the early eighteenth century the 
Pacific coast repon was essentially hispanici~ed.~2 By way of 
contrast, the use of Indian languages as mother tongues in the 
highlands continued into the twentieth century, and important 
vestiges of Indian religions and folk customs, as well as pre- 
Columbian cultural patterns, are still found.53 In a 1994 study, 
Costa Rican ethnosociologist Eugenia Ibarra found that in the 
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highlands of Nicaragua, descendants of the Chontals and Mata- 
galpans retained cultural traits identifiable as Chibchan.54 

The case, however, should not be overstated. Over the ensuing 
centuries, Spanish did gradually became the highlanders' mother 
tongue and Catholicism their predominant religion.55 Mestizaje 
and ladinoization made considerable inroads. Migration into the 
highland small towns and agricultural frontier increased the 
percentage of mestizos, especially in the towns, and some mestizo 
peasants established themselves in the agricultural hinterlands, as 
did small enclaves of Europeans. But the most indio of the campe- 
sinos continue to this day to retreat further and further into the 
region's agricultural frontier, and many settled areas and comarcas 
remain heavily if not entirely indio. Pre-Columbian practices such 
as the extensive use of sorcery witchcraft, and native medicine 
continue. I even heard tantalizing hints that a few native speakers 
of Chibchan languages continue to live in isolation, carefully 
hidden from outside eyes, although I was not able to find any.56 

COLONIAL-ERA HIGHLANDER RESISTANCE 

The Spanish, then, did not subjugate the highlands. They did stage 
entradas, or incursions, and Catholic priests tried periodically to 
establish reducciones, or frontier missions. But these rarely pros- 
pered for long. In only one place, Nueva Segovia's gold fields, 
were the Spanish prepared to pay the price the Chibchan indios 
bravos5? of the highlands extracted for maintaining a long-term full- 
time presence. The result was the Spanish Line that since the earli- 
est years of the Conquest divided the territory in West of the 
Line Spain's fiat was supreme, but to the east it was not. Several 
historians trace the Line as running through the middle of the high- 
lands through Nueva Segovia into Honduras, but this appears 
actually to trace a Spanish salient that roughly followed the line of 
pre-Colurnbian Nahua pocheca, outposts northward toward Hon- 
duras from their Pacific city-states, since the highlands to the west 
of that salient also appear to have remained Chibchan. 
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Resistance in the highlands continued throughout the three 
centuries of the Spanish colonial era.59 Some of the most violent 
early Spanish-Indian battles in the hghlands (see map 1 for specific 
locations) took place near Nueva Sego~ia.~O Founded in 1527 to 
exploit nearby gold deposits, Nueva Segovia was attacked and 
destroyed repeatedly throughout the sixteenth and seventeenth 
centuries by Chibchan warriors from the surrounding mountains. 
The town had to be moved several times before it finally came to 
rest in its present location where, in 1611, it became Ciudad 
Antigua.61 The Chibcha also attacked a second small mining regon 
on the Rio Segovia north of Ciudad Nueva. Guill6n de Herrera 
notes that "aggressions of the natives, especially those then called 
Jicaques, who came from the mountains continued for . . . 
centuries.62 She also states "Lencas who killed with witchcraft and 
hordes of Jicaques poured forth from the Rio Pantasma region63 to 
attack and pillage Christian  settlement^."^^ 

Several histories of the sixteenth, seventeenth, and eighteenth 
centuries give the place-names of locales where particularly 
no table battles took place between the Spanish and Indians.65 
Prominent among them were Kilambe, El Cud Bocay, Pantasma, 
Wamblh, Bocay, P&as Blancas, Matagalpa, Wiwili, Qdali,  Somoto, 
and Jalapa, several of which are the locales to which large numbers 
of FDN Comandos returned in 1990-91 (see table Many of the 
early clashes were described as Indian reactions to efforts by zeal- 
ous Catholic priests, supported by Spanish army units, to collect 
the Chibcha into mission reducciones to convert and indoctrinate 
them, combined exercises in ideological proselytizing and military 
coercion. Later conflicts tended to revolve around land tenure and 
coercive attempts by the central government to conscript peasants 
to work on the farms of the ruling class. 

During much of the colonial period, the Spanish also suffered 
repeated incwsions by pirates, Zamb0-Miskitos,6~ and Sumu Indians, 
many of these joint incursions led by the British. Essentially raids 
on colonial outposts or cities, these were often brutal and highly 
destructive. Incer is among those who describe several of these 
raids in The mountain indios had mixed reactions to 
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Zambo-Miskito and other raiding parties from the Atlantic 
Mosquito Coast that passed through the highlands. Because the 
raiders sometimes also took slaves, the Chibcha feared them. But 
on occasion they joined forces to attack the Spanish. On balance, 
the main difference between the Zambo-Miskito raiders and the 
highlanders' resistance appears to have been one of objectives. The 
pirate and Zambo-Miskito raids were offensive operations target- 
ing Nicaragua's cities, especially those in the Pacific coast region, 
in search of fortune. The Chibcha rarely raided far from home and 
appear to have mostly acted in self-defense. 

I N D E P E N D E N C E - E R A  
H I G H L A N D E R  RESISTANCE 

Nicaragua's independence from Spain, a process that began in 
1821, did not end ongoing attempts by the heirs of the Spanish to 
dominate the highlands. To the contrary, it exacerbated the high- 
landers' problem. From their perspective, the principal change was 
that the independence-era dominant elite was no longer fettered 
by the concerns of Spanish bureaucrats or by the moral queasiness 
of a distant crown. E. Bradford Bums, writing about the postcolo- 
nial Nicaragua of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, finds 
that it was sharply divided between a Spanish patriarchy and 
mestizo and Indian folk masses. The dominant patriarchs were the 
espanoles; the subordinate folk were the indios. The patriarchs 
were extremely quarrelsome amongst themselves, but as a group 
they consistently used their collective control of the country's 
power structures to seek economic, social, and political advantage 
for themselves at the expense of the folk. As Burns puts it, "The 
Indians shared none of the elite's vision of a nation-state, or even 
the city-state, and of expanded commerce. They preferred to adhere 
to their own cultural traditions, and to grow their subsistence with 
just enough surplus for the local market. "69 

Tensions and outright violence often resulted when the patri- 
archy pushed its advantages too far too fast. This most often 
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occurred in the agricultural sector when the elite decided it needed 
more land on which to produce a new export crop to generate hard 
currency, such as sugar, cotton, indigo, coffee, or cattle, or when it 
felt the pinch of labor shortages that necessitated the recruitment 
of cheap rural labor, willing or not. Bums comments that as a 
consequence, "the extremes of European and Indian institutions 
defined and perpetuated two different social 

The fundamental problem continued to be what it had been in 
the colonial period, that Nicaragua produced like the rest of 
Central America but the patriarchs, as had their Spanish colonial 
forefathers, insisted on living like Europeans. To pay for their pre- 
ferred lifestyle, the patriarchs had to generate hard currencies with 
which to buy the foreign "necessities" and luxuries that they 
demanded but Nicaragua could not produce. This, in turn, required 
them to produce export crops at minimal costs to generate suffi- 
cient surplus cash to import their "needs." That process required 
cheap land and even cheaper labor. Because of these efforts to 
support European lifestyles for the few, extracted from the land 
and labor of the many, the elite made repeated forays against the 
indios and their land in search of cheap land and all but free labor, 
Because the patriarchy dominated the government, the elite 
routinely enrolled its power to advance its interests. But because 
these forays also threatened the indio lifestyle, the masses often 
resisted violently71 

Occasionally the folk, the indios, would find a champion. Among 
the more fascinating incidents were attacks in 1845,1847, and 1849 
on Pacific coastal cities, led by a charismatic leader, General 
Bemab6 Somoza, an ancestor of Anastacio "Tacho" Somoza Garcia, 
founder of the twentieth-century Somoza dynasty. Bernabk Somoza 
was a Liberal, and the conflict he headed had political roots. But he 
was also a populist and a natural leader. In addition to occupying 
Chinandega, Managua, and Rivas at various times, Somoza twice 
sacked the city of Leh ,  against which he had a strong personal 
grudge. Bums finds that the patriarchs reacted to Bemab6 Somoza 
with exceptional virulence. What they seemed to fear most was 
that "Somoza would win the confidence of the Indians and unite 
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them . . . [so the elite's press] . . . fired a ceaseless barrage of pejo- 
rative~ 'barbarian,' 'cannibal'' 'savage,' 'bandit,' 'madman,' and 
'brigand' [and] accused him of burning haciendas and killing at 
least one patriarch."72 

Bums's own conclusion is less apocalyptical than that of the 
patriarchs: Bernab6 Somoza's sackings of L e h  were not especially 
different from other incidents of the period, but "what doubtless 
intensified the heat of rhetoric in this case was the popular dirnen- 
sions of this war, its potential threat to all patriarchs. . . . If the popu- 
lar and dashing figure of Bernab6 Somoza succeeded in coalescing 
discontent, the elites would confront a formidable foe. They feared 
a unified and popular agrarian movement [and] persuaded them- 
selves that nothing less than Western civilization was at staken73 h 
short, the elite's fear of the indio masses that had followed Somoza 
had bordered on hysteria.74 It was one of those rare occasions when 
the patriarchs put aside their internal political competition for 
advantage long enough to unite against the masses. 

In 1881, almost two generations after Bernab6 Somoza's rebel- 
lion, another major Indian rebellion occurred in Matagalpa, trig- 
gered by a combination of patriarchal grabs for remaining Indian 
lands, government attempts to establish involuntary military 
service, and efforts to forcibly recruit Indian campesino labor in 
the nearby highlands to work on the patriarchy's estates for mar- 
ginal wages. As Europeanate Nicaraguan historians Guerrero and 
Soriano de Guerrero later put it, the Indians "prepared their rebel- 
lion in secret and with the 'traditional slyness and malice' which 
has always characterized our  aborigine^."^^ The first attack took 
place on March 30. "A large party of armed Indians attacked the 
city for over three hours. The city's residents, remembering depre- 
dations during similar attacks in 1824,1827, and 1844, reacted in 
panic. Twenty-five Indians and three city residents were killed."76 
The people of Matagalpa petitioned the government to save them 
"lest they be e~tenninated."~ 

Jeffrey Gould, a leading scholar of the period, suggests that the 
1881 Matagalpan rebellion is best understood "in the context of five 
years of violent changes in the Indians' lives; losses of thousands 
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of acres of communal land, forced labor, internal economic and 
political divisions, and a conflict with the church over ownership 
of their cofradias, lay brotherhood~,7~ and possession of images that 
included representations of the 'apostles.' The movement responded 
to and fomented ethnic ~trife."~9 

Gould concludes that the Matagalpan Indian rebellion of 1881 
compelled the state to devise methods to contain the Indian mili- 
tary potential once and for After the rebellion had been 
squashed, the government and patriarchy launched a combined 
and apparently orchestrated assault on Indian society and identity 
that included further expropriations of land and coercion of Indian 
labor, attacks on remaining Indian social markers such as religious 
symbols, and assaults on their communities' ethnic cohesion.81 
Concurrently, Nicaragua's intellectual elite set out to define away 
the Indian-ness of the highland campesinos by establishing a new 
hegemonic discourse. This discourse promoted a "myth of mesti- 
zaje" that redefined Nicaragua as a homogeneous society of mixed- 
blood mestizos within which, save for the Mosquitia, Indians no 
longer existed.g2 

Gould believes that the Nicaraguan patriarchy, as it combined 
the process of creating a new hegemonic discourse with direct 
assaults on Indian cultures and ways of life, set an example that 
was emulated elsewhere in Central America. Consequently, in El 
Salvador, Honduras, as well as in Nicaragua, 

between 1880 and 1950, the Indians suffered dramatic losses 
of land, language, and identity. Those losses were codified in 
census returns that reported the virtual disappearance of the 
Indians into the ladino population. So powerful was the 
dominant discourse that hundreds of thousands of Central 
American Indians . . . became "ashamed" of their ethnic 
markers as the word Indian became a synonym for "igno- 
rant" or "savage."83 

But in the case of Nicaragua, Gould also has found that the on- 
slaught elicited Indian resistance that "thwarted eight governmental 
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attempts to abolish [indigenous] comunidades between 1877 and 
1923.'184 Nonetheless, the Nicaraguan elite did create a "myth of 
mestizaje" that tried to suppress the real ethnic dimensions of 
contemporary Nicaragua. In so doing, it constructed an important 
hegemonic form, a mirror of Nicaraguan society that reflected only 
the faces of mestizos and Spaniards.85 Gould argues that this mirror 
reflected a deliberately falsified image. He demonstrates this by 
listing subsequent Matagalpan Indian uprisings in 1898, 1904, 
1909,1915,1919, and the 1920s. Gould's list brings the history of 
violent Chibchan Indian resistance during the period of "patriar- 
chal independence" up to the era of the Marine-Sandino war. But 
he may have ended his catalog of violent Indian resistance at too 
early a point. Other scholars find that patriarchal use of a discourse 
of hysteria directed against the Indians did not end in 1920. 
Michael Schroeder, in a study of the Sandino affair, explains that 

Bourgeois [patriarchal] representations of the [Augusto C6sar 
Sandino] Rebellion emerged from the wider semantic field 
of "civilization versus barbarism" [and] were deeply 
inscribed with irnageries of lower class savagery, disorder, and 
violence, of the racial inferiority of the Indians and primitivism of 
the countryside . . . [Sandino's] Rebellion came to represent 
something truly frightening: the specter of the rural lower 
orders committing organized and directed violence against 
the ideals [the patriarchy] held most dear.86 

Schroeder quotes an editor for Managua's La Prensa, who wrote on 
2 April 1932 that "the hordes of Sandino are made up of merce- 
naries and men without scruples. . . . I find only in these dry and 
cold-blooded names, thieves, assassins, and in~endiaries."~~ 

In the 1980s, the 1881 Matagalpan Chibchan rebellion was to 
serve historian Jaime Wheelock, who is both an aristocraP8 and 
Sandinista, as the watermark event from which to date the end 
of Nicaraguan Indian resistance to Spanish control.89 But, again, 
a declaration of an end to the highlander resistance proved 
premature. 
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THE 1990s 

Costa Rican ethnohistorian Eugenia Ibarra brings the survival of 
highland Chibchan Indian identities into the 1990s. A student of 
Matagalpan ethnohistorical markers, Ibarra has concluded that a 
separate Chibchan Indian sense of identity based on shared 
cultural characteristics continues to exist in Nicaragua t0day.~0 The 
highlanders I interviewed agreed. The pride that the former FDN 
Comandos expressed in their indio roots in the mid-1990s demon- 
strated the failure of all these efforts to define Nicaragua's high- 
land Indians out of existence. Highlander self-identification as 
indio has survived. 

This historical review appears strongly to reinforce the sugges- 
tion that the highland rebellion had deep ethnohistoric roots. The 
distinctiveness of the Chibchan identity in the region may have 
blurred over the centuries, but deep regional differences remain. 



C H A P T E R  T H I R T E E N  

As the previous chapter has shown, the highlanders of Nicaragua 
have for several centuries, and perhaps for more than a millen- 
nium, resisted attempts by the Pacific lowlanders to control the 
region. The highlanders first resisted the Nahua, then the Spanish, 
then the patriarchy. If the Nahua-Chibcha conflict was intertribal, 
if the conflict with the Spanish was colonial, and if the Spanish 
patriarchy versus Indian folk was economic, then the question 
arises of how to classify the highlanders' resistance to the Sandin- 
ista Revolution. Anumber of options are possible: core vs. periph- 
ery modem vs. traditional, urban vs. rural. Each has validity. But 
for me the most fruitful means of understanding the Resistance 
movement is to look at it as an ethno-class conflict related to the 
highlanders' place in modem Nicaraguan society. 

Richard N. Adams, in a seminal cultural survey describes 
Nicaraguan social divisions of the 1950s in considerable detail. The 
picture he paints is of an unamalgamated composite of social 
subgroups with deep fault lines dividing classes, ethnicities and 
regions. He identifies the largely Pacific coast urban upper class as 
la sociedad, la aristocracia, or simply 10s ricos, the rich, with the term 
aristocracia reserved for "members of the old families of Le6n, 
Granada, Manapa, and some of the older towns, such as Ocotal, 
Masaya, etc."l He calls the heavily rural lower classes campesinos 
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proletariado, or simply 10s pobres, the poor. These terms reflect race 
and ethrucity as much as wealth, although the two usually go hand 
in hand. The upper class is widely perceived as whiter, more 
Spanish, or more European. The lower classes are mas indigena, 
more Indian2 In 1976, based both on extensive interviewing and 
on experience in-country, Harry Strachan divided the upper class 
into business groups. The three most important were the Pellas, 
the Montealegres, and the Somozas. The six second-tier families, 
included, as the most prominent, the Lacayos, Chamorros, and 
Cuadras. But one of his sources argued strongly that in Nicaragua 
"the real group is the family group; business groups are simply a 
manifestation in the economic sphere of these family  group^."^ 
Samuel Stone brings the class question into the period of recent 
conflicts and labels the war between the Sandinistas and the 
Somozas as no more than "a violent eruption of economic and 
political differentiation within Nicaragua's ruling classu4 

But the highlander-Sandinista conflict was different. The 
Milpistas were a phenomenon of the Indian highland peasantry, 
of Bums's "Folk," not his "Patriarchy." More precisely, based on 
the geography of their rebellion and the history of the highlands, 
the highlander Resistance movement and the Milpistas were a 
phenomenon of only part of Bums's "Folk," those who were also 
independent rnicrobourgeois campesinos of the mountains. Even 
after 1981, with the exception of a handful of Comandos, neither 
Pacific coast lowland peasants nor urban workers formed part of 
the FDN. 

All of the highland Comandos the FDN interviewed for this 
study belonged to this peasant group. They or their families 
controlled small-to-medium farming plots sufficient to sustain 
themselves and their families, placing them squarely within the 
group of Nicaraguan Indians who, in Bums's words, "preferred to 
adhere to their own cultural traditions, and to grow their subsis- 
tence with just enough surplus for the local market.'I5 Strong indio 
self-identification of all but one of the Comandos interviewed rein- 
forced this conclusion. Thus, in addition to their geographic and 
historical distinctiveness, the Comandos' social place was squmly 
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within the lower classes. Comparing their class origins to those of 
the Sandinistas produces an interesting contrast. 

NICARAGUA'S ELITE 

As Bums, Stone, and Adams describe it, the Nicaraguan upper 
class is composed of a hereditary patriarchy, with the more well- 
to-do professionals and smaller businesspeople ranged beneath 
them. The handful of "Spanish" families that have traditionally 
ruled Nicaragua comprises perhaps 1 percent of the country's popu- 
lation. Entrance into this aristocracy is normally by birth, some- 
times by marriage, but rarely by merit. From the perspective of 
family and social class origins, the pre- and post-Somoza Nicaraguan 
patriarchal class is a continuum, with the upper echelon of the 
Sandinista movement a part of the elite. Their intimate blood and 
business relationships with the traditional aristocracy demonstrate 
that key members of the Sandinista vanguard are part of the elite.6 

Radell describes the patriarchal families as divided by rivalries 
between Granada and Le6n that are themselves the products of 
different social origins, ethnicity, and class: 

Granada was settled by aristocratic officers . . . Le6n was 
settled by humble foot soldiers. . . . [Managua is the capital, 
but its] most influential residents do not consider Managua 
their real home. Their economic influence is exerted from the 
capital, not in the name of that city but in the name of either 
Granada or Leh,  or more recently, Chinandega.7 

Strachan, discussing elite divisions in terms of major family 
groups: notes that the richest and most powerful of these in 1976 
was the Grupo Banco de America (Bank of America) of the Pellas 
family groupg that had "its roots . . . in Granada, an ancient city of 
Nicaragua . . . generally identified with the Conservative party in 
politics."l0 The second most important family group was the 
Montealegres, b d t  around the Banco de Nicaragua (BAMC-Wells 
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Fargo), that had "its roots in Lebn, another ancient city of Nica- 
ragua, and is identified with the Liberal Party." The third most 
important family group was the Somozas, which, led by social 
upstarts, was climbing quickly up the social ladder.ll The inter- 
vening Sandinista Revolution notwithstanding, in 1997 the aris- 
tocracy remained essentially intact and dominant. The Pellas and 
Montealegre family groups remained largely intact, although the 
Somoza group had disappeared and had been replaced by the 
Sandinista leadership group. This was clearly demonstrated by 
the make-up of Nicaragua's 1990-96 post-Revolution government 
of Violeta Chamorro.12 

In contrast with the closed system of the aristocracy, entry into 
the upper classes beneath the patriarchal farnilies can be earned. 
This group is made up largely of businessmen, export agricultur- 
alists, leading professionals, senior bureaucrats, and their families. 
This second layer of the elite contains about 4 to 5 percent of the 
population. Together, the aristocracy and bourgeois contain per- 
haps 6 percent of the population. 

T H E  DIVIDED FOLK 

About 85 to 86 percent of Nicaragua's population is either Pacific 
mestizo or highland indio, with the Comandos and their families 
within the latter subgroup. When conducting his survey, Adams 
found deep differences between these two groups. He heard 
"comments which suggested that the carnpesinos of the more 
densely populated Pacific Coast plains and valleys tended to 
regard themselves as more 'civilized' than those who occupy the 
rougher country, the 'montaiia."'l3 

The difference between Pacific mestizos and highland indios is 
historically and socially sigruficant. Besides the historical divisions 
described above, the modem Pacific coast is 60 percent urban and 
40 percent rural and highly mestizoized. Pacific urban mestizos are 
mostly wage laborers, while its rural population is mostly made 
up of proletarian agricultural workers. The mestizos may have 
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small farming plots, but these are usually too small to sustain a 
family. In contrast, most highlanders are small farmers who control 
sufficient land to feed their families, making them rural rnicro- 
bourgeois. 

MARGINAL MINORITIES 

Several minority groups that live on the Atlantic littoral make up 
the remaining 8 to 9 percent of Nicaragua's population. Nica- 
ragua's tribal Miskito, Surnu, and Rama Indians are well-defined 
ethnic minorities that constitute about 4 percent of the country's 
population. Several excellent studies of these Indian groups are 
those of Ephraim Squier, Eduardo Conzernius, and Bernard Nietzch- 
mann.14 Lazlo Pataky also describes the region's distinctive ways 
of life in fascinating detail.15 Black Creoles are Nicaragua's second- 
largest marginal Atlantic coast minority. They possess many of the 
characteristics of a protonation, and recently a few have begun to 
demand outright independence.16 They are of Afro-Caribbean 
origin, speak English, and are mostly Protestants. Sources on the 
Creoles are limited but do include a study of the region during the 
Revolution by Costa Rican scholars17 and a report prepared by the 
Creoles themselves.18 There is also a small Garifuna community. 
Including "esp~oles" who live in the region, as of 1989, the peoples 
of the Atlantic Coast numbered almost 400,000.19 

SANDINISTA/COMANDO 
CLASS DIFFERENCES 

In addition to the interviews, I also reviewed more than 350 biogra- 
phies of Sandinistas and Resistance activists. I determined that 299 
of them could be classified with some confidence by social class.20 
Table 8 shows the findings. The results may be considered con- 
servative because all former officers of either the Guardia or the 
Sandinista army, regardless of rank, have been tallied as elite. 
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SANDINISTA 
Heroes 
Leaders 
Cadre 

TABLE 8 
Social Origins 

RESISTANCE 
Heroes 
Leaders 

Political 
Military 

SANDINISTA VS. RESISTANCE SOCIAL CLASS RATIO 
SANDINETAS RESISTANCE 

4: 1 Elite 3: 1 Peasant/proletarian 

Nonetheless, it is clear that majorities of both the Sandinista 
vanguard and the leadership of the Nicaraguan civilian Resistance 
were of elite origins.2' The social place of the Comandos was just 
as clearly lower class. These class differences not only had a major 
impact on the war, they also had an impact on how the war ended 
and on its aftermath. 



C H A P T E R  F O U R T E E N  

THE FDN RETURNS TO ITS 
MIL'PAS ROOTS, 1988-1990 

The last major battle of the Contra War was fought just sixty miles 
from where the MILPAS war had begun, in a remote regon known 
as the Bocay. Following peace negotiations between Central 
American presidents in late 1987, the Honduran government had 
forced the FDN to abandon its main sanctuary at Yamales and 
move to the Bocay, a remote region of triple canopy rain forest. The 
U.S. Congress then permanently ended American lethal aid to the 
Contras on 3 February 1988. On March 10, shortly after this con- 
gressional action, the Sandinistas launched a major attack on the 
Resistance's Bocay sanctuary, using eight elite counterinsurgency 
and irregular warfare battalions, known as BLIs and BLCs. Assist- 
ant Secretary of State Elliott Abrams warned Secretary of State 
George Schultz that the Sandinista army was trying to land a 
killing b1ow.l With Enrique Bermtidez, Comandante 3-80, in 
personal command on the battlefield: the heavily outnumbered 
FDN defenders held, and the attack failed to reach any of its 
primary objectives3 It was later falsely alleged by would-be detrac- 
tors, who were not present at the scene, that the FDN's comman- 
der fled from the battlefield as soon as the shooting started. This 
was not true. He directed the FDN's side of the battle from his 
jungle headquarters at Bocay from begmning to end. 
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Following the battle, the FDN settled into both a new relation- 
ship with the United States and a new phase of the war with the 
Sandinistas. A tentative cease-fire was negotiated. Sporadic clashes 
continued, but both sides spent as much time maneuvering for 
advantage as fighting. An AID Task Force for Humanitarian 
Assistance (TFHA) took over support for the FDN from the CIA, 
with the mission of providing it with "humanitarian" assistance. 
This took the form of goods and services to the FDN forces while 
they were in sanctuary in Honduras and of cash in the form of 
Nicaraguan Cordobas for them to take to Comando forces inside 
Nicaragua to buy what AID was not allowed to deliver to them. 
Despite the loss of lethal aid, the armed Resistance inside 
Nicaragua remained organized and effective and was able to keep 
more Comandos inside Nicaragua than out. 

In May 1988, a team from the U.S. Embassy in Managua visited 
the highlands to assess the situation of the armed Resistance in the 
region. A Liberal Independent Party leader in Ocotal, Luis Moreno 
Ponce, told them that "while few rural residents will openly admit 
that they support the armed opposition Contras, in reality, they 
constitute the 'social base' of the Resistance." Carlos Olivas, the 
chief of the Popular Social Christian Party in Nueva Segovia, said 
"the peasants are supplying the Resistance with food." A busi- 
nessman in Quilali said that the "armed opposition was obtaining 
food from the local populace and seemed to have no problems 
with uniforms or arms." A small farmer near San Rafael del Norte 
said that the Comandos "were asking the peasants for food, and 
the rural populace was responding to such requests." The San- 
dinistas had launched an intensive psychological warfare campaign 
to try to convince the Comandos to lay down their arms and accept 
amnesty. The Embassy Managua team reported that, on one occa- 
sion, a Sandinista army sub-lieutenant, Harold Moreno, "attempted 
to disarm a Resistance band near Quilali. The Resistance . . . 
responded by disarming the Sub-Lieutenant instead." In another 
instance the Sandinistas enlisted the help of a local priest for a 
meeting at El Naranjo near San Rafael. But "although the priest 
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had celebrated a mass, the Resistance had kept its weapons 
throughout the meeting. No Resistance member had surrendered 
his arms." On "May 4 at Sabana Grande the EPS had asked the 
Resistance force to lay down its arms and return to civilian life." 
Not only did no Comando do so, "some youths fleeing Sandinista 
military recruiters had reportedly gone over to the armed opposi- 
tion during the meeting." Officials of the Sandinista government's 
Institute for Agrarian Reform told an Embassy Managua officer 
privately that "popular resentment against the regime remains 
high.'j4 

The Embassy team concluded that "Resistance forces appear to 
enjoy significant support from the peasantry throughout the area 
visit by EmbOffs [Embassy officers]." The team actually saw only 
part of what was happening. Not only were the peasants helping 
the Comandos with food, they were trying to join the FDN's ranks 
in unprecedented numbers5 As had happened repeatedly, in the 
absence of American lethal aid, the rebellion had simply turned to 
its peasant roots for support. 

The sheer numbers of peasants trying to join the FDN forced 
AID to set a maximum manpower quota on the number of 
Comandos it would assist. By doing so, it unwittingly returned to 
a policy that the CIA had been required to adopt earlier for the 
same reason. During periods when the CIA was providing the bulk 
of lethal assistance to the Resistance, the FDN's =quests for support 
had regularly exceeded available funds. Many of the Americans 
involved suspected at the time that the Resistance was inflating its 
numbers to maximize its income, suspicions probably reinforced 
by Sandinista allegations, even to their allies, that the Resistance 
armies were far smaller than they claimed. But postwar data in the 
Resistance archives, the postwar experiences of both the UN and 
OAS, as well as all other indicators, support a contrary conclusion. 
Not only did the Resistance have even more Comandos under arms 
during the war than it was reporting, but had it had sufficient logis- 
tical and financial help, it could have enlisted thousands more. 
Enrique Berm~dez's briefcase was jammed during 1989-90 with 
requests from hundreds, perhaps even thousands, of highland 
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campesinos who wanted to be Comandos. He had to refuse all of 
them.6 Shortly after Congress cut off lethal funding, Comandante 
3-80 commented that "the NR [Nicaraguan Resistance] [which] 
had gotten spoiled with the success of the air supply program and 
ignored the ground option was going back to the old way of doing 
bu~iness."~ 

In 1989, a large number of Comandos were directed by their 
headquarters to withdraw from the combat zones of Nicaragua to 
sanctuary in Yamales. Some FDN commanders were surprised by 
this. Lethal aid or no, they were having no real problems sustain- 
ing themselves inside. Typical were comments by Comandante 
"Nelson," the 5-3 of the Jorge Salazar I1 Regional Command who, 
under orders, withdrew with 330 men all the way from Nueva 
Guinea. In my role as chief of the Special Liaison Office (SLO) of the 
U.S. Embassy in Tegucigalpa, I reported to the Department of State: 

[Comandante] Nelson said that Jorge Salazar II had been able 
to sustain itself without aerial resupply Food was obtained 
from supporters in the civilian population, and munitions 
from enemy forces. . . . His unit was frequently able to take 
weapons and ammunition from civilians who had been the 
object of hasty Sandinista "Militias formation" efforts. These 
people often had no loyalty to the Sandinistas and no wish to 
fight the Resistance . . . they frequently surrendered their 
weapons and ammunition without opposition.8 

A handful of the FDN Comandos who withdrew to their camps 
in sanctuary in Honduras were in poor physical condition or short 
of supplies, but the great majority were not. About a third of the 
Comandos, all the movement's correos, clandestine committees, 
and popular support bases remained inside Nicaragua. The with- 
drawals were apparently intended to protect the force while it 
awaited new lethal aid, which never materialized. Nonetheless, 
sporadic combat continued inside Nicaragua. Between April 1988 
and September 1989, the FDN sustained 392 casualties, including 
236 killed.9 
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In the end, the "killing blow" against which Abrams had warned 
Secretary of State Schultz was delivered to the FDN by its erstwhile 
American allies, not by the Sandinista army. When George Bush 
was elected president of the United States, American government 
attitudes toward the Resistance changed dramatically In early 1989, 
Bush's new secretary of state, James Baker, refused to meet with 
representatives of the Resistance. His press advisor, Margaret 
Tutwiler, privately let the comandantes know that they should go 
back to Central America where "we know how to find you if we 
want to." To others, she called the armed Resistance a "lose-lose 
proposition." The new secretary of state was heard to label them as 
"Reagan's project, not ours,"1° and cautioned Reagan holdovers not 
to think that the transition from Reagan to Bush was a "friendly 
takeover." Certainly for the Comandos, change came quickly. 
Bush's assistant secretary for Latin America, Bernie Aronson, later 
said that "the peace of Managua was signed in Mos~ow."~~ After 
several meetings between Aronson and his Soviet counterpart early 
in the Bush administration, Soviet aid levels to Nicaragua began to 
drop, and Bush did not push for more lethal aid for the Resistance. 

In the Yamales salient in Honduras, to which the FDN's head- 
quarters, hospitals, and logistical operations had returned after the 
May 1988 battle at Bocay, things also changed. By the spring of 
1989, Bush-era American maneuvering had successfully removed 
Comandante 3-80 as chief of the general staff, although he stayed 
on as commanding general, headquartered in Tegucigalpa. He was 
first replaced by a highland campesino from Boaco who was also 
a former guardia sergeant, Juan Ramon Rivas, Quichk, an out- 
standing combat leader who had been crucial to the organization 
of the five Jorge Salazar Regional C~rnmands .~~ But he too was 
quickly forced out. Such maneuvering, pressure to minimize 
combat operations, redoubled attacks from both inside and outside 
the movement over real and alleged human rights violations, and 
garrison duty, exacerbated MILPAS/Guardia/Sandinista tensions 
at FDN headquarters in Yamales, which, on occasion, turned nasty. 
Many former Guardia saw the end approach and began drifting 
away in search of postwar futures.13 
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With many of the former Guardia gone, military leadership 
reverted to Milpistas who had been with the movement from the 
beginning. The first original Milpista to become chief of staff was 
Franklyn, a Galeano clansman and Milpista. In August 1989, after 
the Central American presidents signed a second agreement 
known as the Tela Accord, the FDN realized that it had been wait- 
ing in vain for renewal of lethal aid, and Franklyn started a major 
program of re-infiltration. The announced purpose was "to limit 
ERN losses in case of a future dem0bilization."~4 Comandos 
remaining in Honduran sanctuary were deployed closer to the 
border. Low-level combat operations by the FDN inside Nicaragua 
were to continue into 1990. Toward the end, yet another original 
MILPAS leader, Rub& (discussed extensively at the beginning of 
this book), became chief of staff. It fell to Rub& to lead the FDN 
during its final days before demobdization and to become the pres- 
ident of its post-war ACRN, a position he continued to hold in the 
year 2000. 



C H A P T E R  F I F T E E N  

THE SILENT WAR AGAINST THE 

HIGHLANDERS CONTINUES, 
1990-1996 

In 1990, the Revolution ended when the Sandinistas lost a national 
election, the "peace process" advanced, the Comandos began to 
lay down their arms, and officers of the American Embassy in 
Managua traveled once again into "Contra country." One officer 
who penetrated deep into the highlands in August reported on 
what they found in a cable entitled "Qudali, Yali, and Parts Beyond." 

The narrow roads leading from San Sebastian de Yali to the 
remote hamlets of interior Jinotega are littered with the rust- 
ing carcasses of Soviet-made armored personnel carriers and 
IFA trucks, the victims of Contra ambushes throughout the 
years of the war. They remain a witness to the failure of the 
Sandinistas to win the hearts and minds of the highlands 
peasants.l 

The region they visited was in 1979 the birthplace of the highland 
Resistance movement, and a faithful area of support during the 
war. It should have been the safest of havens for the returning 
Cornando. But it was not. 

A Monteforte Missionary Father told the visiting diplomat that 
in February a Sandinista army patrol had come "to a recently 
amnestied Resistance member's home in Villa Sandino, Chontales, 
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shot him, and then chopped his head off and ripped his face from 
his ~ku l l . "~  Both the brutality and the pre-Columbian Indian 
methodology were reminiscent of how the war had started in the 
first place. The killing was merely a taste of what was to come. For 
the highland campesinos and the Comandos the war did not end 
in 1990. 

When the Comandos laid down their arms, they expected to be 
treated as respected combatants of a war that had led to the defeat 
of the Sandinista Revolution. In return for their disarming, both 
their American allies and the new Nicaraguan government of 
Violeta Charnorro had promised them protection, assistance, and 
land on which to resettle and restart their lives. 

The Comandos kept their promises but both the Americans and 
the Chamorro government broke theirs. As Catholic Cardinal 
Miguel Obando y Bravo said three years later, "All the promises 
made to [the Comandos] were broken. As a result, frustration and 
fear among the campesinos in the countryside is greater than ever, 
and gr~wing."~ Newly elected President Charnorro, herself a direc- 
tor of the Sandinista Front in 1979 and with both children and 
many close relatives among the Sandinistas, chose against all 
expectations to govern not in alliance with those who elected her 
but rather in conjunction with the Sandinistas. As part of an 
acuerdo, or agreement, she made with them, she let the Sandinistas 
continue to command the army without civilian supervision and 
let their intelligence apparatus keep its autonomy, authority, and 
power.4 The army slowly down-sized from its 1990 high of 90,000 
troops to 14,500 in 1996, still 3,500 more than Somoza's Guardia 
Nacional at its wartime peak in 1979.5 Although there was some 
quiet grumbling from the American Embassy in Managua, the U.S. 
government made no serious visible effort to address the problems 
that this created for its erstwhile "allies," although American and 
other foreign economic assistance did pour in to Nicaragua, reach- 
ing a combined total of over $4.5 billion by 1997.6 Most of this 
money was American and appears either to have gone into the 
coffers of the wealthy or powerful or to have been wasted. Six years 
later, Nicaragua still had unemployment rates above 50 percents7 
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Less than a penny of each dollar trickled down to Reagan's former 
"Freedom Fighters."g Privately AID officials in Managua complained 
that they had received clear guidance from AID in Washington to 
favor the Sandinistas while ignoring the former Contras, and they 
could do nothing to redress the imbalance. 

Largely as a consequence of the Chamorro-Sandinista pact, not 
only did prosperity not arrive in the highlands, but armed violence 
continued. By December 1996, CIAV/OAS had documented 1,932 
violent attacks against former Comandos or their families, includ- 
ing 708 homicides. A few of these had been committed by rearmed 
Contras. But according to these international observers, the vast 
majority of the perpetrators of these acts were Sandinista army, 
police, or party activi~ts.~ Those who compiled the data told me they 
had often deliberately erred on the side of caution and included only 
clearly political crimes that they had thoroughly investigated and 
extensively documented. Less "conservative" observers said that 
the real number of homicides against former Comandos or their 
families was closer to three thousand, and the number of violent 
incidents against them closer to five thousand.1° Independent 
Nicaraguan human rights organizations agreed, especially the 
Asociacih Nicaragiiense Pro-Derechos Humanos.ll 

The former Comandos and the highland peasants could do little 
more than try to weather the storm. But they were embittered and 
angry with Charnorro, the Sandinistas, and their own former civil- 
ian Resistance political leadership, which they felt had simply used 
and then abandoned them. Some Comandos, however, had never 
trusted the process and had not laid down their arms, while others 
had retained arms in secret caches, just in case, as had the Sandin- 
istas. When it became clear to them that the government did not 
intend to honor its commitments, several hundred dug up their 
guns and returned to the mountains, becoming what was known 
as Re-Contras. Their move was quickly countered by the Sandin- 
istas, who put some EPS soldiers in civilian disguises and sent 
them into the field to fight the Re-Contras. These thinly disguised 
Sandinista army soldiers became known as Re-Compas.12 In a few 
cases, Re-Contras and previously pro-Sandinista campesinos joined 
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together to create bands known as Revueltos.13 To add to the confu- 
sion further, a few criminals who had been neither Resistance 
Contras nor Sandinistas took advantage of the melee to engage in 
banditry. The result was an ongoing war. (See map 9.) 

A 1995 study by the OAS describes the continuing highland 
conflict that ensued in vivid terms. 

During the last five years [1990-951 there have been more 
than 1,500 armed confrontations, seventeen towns and hun- 
dreds of farms have been besieged, producing a great number 
of victims, considerable economic damage and enormous 
losses in terms of "opportunity costs."14 For an important 
segment of the populace on the agricultural frontier, [official] 
impunity, defenselessness and crirninality engulfed entire 
communities, leaving three in every ten Nicaraguans to live 
in zones of conflict, the vast majority also in conditions of 
extreme poverty.15. . . [In 19951 basic human rights were 
being violated systematically. Some 79 percent of complaints 
received by CIAV/OAS were produced in the Departments 
of Matagalpa, Jinotega, Esteli, Nueva Segovia and Boaco; 
77% of the murders reported took place in the Departments 
of Jinotega, Matagalpa and Chontales.16 

As late as March 1997, well over five hundred Re-Contras 
divided into forty-seven small groups were still active in the high- 
lands. The number of Re-Compas was unknown. When the OAS 
produced the map on which map 9 is based, which showed the 
area at war in 1990-95, the striking geographic correlations were 
apparent between the ancient Nahua/Chibcha divisions, the 
1979-90 Contra War rebellion, and this post-Contra violence.17 

In June 1996, dozens of international observers from organ- 
izations as diverse as the OAS, the Carter Center, the Center for 
Democracy and the International Republican Institute (IN) 
descended on Nicaragua in response to electoral problems in the 
highlands. R a n p g  from a former president of Ecuador to conser- 
vative college student activists, they were responding to allegations 
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that Nicaragua's government had failed to enfranchise the rural 
highlanders to vote in forthcoming October 1996 national elections. 
Almost all the disenfranchised were campesino indios of the twenty- 
six municipios that comprised the heart of Contra country. 

In response to international pressures, the government had 
agreed to reopen voter registration stations in these m~nicipios,'~ 
and the observers had come to watch the process. I went to Managua 
to observe the observers. What they saw showed that these 
concerns were valid.19 In just two weekends, some 325,135 previ- 
ously disenfranchised highlanders registered to vote.20 Almost all 
were campesinos from a population that had not been counted 
during Nicaragua's 1995 census. Almost all were also from the 
same comarcas that had rebelled in 1979. 

The observer groups made carefully measured public state- 
ments. But in private several of them described to me how the 
process had really gone.21 Observer after observer told me off the 
record that they had been taken by Nicaraguan government escorts 
to highland voter registration centers at which no one appeared to 
be registering. Their escorts then launched into speeches asserting 
that the lack of registrants was clear evidence that allegations of 
massive disenfranchisement were false. Their speeches ended 
abruptly when groups of carnpesinos began to appear out of nearby 
woodlands or mountainsides to register. The explanation was that 
in anticipation of the event, although they had received neither 
official notification of the process nor official forms on which to 
register, when they learned the ad hoc registration process was to 
take place, they organized themselves by preparing their own 
registration documents, awaiting the arrival of the observers and 
then presenting themselves to the government's registrars only 
after the international observers appeared. This spontaneous, 
regionwide, and obviously well-organized peasant action was 
called by a former Democratic governor of Nevada, a widely expe- 
rienced Carter Center observer, "the most heartening example of 
grassroots democracy in action" he had ever seen.22 Apart from what 
the peasants' actions suggested in terms of their distrust of the 
government and its intentions, from the perspective of this book, 
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it also was strong evidence that the highlands-wide comarca-to- 
comarca network of the second Nicaragua which had produced 
the Resistance movement's systems of correos, clandestine comarca 
committees, and the Comando army itself, was still functioning 
efficiently in mid-1996. 

The attempted disenfranchisement of the highland peasantry 
was almost certainly not accidental. During the interviews I 
conducted, I asked all participants to define their political party 
preference. What emerged was a universal correlation between 
Comando and Liberal. Not one single FDN Comando identified 
himself or herself as a Conservative. Even with a small and not 
entirely random sampling, a correlation of +1.0 can be considered 
significant, and the highlanders' Liberal political preferences were 
no secret. The leading early contenders for Nicaragua's presidency 
at the time these events took place were Violeta Chamorro's son- 
in-law and de facto prime minister Antonio Lacayo, a Conserva- 
tive, and Daniel Ortega, the former Sandinista president. Both knew 
that neither could win if the highlander peasants voted. The disen- 
franchisement attempt probably began in 1995, when a national 
census by Chamorro's government reported that only 36 percent 
of Nicaragua's population lived in the country's nine highland 
pr0vinces.~3 Subsequent government voter registration programs 
were then based on this number, and even they were indefinitely 
"delayed" in the twenty-six municipios discussed above, known 
Liberal strongholds. 

But 1995 was not 1881, when the patriarchy had successfully 
manipulated census data as part of its attempts to define the Indian 
population of the highlands out of existence. In 1995, education, 
health, and social welfare programs were beginning to reach the 
highlanders, and Nicaragua's Ministries of Education, Health, and 
Social Action apparently knew full well that the official census had 
sharply undercounted the highland population. To administer 
their programs efficiently, these ministries had to know how many 
highlanders there actually were. Further, the official census did 
not meet their programming needs, as it had missed 40 percent of 
this region's population. So they came together and performed a 
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second, secret "administrative" census of their own, which was 
completed in early 1996. Taken on a house-by-house basis, it showed 
that in 1995 the highland population had been undercounted by 
at least 600,000," that 52 percent, not 36 percent, of all Nicaraguans 
live in the region, and that over 70 percent of the highlanders, or 
more than one in three of all Nicaraguans, were rural c m p e ~ i n o s . ~ ~  

In March 1997, this second census was still being kept secret 
from other government agencies that could make good use of it.26 
But major sections, especially those directly related to the twenty- 
six municipios, came into my hands just before the ad hoc regis- 
tration process took place, and I made them available to some of 
the observers, the American Embassy in Managua, the OAS, and 
others as a benchmark against which the success of the ad hoc 
registration process could be measured. When the ad hoc highland 
voter registration of June 1997 added 352,135 new voters to the 
roles, the size of Nicaragua's registered electorate increased by 
almost 15 percent.27 Because the voting age in Nicaragua is fifteen 
years of age, gven the demographics of the country, the number of 
new voters almost precisely equals the number that would be 
found in a population of 600,000, which is the exact difference 
between the 1995 official and 1996 secret censuses. 

The ad hoc regstration process did not entirely end attempts to 
keep the highland carnpesinos from voting in 1996. Confidential 
sources privately warned me and others that in case the attempt 
to disenfranchise the carnpesinos failed, a contingency plan had 
been prepared to provoke Re-Contra/Re-Compa violence just 
before the actual elections and then to have Nicaraguan security 
forces seal off major areas of the highlands. The violence could then 
be used as an excuse for excluding the highlanders from the 
October election even though they had been registered in June.z8 
A column I wrote in the 11 October 1996 Wall Street Journal called 
international attention to this plan and, I am privately told, helped 
forestall its irnplementati~n.~~ The newly enfranchised cmpesino 
vote, 15 percent of the national total, proved decisive to the 1996 
election of Liberal Arnoldo Aleman to the presidency. Although 
several highland departments and market towns split their votes, 
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in the most rural Resistance comarca precincts the Liberal vote 
exceeded 90 percent.30 Including the highlanders in the process 
changed the outcome. 



C H A P T E R  S I X T E E N  

The Dzference Democracy Can Make 

Nicaragua's 1996 election was unhke any other in its hstory. For 
one thing, it was the country's first ever truly open election, free of 
excessive pressures from a powerful central government, whether 
Somocista prior to the 1980s or Sandinista as in 1990.' It also 
marked a fundamental change from exclusionary backroom poli- 
tics dominated by the elite to relatively inclusionary politics involv- 
ing active and meaningful public participation. It was widely 
remarked that for the first time in Nicaraguan history the election 
was also followed by a peaceful transfer of power from one demo- 
cratically elected president to another. Even more remarkably, if 
less remarked, it also involved the transfer of public power from 
the hands of a traditional Conservative aristocrat into those of an 
elected populist Liberal. 

And yet from the perspectives both of this book and of the 
future of Nicaragua, the most remarkable change of all may have 
been the legitimation of the Contras-the Comandos-the Resist- 
ance supporters, and Nicaragua's highland peasants who emerged 
as a potent presence on the national political scene. With no known 
exceptions, those who accompanied newly elected Liberal Presi- 
dent Arnoldo Alemh into power were either Resistance sympa- 
thizers, activists, or former Comandos. 
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Legitimation was bestowed on the Contras not only by the 
Liberals but also, amazingly by the Sandinistas. The process began 
during the 1996 presidential campaign. When it became evident in 
spite of earlier efforts to disenfranchise them and plans to keep 
them from reaching the polls, that the highland peasants would 
vote en masse, Sandinista presidential candidate Daniel Ortega 
tried to woo the highlanders by recruiting the FDN's former chief 
of intelligence, Jose Benito Bravo Centeno, "Mack," to campaign 
at his side. Ortega appeared repeatedly at public rallies with former 
Contra comandante Mack at his side and promised that, if elected, 
he would make Mack his minister of go~ernment.~ Because Mack 
was not only a former sergeant in Somoza's Guardia Nacional but 
also was separated from the FDN for alleged human rights viola- 
tions,3 the image of a former Sandinista president trying to win 
election to the presidency by recruiting him as his new minister of 
government seemed decidedly ironic. But ironic or not, it demon- 
strated how far the Resistance and the former Comandos had trav- 
eled politically since 1990. Ortega's argument that a former Comando 
would make a good minister sent a crystal-clear signal that, even 
to the Sandinistas, the Contras had in fact, never been the unrniti- 
gated pariahs that the wartime rhetoric had said they were. 

Not to be outdone, Liberal presidential candidate Arnoldo 
Alemh, the former mayor of Managua, during a visit to Miami, 
asked Elsa Ilitali vda de Bermiidez, the widow of FDN Com- 
mander Enrique Berrnudez, Cornandante 3-80, to endorse him pub- 
licly and to go to Nicaragua to campaign for hun, especially in the 
highlands and among the poor. After much soul-searching, she did 
so, and appeared at his side at several rallies dressed in the combat 
fatigues of a Contra comandante. Given the popularity of the 
Resistance and of BemTitdez in the highlands, her appearances had 
far more impact than those of Mack, who was actually out of favor 
with his former comrades. Several observers went so far as to say 
that it was Elsa Bermiidez's endorsement in the name of the FDN's 
former commander that assured A l e m ~ s  substantial margins of 
victory in the Resistance cornarcas.* By enlisting her help, Alemh 
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also greatly enhanced the legitimacy of the former Comandos and 
of the Resistance. 

Other developments advanced the legitimation of the Comandos 
and the Resistance as well. A small political party known as the 
Partido de la Resistencia participated in the 1996 elections. It repre- 
sented only a faction of the former Comandos and their support- 
ers, but its presence as a registered political party sent a message. 
Alemh won the presidency by less than a 1 percent majority with 
almost half his votes, more than 400,000, coming from the nine 
highland provinces or equally rebellious regions of the Atlantic 
coast. Of these 400,000 votes, 232,000, much greater than his 
margin over Ortega, were cast in municipios, or counties, that were 
home to the comarcas that had been among the first to rebel in 
1979-80. In municipio after municipio, the carnpesinos voted by 
margins of 4, 5, or even 8 to 1 for Alemh over Ortega. The 
carnpesinos emerged as a major presence in Nicaraguan politics. 

The transformation of the Resistance and the Comandos from 
maligned pariahs into major and legitimate political actors on the 
national scene became most evident when Alemh began to put 
his administration in place. Civilian Resistance wartime support- 
ers, activists, or former Comandos were appointed to dozens of 
senior positions. AlemMs two closest personal collaborators were 
Jaime Morales Carazo and Ren6 Herrera ZiKiga. Morales, AlernMs 
baptismal godfather and best friend, was one of only two civilian 
Resistance activists ever to have actually gone into combat, how- 
ever briefly, with a Comando unit. Alemh made Morales his 
asesor personal, or personal advisor, with cabinet rank, a position 
close to that of prime minister. A wealthy financier, Morales had 
been an anti-Somoza activist and had provided the Sandinista 
front with money to help it overthrow the dynasty. His reward was 
to have Daniel Ortega seize his Managua home. Ortega was still 
living in it in 1997.5 Herrera, a university professor and intellectual 
who had also been a Resistance activist, became the president's 
confidential secretary. Another supporter of the Resistance, Jaime 
Cuadra, became minister of defense. During the war, one of 
Cuadra's rural haciendas, El Gorri6n in Matagalpa, had been a 
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Comando safe haven. The new minister of tourism, Pedro Joaquin 
Chamorro Barrios, son of the martyred editor of Managua's 
major newspaper, La Prensa, and of the previous president Violeta 
Chamorro, had been a civfian Resistance director.6 The minister of 
education was Humberto Belli, another pro-Resistance political 
leader and the author of several works critical of the Sandinista 
Revolution. 

While it did not entirely disappear, violence in the countryside 
against former Resistance campesinos dropped sharply. With the 
Contras legitimized by a national election, a sympathizer as pres- 
ident, and former Comandos in key government positions, the 
security forces and army could no longer count on the "official 
impunity" they had enjoyed during the Chamorro administration, 
and the violence of the 1990-96 Re-Contra, Re-Compa, Revueltos 
silent war slowly came to an end. During my 1997 and 1998 visits 
to the highlands, from Esteli to Matagalpa, I found the changes the 
1996 election had wrought remarkable. Roadblocks had disap- 
peared, construction crews were upgrading the region's main 
roads, schools and public health facilities were being improved, 
and former Contras and Re-Contras were in key positions through- 
out the regon. While problems and tensions remained, the rever- 
sal of the fortunes of the highlanders of the Resistance was nothing 
short of extraordinary. Judging by the impact a single fair election 
had on the region, I could only conclude that, entirely contrary to 
the Black Legend, the Contras had indeed been the legitimate 
representatives of an important societal group: the highlanders. 
And even more. In addition to representing the highlanders, they 
had also represented a major, if not dominant, constituency from 
within one of Nicaragua's two major traditional political parties, 
the Liberals, who had been almost entirely absent from both the 
Sandinista revolutionary and Chamorro administrations. 

Equally striking was the transformation of former FDN Com- 
andantes from outcasts to legitimate political leaders at the national 
level. h 1994, when I conducted initial interviews in preparation 
for this study, many had to be done in secret because the 
Comandos lived in fear for their lives. In March 1997, when I 
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conducted follow-up interviews, several Comandos held high- 
level government positions, and the interviews took place in their 
offices. Two FDN Comandantes whom I randomly selected as oral 
history subjects in 1994 and whom I cited extensively earlier in this 
study, Carlos Garcia, Chino-85, and Jose Filadelfia Rivas, "Jos6," 
were vice ministers. Chino-85 had gone from being a feared former 
enemy of the state to being Vice Minister Carlos Garcia of the 
Ministry of Natural Resources and the Environment, with exten- 
sive professional responsibilities in the highlands and on the 
Atlantic littoral. After having been an outcast working quietly in a 
municipal garage, Jose found himself in an even more sensitive 
position than was Chino-85, becoming Vice Minister Jose Rivas of 
the Ministry of Government, with special responsibilities for the 
highlands and former Resistance areas. A third former Coman- 
dante was vice minister of the Institute for Agrarian Reform 
(INRA),7 and a fourth was director general of the Ministry of Social 
Welfare.8 Another, Maximinimo Rodriguez, "Wilrner," had been 
elected to the National Assembly? and another was a member of 
the Central American Parliament. Literally hundreds of former 
Comandos or Resistance leaders or members of their families were 
in other elected or appointed positions, from deputy director of 
customs to positions in dozens of smaller agencies at the national, 
departmental, and local levels. Others were elected council members 
in almost half of Nicaragua's municipios, including those in which 
their constituencies had been temporarily disenfranchised. Others 
ran unsuccessfully for high office. Three former Comandantes or 
civilian Resistance directors had been small-party candidates either 
for president or vice president. 

Even non-Liberal political leaders, if they had been active 
Resistance participants, benefitted from the association. Adolfo 
Calero, a former civilian Resistance director, was one of very few 
Conservatives elected to the National Assembly. He was also the 
only other Resistance civilian leader besides Jaime Morales to have 
gone into combat, however briefly, with a Comando unit. Asked 
why the Conservative Party had all but disappeared, Calero 
commented that former President Chamorro's 1990 deal with the 
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Sandinista Front was so unpopular that it had made it impossible 
for the Conservatives, until then Nicaragua's second major politi- 
cal party, even to field a viable presidential candidate. He ascribed 
his own ability to survive in large part to having allied himself 
early on with the armed Resistance movement.1° 

Colonel Berrniidez's widow, Elsa, his family, and those closest 
to him were not forgotten. The ink had hardly dried on the coun- 
try's ballots when Alemh personally telephoned to offer diplo- 
matic appointments. Elsa Bermiidez had just become a naturalized 
citizen of the United States, and the State Department would not 
accredit her as consul general in Miami, one of Nicaragua's key 
diplomatic posts, so as an alternative Alemh appointed her ambas- 
sador to the Dominican Republic. She was also under considera- 
tion for appointment as official ombudsman for the former 
Comandos. Berrniidez's son Enrique, Jr., who had not become an 
American citizen, was made a consul in Miami. Harry Bodan, 
Berrniidez's personal lawyer and a former deputy foreign minister, 
became ambassador to Japan. Two other key Resistance activists, 
Bosco Matamoros and Domingo Salinas, became ambassadors to 
The Netherlands and Colombia, respectively. 

In addition to offering political and diplomatic appointments, 
the Alemh government initiated plans that would reward the 
highlanders for their electoral support. These included extending 
public services much more vigorously into the highland cornarcas, 
especially education, health, social services, and agricultural exten- 
sion programs. Discussion was also under way about how to 
reverse Nicaragua's tradition of top-down development efforts in 
favor of peasant-based micro-enterprise programs intended to help 
small farmers at the grass roots. This approach would especially 
benefit the highland campesinos, who had the most to gain from 
agricultural minifinancing programs and local level agricultural 
extension technology transfers. In addition, the Ministry of Agri- 
culture was working to reestablish the marketing links between 
peasant producers and the national market. The destruction of 
these links had been a major objective of Sandinista revolution- 
ary efforts to "descampesinizar" and then "proletarianizar" the 
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highlands. Former Comandos and others with close contacts with 
the peasant community were recruited to serve as the govem- 
ment's liaisons to its newly discovered major peasant constituency. 
One possible channel to be favored was the Asociaci6n Civica 
Resistencia Nicaragiense (ACRN), the only existing efficient link 
to the highlands peasantry that had not been politicized during the 
1996 elections. 

President Alemh himself was clear in his recognition of the 
peasantry as a major part of his Liberal constituency. During my 
interview with him in March 1997, he made it plain that while 
the highland rebels had not been a formal part of his campaign 
entourage, without them and their sympathizers his candidacy 
would probably not have prospered.11 Particularly concerned with 
Nicaragua's exceedingly high unemployment rates and unfavor- 
able balance of payments, he also recognized the peasants as 
potential producers who, if given a sense of security and minimal 
assistance, could feed Nicaragua and produce a major quantity of 
agricultural exports while simultaneously employing tens if not 
hundreds of thousands of people. In short, the highland carnpesinos 
of the Resistance were not only crucial to Alemiin's 1996 electoral 
victory. They had emerged from their faceless past to become 
major players on the Nicaraguan political scene and potential 
determiners of its future. 



C H A P T E R  SEVENTEEN 

RESISTANCE AND SURVIVAL 

Genio y cultura hasta la sepultura 
(Personality and identity,jiom the womb to the tomb) 

-PEASANT PROVERB 

As we have seen, examination of the historical, geographic, and 
social context within which the highlander Resistance war was 
fought provides ample perspective on the divisions that led to the 
conflict. But even divisions as deep as these do not inevitably lead 
to war. This leads to the intriguing question of whether the high- 
lander Resistance movement was unique or if there were other 
comparable cases of peasant-Marxist conflicts. And what internal 
processes triggered the highland war? Political psychology offers 
the best set of tools for understanding how a Marxist revolution 
can trigger an extremely violent peasant reaction, and two histor- 
ical examples seem especially useful as comparative cases: the 
Marxist-kulak peasant clash that led to efforts to "de-kulakize" (in 
Spanish, descampesinizar) the Soviet Union and the 1959-65 Escam- 
bray peasant rebellion against the Cuban Revolution. Because it 
has been studied intensively, the Russian case, discussed later in 
this chapter, produces the more fruitful theoretical insights. The 
Escambray case is more productive in terms of pertinent parallels. 
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When they are compared, it seems the Escambray rebellion, 
which took place in the Sierra Escambray mountains of western 
Cuba, was a rehearsal for Nicaragua's highlander peasant rebel- 
lion. It has been described in some detail by a participant, Dariel 
AlarcBn, "Benigno," who first secretly followed its development 
for Cuban Intelligence and then infiltrated its top ranks on Castro's 
behalf to become in 1964 the movement's chief of logistics. Benigno 
was a peasant guerrilla of Castro's Sierra Maestra campaign, was 
later with Ch6 Guevara in Africa, and is one of only a handful of 
survivors of Guevara's &fated Bolivia campaign. Guevara mentions 
him more than forty times in his personal diary on his Bolivia 
campaign.l Benigno recounts the story of the Escambray rebellion 
in a recent book edited and translated by Elizabeth Burgos, the 
wife of French revolutionary Regis Debray whose involvement 
gives it a seal of special authenti~ity.~ He describes the Escambray 
rebellion as beginning in 1959, immediately after Castro took 
power, and as being led by former anti-Batista peasant guerrillas 
of Castro's rebel army who were deeply disillusioned when Castro 
suddenly veered sharply to the left once he took power. The army 
was made up of independent mountain peasants angered by efforts 
to collectivize their farms, new state control over the sales and 
purchases of previously free-flowing goods, demands they join 
new "popular" mass organizations, attacks on the Catholic Church, 
and the arrival in their midst of urban literacy brigadistas demand- 
ing they learn Marxism. Each of these complaints was made almost 
verbatim twenty years later by Nicaragua's highlander peasants 
against the Sandinistas. By 1962, three years after the Escambray 
rebellion had started, several thousand peasants under arms had 
joined the movement, and the rebels were receiving arms and 
materials from the United States. These developments also paral- 
lel Nicaraguan experience. 

Declassified U.S. government documents confirm Benigno's 
story. By 1960-61 "a limited air capability for resupply and for mfil- 
tration and exfiltration [from the Escambray] already existied1 
under CIA contr01."~ Other declassified documents confirm that 
the CIA considered "the Sierra Escambray and Sierra Maestra the 
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only areas of Cuba with terrain of sufficient extent and ruggedness 
for guerrilla operations" and that originally the Bay of Pigs force 
was intended to land near the Escambray rebels and link up with 
them.4 After walking much of the terrain during 1999 visits both 
to the Bay of Pigs [Playa Jirbn] and the Sierra Escambray I am 
convinced that the Bay of Pigs is a terrible site for an amphibious 
landing and that moving the landing there from its originally 
planned site near the Escambray is what sealed the fate of the 
Escambray rebellion, even though it took Cuba until 1965 to stamp 
it out completely. By 1999 all that remained of the Escambray rebel- 
lion was pueblos cautivos, captive towns, inhabited by peasant former 
supporters of the Escambray rebellion who had been forcibly 
removed from their farms to urban centers and whose movements 
even thirty-four years later were still tightly controlled by the 
Cuban government. 

It is impossible to h o w  whether the Cuban Revolution would 
have gone the way of the Sandinista Revolution had the U.S.- 
backed invasion succeeded, largely because the two rebellions are 
not exact parallels. The Cold War was at its height in 1963; by 1979 
it was winding down. Cuba is an island; Nicaragua has extensive 
land frontiers with worried neighbors possessing their own armies. 
The Escambray peasantry is small; the highlanders m half of Nica- 
ragua's population. There is no millennia-old ethnic conflict in 
the Escambray. But one similarity between the two-Castro's 
Escambray rebellion and Nicaragua's highlander Resistance move- 
ment-stands out above all the others. Each was the consequence 
of irreconcilable differences between independent peasants who 
own the means of production and dispose of its surplus, making 
them by Marxist definition bourgeois enemies of any Marxist revo- 
lution and of revolutionaries bent on creating an all-proletarian 
society. (Russia's kulak program also falls into this category.) 

There is also another important difference between the Escam- 
bray and Nicaraguan highlander rebellions. In both Cuba and 
Nicaragua the revolutionaries expected counterrevolutions. But in 
Nicaragua the central mountain peasants were doubly dangerous 
because they were not just micro-bourgeoisie class enemies of 
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revolution, they were also ethnically distinctive. As their pre- 
victory 1979 arms sweeps in the highlands but not elsewhere 
demonstrate, the Sandinistas had expected the highlander peas- 
ants to try to rebel and had planned for this eventuality. What they 
had not planned for was a war fought by an entire people who 
were historically primed to resist domination by any Pacific 
lowlanders, whether colonial, patriarchal, or Marxist. It was the 
ethno-historical dimension of the highlanders' rebellion that made 
its virulence far deeper than the Sandinistas ever expected and that 
led to the failure of their Revolution. 

An examination of the process that led to the highlander rebel- 
lion yields particularly useful insights into how peasants such as 
the highland Indians react to the challenges of a revolution. As we 
have seen, the highlanders have certain defining characteristics. 
Ethnically although they have no recognized tribal identity, they 
nonetheless identify themselves as indio and explicitly differenti- 
ate themselves from Nicaragua's dominant "espaftoles." They are 
inward-looking, have a centuries-old lustory of organizing to resist 
outsiders, and are geographically enclosed against outsiders, espe- 
cially from Nicaragua's Pacific coast lowlands. They have strong 
family structures that extend from nuclear family parent-sibling 
cores to distant cousins of the same clan, reinforced by overlapping 
networks of godparenting and comarca neighbor/peer relation- 
ships. Webs of loyalties based on mutual interests and inter- 
dependencies exist within this structure: distrust radiates outward 
from it. 

The highlanders are microbourgeoisie, but they are at the bottom 
of Nicaragua's pecking order. In economic terms they live marpa l  
lives largely outside the country's money economy. Land is the key 
to their survival and independence. They place a high value on 
personal freedom. Religion is an important social cement. Politi- 
cally they are supporters of the traditional Liberal Party but liber- 
tarian in ideology. They distrust government, although they are 
prepared to selectively accept its services. Largely preliterate, their 
world views come less from schools, books, radios, or television 
than from peers, priests, elders, and personal experiences. These 
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characteristics suggest how they might respond to such challenges 
as those generated by the Sandinista's revolutionary policies. 

My content analysis of the oral histories of former Comandos 
found 261 specific mentions of reasons why the campesinos 
rebelled. I divided these into three categories: political, physical, 
and economic. 

Political 

One hundred fourteen (44 percent) of the 261 mentions were 
political. Most often cited was a feeling of having been deliberately 
deceived by the Sandinistas as to their true political intentions, 
both during and immediately after the anti-Somoza war. This feel- 
ing of deception, along with coercive pressure to join new 
Sandinista organizations, generated a great deal of anger among 
the campesinos. The other causes that they mentioned repeatedly 
were the loss of personal freedoms, especially freedom of speech, 
and the Revolution's assault on the family and the church. 

Physical 

Physical abuse by Sandinista authorities, even in the earliest days 
of the Revolution, was the second-most frequently cited category of 
motives for joining the rebellion (eighty-seven mentions, or 33 per- 
cent). Assaults, beatings and torture, killings, and arrests and deten- 
tions without due process were most often mentioned, in that order. 

Economic 

Economic causes came third (sixty-one mentions, or 23%). Most 
often given as reasons were forcible seizures or the outright theft 
of crops and food supplies, farm animals, personal items, or indi- 
vidual property by Sandinista military or State Security personnel. 
Another factor of almost equal importance was agricultural poli- 
cies that forced the highlanders to sell products at low prices to the 
government and then buy necessities at high prices. They saw 
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these policies as, in essence, a "highly regressive tax," almost a 
form of tribute, that was rapidly transferring wealth from them to 
Nicaragua's less needy Pacific region and especially to its cities. 

Those interviewed also frequently mentioned two other causes. 
One was the Sandinistas' assignment to the Segovias of thousands 
of Pacific "outsiders," who were appointed as the region's new 
leadership and security forces. The attitudes of these intruders 
generated severe ethnic tensions. The other was the series of 1979 
and 1980 house-to-house arms sweeps staged by the Sandinistas, 
which the highlanders interpreted as evidence they had been 
singled out as a target. When juxtaposed with the above descrip- 
tion of the highlanders and the causes they gave for rebelling, the 
Sandinistas' decision to try to "descampesinizar" and then "prole- 
tarianizar" the highland peasant masses-transform them from 
independent micro-bourgeois farmers into proletarian rural labor- 
ers-can be seen as a direct challenge to their basic drives and 
values and, in particular, a threat to their ability to meet "the basic 
human needs to sustain life itself, food, clothing, shelter."5 When 
a group is threatened at this level and denied the option of flight, 
fighting is the only remaining option. According to Daly and 
Wilson, and D~rharn,~ a threatened group will respond just as an 
individual will: fight or flee. 

In this light, the Nicaraguan highlander rebellion was a classic 
violent group reaction. The highlanders' pre-Columbian Chibchan 
Indian languages might have been supplanted by regionally 
accented Spanish, but the other key attributes of an ethnic group 
remained: geographic concentration, a shared history, common 
cultural traits and above all, common self-identification as indios? 
From the Sandinista perspective, the Revolution was a conscious 
exercise in cultural restructuring and nation-building that chal- 
lenged this group's ability to survive. From the highlanders' 
perspective, it was an exercise in forced assimilation to an alien 
ideological/cultural model. The result was a conflict analogous 
to the ethnic, or nationalities issue in the former Soviet Union. 

The highlander rebellion can also be seen from a second angle. 
In addition to being a nationalities issue, it also manifested a 
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second disabling anomaly that had been seen in the former Soviet 
Union-Marxist inability to deal with an independent peasantry. 
Many observers have described the process by which a Marxist 
revolution creates specific threats to the survival and fitness of a 
group such as the highlanders when it embarks on policies intended 
to "revolutionize" family and community structures, land owner- 
ship and labor patterns, and belief systems. As Stephen Ryan puts 
it, "forced assimilation, sometimes termed cultural genocide or 
ethnocide or cultural colonialism, involves an attempt by a domi- 
nant ethnic group to destroy the culture of certain other ethnic 
groups and to force them to adopt the dominant culture. . . . One 
aspect of such assimilationist policies is that, in a very real sense, 
subordinate ethnic groups find that it is illegal for them to be 
'themselves."'s In sum, a revolutionary project that requires the 
destruction of pre-existing ethnic patterns by definition challenges 
the survival of the group it intends to transform. 

In Nicaragua, the dominant group after 1979 was the urban 
"Spanish" Europeanate vanguard of the Sandinista Party. The 
groups to be transformed were ethnically distinct, mountain indio 
highlanders, Miskito, Sumu and Rarna Indian tribespeople, south 
Atlantic carnpesinos and, to an extent, Black Creoles. These are 
precisely the groups that rebelled. 

As the dominant group, the Sandinistas enjoyed a monopoly on 
the legitimate use of violence. The project they chose to pursue was 
alien to the traditional cultures of most of Nicaragua's people, 
creating all the conditions precedent to violent rebellion. Deutsch 
and Shichman describe the process in theoretical terms: 

The hkelihood that a conflict will take a constructive or a des- 
tructive course depends on the nature of the issue: its size, its 
rigidity, its centrality, its relationship to other issues, and the 
level of consciousness of the issue. . . . The size of a conflict is 
increased if it is perceived in win-lose terms, involves prin- 
ciples and rights, will establish important precedents, involves 
discordant views, and is ill-defined. . . . [Most especially] 
when the parties perceive no alternative or substitutes for 
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their expected outcomes or for their methods of achieving 
them, the conflict becomes rigidly defined.9 

Little doubt exists that the Revolution's challenge was massive, 
rigid, central to events, related to other issues, and uppermost in 
the consciousness of Nicaragua's body politic. Equally certain is 
that it presented the highlanders with a win-lose situation, involved 
principles and rights, attempted to establish important precedents, 
and involved discordant views. By such measurements, both the 
Revolution and the Resistance were well defined indeed. By this 
definition, war became inevitable when the Sandinistas initiated a 
proactive and intrusive revolutionary process. 

Radical revolutionaries and dogmatic reformers are thus caught 
in a double bind. When they seek to make radical changes, the very 
radicalism of what they seek to accomplish becomes the major 
generator of dissonances that can cause them to fail. Further, the 
only tools available to them, especially at the national level, are 
precisely those least likely to lead to success. By substituting coer- 
cion for persuasion, "reformers" may be able to create a mask that 
presents an illusion of apparent success. This is often done with 
such skill that even a movement's propagandists and its leaders 
begin to believe their own propaganda, which puts their entire 
enterprise even more in jeopardy. When they employ the power of 
the state to manipulate information, in other words, engage in 
propaganda, they create, in postrnodern language, a dominant 
hegemonic discourse. In doing so they may convince others and 
even themselves that they are succeeding. The Sandinistas appear 
to have done just that, or in 1990 they would have never submit- 
ted their revolution to a popular plebiscite. But as suggested by the 
collapse of the former Soviet Union, ethnic warfare from Ireland 
to the former Yugoslavia, and ethnic, racial, and societal tensions 
almost everywhere, coercion, short of genocide, cannot change 
fundamental cultural identities, nor can rhetoric permanently sub- 
stitute for reality. "Genio y cultura hasta la sepultura." 

Although this argument strongly suggests that truly radical 
revolutions can never succeed in the long run, non-dogmatic 



RESISTANCE AND SURWAL 197 

reformers need not despair. To succeed, however, they must be 
flexible and willing to compromise, two qualities that true radicals 
notoriously lack. Reform "projects" must be adapted to the sur- 
vival imperatives of the individuals and groups at which they are 
directed, not the other way around. To succeed, they must also first 
and foremost respect the person and the culture of those they seek 
to change. When reformers ignore this rule, they cause their own 
causes to fail, often only after a great deal of avoidable suffering, 
destruction, and violence. Unfortunately, neither flexibility nor 
tolerance are in great supply among committed reformers, much 
less among radical revolutionaries. 

REVOLUTION AND RESPONSE 

Applying this schema to Nicaragua's Contra War proves inter- 
esting. Jn the words of a top Sandinista agrarian reformer of the 
revolutionary period, Luis Serra, "The policies of the Sandinista 
government, and especially the actual or threatened nationaliza- 
tion of land were seen by the lower classes as frustrating their 
efforts to survive and as attacks on both their social structure and 
their culture."10 Serra is speaking specifically of Nicaragua's 
carnpesino highlanders. 

A keen observer of the Soviet case, Teresa Rakowska- 
Harmstone, writing on Lenin's policies in the revolutionary Soviet 
Union, says of Soviet Marxist policies that they: 

carried within them the seeds of their own destruction. . . . 
The initial costs of collectivization were staggering, especially 
for the peasant and nomad populations of the non-Russian 
areas where resistance was strongest. . . . The fires of ethnic 
hatred were fanned by the arrival in the countryside of work- 
ers' detachments from urban and industrial centers, most of 
them Russians, who came to help in the de-kulakization [in 
Spanish, descampezinizar, precisely the word the Sandinistas 
used to describe their own program] and the establishment of 
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rural cooperatives . . . centrally determined criteria resulted 
in a division of labor and regional specialization, which led 
to the repetition of the old colonial pattern of exploitation of 
the periphery by the center.ll 

The Sandinistas clearly committed all these Soviet errors and went 
them one better. In a historic sense, theirs was but the most recent 
of a millennia-long series of efforts by the various Pacific coast 
elites to conquer and subordinate the indios of the highlands, and 
the objectives pursued and methodology employed were eerily 
reminiscent of earlier attempts: instill a new ideology, establish 
dominance from the center, change land ownership pattern, control 
indio labor, collect tribute. Those they sent to create this new 
Nicaragua were also outsiders. To paraphrase Rakowska-Hmtone, 
the fires of latent ethnic hatreds were fanned by the arrival in the 
countryside of detachments of urban Spanish and Pacific coastal 
cadre sent to impose the Revolution's will. 

For many if not most Sandinista leaders, the highlanders' reac- 
tion appears to have come as a surprise. Most apparently believed 
not only Marxism but also what Gould had called the "myth of the 
mestiza" and did not think of Nicaragua in terns of ethnicity. But 
the highlanders did think of themselves in such terms, and for 
them the Revolution did not promise a new and better future but 
rather the destruction of their identity. To them, the Sandinistas 
were new conquistadores, and survival was at stake. The intensity 
and duration of the war of resistance that followed were the result 
of massive flows of external arms and other resources to both sides, 
but its roots were centuries deep. 



C H A P T E R  EIGHTEEN 

The questions initially posed in this book seemed simple and 
straightforward: Who and what were the Contras, and where, 
when, and why did their war begin? The answers uncovered were 
indeed straightforward. But they were also unexpected. 

Who? The "Contras" turned out to have been just poor dirt- 
fanning "hillbillies" from Nicaragua's version of Appalachia. Their 
combat leaders were mostly anti-Somoza Sandinistas, not former 
Guardia, and they were created and sustained in the field for 
eleven years not by the CIA, but by highland peasants from a 
marginalized indio people with a thousand-year history of resist- 
ing attempts to subdue, dominate, and convert them to new 
masters or new ways of life. These faceless people are the largest 
definable ethnohistorical group in Nicaragua, a reality masked 
during recent Nicaraguan history by dominant elite discourse and 
during the MILPAS and Contra wars by wartime rhetoric. The real- 
ity was revealed in 1996, when the highland indio peasantry 
emerged as the largest voting bloc in the country. The most pro- 
found result of the Sandinista Revolution and Contra War appears 
to have been the conversion of this once marginal people into a 
major force on the national political scene. 

When? According to Comando participants and witnesses, the 
conflict first took root in May 1979, inside the Sandinista camp 
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within a highland guerrilla peasant battalion, the People's Anti- 
Somoza Militia, or MILPA. By August 1979, these rebelling former 
anti-Somoza Milpistas had joined with Segovian highland peasant 
comarcas to create a resistance movement, complete with an armed 
wing called the People's Anti- Sandinista Mihtia, or MILPAS, which 
became the largest armed opposition to the Sandinista Revolution. 
Initially concentrated in two river valleys, the Coco and Bocay, it 
soon spread throughout the mountains. 

For the first three years, the MILPAS war inside Nicaragua was 
fought by independent peasants. But by late 1981, they were 
stretching local resources to the limit and feeling the pressure of 
increasingly large and sophisticated Sandinista military and secu- 
rity forces. Concurrently, a set of exile paramilitary organizations 
had been organized and, unhke the Milpistas, had begun to receive 
some covert foreign government support. The largest, the Guardia- 
dominated Legidn 15 de Septiembre, was offered help by the CIA 
through Argentine intermediaries starting in late 1979. But this 
help appears to have been somewhat limited, and these exile orga- 
nizations did not engage in sustained combat operations inside 
Nicaragua. Large-scale American help, which began to appear in 
late 1981, a year after Ronald Reagan became president, trans- 
formed the MILPAS War into a Guardia-MILPAS alliance effort 
that came to be known as the Contra War, after Reagan authorized 
a major increase in paramilitary support for the successor to the 
Legi6n 15 de Septiembre, the FDN. As soon as the FDN received 
the promise of more arms, the Guardia began recruiting MILPAS 
to join them in an alliance. The result was a hybrid army, heavily 
Guardia at the general staff and special-unit levels, mixed but 
heavily MILPAS at the combat unit commander level, and almost 
purely highland peasant at the trooper level. 

This suggests a set of time lines for the Contra War: (a) a 1977 to 
May 1979 prelude, during which a Sandinista united front, with 
minimal peasant participation but extensive foreign help, over- 
threw the last Somoza; @) a May 1979 to mid-1982 MILPAS War 
that began before the fall of Somoza when Milpista guerrillas of 
the Sandinista's Carlos Fonseca Front began to rebel; (c) a 1982-88 
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Contra War fought by a MILPAS/Guardia aUiance brought together 
by American promises of large-scale aid; (d) a 1988-90 return by 
the Resistance to its MILPAS roots; (e) a 199G96 continuing conflict 
in the highlands; and (f) the 1996 emergence of the Resistance, with 
the highland peasantry and Comandos as major political players 
on the Nicaraguan national scene. 

Where? The geography and history of the highlander Resistance 
movement and its Comando army demonstrate that it was regional 
in o r i p  and centered in historically resistant Chibchan-mestizo 
indio rural areas. The war was fought almost exclusively in the 
Segovian highlands before spreading southward through the rest 
of the highlands. 

Why? For the highland peasants the alternatives we= both stark 
and simple: flight or fight. To flee meant to lose the remainder of 
their millennia-old identities, their independence, their freedoms, 
their farms, and their traditions. Faced with a revolutionary on- 
slaught of political ideology and armed coercion, they chose 
instead to fight. 

T H E  BLACK LEGEND: IMAGE OVER REALITY 

One real puzzle is how the image of the Contras could have devi- 
ated so far from reality. The MILPAS and Contra Wars were clearly 
highland peasant phenomena. But their public image was almost 
entirely a product of an externally generated and highly negative 
discourse. How did this work? The wartime example of a Spanish 
Roman Catholic Bishop, Pedro Casalddiga, may suggest an expla- 
nation. It is a classic case of words over evidence. 

In 1986, Casaldgliga took a Sandinista-organized Potemkin 
village-style tour of the Segovian highlands and then provided the 
narrative for a book that told what he had "learned." One of his 
points was that "there is no civil war in Nicaragua. To say or think 
such a thing would reflect a stupidity or a perverse complicity, . . . 
the reality of death and destruction taking place in Nicaragua is a 
result of the war of aggression that the government of the United 
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States has declared." Casaldiiliga also ''learned'' that the Contras 
were all, without exception, former Somoza Guardia mercenaries 
hired by the CIA, and "real madmen . . . always inhuman and 
besides they are usually on drugs." He did hear some peasant 
complaints but rejected these out of hand by reminding himself 
"how hard it is for a revolution to be accepted by all the people." 
When a Catholic lay preacher tried to tell him that the peasants were 
suffering at the hands of the Sandinistas, the bishop condemned the 
preacher, not the Sandinistas, as a man "heavily under reactionary 
influence [and who] obviously does not have an overall view of poli- 
tics, of society, of what Nicaragua used to be." Based on his short 
visit, the bishop felt fully qualified to reach definitive conclusions. 
"The Fighland] peasants experience the Sandinista revolution as if 
it were their own. And . . . experience the Contras-those 'chatnpi- 
ons of freedom' that Reagan canonized and maintains-as a daily 
threat, a mystery of iniquity that had no ju~tification."~ 

CasaldAliga had uncritically memorized the Black Legend of the 
Contras, which had become the dominant external hegemonic 
discourse on the subject, but he was not the only one to be misled. 
Even Reagan's State Department and CIA point men largely sub- 
scribed to the idea. Had either Reagan or Casalddiga heard Abuelito 
say that they were actually "just a whole bunch of really pissed off 
peasants," neither would have believed him. For them, image was 
reality-a reality that they could not believe. 

In reality it was the Sandinistas, not the Contras, who never had 
much peasant support, even against Somoza. According to a study 
dedicated precisely to this question, during the war against Somoza, 
peasants had made up only 4.5 percent of the Sandinistas' combat- 
ants, and most of these were Pacific coast rural farm proletarians, 
not highlanders. Over 95 percent of the Sandinistas were urban 
students, workers, tradesmen, or mid-level technicians* In contrast, 
the only large group of highland peasant guerrillas to fight along- 
side the Sandinistas against Somoza had been the MILPA, and this 
organization's members had become sufficiently alienated by May 
1979 to begin taking up arms against the Sandinistas even before 
Somoza fell. 
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From the highland peasants' perspective as reflected by the 
Comandos I interviewed, the 1979-90 Revolution was the prob- 
lem, not the solution. It impoverished them, threatened their land 
and their freedom, and sought to convert them from independent 
microbourgeois into dependent proletarian laborers on state farms. 
It was a Pacific coast urban-centered and urban-led assault that put 
their lives and well-being in jeopardy, attacked their way of life, 
endangered their families, and threatened their survival. 

The highland peasants may have been poor and unschooled, 
but they were comfortable with their own traditions and way of 
life and libertarian in their attitudes, all stances that were anath- 
ema to the revolutionary Sandinistas. The highlanders' struggle 
became a war of resistance led mostly by former anti-Somoza 
Sandinista Milpistas, not former Guardia, and fought by peasants. 
By the time the first Guardia-led Contra units entered into combat 
in 1982, they had been at war for almost three years. The Guardia 
then became the public face of the movement. But, from beginning 
to end, the real Contra army was Milpista and peasant. 

GEOGRAPHY, HISTORY, SOCIETY 

My review of the history and geography of the highlands turned 
up previously unnoted phenomena that explains why the main 
Contra War happened where it did. First, the geography of the 
Resistance movement coincides with the pre-Columbian home- 
land of Chibchan Indians of South American origin. Second, the 
comarcas that rebelled coincide with places where Indian-Spanish 
battles had occurred from 1526 to as recently as 1923. The Contra 
War can thus be viewed as simply a modem manifestation of a 
centuries-old pattern of resistance with deep if latent ethnic roots. 

This interpretation certainty fits the actual evidence much more 
convincingly than does the Black Legend version of what hap- 
pened between 1979 and 1990. Put simply, the Sandinistas trig- 
gered an ethnic war. By employing Pacific coast urban students 
and outsider ideologues who were openly ethnocentric, intolerant, 
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and unwilling to treat the peasants with respect, they made irnpos- 
sible what would already have been extremely difficult. The conse- 
quences were fatal for the Revolution. 

H O W  T O  DESTROY YOUR O W N  REVOLUTION 

The Contra War was caused by the Sandinistas themselves. The 
consequence was what Plutarco Hemkdez labels "history's short- 
est revolution," because the conflict kept the Sandinistas from 
consolidating and led to the Revolution's failure. This changed the 
course of Nicaraguan history. Since the Spanish Conquest, the 
highlanders had lost much of their separate identity, in particular 
their native languages. This, combined with the "myth of mesti- 
zaje," had, in turn, masked their group cohesiveness. But the 
events of the Sandinista Revolution, the 1979-90 MILPAS and 
"Contra" wars, and the 1990-96 period of post-Revolution conflict 
appear to have reversed this process of deracination. Of all the 
events in Nicaragua of the past two decades, the most important 
may well turn out to have been the re-emergence under external 
pressure of the highlanders' "indio" identity, which has trans- 
formed both their self-image and their role in Nicaraguan society. 

When their resistance movement began, Nicaragua's highland 
peasants were faceless, marginalized, and traditionally acted upon 
by Nicaragua's elites and vanguards but not themselves actors, 
often objects, but never subjects. By the end of the war, they had 
become something quite different, in many ways a still unamal- 
garnated people, but with a shared common recent history, a new 
sense of self, and an awakened political consciousness. Although 
this was not immediately clear after the 1979-90 war, it became 
quite apparent in 1996, when, in a reasonably free democratic elec- 
tion, their ballots counted and they emerged as Nicaragua's largest 
voting bloc when Liberal presidential candidate Alemh was 
buoyed to victory on a tide of highland peasant votes. In the new 
Nicaraguan world of one-man-one-vote, the highlanders appear 
to have been transformed into a potentially decisive political group. 
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Far from being just Reagan's ragtag few, the Contra Comandos and 
the Resistance movement that produced them turned out to repre- 
sent a people who will be of great importance to the future of a 
democratic Nicaragua. 

QUESTIONS THAT LINGER 

Yet even as answers to who, what, when, where, and why emerge, 
more questions arise. One important one is why, unlike Pacific 
Nicaragua or its Atlantic Indian littoral, the Central Nicaraguan 
mountains and their indio inhabitants constitute an academic black 
hole. With only rare exceptions, no anthropologcal, sociological, 
historical, political, or even economic studies of the region have 
been done, even though its population constitutes approximately 
52 percent of the entire population of Nicaragua. Why have both 
Nicaraguan and foreign academics and scholars all but ignored a 
people who comprise most of Nicaragua's population? The tenta- 
tive answer seems to be that nineteenth-century efforts by Nica- 
ragua's traditional oligarchy to define the country's Indians out of 
existence by inventing a dominant hegemonic discourse of exclu- 
sion have succeeded. This issue merits renewed attention. 

A second important question is just what the real objectives 
were of the United States in Nicaragua between 1977 and 1990. The 
evidence is overwhelming that the United States knowingly 
looked the other way while Castro shipped thousands of tons of 
arms in a massive airlift directly from Cuba to the Sandinista Front 
in 1978 and 1979. Costa Rican investigative files documenting this 
airlift and confirm that the United States knew of it seem irre- 
futable, as does the evidence of former Costa Rican minister Johnny 
Echeverria, who directed the flow. In fact, Echeverria went even 
further, both in a sworn statement to the Costa Rican legislature in 
1980 and during a videotaped interview with the author, by assert- 
ing that not only had the Carter administration known about the 
airlift, it had encouraged it and, toward the end, even shipped 
the Sandinistas additional arms itself. This too was confirmed 
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separately by numerous former Sandhista, Costa Rican, and other 
officials3 

Yet an enormous amount of evidence, everything short of a 
smoking gun, shows that just a few months later the Carter admin- 
istration had reversed its position completely and that the CIA had 
initiated clandestine contact with exiled former Guardia for the 
purpose of helping their paramilitary efforts against the Sandin- 
istas. The idea that, and completely contrary to the published 
history of events, it was Carter rather than Reagan who first 
involved the United States in a covert program to provide para- 
military help to the Contras seemed at first startling and incredible 
to me. But as participant after participant and observer after 
observer repeated the story in different countries at different times 
and in response to different questions, it developed for me over- 
whelming credibility. Might it have been that in 1977-79 the United 
States was actually making common cause with Nicaragua's tradi- 
tional oligarchy in efforts to use the Sandinista guerrillas to rid 
themselves of the third Somoza but that the process got out of hand 
after Somoza fell? This line of inquiry, which also lies well beyond 
the scope of this book, most assuredly merits additional consider- 
ation, since the political implications are considerable. 

Several other lines of inquiry suggested by my research but 
beyond the scope of this book concern the relationship between 
Nicaragua's traditional Conservative aristocracy and the Sandin- 
istas; the role, or lack thereof, of Nicaragua's Liberals in either the 
war against Somoza or the Sandinista Revolution, and the real rela- 
tionship between the first two Somozas and Nicaragua's elite. 
Clearly, all three Somozas were strongmen. But the extent to which 
they had symbiotic relationships with the country's traditional 
oligarchy merits further investigation, as does the reason why, in 
1976, the Conservative faction of the elite suddenly turned against 
the third Somoza and made common cause with their radical 
cousins in the Sandinista guerrilla movement. Harry Strachan's 
study of Nicaragua's major family groups seems to suggest that 
the reason may have been linked less to stolen relief funds after 
Managua's disastrous 1974 earthquake, the standard explanation, 
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than to Somoza family group economic competition with the two 
traditional dominate family groups-a process that created a third 
major bank to compete with the Pella's Bank of America and the 
Montealegre's Wells F a r g ~ . ~  Other explanations may exist, but the 
topic merits rethinlung. 

Because the highland war did not stop in 1990 but continued at 
least through 1996, a third set of questions arises. Why, despite the 
1990 defeat at the polls of the Sandinistas, did Conservative Violeta 
Charnorro decide to abandon those who elected her in favor of 
cogoverning with the Sandinistas? One plausible explanation, 
which also fits within Strachan's family group thesis, may be that 
the Sandinistas and Conservatives are really just two cliques of 
Nicaragua's traditional oligarchy. Neither clique really welcomes 
the competition for power and spoils inherent in the selection of 
governments by the people in one-person-one-vote elections. 

T H E  CONTRA WAR'S AFTERSHOCKS 

Since 1990, dozens of observers, from Sandinista comandantes to 
Marxist ideologues to Liberals, have begun to suggest that the 
Sandinista Revolution was less a popular consensus movement 
than a manifestation of the sort of intraelite rivalries for power, 
prestige, and fortune that have been the bane of Nicaragua since 
the sixteenth ~entury.~ If true, then it was, as Marxist dialectician 
Carlos Vilas has since said, less a revolution than a changing of the 
palace guard.6 

This, in turn, makes an alternative interpretation of recent 
Nicaraguan history possible, one based on the nature and conse- 
quences of the MILPAS and the Contra War. In this new interpre- 
tation, Nicaragua's first real revolution may have just begun. It is 
neither radical nor reactionary, but rather the consequence of the 
emergence of once-marginalized peoples, especially the peasants 
of the highlands, into positions of influence in a newly democra- 
tized Nicaragua. Betrayed in 1979, and denied effective suffrage in 
1990, they emerged in 1996 as a decisive voting bloc that has to be 
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wooed by anyone wanting to be elected to national office, a funda- 
mental shift in Nicaragua's power structure. 

During the 1996 presidential campaign, even the Sandinistas' 
candidate, former President Daniel Ortega, recognized that real 
revolutionary changes had taken place between 1990 and 1996. In 
1989, Ortega was ordering the Sandinista army to hunt down and 
kill every Contra it could find. From 1990 to 1995, thinly disguised 
Sandinista death squads systematically tried to kill off the leader- 
ship of the highland peasantry, and efforts were made to dis- 
enfranchise them. But by 1996, he was seeking re-election by 
promising the highlanders that, if elected, he would make a former 
Guardia Contra his minister of government. 

History does not end, and the denouement of this story is yet 
to be written. But the final victory in Nicaragua's recent Contra 
War appears to be going neither to the revolutionaries of the 
Sandinista Front, nor to their national and international sympa- 
thizers, but to some simple dirt farmers. From a country that, until 
now, has always been governed by and for the few, Nicaragua is 
being transformed into one governed by the many, thanks neither 
to Jirnmy Carter nor Ronald Reagan, nor even to those who 
grabbed power in the name of Augusto Cksar Sandino, but to tens 
of thousands of highlander peasants who were willing to lay down 
their lives to remain free. And that, by historical Nicaraguan stan- 
dards, is truly revolutionary. From 1996 forward, the success of 
freedom and democracy in Nicaragua will be the true measure of 
who won the Contra War. As of today the Comandos of the comar- 
cas and the highland peasants look like the ultimate winners. 



A P P E N D I X  A  

PERSONNEL REPORT 

Handwritten personnel report, Legi6n de Septiembre/FDN, 20 
December 1981. Sixty-two Legionnaires are reported to have 
already graduated from training courses in Argentina and 16 in 
Guatemala. Note midway down, the report indicates fifteen 
Legionnaires were in Miami, "10 in US, 5 in 'projects."' Note also 
that the estimated numbers of available combatants in both the 
Segovias and the Mosquitia is 3,000-3,500 in exile plus 5,500 
already identified inside Nicaragua (entrenandos internamente), or 
8,500-9,000 total. 
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SAMPLE FDN COMANDO 
PERSONNEL FILE 

Sample FDN Comando individual p e r s o ~ e l  file for Marvin 
Ger6nimo Centeno Zeledh, nom de guerre "Otoiiiel." A nineteen- 
year-old peasant fanner from Barrio G e m k  Pomares in Jinotega, 
Otofiiel became a member of the COE, or Comando de Oper- 
aciones Especialies (Special Forces). His file is annotated "killed in 
Las Piedras, 5/ 11 /85, mine field." 
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FUERZA 

. . . .  *!El Q N?! . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

CONTROL. DE *PERSONAL- - 

DATOS GENERALES"""-'" 

. ...... . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . .  . . . . .  CEMTEMQ . . . . . . . . . . . .  ZRLEDQN. MARV l N .GESON I M.4 , 
01 .-Primer Apellido Segundo Apellido Primer Nombre Segundo Nombre 

.... 02.-Edad q.9. AN0.S Estatura 5.8. .P I €S. . . . .  Peso .l 50 . LBS, . . . . . .  Color . . .  .MORENO 

ojos CAFE . . . . . . . . .  Boca .pEQL;IENA. . . . .  Complexi6n . . .  PELGADA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . .  03.-~efiales ~articulares N.l.flG4NA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  04 -Fecha y lugar de nacimiento .S. RE. MARZQ. .(X. .2913.5. 

. . . .  P!??!? F. . J ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ *  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

05 -Estado civil . . . . . .  SOLTERO. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  36.-Impedimentos fisicos N.I.NG.UW!! 

. 07.-Tipo de Sangre . . . . . . . .  Na SABE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  08.-Alias . . . . . . . .  .OTQ  EL. 
09.-Nombre del cdnyuge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Vive: S1 NO 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Tel. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
+ 

. . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10.-Nombre del padre: .GERON I M.Q CENYENQ. . M M  J RSS. Vive: S1 NO 

. .  Direcci6n: BARR l Q .GERMAN. POMARES . .  .O I NOT EGA. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Td. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
+ 

11.-Nornbrc de la Madre: ... BLANCA .N!EVES. ZELEDOM .Hu"!?!. ......... Vive: SI NO 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Direcci6n: . . . . . . . . . . . .  LA. .M! sM.C\. 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Tel. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

C . . .  12.-Pariente m& cercano .RODOLEO. R0D.R I GUES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Vive: S1 NO 

. ~ i r e c c ~ n :  . . . . . . . .  LA. . PP! .?M*. . ., .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . .  ................................................................. Tel. 



SAMPLE FDN COMANDO PERSONNEL FILE 

A.-) ........................................... Edad . . . . . . . . . . .  Sexo . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

B.-) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Edad . . . . . . . . . . .  Sexo . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

C.-) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Edad . . . . . . . . . . .  Sexo . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Direccibn: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

D.--) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Edad . . . . . . . . . . .  Sexo . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Direccibn: 

E.-) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Edad . . . . . . . . . . .  Sexo . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Direccibn: ....................................................................;.. 

. . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  F.-) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Edad Sexo 

14.-NCMBRE DE HERMANOS: 

A.-). .YLY . E L .  .S0.$4RI.Q.. .CENTENQ. .Z%@PNdad ? B .  ANOS . ~ e x o  .FEMEN.!%? ... 
Direccibn: . BARR 1 0. .GERMAN . P.0MARE.S . J. I.NO.TEGA. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

MASCUL l NO B.-). . .  . !"*N. . .  ???.?I??. .?!%!??N. .... Edad l.?. *!!??. . Sex0 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Direccibn: . . . . . . . .  L*..  .M! SMA. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
C.-). . . .  .BEATP.!Z. GREGORIA. .CENTENO. ZE!-.ERQ& -1.6. *!!?S Sexo .FYEN!NO.. . 

Direcci6n: . . . . . . . . . . . .  LA .  M I SM4. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . .  D.-). ... .MARTHA .. AUX1L.I.ADQRA. . .  CENTENO. EWD.ON. .l 5. . A M 0  .FEMEN I Nfl 

L A  M l  SMA Direcci6n: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

E.-). . .  FEC1.X. PEW. CENTENO. ZELEDON . . .   dad . '74 .AN05em . MASC"L.I.N". 
Direcci6n: . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .LA. .M! ??M* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. .. . . .  F.-). . .  MARCOS .OMAR. .CENTENO. ZELSQ0.N. Eldad I?. ANQS sex0 MASC UC ! NP 

Direcci6n: . . . . . . . . . . .  LA . .  M I SMA. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

15.-En caso de emergencia avisar a: . . .  GSRW!J I MO. CENTENC! . .  .RAM ! PES. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Direccibn: ... BARR.1.O. GERMAD! .!'OM. ARES .. J ! NOTE.%. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. .. i6.- Trabajo actual del legienrria F. D. N.. ... .PERTE!YEC ENTE .h, .CS>MW.QOS ESPEC ! ALES. CeO.*.E 

17.- Olreccldn actual del le@enario F. D. N. ............... LEPA ...................................... 
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18.-Pasaporte No. . . . . . . . . . . .  Extendido en . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Fecha . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Fecha de vencirniento Visas actuales p/viajar a . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

19.- Famlllarrs en el actual goblerno de Nicaragua y clase de empieo . . . . . . . . .  N &UNQ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

A.-) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Militancia politica Disponibilidad . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

B.-) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Militancia politica . .  .-. Disponibilidad 

C.-) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Militancia politica Disponibilidad 
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SAMPLES FROM CHRONOLOGICAL 
MESSAGE FILES 

Sample pages from chronologcal message files kept throughout 
the war that quote both FDN and intercepted Sandinista army 
messages. Those of 11 September 1984 include radio call messages 
from EPS originators Volch and Charlie Golf (EPS), and Nortefio, 
(FDN). These messages reported on a Sandinista anti-guerrilla 
battalion, the Sim6n Bolivar, just arrived in Esteli with Cuban, 
Soviet, and other foreign military advisers, one of nine mentions in 
that month's message traffic. Messages dated 10 September 1984 
are by FDN commanders C-45 and K-l. 
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A P P E N D I X  D 

SAMPLE FDN STATUS OF FORCES 
REPORT 

Sample FDN Status of Forces Report on troop strength. FDN 
archives contain such reports from 1980 through 1990. 
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A P P E N D I X  E  

EPS ARMS INVENTORY 
AND REQUEST 

EPS inventory of armaments on hand or already in the pipeline as 
of 3 October 1987 (lines 1-5). Line 6 lists additional arms on request 
from the Soviet Union in accordance with two bilateral agree- 
ments, Project Diriangen I for 1989-90 and Project Diriangen I1 for 
1990-95. The new arms approved as part of Diriangen I and I1 
would have allowed the EPS roughly to double its size, for exam- 
ple by adding to its arsenal 21,481 Makarov pistols, 118,851 AK- 
47s, 44 tanks, and so forth. 

This inventory was brought out of Nicaragua by Maj. Roger 
Miranda, personal aide to EPS commanding general Humberto 
Ortega at the time Miranda defected. Courtesy of the Hoover 
Institution, Stanford University. 











A P P E N D I X  F 

Pages 2, 17, and 40 from Costa Rican passport 8-043-357 of 
Alejandro Martinez confirming he traveled to Washington, D.C., 
late in the Carter presidency. Martinez says he was invited there 
by the CIA to discuss paramilitary aid to the Contras. On 13 
January 1981, the American Consul in San Jos6, Costa Rica, initially 
refused Martinez's visa, and to alert other Consuls to his decision, 
inserted a special handwritten note to that effect on page 40 of the 
passport. The American Ambassador immediately intervened at 
the urging of the CIA Station Chief, and the Consul reversed his 
decision that same day issuing Martinez a most unusual three- 
month one-entry B-l visa valid for business travel only (visa 00464, 
page 17). (Tourists receive B-2 visas; most business travelers receive 
dual B-1/B2s.) Martinez traveled immediately and was admitted 
to the United States on 15 January. His business-only status is 
confinned by Immigration Service admission stamp 060 MIA 26 
(also page 17). 

Ronald Reagan was inaugurated as president on 20 January 1981 
and did not issue his first (now declassified) Presidential Finding 
authorizing covert paramilitary aid to the Contras until December 
24, eleven months after his inauguration. Because by law such a 
Finding authorizing engagement in covert operations must be 
signed in advance by the president with formal notifications made 
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to select committees of Congress, it is clear that Martinez's trip 
must have taken place pursuant to an earlier but still secret Finding 
by President Carter. (Passport photographs courtesy of Alejandro 
Martinez.) 
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PREFACE 

1. Later, under CIA pressure, it was relabeled the Ejbrcito de Resis- 
tencia Nicaragiiense, or ERN. But among themselves the Comandos 
ignored the new name. 

2. Oral history, Hernindez Sancho, Plutarco Elias ("Comandante 
Marcial"). In the standard Who's Who of Nicaragua the entry on 
Hernindez is longer than those on either Daniel or Humberto Ortega 
(Jirbn, Quien es Quien, 206-11). After attending Patrice Lumumba Uni- 
versity in Moscow, Hernhndez received almost two years of training as a 
guerrilla leader in Cuba and North Korea and then spent fifteen years as 
a Marxist guerrilla in the field. From 1965 through 1977 he was a princi- 
pal architect of Sandinista clandestine operation inside Nicaragua. In 1999 
he was Costa Rican ambassador in Moscow. Hernhdez is the nephew of 
one former Costa Rican president, Calder6n Guardia, and first cousin of 
another, Calder6n Fornier. He is also the first cousin of the military 
commander of El Salvador's Faribundo Marti Liberation Front, Eduardo 
Sancho Castafieda, "Ferman Cienfuegos." Both Hemandez and Cien- 
fuegos told me their stories in extended oral history interviews and also 
wrote essays that are included in my companion book to this one (Brown, 
ed., AK-47s). 

3. The other 20 percent were from other Contra armies that had been 
active in Nicaragua's Atlantic lowlands under separate commands. 

4. Sergio Caramagna, "Peacemaking in Nicaragua," in Brown, ed., 
AK-47s. 
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5. For discussion of the prolongation of the Contra War, see Brown, 
Causes of Continuing Conflict in Nicaragua. 

CHAPTER 3 

1. Kagan, A T~light  Struggle, xvi, 180,200. 
2. Clarridge, A Spy for All Seasons, 208,200,190,245. 
3. Contra is a pejorative. Resistance fighters called themselves 

Comandos, the term generally used in this book. 
4. The Comandos' postwar organization, the Asociaci6n Civica 

Resistencia Nicaragiiense (ACRN), made available to me original records 
of the Fuerza Democratica Nicaragiiense (FDN) and Ejercito de Resis- 
tencia Nicaragiiense (ERN), some dating back to 1979 and 1980, includ- 
ing more than 28,000 individual personnel folders. I identified some 276 
living veterans of the 1979-81 period and held more than 200 interviews 
with them and with other informed individuals. These interviews included 
42 oral histories provided by a randomly selected sampling of the earliest 
combatants. 

5. In addition to the ACRN archives, I obtained and reviewed about 
18,000 U.S. government documents through the Freedom of Information 
and Privacy Act (FOIA) from the Departments of State and Defense, the 
CIA, and the Agency for International Development (AID) and more than 
3,000 pages of investigative records from the archives of the Costa Rican 
Congress in San Jos6. In addition, I reviewed several thousand pages of 
other documents in private collections in Nicaragua, Honduras, Costa 
Rica and the United States. 

6. Abuelito, interview, location withheld, ca. November 1989, and 
video (author's collection), ca. 1983. Un aterro: Nicaraguan slang for "a 
whole lot of." Enchacimba'os: slang for infuriated, or "really pissed-off." 
Unless otherwise noted, all translations in this book are by the author. 

7. Pkrez Bustamante, oral history. This oral history was conducted in 
El Zhgano, Nicaragua, on 4 February 1998. El Zhgano lies between the 
mountain towns of Quilali and Wiwili just opposite El Chipote, where 
Sandino had his headquarters. A combatant with Sandino before his war 
with the U.S. Marines, and a Sandino agent during that conflict, Perez tells 
his story in his own words in Brown, ed., When the AK-47s Fall Silent. 

8. Kagan dates their entry into combat at late spring and early 
summer of 1982. Kagan, Twilight, 221. 

9. The Sandinista Ministry of the Interior claims that all together 130 
rebels and Sandinistas were killed in combat during 1979-81. Nufiez, ed., 
La Guem, 272-73. Former Contra Chief of Staff "Ruben" said the actual 
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number may have been twice as high. Rubkn, interview, Managua, 9 June 
1996. 

10. Bernard Nietschrnann, a specialist in Nicaragua's Miskito Indians, 
called the choice a particularly strong indicator because of the high social 
costs involved. Personal communication, 12 April 1997. 

CHAPTER 2 

1. Las Segovias include the Departments (provinces) of Nueva 
Segovia, Madriz, Esteli, and Jinotega. The broader highlands also include 
Matagalpa, Boaco, Chontales, and parts of Zelaya, Rio San Juan, and Le6n. 

2. Carlos Luis Fonseca Amador is usually considered the father of the 
FSLN but was actually its second leader after Noel Guerrero Santiago. 

3. The word comarca is used in this book as the highland campesinos 
use it informally: to denote the rural settlement valley or other area they call 
home. In formal terms, a comarca is also a division of local government. 

4. Dimas, Tigrillo, Jimmy Leo, Pirata, and Marina, oral histories. Two 
other former Comandos, serving at the time with Sandinista forces, also 
dated their knowledge of the existence of early MILPAS groups to August 
or September 1979. Segovia and Jhonson, oral histories. 

5. Pryor, interview, Managua, 6 June 1996. In my interview with 
Pryor, he described the battle as it was recounted to him by his half- 
brother. At the time of the battle, Pryor was himself in the Sandinista army 
but was secretly helping the new anti-Sandinista guerrillas. 

6. Most Nicaraguan highland campesinos, or peasants, are indepen- 
dent small farmers, not rural laborers (petit bourgeois, not rural proletar- 
ians). In this book the terms campesino and peasant refer only to this group 
and are used interchangeably. 

7. Comandos used norns de guerre for security. Often more than one 
Comando used the same one, or one Comando would take the nom de 
guerre of a fallen Comando. I have used real names when they are known 
and can be published. The real names of these two Comandos are not 
known, and even the noms de guerre of the other three have been lost. 

8. Cbliz's real name was Oscar Rodriguez Lisiano. Pryor's real name, 
Juan Rodriguez Campos, indicates that he and Cbliz had a different 
mother but the same father. Pryor, oral history. 

9. Chapters 3-5 describe several of them. 
10. His real name was Salvador P6rez. Amajor Resistance combat unit 

was later named for him. 
11. Pryor, oral history. El Danto, whose death served as a catalyst of 

MILPA disaffection, is discussed in chapter 3. 
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12. Nicaraguan highland peasants usually live in isolated farmsteads 
in settlement areas (comarcas) without fixed nuclei. Place-names in this 
book are those used by the Comandos. Many are not listed in U.S. Depart- 
ment of Defense, Gazetteer of Nicaragua. 

13. Correos and clandestine comarca committees were the backbone 
of the highlander rebellion. Chapter 9 is devoted to describing them and 
the larger popular support base on which they in turn depended. As a 
rule, there were from fifteen to twenty active correos, committee members, 
and popular-base supporters for every Comando. 

14. Cacique: Indian Chief. 
15. The first Sandinista agrarian reform decree, Decreto 3, was issued 

in July 1979. Wheelock, La verdad sobre la Piiiata, 9. 
16. Later renamed the Ejkrcito Popular Sandinista (EPS), the Sandinista 

People's Army. 
17. Pryor, oral history. This incident took place before the official estab- 

lishment of the Sandinistas' militia system. 
18. Ibid. 
19. Tigre, oral history. 
20. Olla Fuerte: Hearty Stew. Olla in this case is short for olla de came, or 

beef stew. An olla is a clay cooking pot. 
21. Tigre, oral history. 
22. El Norteiio: The Northerner. Gato Brunks: Dark Cat. Pocoyo is a 

Maya-Quiche name for a mythical feathered forest animal found in the 
Popol-Vuh. Mantica, El Habla Nicaragiiense, 242. Pocoyo and Jimmy Leo are 
discussed in chapter 5. 

23. Oscar Kilo, interview, Managua, 8 June 1996. The Galeano clan is 
discussed in chapter 5. The term clan is used advisedly. Although 
Nicaraguan mountain clans do not trace their origins back to a single 
apical founder as do Scottish clans, they are composed of kith and kin who 
do share agricultural properties, recognize their group in an "us-vs.-them" 
sense, and have internal authority patterns that, while loose in normal 
times, tighten during times of troubles. After reviewing alternative terms 
(kinship group, kindred, extended family, descent group), clan seemed to be the 
term that fit best. For definitions, see Kottack, Anthropology, 315-22. 

24. Oscar Kilo, interview. 
25. Ibid. 
26. A peasant farmer from near San Sebastian de Yali, Tirso Ram6n 

Moreno Aguilar had been a correo for El Danto during the war against 
Somoza before becoming an anti-Sandinista Milpista. U.S. Department of 
State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 52. In 1996, he was an unsuccessful candi- 
date for vice president of Nicaragua on the Partido de Unidad Liberal 
ticket. 
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27. Ruben, interview, Managua, 9 June 1996. Irene Calder6n and his 
group are discussed in chapter 4. 

28. Tigre, oral history. 
29. Rub&, interview, Managua, July 1996. Rubkn's own group, Las 

Culebras, is described in chapter 5. He was to go on to become the last 
chief of staff of the Contras' main army. In 1991-92 Sobalvarro was vice 
minister for the reinsertion and retraining of former Comandos in Nica- 
ragua's postrevolution government. 

30. Ibid. 
31. Ibid. 
32. Fidel Castro, 23 July speech in Esteli, Havana, Domestic Television 

Services, 24 July 1980. FBIS (Foreign Broadcast Information Service) VI, 25 
July 1980, p. 9, Central America, FL241452. 

33. "Public Security Chief on 'War' against Counter-revolutionaries," 
Agence France Presse, 26 July 1980. FBIS VI, 1 August 1980, p. 12, Central 
America, PA261444. 

34. Barricada newspaper, 29 July 1980, p. 8. As reported by La Prensa 
newspaper 30 July 1980, pp. 1,12. FBIS VI, 30 July 1980, p. 16, Central 
America, PA060367. 

35. Radio Sandino, Managua, 28 July 1980. FBIS VI, 30 July 1980, p. 8, 
Central America, PA281826. 

CHAPTER 3 

1. Interview, Marina, Quilali, 1994. 
2. Variations on the nom de guerre "Dimas" were later used by several 

other Comandos, including Adiin Emesto Gonziilez Rodriguez, "Dimas" 
(not known to have been related, U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan 
Biographies, 48) and Tomiis Laguna Rayo, "Dimas" (State, Biographies, 50). 
There was also a "Dimas Tigrillo" (Francisco Baldivia, State, Biographies, 
45), a "Dimas Negro," and a "Dimas Sagitario" (State, Biographies, 54). 

3. Dimas's personal history was reconstructed primarily from infor- 
mation provided by his common-law wife Andrea Pinell, "Marina," during 
an interview at her home in Quilali in 1994. Her own oral history, cited 
separately, was recorded at the same time. Others who had known Dimas 
also contributed. 

4. Pomiires, El Danto, 16. 
5. The four peasants rejected along with Pomdres were Narciso 

Zepeda, Dolores Diaz, Manuel Guevara, and Raul Sandoval. The group 
they tried to join eventually attacked Guardia Nacional bases in Jinotega 
and Diriamba on 11 November 1960. Ibid., 20-22. 
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6. World War I1 vintage military weapons. 
7. A report that he then participated in the 1959 Olama y Mojellones 

incursion (U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 14) is not 
mentioned in PomAres, El Danto, nor is he mentioned as a participant in 
Mendieta Alfaro, Olama y Mojellones. I was unable to resolve this discrepancy. 

8. El Danto was in and out of Cuba, Honduras, Costa Rica, and vari- 
ous Eastern Bloc countries on numerous occasions. Pomiires, El Danto, 55, 
72,76,78,92,111. 

9. Hemiindez Sancho told the story in detail during a September 1998 
oral history. He also discusses it in his book El FSLN por Dentro. 

10. Abel Cespedes, "Cyro," and Ricardo "Chino Lau" Lau, interviews, 
location withheld, 1995. Pomiires's autobiography confirms he was in 
custody twice. Pomiires, El Danto, 35,99-111. 

11. Martinez, a Conservative, had been active as an anti-Somoza guer- 
rilla since 1948 and as a member of the Frente Revolucionario Sandino, a 
pre-Sandinista Liberation Front movement. Although a political prisoner 
and then an internal exile in Cuba from 1960 to 1972 (due to secret denun- 
ciations by Marxists from within the nascent Sandinista movement), he 
was later released and went on to become a Sandinista field commander 
against Somoza from 1974 to 1979, only to rebel again against the 1979-80 
Sandinista social revolution and become a top leader of the Southern Front 
of the Contra movement. In 1980, the CIA attempted unsuccessfully to 
recruit him to lead their Contra project. In 1999, Martinez was an auxil- 
iary colonel in the Costa Rican Guardia Civil. He tells his own story in 
Brown, ed., When the AK-47s Fall Silent. 

12. Hernhdez Sancho, interview, San Jose, July 1996. 
13. Dimas Tigrillo, oral history. At the time, Dimas Tigrillo, who had 

become an anti-Somoza guerrilla in 1977, was a platoon leader with a 
different nom de guerre. He became Dimas Tigrillo after joining the 
MILPAS in honor of Pedro Joaqfiin GonzAlez. The name "Tigrillo" was for 
his brother, Encarnaci6n Baldivia. Sometimes he was also known as 
"Dimas de Tigrillo." U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 45. 

14. Oral histories, Marina, Jimrny Leo, and Bruce Lee. 
15. Confirmed during a visit by the author to Jinotega in 1995. 
16. Confidential source, Matagalpa, Nicaragua, 1995. 
17. Pomiires, El Danto, 159. 
18. "Pepe" Puente's home in Mexico City was the Sandinistas' princi- 

pal safe house from 1960 to 1979. In 1956-58 he and his father had been 
close collaborators of Castro and the other 26th of July Movement lead- 
ers, including Ch6 Guevara, during their sojourn in Mexico preparatory to 
the Cuban Revolution. His father, who as a youth in the 1920s had worked 
for Sandino when Sandino was in Mexico, financed much of Castro's stay 
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in Mexico from 1956 to 1958, and in 1959 became one of Castro's top labor 
advisors in Havana. Pepe, who had carried the funds from his father to 
Castro, was also close to Castro and his group. During Central America's 
cold war revolutions, in addition to his work with the Sandinistas, Pepe 
was a liaison agent between the Cuban and Soviet embassies in Mexico 
City and revolutionaries in El Salvador, Guatemala, and Honduras. He 
tells his own story for the first time in Brown, ed., When the AK-47s Fall 
Silent. 

19. Oral History Marina. 
20. "La ideologia de Pomzires no era la ideologia de 10s Sandinistas. 

Cuando cayo Pomfires era cuando todo ya 10 tergiversaron." Marina, 
interview. 

21. Ibid. 
22. Ibid. 
23. Marina, oral history. 
24. Dimas was still a senior Sandinista officer, so it seems unlikely 

Marina was suspected of anything other than prior association with her 
first husband. 

25. Her descriptions of her duties as a correo are referenced in chapter 9. 
26. Marina, oral history. Marina and others described a colorful but 

inaccurate version from Arturo Cruz, Jr., of how Dimas became an insur- 
gent after a fight with General Humberto Ortega at the very beginning of 
the Revolution. Cruz, Jr., Memoirs of n Counter-Revolutiona y, 88-89. 

27. The towns and locales in the ensuing discussion are not widely 
known outside Nicaragua. All are in the Rio Coco basin in the heart of the 
Segovian highlands. 

28. Pirata, oral history. Pirata went on to found his own MILPAS group 
and lead his own Resistance combat unit, the Grupo Pirata, discussed 
below, the only formation of its kind listed in Resistance status of forces 
reports. 

29. Francisco Rivera Herrera, "Cadejo." U.S. Department of State, 
Nicaraguan Biographies, 55. El Cadejo is a legendary ferocious black dog 
that attacks unwary victims at night and the principal figure in one of 
Central America's best known folk stories. 

30. Freddy Gadea Zeledon, "Coral," was a campesino from Quilali 
who had "fought with the Sandinistas against Somoza from 1977-79 in 
the Nueva Segovia mountains" before joining the MILPAS in 1979. 
Anroyce Zelaya Zeledon, "Douglas," was a campesino from Quilali who 
served with Dimas and El Danto against Somoza before "rejoining Pedro 
JoaqGn Gonzfilez against the Sandinistas in late 1979 and early 1980." U.S. 
Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 47,57. Neither La Iguana (The 
Iguana), Mono (Monkey), nor Gal10 (Rooster) are listed in Biographies. 
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31. Oscar Kilo, oral history. 
32. Ibid. 
33. According to another Milpista. Jimmy Leo, oral history. "Jirnmy" 

was Altamirano's nickname. He was born under the zodiac sign of Leo. 
34. Contemporary photographs of Dimas as a Sandinista Milpista fit 

this description. Author's collection. 
35. Hernhdez Sancho, interview. 
36. Ruben, interview. A postwar study by Centro de Investigaciones y 

Estudios (CIERA), La Guerra Imperialista: Organizacicin y Pavticipacicin 
Popular en el Carnpo, vol. 1, states that Dimas's Band was made up of 237 
ex-Guardia but then presents data on the social origins of 253 of his 
Milpistas that demonstrate the opposite by showing that at most three of 
Dimas's group may have been former Guardia. The text does not conform 
with my findings for this study; the data do. See also Nuiiez, ed., La 
Guerm, 237,253. 

37. Hombrito, oral history. The name Hombrito (Little Man) refers to 
his youth and stature. 

38. Then still Civil Defense Committees, or CDCs. 
39. Hombrito, oral history. 
40. Ibid. 
41. Name reserved, oral history, Segovian Highlands, December 1994. 

This former Comando requested anonymity for reasons of personal secu- 
rity. When I interviewed him, he showed me a copy of a "death list" with 
his name on it and explained that two attempts had already been made 
on his life. 

42. Ibid. 
43. The data on which this calculation is based are given in chapter 9. 
44. A Nicaraguan pejorative for peasant is botas de hule, a joke about 

the rubber boots peasants wear when working in the mud of their farms. 
45. Oscar Kilo, oral history. 
46. Marina, oral history. 
47. This detachment appears to have made the first MILPAS contact 

with Argentines, Americans, and exile Guardia. See chapter 7. 
48. Oscar Kilo, oral history. 
49. Tegucigalpa, Radio America. FBIS VI, 25 July 1980, p. 1, Central 

America, PA250128. 
50. Also known as the Segovia and as the Wangki. Among its tribu- 

taries are the Pantasma, CuA, Chachagua and Wamblan. Most of the places 
mentioned in connection with the MILPAS war, such as Quilali, Wiwili, 
El Cu$ Kilambe, and El Chipote are in the Rio Coco watershed. The Coco 
becomes the Nicaragua-Honduras border just north of Wamblan. 

51. U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 35. 
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52. Junta de Reconstruccidn de Matagalpa, "Las Milicias en Acci6n" 
(author's translation), 14-18. Original version available in the library of 
the University of California, Berkeley. The Junta no longer exists; there- 
fore, written permission to use the quotation was not obtained. 

53. Marina, oral history; Fuerza Democratica Nicaragiiense, "Historia de 
Fuerza Democratica Nicaragiiense," 5; and Ndez, ed., La Guerra, 249. Nuiiez 
identifies Herrera by his Sandinista nom de guerre Elias. In U.S. Depart- 
ment of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 35, he is identified as Mamerto Torrera. 

54. Marina, oral history. 
55. "Muertos del ERN/FDN, diferentes unidades, 1979-90." ACRN 

archives. 

CHAPTER 4 

1. Irene. Pronounced Ee-ray-neh. In this case a male, not female, first 
name. 

2. Bruce Lee, oral history. Bruce Lee took his nom de guerre from the 
popular Chinese martial arts film star. 

3. That sympathizer's name was given as Sr. Aquila. No further infor- 
mation about his identity was offered. 

4. Tigre, oral history. 
5. Wiwili, sometimes spelled Giiigiiili. 
6. Tigre, oral history. 
7. Discussed in chapter 9. 
8. La Chaparra, oral history. Chnparra is slang for "Shorty." La 

Chaparra, whose real name is Elisa Maria Galeano, is a member of the 
Galeano clan. About 7 percent of the Resistance Comandos, more than 
3,000 combatants, were women, and more than 1,000 were killed. Their 
role is discussed in Chapter 10. 

9. Chilote: Green Ear of Corn. 
10. Tiro a1 Blanco, Johnny and Irma are discussed in U.S. Department 

of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 45. 
11. Israel Galeano Cornejo, "Franklyn," another early Milpista. Some- 

times spelled "Franklin." Also known as "Franklyn-16." Franklyn was 
chief of staff of the main Contra army after 1988-89. He died in a suspi- 
cious "one-car" accident in 1995. 

12. La Chaparra, oral history. She later became a comandante de grupo 
and instructor at the FDN's Centro de Instruccih Militar (CIM). 

13. Oscar Kilo, oral history. 
14. Dimas Tigrillo, oral history. U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan 

Biographies, 45. 
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15. Jimrny Leo, oral history. 
16. Bruce Lee, oral history. 
17. Tigre, interview, Managua, 11 June 1996. 

CHAPTER 5 

1. Encamaci6n Baldivia. Tigrillo: Wild Cat. Tigrillo and Dimas Tigrillo, 
oral histories. 

2. Dimas Tigrillo, oral history. 
3. Ibid. 
4. Quilali and Wiwili lie on either side of the same mountain deep in 

the Segovian mountains. The suffix li, Chibchan Matagalpan Indian for 
"beside the stream," is widely encountered among place-names in the 
Segovias and nearby, such as Quilali, Wiwili, Yali, and Danli in nearby 
Honduras. Incer, Toponimias Indigenas de Nicaragua. A ratio of 40:l non- 
Guardia to Guardia is consistent with data on the MILPAS in the ACRN 
archives and also with data published later. See Nufiez, ed., La Guerra, 253. 

5. Johnny, oral history. Tigrillo went on to command the Rafael 
Herrera Regional Command, a four-task force formation of some one 
thousand Comandos. U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 45. 
He also tells his own story in Brown, ed., When the AK-47s Fall Silent. 

6. Jimmy Leo, oral history. 
7. Ibid. 
8. "Creo que si hubiera sido nosotros de la Guardia no se podria 

haber llevado a cab0 un proseletismo tan exitoso. Exito existia porque 
eramos gente de la montafia, de la zona, y ellos 10 podrian ver con sus 
proprios ojos." Ibid. 

9. Ibid. 
10. Pirata, oral history. 
11. He did not know which language, but Pirata had some knowledge 

of Sumu and Miskito and said it was neither of those. Wiwili is within the 
pre-Columbian Matagalpan, or Misumalpan Chibchan language area. 
Pirata was born in 1963. Ibid. To remember that his grandfather spoke 
Matagalpan or another Chibchan language would date its use into the 
1 9 7 0 ~ ~  suggesting that reports that Chibchan languages in Nicaragua had 
become extinct by the 1920s may have been premature. Constenla, Las 
Lenguas del Area Intermedia, 17. 

12. Walakitan, from Kitan, stream; Walas, devil or dark. Probably Chib- 
chan Misumalpan, although today the place-name Walakitan occurs in an 
area inhabited by Sumu Indians. The name appears three times in 
Jinotega. Instituto de Estudios Territoriales (INETER), Rqorte de Toponimos 
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Departamentales. There is also a Walakitan Creek in the RAAN that is trib- 
utary to the Coco River. Incer, Toponimia, 244. The origin of the name 
Wnlakitan is not known, but nouns beginning with the consonant W appear 
in Carlos Mantica, El habla Nicaraguense, only in Chibchan, not in Nahua 
or Spanish. 

13. In Nicaragua, vos means you but is informal. Pirata's description of 
the intensely Indian nature of his comarca was particularly detailed. 

14. Pirata, oral history. Another instance of a militia unit being created 
before the Sandinistas' official militia program was established. 

15. Ibid. 
16. Ibid. 
17. The Grupo Pirata had 43 Comandos as of 28 April 1988. Twelve were 

in San Andres de Bocay 23 in Yamales, and 10 inside Nicaragua. "Estado 
de Fuerza Semanal," Cuartel General Ejercito de la Resistencia, Comando 
Estrategico, Seccion de Personal, 28 April 1988, pp. 1,4. ACRN archives. 

18. Pirata, oral history. 
19. Farolin: Little Lamp. Paloma: Dove or Pigeon. 
20. Segovia, oral history. 
21. Ibid. 
22. Five of Segovia's brothers, a sister, and his father eventually became 

Comandos. 
23. Rufo Cesar Zeled6n Castil-Blanco. U.S. Department of State, 

Nicaraguan Biographies, 57. 
24. Formerly a luxurious Somoza beach hideaway. 
25. "Escoja. 0 tu madre o tu Revolucion." Segovia, oral history. 
26. Ibid. Segovia's time of entry into the Resistance is given as April 

1981 in U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 56. But this was 
when he joined the FDN, not the MILPAS. By April 1981 he had been a 
Milpista for almost a year. 

27. Segovia, oral history. 
28. Segovia went on to serve as a Resistance commander for almost a 

decade, becoming a senior comandante of the Segovias Regional Command. 
US. Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 55. 

29. Rub&, oral history. Sobalvarro first took the nom de guerre 
"Culebra," or Snake, changing it later to "Rub6n" in honor of Nicaragua's 
premier poet, Rub& Dario. 

30. "Esto me molesto mucho." Probably an understatement. 
31. Chilinduin: Rattle. 
32. Made popular by the U.S. Marines during their expeditions to 

Nicaragua in the early 1900s, baseball is now Nicaragua's national sport. 
33. "Culebra" was to prove a durable nom de guerre. As late as Feb- 

ruary 1997, three different highland Re-Contra guerrilla groups were being 
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led by commanders with the pseudonym "Culebra." One was active near 
El CuA Bocay Jinotega. A second was near MatiguAs, Matagalpa. A third, 
with about twenty-five members, was operational near Bocana de Paiwas, 
RAAS, and led by Denis Rodas Galeano, a member of the Galeano clan. 
All were part of a new organization known as the Frente Norte 3-80, named 
after former Contra commander Enrique Bermtidez, Tomandante 3-80." 

34. Calambrito: Little Cramp. 
35. "Porque no? Pues de por si ya eran simpatizantes nuestros." 

Rubkn, oral history. 
36. Ibid. 
37. A Swiss-German solidarista, or Sandinista sympathizer, reached the 

same conclusion at the same time and place from the opposite side of the 
process. Keller, Wiwili 1980,264-66. 

38. An example of how campesinos designated targets for the Coman- 
dos, rather than the other way around. "New Militias to Protect Literacy 
Guerrilla," Managua, Domestic Service, 9 April 1980. FBIS VI, 10 April 
1980, p. 6, Central America, PA092009. 

39. "Officials Discuss Literacy Crusade Problems," Radio Sandino, 9 
April 1980. FBIS VI, 11 Apr 80, p. 14, Central America, PS101306. 

40. Ruben, oral history. 
41. This occurred during a postrevolution wave of killings of former 

Comando leaders. Due to "uncertainties," his name, like that of Enrique 
Bermiidez (who was killed in Managua with a professional assassin's 
pistol), is not among the 708 listed by the OAS as victims of homicides. 
CIAV, "Denuncias Junio~90/Diciembre'96." Confidential sources. Bermii- 
dez's case was reopened in April of 1997. "Procuraduria ordena reacti- 
var investigacion de caso Bermiidez," Managua, Ln Tribuna, 25 April 1997. 

42. Johnny oral history, and Resistance personnel files. The U.S. 
Department of State's Nicaraguan Biographies lists five Galeanos, includ- 
ing Johnny among the "top fighters" of the Resistance. U.S. Department 
of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 48. 

43. Johnny oral history. 
44. La Chaparra and Johnny oral histories. 
45. Johnny, oral history. 
46. La Perrera: The Dog Kennel. 
47. La Chaparra, oral history. 
48. Johnny, oral history. 
49. In this usage Don is an honorific title, not a first name. 
50. Jose Danilo Galeano Rodas, another Galeano clansman. U.S. Depart- 

ment of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 48. A first cousin, Denis Rodas 
Galeano, was still fighting as a Re-Contra in March 1997 under the nom de 
guerre "Culebra." Private source. 
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51. Relrimpago: Lightning. 
52. Ibid. 
53. Tiro a1 Blanco: Marksman. A first cousin. 
54. U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 88-91. 
55. The real name of this "Fernando" is not known, but he was not the 

Diogenes Hernhdez Membrefio, "Fernando," listed in U.S. Department 
of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 50. 

56. "L-20" would have been a later nom de guerre, indicating that its 
bearer was one of the earliest Comandos to join the Legi6n 15 de Septi- 
embre as Legionnaire No. 20. 

57. Rio Blanco later became a hotbed of rebellion. 
58. Chino-4, oral history. 
59. Neither is listed in U.S. Department of Defense, Gazetteer of 

Nicaragua. 
60. Johnny, oral history. A different "Aureliano," Manuel Adan Rugama 

Acevedo, a medical doctor, joined the Resistance in 1981. U.S. Department 
of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 55. 

61. Jhonson, oral history. 
62. Jhonson, oral history. He found it amusing to spell his name differ- 

ently from the more conventional "Johnson." 
63. Juan:23: John:23, as in the Bible. El Sordo: The Deaf One. 
64. Dillon, Comandos: The CIA and Nicaragua's Contra Rebels, cites 

Jhonson as a key source. 
65. Jhonson, oral history. 
66. The three tendencias were known as the Insurrecional, Guerra 

Popular Prolongada, and Tercerista. It was widely claimed that the Nine 
Comandantes who came to lead the three tendencias were chosen by their 
comrades from below, but Jose "Pepe" Puente claims this is false. He 
insists that he personally received a telephone call at his Mexico City home 
from Castro, who was disturbed by continuing dissension and in-fighting 
among the three tendencias and directed him to select three leaders from 
each and send them to Havana. Castro intended to require unity as the 
price of continued Cuban assistance to their movement. The more expe- 
rienced FSLN leaders were almost all fully engaged in the struggle and 
could not go. So Puente chose the Nine, rented an airplane, and sent them 
to Cuba. He says he was shocked when Castro appointed them as the 
FSLN's new directorate. Puente tells this story in Brown, ed., When the AK- 
47s Fall Silent. 

67. Jhonson, oral history. 
68. Ibid. 
69. CIERA, La Reforma Agraria en Nicaragua, 233. 
70. Ibid., 233. 
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71. Raul, interview, Miami, 1993. 
72. Confidential source, oral history. The EEBI was actually an elite 

infantry battalion, not an escuela, or school, that was commanded by 
President Anastacio "Tacho" Somoza's son, also named Anastacio but 
nicknamed "El Chigiiin." 

73. Ibid. 
74. Pirata, oral history. The "Kaliman," Simeon Aguirrez Torrez, iden- 

tified in U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 44, is not the 
same person. 

75. Frijol: Bean. Rafaga: Burst (of automatic weapons fire). 
76. El Cuervo: The Crow. 
77. Tinoco Zeleddn and Mike Lima, Agenda Perpetua, unpublished 

manuscript, Segovian Highlands, 1980-1982, author's collection. 
78. Tinoco Zeled6n and Mike Lima, Agenda Perpetua, 14/49. 
79. Ibid., 40. 
80. Two of the pistols' serial numbers were WS#7277 and WS#3251. 

Ibid., 44. 
81. This sighting took place on 21 November 1981. It suggests that by 

then some modern military arms were reaching the MILPAS. 
82. Tinoco Zeleddn and Mike Lima, Agenda Perpetua, 34,36,49. 
83. FBIS, October 1979-December 1981. It should be noted that FBIS 

normally reports only on topics that analysts have determined are of 
policy interest to the United States government. This determination 
appears to have been made by October 1979. See also International Press 
Service for Latin America (ISLA). 

84. Wheelock, La verdad sobre la piiiata, 9-21. 

CHAPTER 6 

1. Chino Lau, oral history. The nickname "Chino" is often given to 
anyone with a noticeable epicanthic eye fold regardless of ancestry, but in 
this case Chino Lau is half-Chinese, the son of a Cantonese Chinese diplo- 
mat father and Nicaraguan mother. 

2. The others were Atenas Ariel and Sagitario. "Informe a Vd. Detal- 
ladamente el Estado de Fuerza Reportado por 10s Proyectos," Jefe de 
Personal, FDN, 19 January 1982. ACRN archives. 

3. "Zebras," unedited document, dated 22 July 1979. Author's 
collection. 

4. ACRN, personnel files, 1981. 
5. Johnny 11, oral history. Called here "Johnny 11" to differentiate him 

from Denis Galeano Comejo, whose nom de guerre was also "Johnny." 
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6. Ibid. 
7. Jimmy Leo and Ruben, oral histories. 
8. Rub&, interview. 
9. "Guerrillas Give Details of Plans of Somoza Gangs," Managua 

Domestic Service. FBIS VI, 11 April 1980, pp. 13-14, Central America, 
PA100439. 

10. La Castilla, oral history. She had served with Comandante Bravo 
and withdrew with him from San Juan del Sur, Nicaragua, to La Unih,  El 
Salvador. See also La Estrella de Nicaragua, Miami, Florida, 1-15 May 1994, 
lA, 7A-8A; 16-31 May, 1994, lA, 5A, 7B. 

11. Reportedly with the knowledge of the Honduran armed forces. La 
Castilla, oral history. Morales was among those who traveled between 
Honduras and El Salvador escorting arms shipments. Confirmed by 
former Honduran military officers. Confidential sources. 

12. For an account of the event, see "Asi Mataron a1 Comandante 
Bravo," La Estrella de Nicaragua, Miami, Florida, 16-31 May 1994,lA-7A. 
It is widely believed that senior Sandinista Security Chief Lenin Cerna was 
present. 

13. Chino Lau, oral history. 
14. Fighter was one of two graduates of France's St. Cyr Military 

Academy who were senior Contra officers. The other was Abel Cespedes, 
"Cyro." At the time, Gomez was in exile. He later commanded Resistance 
air operations during the war. 

15. The identities of those present raise questions beyond the scope of 
this work. Chester Y. Williams classified the 1978 Guardia as "a medium- 
deference" institution able to confront Somoza (Williams, "Presidential 
Leadership in Nicaragua," 135-54), and the officers who formed the 
Legi6n were from a group of known dissenters. According to senior 
American and Nicaraguan officers well informed at the time, Berm~dez 
had been exiled to Washington by Somoza. Clarridge also says this in A 
Spy for All Seasons, 216. Former Guardia officers explained that the Guardia 
was divided between nonpolitical officers and Somoza's personal coterie 
known as the ALAS, for Anastacio, Luis, Anastacio, Somoza. ALAS was a 
play on words since in Spanish alas also means wings that sustain a bird 
in flight, or in this case a Somoza in power. 

16. Fuerza Democratia Nicaragiiense, "Historia de Fuerza Demo- 
cratica Nicaragiiense." 

17. 4-2, oral history. 
18. Ibid. 
19. Ibid. 
20. In January 1997, Chino-85, under his real name Carlos Garcia, 

was vice minister of Nicaragua's Ministry of Natural Resources and the 
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Environment (MARENA), with special responsibilities for the highlands 
and the Atlantic coast. Chino-85, interview, Managua, 10 March 1997. 

21. Chino 85, oral history. 
22. Third-country support to the Legibn is discussed in chapter 7. 
23. Johnny 11, oral history. 
24. Fuerza Democratia Nicaragiiense, "Historia de Fuerza Demo- 

cratica Nicaragiiense," 1. 
25. "Clandestine Anti-Sandinista Radio Station Reported Operating," 

ACAN, Panama City, FBIS VI, 13 May 1980, p. 13, Central America, 
PA131726. 

26. Chino 85, oral history. Clarridge, A Spy for All Seasons, 200-201, 
identifies the Honduran officers providing protection as then Police 
(FUSEP) Commander Colonel Gustavo Alvarez with the approval of 
Army Commander General Policarpo Paz. This was confirmed for me by 
three confidential sources. Alvarez was later Honduran commander in 
chief. 

27. Walter Calderbn Lopez, "Comandante Tofio." U.S. Department of 
State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 46. 

28. The roles played by Argentina and the United States are discussed 
in more detail in the next chapter on the MILPAS-Guardia alliance. 

29. Johnny 11, oral history. 
30. At the time of this operation in Costa Rica, Pastbra was still a minis- 

ter in the Sandinista government. Unlike the highlander Resistance, both 
Southern Fronts were made up of Pacific lowlanders, their combatants 
being mostly rural peasants or urban workers of Pacific lowland origins. 
While some came directly to the Southern Fronts from rural areas around 
the major Pacific lowland cities, most were peasants who had been moved 
in the 1930s to the region of Nueva Guinea in the Atlantic lowlands from 
the area of Chinandega as part of an agrarian reform program of the first 
Somoza. The leaders of these fronts were urban middle- and upper- 
middle-class politicians or intellectuals, often leftists but not Marxists, 
from Pacific cities. Pastbra, for example, although a Sandinista leader since 
the 1960s, was a graduate of Nicaragua's most exclusive upper-class high 
school, the Jesuit Colegio Centroamericano of Granada. Despite numer- 
ous attempts by Pastbra to take overall command and by the leaders of 
the FDN to establish a single overall headquarters operation, and constant 
pressure from the CIA to unite, the ethnic, historical, geographic, and 
social differences between the FDN and the second Southern Front were 
simply too deep to be bridged. They fought under entirely separate 
commands throughout the war, the FDN in the central highlands (their 
homeland), the second Southern Front in the Atlantic lowlands (the home 
of their peasant supporters). Similar and even deeper differences lay 
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within the unwillingness of the third large Contra army, the YATAMA 
Indian force, which operated in the northern and central Atlantic, and two 
smaller forces, the Indian Sumus de Las Montai'ias from the rain-forest 
region of Bocay along the River Coco between the homelands of the FDN 
and YATAMA, and the Black Creole Floyd Wilson Task Force that was 
mainly active along the Atlantic littoral from Bluefields north to 
Prinzapolka and inland along the Rama and Rio Grande de Matagalpa 
Rivers. Once the United States began providing them with assistance, 
these forces did receive and use standardized equipment, have largely 
compatible communications systems, and on occasion even coordinate 
operations; none, however, ever agreed to a unitary command structure, 
whether under Pastbra or the FDN. These divisions plagued the Contras 
throughout the war. 

31. "Newsman Reports Troop Deployment to Rivas," Agence France 
Presse, 31 March 1980. FBIS VI, 31 March 1980, p. 12, Central America, 
PA310231. "Attacks on Military Posts Reported in West, South," Agence 
France Presse. FBIS VI, 29 May 1980, p. 12, Central America, PA281225. 

32. This is the only instance uncovered of an important Resistance 
force made up of Pacific lowland campesinos. The later Southern Front 
was also made up of campesinos of Pacific origin, but most had moved to 
the Atlantic region during pre-Sandinista agrarian reform efforts. 

33. Name withheld, oral history, 5 December 1994. This respondent 
suddenly came under an extreme threat after the first version of this book 
was completed in 1997. 

34. Name withheld and Johnny 11, oral histories. 
35. LAW: Light Anti-tank Weapon. 
36. Name withheld, oral history. 
37. Untitled, handwritten personnel report, ACRN archives, 20 

December 1981, S-l. This report also indicates that the Legibn was active 
by then in the United States and Guatemala. 

CHAPTER 7 

1. See for example, Christian, Nicaragua: Revolution in the Family, 24. 
2. See for example, Williams, "Presidential Leadership in Nicaragua"; 

Walter, The Regime of Anastacio Somoza 1936-1956; and Strachan, Family and 
Other Business Groups. 

3. General Raudiles had been an officer with Gen. Augusto Sandino. 
He was accompanied by thirty men. Martino, oral history. 

4. Mendieta Alfaro, Olama, 53-56; Gamboa, Comofue que no hicimos la 
revolution, 9; Hernindez, El FSLN por Dentro, 21-22. 
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6. Confidential source. 
7. Comisih de Asuntos Especiales, Infomze Sobre el Trafico de Armas, 

San Jose, National Congress, 14 May 1981,7 vols. 
8. Sufiol, Insurreccibn en Nicaragua, 141. 
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reports. See also Kasten, "Extent and Nature of the Soviet Presence in 
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tember 1989. 

11. "Equipo Militar Suministrado a Nicaragua Hasta la Fecha (Octubre 
de 1987)" and "Informe de la FASDAA para la Reuni6n Tripartita 1987," 
Managua, Ejercito Popular Sandinista. Classified Muy Secreto, or Top 
Secret. Annexes V, V11 and VIII. "Tripartita" refers to Nicaragua, Cuba, 
and the Soviet Union. Hoover Institution, Stanford University. 

12. According to Fermrin Cienfuegos, the former commander of El 
Salvador's Frente Faribundo Marti de Liberaci6n Nacional (FMLN), who 
was responsible for the arsenal, about eighty-three thousand of the Cuban 
supplied weapons were shipped by the Sandinistas to his forces during 
the 1980s, several thousand of which were then sent by them to other guer- 
rilla groups. Fermiin Cienfuegos, oral history. 

13. Alejandro Martinez Saenz, oral history. A chapter by Martinez is 
also included in Brown, ed., When the AK-47s Fall Silent. 

14. Chino Lau and 4-2, oral histories. 
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The CIA ignored that portion of a 1992 FOIA request seeking documents 
on this period. 

16. Costa Rican officials confirmed that Montonero guerrillas were 
active with the Sandinistas' forces in Costa Rica during the 1978-79 war. 
Confidential sources. 

17. The story was told by former Costa Rican Minister of Public 
Security Juan Jose "Johnny" Echeverria Brealey who, as a guest of honor 
of the Sandinistas, witnessed the event and then talked with the Argentine 
ambassadors to Nicaragua and Costa Rica. Echeverria had been the key 
Costa Rican in charge of facilitating arms deliveries and other support to 
the Sandinista Front during the war against Somoza. "Johnny" Echeverria 
Brealey interviews, 11,15 November 1994. 

18. Clarridge, A Spy for All Seasons, 202. 
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19. Sworn statements by four Alvarengas describe the family's active 
support for the rebels, beginning with the MILPAS in early 1980. ACRN 
archives. 

20. Including a former Milpista and another Resistance activist, both of 
whoi asked not to be identified. 

21. Argentina was known by the CIA as early as 1979 to be unhappy 
with the Sandinistas. Clarridge, A Spy for All Seasons, 202. 

22. Adolfo Calero, interview, 12 March 1997. At the time Calero was 
the president of the Conservative Party. 

23. Doctor Javier, interview, Managua, 11 March 1997. 
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(Ministries of Social Welfare, Education and Health, Managua, 6 April 
1996), Project NIC/92 P01 FNUAP/OIM. See also United Nations, Diag- 
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5. 4-2, oral history. 
6. Ibid. 
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senior Sandinista leader said that Dimas had just returned from training 
in Argentina when he was killed in August 1981. If so, he would have gone 
to Argentina in June, suggesting he was among the first Milpistas to rally 
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source. 
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9. Abel Cespedes, "Cyro," interview, Managua, 9 June 1996. Cespedes 
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became a senior official in Managua's municipal government in 1997. 

10. Juan Ram6n Rivas Romero, a former sergeant from Boaco. U.S. 
Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 55. Whether this was by acci- 
dent or design could not be determined. 

CHAPTER 9 

1. Angel Sosa, "Emiliano," interview, Managua, 18 November 1994. 
Sosa is discussed in U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies, 56. 

2. Not included in Status of Forces reports, giving the FDN more 
combatants than were ever reported. 

3. "Handwritten Memoranda on Troop Strengths, 820812." ACRN 
archives. 820812 stands for 12 August 1982. 

4. "Informe de Estado de Fuerzas de FDN a1 dia 20 de Octubre de 
1983," Cuartel General General Fuerza Democratica Nicaragiiense, 
Jefatura de Personal, 20 October 1983. ACRN archives. 

5. "Estado de Fuersa [sic] . . . ," Comando Regional Gorge [sic] Salazar 
NRO (l), FDN, 22 May 1997. ACRN archives. 

6. "Estado de Fuerza," Secci6n de Personal, Cuartel General General 
de la Resistencia, Estado Mayor, 13 July 1988. ACRN archives. 

7. For example, "Volcan, 0940260984, A: Jefe Puerto Cabezas, De: Jefe 
La Tronquera." The number 0940260984 is a chronological message 
number assigned by Sandinista army communications. It means that the 
message was transmitted at 0940 hours (9:40 A.M.) local time, on 26 Sep- 
tember 1984. ACRN archives. This possibly unique series contains verba- 
tim message texts in chronological order of both FDN communications 
and decrypted intercepts of Sandinista army regional headquarters 
messages. A sample is in appendix A. 

8. "Mensajes Recibidos-Venado: Mes Septiembre," ACRN archives. 
This particular folder contains several thousand copies of FDN radio 
messages and Sandinista army messages intercepted by FDN communi- 
cations intelligence. 

9. To protect those who were involved from possible reprisals the 
names, exact numbers, and precise locations, although given in the two 
messages, are not repeated. 
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10. "Organizaci6n del Apoyo Auxiliar a Fuerzas Clandestinas: Fuerzas 
Clandestinas," undated but probably, from the context in which it was 
found, sometime in mid-1982. ACRN archives. 

11. "Informe Area Insureccional Nueva Segovia, Nic., A: Jefe de Estado 
Mayor, De: Cmdte Base Operacional Nicarao," 7 October 1982. ACRN 
archives. 

12. In a region between Esteli and Jinotega. 
13. Comandos infiltrating into Nicaragua usually carried from 80 to 90 

pounds of supplies on their backs both for their own use and for delivery 
to Comandos inside. Once inside they became dependent for food, water, 
and shelter on locally available sources. Captured weapons, munitions, 
and military materials and equipment were used when possible, since the 
only other alternative was to depend on rare and often undependable air 
drops. 

14. Throughout the conflict, Comando units regularly reported on the 
seizure of military materials, especially weapons and munitions. For 
example, during the month of September 1984, thirty-four messages from 
Resistance units reported the capture of 268 AK-47 assault rifles and 
189,700 rounds of ammunition for FAL rifles, a reminder that captured 
ammunition is not always useful, nor are nonstandard weapons neces- 
sarily easily assimilated into the table of equipment of a unit. "Mensajes 
Recibidos: Mes: Septiembre-Venado," September 1984. ACRN archives. 

15. The following description of highland campesino life emerged 
from discussions with the Comandos and other active participants and 
from several visits to the region during 1993-98. It was also discussed at 
length with Sergio Caramagna, director of CIAV/OAS, and his staff. 
CIAV/OAS, a protective international agency, had worked in the high- 
lands for seven years directly with the Resistance, especially in the most 
remote comarcas. He and his staff agreed with the analysis. 

16. What psychologists would call both cognitive and affective disso- 
nance. 

17. For an extensive discussion of highland kinship patterns see Keller, 
Wiwili, 88-93. 

18. Guaro: a locally made alcoholic drink, usually very potent. 
19. Miranda and Ratliff, The Civil War in Nicaragua, and Jaime Morales 

Carazo, La Contra. 
20. Miranda, Civil War, 243. 
21. "Status of Forces," Cuartel General General EjQcito de la Resis- 

tencia Nicaragiiense, Estado Mayor, Secci6n de Personal, 6 de Septiembre 
de 1988. ACRN archives. 

22. Exceptions existed in special cases such as Special Forces, medical 
and air operations, logistics, and the like. Some recommendations or even 
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interim appointments might be made at the Headquarters level, but these 
were then normally subject to troop ratification. 

23. Colonels Abel Cespedes, Cyro, and Ricardo Lau, Chino Lau, 
stressed repeatedly that in almost all instances Strategic Headquarters 
only suggested operations to field units. It did not issue orders for them. 

CHAPTER 10  

1. "Datos Generales (Personnel File), Juan Jose Martinez Tercero, no. 
332, Legi6n 15 de Septiembre, Control de Personal," n.d., circa 1983. 
ACRN archives. 

2. Message "Toro, 103005 Sept 84, OK 113505, S20/Marilac, Mensajes 
recibidos." ACRN archives. 

3. Angelica Maria, oral history and interviews, 1995,1997. 
4. Jefe de Grupo: roughly equivalent to a platoon leader or lieutenant. 
5. "Historial de 10s Nombres Que Llev in las Fuerzas de Tarea del 

Comando Regional 'Salvador Perez'," 6 Apri 1 1985. ACRN archives. 
6. A Resistance wag once said that some Americans must have 

thought them strange indeed. Besides size 3 combat boots and child-sized 
camouflage combat uniforms, they regularly asked for enough panty hose, 
sanitary napkins, Avon Skin-%-Soft body lotion, and women's underwear 
to supply their entire army. Some supplies were for women Comandos, 
but most had broader uses. I was once asked by an officer of TFHA who 
was new to the project and processing supply requisitions whether the 
FDN was an army of dwarf transvestites. I assured him they were not and 
explained that panty hose kept leeches off in swamps, Skin-So-Soft was 
an excellent insect repellent, women's underwear did not chaff the crotch 
and also washed and dried quickly, and sanitary napkins dressed battle 
wounds better than bandages. 

7. "Listas de Mujeres que hay a agregar en el estado de fuerzas del 
comando estrategico," Cuartel General General EjQcito de la Resistencia 
Estado Mayor, 16 April 1989, Cdte Ruben, G-5, Estado Mayor. ACRN 
archives. 

8. "Estado de Fuerza de Mujeres y Nifios Que No Estan en el E.F. 
General del E.R. en San Andres de Bocay," Status of Forces Report, Cuartel 
General General, EjQcito de la Resistencia, Estado Mayor, 6 September 
1988; and "Estado de Fuerzas," Cuartel General General EjQcito de la 
Resistencia Nicaragiiense, Seccih de Personal, 6 September 1988. ACRN 
archives. 

9. Comandos normally joined a unit with which they then perma- 
nently identified, and parent Regional and Task Forces operating inside 
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Nicaragua kept behind a detachment in Yamales, Bocay, or another sanc- 
tuary area. In addition to maintenance personnel and Comandos on 
detached assignments, these rear-guard formations usually included the 
unit's women and children, as well as its wounded and disabled. 

10. Author's collection. 

CHAPTER 11 

1. Chamorro was president from 1990 through 1996.The widow of 
Pedro Joaquin Chamorro, a martyr of the Somoza period, she was herself 
descended from eight presidents. A former Sandinista junta member, she 
had children in both the Resistance and Sandinista camps. 

2. Senior Resistance comandantes knew the agreement was distinctly 
not in their interests and for a while even planned to launch a last-ditch 
independent offensive out of sheer frustration. Rubh  and Erniliano, inter- 
views, Managua, 1994. 

3. FDN, YATAMA, Southern Front, and a postwar Central Front. 
CIAV/OAS, Numero de Desrnouilizados por Lugar de Nacimiento, Managua, 
25 June 1993. 

4. The Spanish acronym for UN observers in Central America. 
ONUCA also had responsibilities in El Salvador and Guatemala. 

5. Confidential interviews. 
6. Tegucigalpa 08456,15 May 15 1988, CONFIDENTIAL EXDIS CONTRA. 

7. The FDN' S estimate. Many former senior comandantes said that 
hundreds of other FDN deaths-in-action were never officially reported. 
The other two fronts, YATAMA and the second Southern Front, lost 
between 1,500 and 2,000. 

8. Together with YATAMA, Southern Front, separate Surnu Indian, 
Internal Front, and Black Creole Contra forces, perhaps 55,000 to 60,000 
were Nicaraguan Resistance combatants at one time or another. 

9. The Sandinistas' literacy campaign does not appear to have reached 
the campesinos of the Comandos' home comarcas. Telegram, State 078645, 
14 May 1989, CONFIDENTIAL. 

10. This profile applies only to Comandos. Data are not available on 
supporters. 

11. CENPAP, hforme Evaluative de las Actividades Realizadas por el 
CENPAP: Septiernbre 1990-Septiembre 1992, Managua, November 1992,l. 

12. Computer run. CIAV/OAS, December 1994. 
13. Fifteen of the seventeen had centuries-old histories of violent 

resistance to outside domination attempts. This is discussed in chapter 
12. 
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14. Personnel dossiers. ACRN archives. 
15. The earliest were created by the Legi6n 15 de Septiembre. A sample 

dossier is in appendix B. 
16. Rushdie, The Jaguar Smiles. 
17. These Chibchas are not to be confused with the Atlantic lowland 

Miskitos. 
18. The "Linea de la Frontera Espanola" is discussed in chapter 12. 
19. CIAV/OAS was kind enough to perform a special computer run 

for this purpose. 
20. Two examples are discussed in chapter 12. 
21. Self-identification as an indio puts one squarely on the indigenous 

side of Nicaragua's principal ethnic abyss and also constitutes conscious 
and informed rejection of the label mestizo. 

CHAPTER 12 

1. Nahua is used here for groups from Mexico. Chibcha is used for 
those of South American extraction. Tribal or city-state names are used 
only when they clarify more than confuse. 

2. Leon-Portillo, Religion de 10s Nicaraos, 24-34, including an excellent 
map showing their route to Nicaragua on page 29. 

3. About 4,500 years, according to glotochronology. Constenla, Las 
Lenguas. Microbiologists are also closing in on the identity and timing of 
the Chibchan presence in Nicaragua. Barrantes, Evolucih en el tropic0 and 
"Mitochondrial DNA 'clock'." Some anthropological studies are also 
under way. 

4. The Pacific lowlands of modem Chiapas, Mexico. 
5. See Newson, Indian Survival, 88, and two works by Denevan, (ed.) 

Native Population and Upland Pine Forests. Other estimates vary. Newson 
and Denevan both wrote their Ph.D. dissertations on Nicaragua. Newson 
concentrated on the early Spanish Conquest period. Denevan studied the 
Segovian highlands. When I consulted with them, both agreed that the 
Chibchan highlanders largely survived the Conquest but that the Mexica 
lowlanders did not. 

6. Archaeological excavations near the eastern skirt of the Laguna de 
Tiscapa in central Managua were under way in 1996 under the supervision 
of Dr. William Lange of the University of Colorado Museum. He was kind 
enough to give me a guided tour of the excavation and said that what was 
being uncovered appeared to show that in pre-Columbian times Managua 
was an extensive line city-village with a population of several tens of thou- 
sands distributed, as is modern Managua, along the eastern shore of lake 
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Xolotlan (Managua). See Guerrero and Soriano, Managua en sus 40 siglos, 
for a history of the city. 

7. The Spanish colonial city of Granada was founded next to Jalteba. 
Nicaragua's other major colonial city, Leh,  was planted in the middle of 
Imabite. 

8. Newson, Indian Suwival, 48-49. 
9. Six key chronicles from the Gil Gonzalez expedition, three from 

that of Francisco Hernandez de Cordoba, and three on early explorations, 
can be found in Incer, Cronicos de Viajeros. 

10. Fowler, "Ethnohistoric Sources on the Pipil-Nicarao of Central 
America," is a useful critique of the early chronicles. 

11. Fowler, The Cultural Evolution of Ancient Nahua Civilizations, is an 
especially rich study of Mexica-Nahua culture and peoples, including of 
those who inhabited Nicaragua. 

12. For discussion see Garcia Bresso's essay "Los Nicarao." There is a 
schematic of Nicarao society on page 14 of that essay. 

13. Radell, Historical Geography, 48. 
14. Human porters. The use of tamemes was continued by the Spanish 

for several decades but in a manner that resulted in massive abuse. 
Sherman, Forced Native Labor, 111-28,220-32. Sherman agrees that Nica- 
ragua was densely populated but puts the total much lower than do 
Newson and Denevan. 

15. Constenla, Las Lenguas, 6-8. 
16. At least one Chibchan group had stayed in the mountains of the 

Cosigiiina Peninsula. Incer, Viajes, 68. Radell identifies them by their 
Nahua name-Nahuatlato. Radell, Historical Geography, 37. 

17. Incer, Viajes, 63,95. 
18. Newson, Indian Suruival, 64. 
19. The route ran through a region known as Taguzgalpa in the high- 

lands from present-day Nicaragua to present-day Honduras through the 
locales of the modern-day towns of Teotecacinte, Jalapa, Ciudad Nueva, 
Jinotega, and Nueva Segovia, Nicaragua. Guillen de Herrera, Nueva 
Segovia, 75-76. 

20. Newson, Indian Suruival, 88; Denevan, Upland Pine Forests, 283. 
21. The Chontales were Chibchas, the Chorotegas Nahua-Mexica. 
22. Incer, Viajes, 95. 
23. Jicaques or Xicaques, Lencas, Kiribies, and dozens of other groups 

were among the Chibcha. Especially confusing is early use of the names 
Caribes or Caribises to designate the north-central mountain groups and 
later use of the same names for the related but separate Miskito, Sumu, 
and Rama. Indios bravos or indios de las montafias are also used by some for 
either or even both. 
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24. See Wheelock, Raices indigenas de la lucha anti-colonialista; Guerrero 
and Soriano's series on the various departments (provinces) of Nica- 
ragua; Romero Vargas, Persistencia indigena en Nicaragua; Guillen de 
Herrera, Nueva Segovia; Incer, Nueva Geografia, Viajes, and Toponimias 
Indigenas de Nicaragua; and Mantica, El Habla Nicaragiiense. For primary 
sources, most chronicles can be found in the seventeen-volume Coleccicin 
Somoza: Documentos Para la Historia de Nicaragua, edited by Andres Vega 
Bolaiios, and Nicaragua en 10s cronistas de la Indias, edited and annotated 
by Jorge E. Arellano. 

25. Incer, Viajes, 19. 
26. Cuadra devotes a chapter to this theme, entitled "El Indio que 

llevamos adentro: Herencias de nuestras dos culturas indigenas madres" 
("The Indian-ness We Carry Within: The Heritage of Our Two Indigenous 
Mother Cultures"). Cuadra, El Nicaragiiense, 105-10. 

27. Bartolome De Las Casas, in Arellano, ed., Nicaragua el las cronistas 
de las Indias, vol. 1/71. 

28. Incer, Viajes, 62. 
29. Howell, ed., Prescott: The Conquest of Peru, The Conquest of Mexico, 

and Other Selections, 24748. 
30. One of the first FDN bases was Base Nicarao. A Comando Regional 

Nicarao was later a major resistance unit. "Informe del Estado de 
Fuerzas," BOP, FDN, 13 September 1982, and "Estado de Fuerzas," 
Cuartel General General Ejercito de Resistencia Nicaragiiense (ERN), 6 
September 1987. ACRN archives. 

31. Incer, Viajes, 47. 
32. Diriangen was to be the name of a second early FDN base and 

another major Comando Regional. "Informe de Fuerzas" and "Estado de 
Fuerzas," op. cit. The EPS also used the name. For example, its 1987 
project to request additional arms was known by the code name Diri- 
angen I-Diriangen 11, "Informe de la FAS-DAA . . ." For a discussion of the 
original Chief Diriangen, see Guerrero and Soriano, Caciques Heroicos, 
45-53. 

33. Incer, Viajes, 53-54/68. 
34. Newson, Indian Survival, 120. 
35. Ibid., 117. Elsewhere Newson adjudges this number as "fairly accu- 

rate, since the 'oidor' [a sort of Inspector General sent by the Crown or a 
Viceroy] was familiar with the area at the time, and it is also fairly consis- 
tent with the numbers of tributary Indians registered in the Tasaciones 
tribute books made for the greater part of Western Nicaragua in 1548." 
Newson, Indian Survival, 86. 

36. Ibid., 110. Each tributary Indian represented a household. Using a 
generous multiplier of four, Managua had been reduced from 40,000 to 
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slightly over 1,000 and Jalteba from 8,000 to about 800. The drop from 1 
million to 30,000 represented a reduction of 97 percent. 

37. Newson, Indian Survival. See also chap. 4, "Native Depopulation 
and the Slave Trade, 1527-1578," in Radell, Historical Geography. Sherman, 
Forced Native Labor, is dedicated in large part to discussion of this same 
issue. 

38. Newson, Indian Survival, 101-107. 
39. Sherman, Forced Native Labor, 22. 
40. Ibid., 21. 
41. MacLeod, Spanish Central America, 49. 
42. Ibid., 51. 
43. For a fascinating tour d'horizon of Central America's modern 

ruling class and its genetic Spanish roots, see Samuel Z[emmuray] Stone, 
The Heritage of the Conquistadores: Ruling Classes in Central Americafiom the 
Conquistadores to the Sandinistas. Stone provides genealogical tables, espe- 
cially lines of common descent from Conquistadors. Ten Nicaraguan and 
24 Costa Rican presidents are descendants of Juan Vasquez de Coronado. 
One Guatemalan, 2 Salvadoran, 1 Honduran, 1 Panamanian, 7 Nica- 
raguan, and 32 Costa Rican presidents are related via Jorge de Alvarado. 
Twenty-seven leading Sandinistas and 10 Nicaraguan presidents are in 
the Lacayo family tree. Eighteen are Cuadras. Postwar President Chamorro 
had 8 in her tree. 

44. Newson, Indian Survivnl, 12. 
45. There was a small exception around the gold mining area of Nueva 

Segovia. 
46. MacLeod, Spanish Central America, 206. 
47. The population of Nicaragua did not recuperate to its 1520s levels 

until about 1950, and Nicaragua still has labor shortages at harvest time. 
48. Those interested in pursuing this issue are referred especially to 

studies by MacLeod, Newson, and Sherman. 
49. Newson, Indian Survival, 92. 
50. Incer, Viajes, 68. 
51. See Gould, "La Raza Rebelde," 69-117. 
52. Cuadra, in El Nicaragiiense, reviews this process. 
53. Gould estimates that as recently as 1920, 15 to 20 percent of the 

population of Nicaragua, or 125,000 people, mostly in the highlands, 
retained their indigenous ethnic consciousness and Indian (not "indio") 
identities. His is a narrower definition than the one used in this book. 
Gould, "!Vana Ilusion!", 3. 

54. Ibarra, "Los Matagalpa a principios del siglo XVI," 233. 
55. Protestantism has been making inroads. Martinez, Las sectas en 

Nicaragua, 63-65. 
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56. Oral Histories, Pirata and Name Withheld. 
57. Indios bravos: Wild Indians. 
58. The line of the Spanish frontier. Guerrero's Chontal-Chorotega line 

appears accurately to delineate the Mexica-Chibcha divide. Guerrero and 
Soriano, Los 9 tribus, 43. Incer's version follows the commercial road 
between Nicaragua and Honduras described earlier, but Chibcha also 
dominated in the mountains to its west. Incer, Viajes, 6. 

59. Incer mentions major early Spanish-Chibchan confrontations in 
1524,1527,1547,1560,1597,1603,1608,1610,1611,1623,1674,1703,1713, 
1741,1743, and 1780. Incer, Viajes, 83,252-334. In their monograph on 
Matagalpa, Guerrero and Soriano dedicate twelve pages to short synop- 
ses of numerous clashes and other Indian problems in that province 
during the 1600s, 1700s and 1800s. Their monographs, Nueva Segovia, 
Jinotegn, Bonco, Chontales, Esteli, and Madriz include similar lists. 
Wheelock, in Raices, mentions clashes through 1881. Gould, in "!Vana 
Ilusion!" lists nineteenth- and twentieth-century incidents as recent as 
1954. 

60. The town and department of Nueva Segovia should not be 
confused. The town is now Ciudad Antigua. The department remains 
Nueva Segovia. Guillen, Nueva Segovia, 3640. 

61. United Nations Development Program, Diagnbstico Blisico de las 
Municipalidades: I Region "hs  Segovias," vol. 2. For chronicles of the travails 
of early colonial Nueva Segovia, see Guerrero and Soriano, Monografin de 
Nueva Segovia, and Guillen de Herrera, Nueva Segovia, 37-44. 

62. Guillen de Herrera, Nuevn Segovia. 
63. Mentioned several times earlier in connection with MILPAS activ- 

ities in 1979-81. 
64. Guillen de Herrera, Nueva Segovia, 256. Jicaques and Lencas were 

Chibchan tribes. 
65. Ibid. See also Guillen de Herrera, Nueva Segovia and Guerrero and 

Soriano, various monographs. 
66. Cu$ also know as CuA Bocay. Wiwiliis sometimes spelled Giiigiiili. 

This list correlates closely both with the comarcas in which the MILPAS 
rebellion started and the locales to which the highest number of 
Comandos returned in 1990. 

67. Since the nineteenth century, the term Zambo has not been in 
general usage. However, it implies a mixture of African black and Miskito 
Indian that has not disappeared. One top commander of YATAMA was a 
Black Creole/Miskito known as Comandante Samba (his real name was 
Carlos Kennard Hodgson Moody). U.S. Department of State, Nicaraguan 
Biographies, 50. 

68. Incer, Viajes, 327-401. 
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69. Bums, Patriarch and Folk, 31. 
70. Ibid., 31. 
71. Ibid., 34. 
72. Ibid., 34,156. 
73. Ibid., 157. 
74. The elite united in 1977-79 to rid itself of descendants of Bernabe 

Somoza. In that instance the death of another patriarch, Pedro Joaquin 
Chamorro, played a key role in uniting them. 

75. Guerrero and Soriano, Caciques Heroicos, 87. 
76. Ibid., 92-93. 
77. Ibid., 95. 
78. Catholic lay brotherhoods of indios. They have served the indios 

for centuries as one of a few socially accepted institutions through which 
their indio identity and values could be transmitted from generation to 
generation. 

79. Gould, "!Vana Illusion!". See also his "La Raza Rebelde" and To 
Lead as Equals. 

80. Gould, "!Vana Illusion!", 403 
81. Ibid., 402409. 
82. Ibid., 24. 
83. Ibid., 393-94. Emphasis in the original. 
84. Ibid., 397. 
85. Ibid., 4. 
86. Emphasis added. 
87. Schroeder, "Patriots, Peasants, and Process." 
88. On his mother 'S side. 
89. In English, Wheelock's title would be The Indigenous Roots of the 

Anti-Colonial Struggle in  Nicaragua from Gil Gonzalez to Joaquin Zavala 
(1523-1881). This places Wheelock squarely within the tradition of elite 
hegemonic discourse as described by Gould. 

90. Eugenia Ibarra, interview, San Jos6,1994. 

CHAPTER 13 

1. The upper class of this study. Adarns, Cultural Surveys, 195. 
2. Ibid., 195. 
3. Strachan, Family and Other Business Groups, 9,16. 
4. Stone, Heritage, 45. 
5. Burns, Patriarch and Folk, 31. 
6. Joaquin Cuadra Lacayo, commanding general of the Nicaraguan 

army in 1997, is an excellent example. A linear descendant on both sides 
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of Spanish conquistadores and Nicaraguan presidents, his father, 
Joaquin Cuadra Chamorro, is known as The Prince of Calle Atravesada. 
(Calle Atravesada is a grand avenue that marks the heart of Granada's 
aristocracy.) Jirbn, Quien es Quien, 122-25. Cuadra was named command- 
ing general of the army by his first cousin, President Violeta Chamorro. 
He was supported by six Sandinista "Spanish" senior officers popularly 
known as "Los Cheles," the White Guys. 

7. Radell, Historical Geography, 264,240. 
8. Strachan, Family and Other Business Groups, 9. 
9. In 1986, Alfredo F. Pellas was reportedly still "one of the richest 

men in Central America." Jirbn, Quien es Quie'n, 308-12. His mother and 
wife are Chamorros. 

10. Strachan, Family and Other Business Groups, 10. 
11. He was with the Harvard Business School's Institute Centro- 

americano de Administracion de Empresas (INCAE). INCAE has since 
been moved to Costa Rica. 

12. For discussion in greater depth, see Brown, Causes of Continuing 
Conflict in Nicaragua, 19-23. 

13. Adams, Cultural Surveys, 197. 
14. Squier, Waikna; Conzemius, Ethnographic Survey of the Miskito and 

Sumu Indians; Nietzchmann, Between Land and Water and Caribbean 
Edge. 

15. Pataky Nicaragua desconocida. Pataky was for many years a senior 
official of Somozals intelligence services. He is named repeatedly as a 
source in Stephen Kinzer's Blood of Brothers. 

16. It is interesting that those demanding independence are mostly 
former Sandinistas. Confidential source, June 1996. 

17. Escobar, Valverde and Rojas, "Situation de 10s habitantes de la zona 
del Caribe de Nicaragua." 

18. Southern Indigenous Creole Community of Nicaragua (SICC), The 
Origins and Development of the Afican-Ancest y Ethnic Groups of the Atlantic 
Coast of Nicaragua. Author's collection. 

19. United Nations Development Program (UNDP), Nicaragua: Pob- 
lacion Absoluta y Relativa, 12-13. 

20. Data were drawn from a wide variety of sources, including scat- 
tered documents, references and interviews. The most extensive published 
sources used were Jirbn, Quien es Quie'n; Samuel Stone, Heritage; U.S. 
Department of State, Nicaraguan Biographies; and David Nolan, FSLN, 
especially appendix 2,137-54. 

21. It might be argued that petit bourgeois like the Ortegas were less 
prominent in the Sandinista hierarchy than aristocrats, but they were 
certainly not proletarians or peasants. 
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CHAPTER 1 4  

1. "Possible Sandinista Killing Blow into Honduras," Memorandum, 
ARA, Elliott Abrams to the Secretary of State, SECRET/SENSITIVE, Action 
Memorandum, 7 March 1988. 

2. A videotape I made during the battle shows me visiting Bermfidez 
at headquarters and then visiting the front lines with him. Author's 
collection. 

3. "Sitrep: Situation at Bocay as of 1000 Hours Local March 18," 
telegram, Embassy Tegucigalpa 04637, March 1990, SECRET EXDIS CONTRA. 

4. "Resistance Forces Depend on Peasants: Sandinistas Enhance 
Military Position," Embassy Managua 03356, May 1988, CONFIDENTIAL, 

paragraphs 12,16,17,20. 
5. Ibid., paragraph 23. 
6. Author's collection. 
7. "Nicaragua Resistance-Snapshot of the NR (ERN/North) on 

March 8,1988 Visit to San Andrks de Bocay," Embassy Tegucigalpa 04046, 
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GLOSSARY TERMS AND 

ABBREVIATIONS 

ACRN: Asociaci6n Civica Resistencia Nicaragiiense (Nicaraguan Resist- 
ance Civic Association). Veterans association of former Comandos and 
their families. 

ANPDH: Asociaci6n Nicaragiiense Pro-Derechos Humanos (Nicaraguan 
Association for Human Rights). 

BLC: Batall6n de Lucha Irregular (Unconventional Warfare Battalion). 
Chibcha: Indian group that occupied Nicaragua east of the lakes before, 

during, and after the Spanish conquest. 
Chilotes: Peasant slang for the combatants of the MILPAS Anti-Sandinista 

People's Militias. A milpista guerrilla of the MILPAS. 
CIAV, CIAVIOEA, CIAVIOAS: Comisi6n Internacional de Apoyo y 

Verificacih (International Commission for Verification and Support, 
Organization of American States). 

CIM: Centro de Instrucci6n Military, of the FDN. 
Cornandante: In the Resistance, commander of a Comando Regional (CR) 

or Fuerza de Tarea (TF), senior. staff officer, Member of Council of 
Commanders. In the FSLN and the EPS, a guerrilla commander during 
the anti-Somoza war or senior military member of political hierarchy. 

Comando: Resistance combatant, Contra. Sometimes written C/R or c/r. 
C/R is also sometimes used to mean Comando Regional (see below). 
Meaning can often only be distinguished by context. 

Comando Regional (CR) (Regional Command): Resistance unit compa- 
rable to a regiment. Sometimes written C/R. Can often be distin- 
guished from C/R used to mean Comando only by context. 
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Comarca: The mountain indio term for home or community usually a 
settlement area without a nucleus. Also a mountain valley. The small- 
est unit of local government. 

Compa: Combatant of the Sandinista armed forces. Short for compafiero 
or comadre; or for compadre, godfather or close companion. See also 
Piri. 

Consejo de Comandantes Regionales: Council of Regional Commanders. 
FDN's ultimate authority. 

Contra Army: Popular collective term for the five armed Nicaraguan 
Resistance armies: FDN, YATAMA, Frente Sur, Sumos de Las Montaiias, 
and Floyd Wilson TF. Most often applied to the largest, the FDN. 

Contra War: 1979-90 armed rebellion against the Sandinista Revolution. 
Contra Counterrevolutionary: Pejorative for Comando. Sometimes writ- 

ten C/R or c/r. 
Correo(s): Intelligence runners, guides. 
EPS: EjQcito Popular Sandinista (Sandinista People's Army). 
ERN: Ejercito de Resistencia Nicaragiiense (Nicaraguan Resistance Army). 

Official 1986-90 name of the FDN. 
FDN: Fuerza Democratica Nicaragiiense (Nicaraguan Democratic Force). 

Largest Resistance army. 
Frente Revolucionario Sandino (ERS): 1948-58 anti-Somoza guerrilla 

movement. 
FSLN: Frente Sandinista de Liberacion Nacional (Sandinista National 

Liberation Front). 
Fuerza de Tarea (FT, FIT): Task force. Company-sized Resistance unit. 
Guardia Nacional (GN): National Guard. The Nicaraguan army during 

the Somoza period. 
HAF: Honduran Armed Forces. 
Indio: Term used in this book for mostly Indian mestizos of highland 

Nicaragua. 
Legi6n 15 de Septiembre: 15th of September Legion. Exile paramilitary 

organization created in December 1980. Became the FDN in August 
1981. 

Mestizo: Of mixed Spanish-Indian genetic origins. 
MILPA*. Milicias Populares Anti-Somocistas (People's Anti-Somoza 

Militia). A Sandinista Segovian highland guerrilla battalion that fought 
as part of the Sandinista northern Carlos Fonseca Front against the 
Somoza regime. Its combatants were called milpistas. Also a play on 
words, as a milpa is also an indio cornfield. 

MILPAS: Milicias Populares Anti-Sandinistas (People's Anti-Sandinista 
Militia). The first armed Resistance group. A successor movement to 
the Sandinista MILPA, made up of Segovian highland peasants and 
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led by former Sandinista guerrillas. Its combatants were also called 
milpistas. 

Milpas War: May 1979-82 highland peasant rebellion. 
Milpista(s): Combatant of the MILPA and/or MILPAS. 
MININT: Ministry of the Interior. State security forces. 
Miskito: Main Indian tribe of Atlantic Nicaragua. 
Nahua: Main Indian group in pre-Columbian Pacific Nicaragua. 
ONUCA: Observadores de las Naciones Unidas en Centroamerica 

(United Nations Observers in Central America). UN military disarma- 
ment and ceasefire observers. 

Piri: Comando pejorative for Sandinista combatants. From piricuaque, 
Miskito Indian for rabid dog. 

RN: Resistancia Nicaragiiense, civilian political movement. 
TF, TIF: Task Force. 
TFHAIAID: Task Force for Humanitarian Assistance, U.S. Agency for 

International Development (AID). 
YATAMA: Yapti Tasba Masraka Nani Asla Takanka (Main Indian Resist- 

ance Army). Successor of Miskitoa, Sumus Ramas United (MISURA), 
Miskitos, Sumos, Ramas, and Sandinistas United (MISURASATA), and 
United Indigenous Peoples of Nicaragua (KISAN). 
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208; allows Cuban arms airlift, 
205; initiates covert aid to 
Contras, uses Argentines as 
cover, 85; turns against 
Sandinistas, 206; turns against 
Somoza, 80. See also Argentina, 
and the Contras; Central 
Intelligence Agency and the 
Contras 

Carter Center, 177-78,266n.22 
Casaldfiliga, Bishop Pedro, as 

propagator of Black Legend, 
201-202. See also Black 
Legend 

Casey, William ("Bill") (Director 
of CIA), 3,5,7-8,86-87 

Casualties, 18,62,77,113,119, 
151,171 

Catholic Church, 97,175,26311.78; 
and Indian-Spanish battles, 159; 
Sandinista disrespect for, as 
cause of Contra War, 28,52; and 
Spanish Conquest, 149-50,152, 
154-55 

Cattle, cattle rustling, 70-71 
CDS. See Committees for the 

Defense of Sandinismo 
CENPAP. See Centro Nacional de 

Planificacidn y Apoyo a Polos 
de Desarrollo 

Censuses, 87,159,17840,253n.4, 
267nn.24,25,26; of 1995,180-82, 
and attempt to disenfranchise 
peasants, 178-79; second secret 
census, 179-80,267nn.24,25,26; 
as tool of anti-Indian 
hegemonic discourse, 159 

Central America, 9,261n.43 
Central American Indians, 159. 

See also under individual tribes 
or groups 
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Central Intelligence Agency 
(CIA), and the Contras, 3-8, 
87-88,199,202,235n.l, 236n.5, 
250n.30,252n.15,253n.21; AID 
takes over support role from, 
168-69; Argentines as cover for 
contacts with, 81-85,200; did 
not know who real Contras 
were, thought it created, 3; 
offers aid during Carter 
administration, 206; support for 
Escambray peasant rebellion in 
Cuba, 190-91; tries to recruit 
Alejandro Martinez to lead, 
240n.11 

Centro de Instrucci6n Militar 
(CIM), 106,243n.12 

Centro Nacional de Planificaci6n 
y Apoyo a Polos de Desarrollo 
(CENPAP), 115-16 

Chamorro, Pedro Joaquin, 79, 
257n.lr263n.74 

Chamorro, President Violeta, 165, 
175-76,179,185-86,207,257n.l, 
26111.43~264n.6 

Chamorro Barrios, Pedro Joaquin, 
185 

Chamorro family group, 163, 
264nn.6,9. See also Families, 
elite; Family groups 

Chamorro-Sandinista 1990 pact, 
175-76 

Ch6 Guevara, 190,240n.18 
Chiapas, Mexico, 9,258n.4 
Chibchan Indians: descendants as 

ethnic group, 194-95,201,203; 
as half of dual Nicaraguan 
character, 148; homeland 
coincides with highlander 
peasant Resistance, 9-10, 
119-20; pre-Columbian period, 

INDEX 

259n.23,262nn.58,59; settlement 
patterns, 123; social system, 147; 
sociological markers, 123-24, 
161; and Spanish Conquest, 
14546,153-56,160,177 

"Chilindrin" (real name 
unknown), 55-56,61 

Chinandega, Nicaragua, 21,71, 
117-19,157,164 

"Chino-85" (Carlos Garcia), 75, 
185-86 

"Chino-4" (Jose Antonio Aguirre), 
60,100 

"Chino Lau" (Ricardo Lau 
Castillo), 69-70,74,248n.l, 
25611.23 

Choluteca, Honduras, 69-70 
Chontales, Nicaragua, 11,89, 

103-105,117-18,237n.1,267n.23 
Chontal Indians, 14748,153-54, 

259n.23 
Chorotega Indians, 14748, 

259n.21 
CIA. See Central Intelligence 

Agency, and the Contras 
CIAV/OAS. See Comision 

Internacional de Apoyo y 
Verificaci6n/Organizacion de 
Estados Americanos 

Cifuentes, Honduras, 55,84 
CIM. See Centro de Instrucci6n 

Militar 
Ciudad Nueva, Nicaragua, 155, 

259n.19 
Civilian Resistance, 176,184-85 
Clandestine Comarca 

Committees, 15-16,26,58,93, 
97-99,179,238n.13. See nlso 
Highlander peasant Resistance 
to Sandinista Revolution 

Clans, highlander, 30,44,47, 
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Baldivias, 4748,58; Galeanos, 
17,30,44,48,58-60,243nn.8,11, 
24546nn.33,41,50; Herreras, 58, 
60,65; Mezas, 17,20,58; 
Rugamas, 30; Sobalvarros, 58. 
See also family names 

Clarridge, Duane, on Contras, 
4-457 

Class structures, Nicaraguan: of 
contemporary society, 67,160, 
162-67,261n.43,263n.89; of 
Chibcha, 147; of colonial era, 
152; of Nahua, 14648 

Coercion, 44,54,153,157,160, 
198,203. See also Highlander 
peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution, causes 
of 

Colombian involvement in 
Nicaragua, 80 

"Comandante 3-80." See 
Bermiidez Varela, Enrique 

"Comandante Bravo" (Pablo 
Emilio Salazar), 69,71-73, 
249n.10 

Comandantes of FDN: elected not 
appointed, 107; of Guardia 
Nacional origins, 89; 
legitimized by 1996 elections, 
185; women Comandos not 
promoted to, 110 

Comandantes of FSLN: top Nine 
appointed in Cuba by Castro, 
247n.66 

"Comandante Zero." See Pastbra 
Gomez, Eden 

Comandos (Contras), 3-8,70, 
115-16; allegations of forced 
recruitment by disproven, 115; 
highlander peasant roots of, 
168-69; killing blow to 
delivered by Americans, 172; 

legitimized by 1996 elections, 
183-88; as monsters, 201-202; 
as poor dirt farmers, 116,199, 
208; western model does not fit, 
124; women as, 109-13. See also 
Black Creoles; Fuerza 
Democratica Nicaragiiense; 
Highlander peasant Resistance 
to Sandinista Revolution; 
Southern Front; Sumus; 
YATAMA 

Cornarcas, in highlands, 237n.2, 
238nn.12,13,253n.4; nearly 
disenfranchised in 1996,17941, 
184; as popular support base of 
MILPAS, FDN, 13-16,18,45,51, 
92-106,108; produce MILPAS, 
13-16,18,45,51,92-93,237n.2, 
238nn.12,13. See also 
Clandestine comarca 
committees; Correos; 
Highlander peasant Resistance 
to Sandinista Revolution 

Comision Internacional de Apoyo 
y Verificacibn/ Organizacion 
de Estados Americanos (CIAV, 
CIAV/OAS), 121,176-77, 
246n.41,255n.15,257n.4, 
258n.19,266nn.9,15 

Committees for the Defense of 
Sandinismo (CDS), 29,32, 
52-54,59,62,67,105 

Compas (Compafieros, 
Comrades), 176-77,266n.12 

Congress, U.S., 3,8647 
Conquest, Spanish, 148-54, 

261nn.43,47; did not conquer 
Chibchas, 153-54; Sandinistas 
repeat errors of, 197-98 

Conservatives, Conservative 
Party, 179,182,186,206-207, 
253n.2; El Danto as, 21-22; 
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Alejandro Martinez as, 82, 
240n.11; Granada elite as, 164. 
See also Class structures, 
Nicaraguan; Elites 

Contras. See Comandos 
Cooperatives. See Agricultural 

cooperatives 
Correos, 238n.13,241n.25; chiefs 

of networks of, 25; Dimas's 
corps of, 32; as eyes and ears of 
Cornandos 7,15-16; Galeanos 
as, 58; Jhonson as, for 
Sandinistas, 61; La Chaparra as, 
44; Marina as, 24-26; Pirata as, 
27; Segovia as, 54; Tigre as, 
4143; webs, networks of, 94-97, 
101-106; women as, 112-13 

Costa Rica, 21-23,86,100,103, 
240n.11,250-51n.30, 
252nn.16,17; arms for 
Sandinistas against Somoza 
flow through, 79-81,83; attack 
on Montonero radio station in, 
76-77; CIA-Argentine approach 
to Alejandro Martinez in, 82; 
Costa Rican-style democracy, 
El Danto, MILPA fought for, felt 
betrayed, 23,30,40; Guardia 
Civil of, 77,240n.11; invasion of 
blocked, 73; Legidn 15 de 
Septiembre not present in, 77; 
original Southern Front 
organized in, operated from, 69, 
76-78 

Counterrevolutionaries. See 
Cornandos 

Creoles. See Black Creoles 
Cua. See El CuA Bocay Nicaragua 
Cuadra Chamorro, General 

Joaquin, 263n.6 
Cuadras family, 163,261n.43. See 

Cuba: 22,205,252n.12; arms airlift 
to Sandinistas to overthrow 
Somoza, 80-81; Escambray 
peasant rebellion in compared 
to Contra war, 189-92; 
intelligence, 190; involvement 
in Nicaragua, Central America, 
5,40,44,48,81,24041n.18, 
247n.66,252nn.12,17; Alejandro 
Martinez prisoner in, 240n.11; 
Nine Comandantes of FSLN 
named by Castro in, 247n.66; 
Revolution, 189,240n.18; 
training of guerrillas in, 79, 
235n.2; U.S. looks other way 
during arms airlift to 
Sandinistas from, 205 

"Culebra" (MILPAS, Oscar 
Sobalvarro Garcia), 55-57, 
24546nn.29,33,50. See also 
R u b h  

"Culebra" (Re-Contra, Denis 
Rodas Galeano), 24546n.33. 
See also Re-Contra 

"Cyro" (Abel Cespedes), 89, 
240n.14,249n.14,254n.9,256n.23 

"Daysi" (Maritza Zeledh), 
109-10. See also Maritza 
Zeleddn Task Force; Women 
Comandos 

De-kulakize. See 
"Descampesinizar" highlands, 
Sandinista objective to 

Demobilization of Contras, 
114-16,118 

Denochari, Nahua settlement, 146 
"Descampesinizar" highlands, 

Sandinista objective to, 189,194 
Destacamento 110 (army base in 

Guatemala), training of 
also Family groups Legionairres at, 75 
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Detentions of highlander 
peasants, 25,32,40,49,55,193. 
See also Highlander peasant 
Resistance to Sandinista 
Revolution, causes of 

"Dimas" (Pedro Joaquin 
God l ez ) ,  41,45,47,52, 
239nn.2,3,241n.20; actions of 
MILPAS group of, 26,29,32-35; 
attack on Quilali by, 20-21; 
death of, 35-37; described, 
27-31,42; growth of Milpas 
group of, 32-33; Marina 
(cornmon-law wife) on, 24-26; 
operational zones of, 66-67; 
takes up mantle of El Danto, 
23-24 

''Dimas Negro" (a.k.a. "Dimas 
Sagitario") (Marcos Navarro), 
20,109,253-54n.20 

"Dimas Tigrillo" (a.k.a "Dimas de 
Tigrillo") (Francisco Baldivia 
Chavarria), 4748,67,239n.2, 
240n.13 

Diriangen, Nahua chief, 150 
Diriangen Regional Command, 

60,96 
Disenfranchised. See Censuses; 

Elections 
"Doctor Javier" (name withheld), 

85 
"Douglas" (Anroyce Zelaya), 27, 

24111.72 

Echeverria Brealy, Juan Jose 
("Johnny"), 83,205,25111.17 

EEBI. See Escuela de Enseiianza 
Basica de Infanteria 

Ejerci to de Resistencia 
Nicaragiiense (ERN). See 
Fuerza Democratica 
Nicaragiiense 

Ejercito Popular Sandinista (EPS), 
35-37,170,176,260n.32; 
arsenals of, 81; arms inventory, 
225-29; Nuevo Ejkrcito, 
precursor of, 16,40,54,238n.16 

"El Cadejo" (real name 
unknown), 61 

"El Chigiiin." See Somoza 
Portocarrero, Anastacio 

El Chipote mountain, Nicaragua, 
7,14-16,35,38,236n.7 

"El Coyote'' (real name 
unknown), early MILPAS, 60 

El Cu5 Bocay, Nicaragua, 11,14, 
41,155,242n.50,246n.33, 
262n.66 

"El Danto" (Germgn PomAres), 
45,47,73,82,237n.11, 
240nn.7,8,241n.20; killing of 
triggers Contra War, 23-24,30, 
66-67; as godfather of MILPAS, 
14,17,19-24,27,29 

Elections, national: of 1990,178, 
182-83; of 1996,178430,182, 
184,188 

Elites: 163,206,207,26311.74; 
described, 164-65; forced labor 
of Indians by causes uprising, 
158-59; Nahua, 147; post- 
colonial patriarchal, 15640, 
162-63; Spanish colonial, 
152-53; try to destroy identity 
of Indians, 159,16243,165; 
vision of nation-state clashes 
with peasant world view, 
156-57 

El Salvador, 115,145,151, 
24041n.18,249n.10,257n.4; 
and anti-Indian hegemonic 
discourse, 159; Comandante 
Bravo flees to, 69-72; army 
supports, 73 



INDEX 

El Zungano mountain, Nicaragua, 
61,236n.7 

"Emiliano" (Angel Sosa), 94,98, 
100,257n.2 

Encomienda, Spanish colonial 
institution of, 152 

EPS. See Ej6rcito Popular 
Sandinista 

ERN. See Fuerza Democratica 
Nicaragiiense 

Escambray peasant rebellion 
(195943 in Castro Cuba) 
compared to Contra War, 
189-92 

Escuela de Ensefianza Basica de 
Infanteria (EEBI), 63,248n.72 

EspnAoles (Spaniards, as 
pejorative), 11,166,192 

Esteli, Nicaragua, 53,117-19,77, 
237n.1,239n.32,262nn.12,59, 
267n.23; Castro speech in, 18; 
Dimas as Sandinista 
commander of, 26 

Ethnic conflicts, pre-Contra War, 
15940,194-95. See also 
Highlander peasant resistance, 
pre-Revolution 

Ethno-historical markers in 
highlands, 161 

Europeanate nature of 
Nicaraguan elite, 158,195 

Executions. See Highlander 
peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution, causes of 

Families, elite, 16243; described, 
164-65. See also Class structures, 
Nicaraguan; Elites; Family 
groups 

Families, highlander, 58,65,176, 
203; importance of, 7,30,67, 
103,162,203; Revolution as 

threat to, 5,67,203. See also 
Clans, highlander; Highlander 
Peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution, causes 
of 

Family groups: first tier, 
Montealegre, 163,207; first tier, 
Pellas, 164,207; first tier, 
Somoza (pre-Revolution), 147, 
163,207; oligarchical elite, 
16345,206-207; second tier, 
Chamorros, Cuadras, Lacayos, 
165,181,261n.43,263n.6. See 
also Elites 

FARN. See Fuerza Armada de 
Resistancia Nicaragiiense 

"Farolin," early MILPAS, 53-54 
FDN. See Fuerza Democratica 

Nicaragiiense 
"Fermiin Cienfuegos." See Sancho 

Castafieda, Jos6 Eduardo 
"Fernandof' (Diogenes 

Herniindez Membrefio), 60, 
247n.55 

"Fighter" (Col. Juan Gomez), 74, 
249n.14 

Figueres, Jos6 ("Pepe"), 80 
First MILPAS combat, 33-35, 

242n.36 
First Nicaragua, 104 
FMLN. See Frente Faribundo 

Marti de Liberacibn Nacional 
Forced recruiting by FDN, 

charges of debunked, 115 
"4-2" (Filembn Espinal), 74,75 
"Franklyn," "Franklyn-16" (Israel 

Galeano Comejo), 45,58,60, 
173; suspicious death of, 
243n.11 

Frente Faribundo Marti de 
Liberacibn Nacional (FMLN), 
235n.2,252n.12 
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Frente Sandinista de Liberaci6n 
Nacional (FSLN), 13, 
240-41nn.11,18,247n.66,264n.21; 
arms flows from Cuba to, 
80-82; cadre announce socialist 
revolution, 22-23; Carlos 
Fonseca Amador (third leader) 
freed, 22; class differences with 
Comandos, 166-67; CO-governs 
with Violeta Chamorro, 207; 
Nine Comandantes of named 
by Castro, 247n.66 

Frente Sur. See Southern Fronts 
Frente 3-80,245n.33 
FRPLN. See Frente Revolucionario 

para la Liberaci6n de 
Nicaragua 

FSLN. See Frente Sandinista de 
Liberaci6n Nacional 

Fuerza Armada de Resistancia 
Nicaragiiense (FARN), 74 

Frente Revolucionario para la 
Liberaci6n de Nicaragua 
(FRPLN), 74,75 

Fuerza Democratica 
Nicaragiiense, 4,95-96,105, 
183,235n.1,236n.4,243n.53, 
250-52nn.30,9,254n.8,257n.8, 
260n.30; authority flow bottom- 
up not top down, 108; CIA, 
Argentines father, 86-87; 
combatants killed in action, 115; 
commanders elected not 
appointed, 107; as conduit for 
CIA-Argentine covert aid, 86; 
as curious hybrid army 89; 
during 1988-90 cease-fire, 
169-71; formal structure of, 
106-107; geography of, 114-24; 
killing blow to delivered by 
American allies, 172; as Legi6n 
15 de Sep tiembre-MILPAS 

alliance, 4,86-89,92; as 
MILPAS-Guardia alliance, 4, 
86-92,108,199-201; nature of 
combatants of, 116-17; number 
of combatants in, 115,118; as 
result of Reagan approach, 3; 
Strategic Headquarters (Estado 
Mayor) of, 81,93,106-108,172, 
200; Task Forces of, 60,256n.5; 
as volunteer force, 115; women 
Comandos of, 109-113 

Fuerza Democratica 
Nicaragiiense Special Forces, 77 

FUSEP (Honduras), 250n.26 

Galeano Cornejo, Elisa Maria. See 
La Chaparra 

Galeanos. See Clans, highlander, 
Galenos 

Garifuna, 166 
General Staff. See Fuerza 

Democratica Nicaragiiense; 
Strategic Headquarters 

"Ger6nimo" (real name 
unknown), 14,16 

Glass ceiling, limiting promotions 
of women Comandos, 110. See 
also Women Comandos 

Gold, as one Spanish golden key 
150-55,26111.48. See also 
Slaving, slave trade in Indians 

Granada, Nicaragua, 117-19,162, 
164,259n.7 

Grupo Lorenzo Cardenal, of FDN, 
65 

Grupo Pirata, of FDN, 27,51-53, 
241n.28,245n.17 

Guardia in FDN. See Fuerza 
Democratica Nicaragiiense 

Guardia-MILPAS alliance. See 
Fuerza Democratica 
Nicaragiiense 



Guardia Nacional (Army) of 
Somoza, 25,36,183; personnel 
levels in 1979,86,253n.2 

Guatemala: Guatemala City, 69, 
74,76; army, 74,75 

Guerrero Santiago, Noel (first 
FSLN leader), 237n.2 

Giiigiiili. See Wiwili 

Hangings. See Highlander peasant 
Resistance to Sandinista 
Revolution, causes of 

Hegemonic discourse as tool of 
domination, 15940,196,199, 
201-202,205,263n.89. See also 
Black Legend, the 

Hereditary patriarchy. See Elites; 
Family groups 

Hernhdez Sancho, Plutarco Elias 
("Comandante Martino"), 20, 
22-23,235n.2,240n.9 

Herreras. See Clans, highlander 
Herrera ZGfiiga, Red,  184-86 
Highlander peasant reaction to 

Sandinista Revolution: create 
MILPAS, 108; give weapons to, 
17,28; join alliance with 
Guardia, 88; manpower pool of, 
87; popular support base, 
99-101; provide Comandos, 32, 
40,51-52,68,87; provide 
correos, 93-97; serve on 
clandestine comarca committees 
of, 97-99. See also Re-Contra 

Highlander peasant resistance, 
pre-Revolution: decimation of 
Nahua, 151-53; during colonial 
period, 154-56; to Nahua, 8-9, 
145,14748; to post-colonial 
patriarchy, 10,156-60; to 
Spanish Conquest, 9-10, 
153-56,262n.59; to Somoza, 13, 

INDEX 

21-24,32,30,48; survival of 
Chibcha, 153-54 

Highlander peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution: during 
1990-96 Re-Contra silent war, 
174-77,185; as ethnic conflict, 
203; geography, entho-history 
of, 8,ll-12,117-19; as group 
survival reaction, 194-95; led 
by anti-Somoza former 
Sandinista peasants, 24,26, 
29-30,32,38,40,45,4749,52, 
54,58-59,202; legitimized by 
1996 elections, 182-88; number 
involved in, 104-106,116,118; 
as part of millenarian historical 
pattern, 120; as real Contra War, 
203; time line of, 200-201; 
ultimate winners, 208 

Highlander peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution, causes 
of: abuse of peasant girls by 
soldiers, 44; agrarian policies, 
reform, destructive impact of 
15,30,32,43,67,71,170,185, 
23811.5; arms sweeps, 43,49,56, 
59,67,194; arrests, 26,31,95; 
beatings, of Marina's children, 
25; beatings, of Oscar Kilo, 28; 
beatings, of peasants, 26,32, 
49-50; behavior of Sandinista 
army, State Security, 194; 
behavior of Literacy 
Brigadistas, 43,146; burning 
alive of alleged Contras, 26; 
coercion, 32,44,53,67,196,201; 
coercive violence, 67; detentions, 
25-26,32,49; disillusionment 
with course of, 27,41,52,54, 
66-67; forced associations, 67; 
hangings, 49,50; quartering of 
Literacy Brigadistas on, 57; 
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racism, anti-peasant bias of 
Sandinista cadre, 28,45,52,57, 
197; rapes, 25-26; reprisals, 
28-29,49-50,55,59,94,96,113; 
seizures of goods, 40; threats to 
family structure, 5,67,203; 
torture, 25/59! 73,193 

Highlander peasantry: attempt 
(1995-96) to disenfranchise 
fails, 178-79; emerges in 1996 as 
major political bloc, 184-88; 
geography, history of, 8/10; 
inhabit second Nicaragua, 
101-102,104; kinship patterns 
of, 102-103,255n.15; population 
of, pre-Columbian, 25811.5, 
253n.4; self-identification as 
"indio" (Indian), 10,258n.21; 
shared ethnic roots of, 8,ll-12, 
161,192,199,203,250n.30; 
social place of, 162-63,165-67; 
social system, 103-104,123-24, 
255n.5. See also Clans, high- 
lander; Highlander peasant 
resistance, pre-Revolution; 
Highlander peasant Resistance 
to Sandinista Revolution 

"Hombrito" (Fanor Perez Mejia), 
29-30,33 

Honduras, 34,54,55,70-71/86! 
117,145,159,172,236n.5, 
240n.30,259n.19,262n.58; 
armed forces and Contras, 
73-74,84,172,249n.11 

Humanitarian Assistance to 
Contras. See AID Task Force on 
Humanitarian Assistance 

Human rights. See specific 
violations 

Identity of highlander peasantry 
114,159,161,189,204; 

compared to Soviet 
nationalities conundrum, 
197-98,204; and Contra War, 
189; differs from Pacific 
lowlanders 

Imabite, Nahua settlement, 146, 
259n.7 

Incer, Jaime, 148 
Indians (Native American). See 

under individual tribes or 
groups (Chibcha, Chontal, 
Chorotega, Jicaque [Xicaque], 
Lenca, Miskito, Nahua, Rama, 
Sumu, Rama,). See also 
Highlander peasant resistance, 
pre-Revolution; Highlander 
peasantry; Slavery, slave trade 
in Indians 

Indians, slave trade in. See 
Slavery, slave trade in Indians 

Indios. See Highlander peasant 
resistance, pre-Revolution; 
Indians 

Institute for Agrarian Reform 
(INRA), 170 

Iran-Contra affair, 3 
"Ivan" (Abelardo Zelaya), 56 

Jalapa, Jalapa valley, Nicaragua, 
54-55/75! 259n.19 

Jalteba, Nahua settlement, 9,146, 
151t259n.7,260n.36 

Jefe de Estado Mayor. See Fuerza 
Democratica Nicaragiiense 
(FDN) Strategic Headquarters 

"Jhonson" (Luis Fley Gonziilez), 
61-62 

Jicaques (Xicaques), 155,259n.23, 
262n.64 

" Jimmy Leo" (Fremio 
Altamirano), 17,45,48-50,63, 
70,237n.4 
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Jinotega, Nicaragua, 11,61,70, 
103,110,117-19,259n.1, 
262n.59,267n.23; El Danto 
killed in, 23; Daysi killed near, 
110; during Re-Contras silent 
war, 174,177 

J i r h ,  Manuel, 263n.6,264n.20 
" Johnny" (Denis Galeano 

Cornejo), 44/48, 5840,246n.42, 
24811.5 

" Johnny 11" (Guillermo Yubank), 
70,24811.5 

Jorge Salazar 11, FDN Task Force, 
171,265n.8 

Jorge Salazar Regional Command, 
of FDN, 95,109 

"Jos6" (Jos6 Filadelfia Rivas), 186 
"Juan:23" (Juan Hernhndez), 61 
Juan Castro Castro, FDN Task 

Force, 60 

"Kaliman," (real name unknown), 
63,248n.74 

Kilamb6, Nicaragua, 45/48! 55/61! 
64/90! 155 

Killings of highlanders, by 
Sandinistas, 4346,49-50,59; of 
correos, 95,112; during 
1990-96, Re-Contra silent war, 
246n.4. See also Highlander 
peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution, causes 
of 

Kinship patterns. See Highlander 
peasantry 

Kulaks, 189,191. See also 
"Descampesinizar" highlands 

La Aurora airport, Guatemala, 81 
Labor shortages: caused by 

Spanish Conquest, 151-53, 
261n.47; forced labor because 

of, 159,259n.14; problem for 
post-colonial patriarchy, 157-58 

Lacayo Chamorro, General 
Joaquin, 179,266n.5 

Lacayo family, 152,163,164,175, 
179,261n.43,263n.6. See also 
Family groups 

La Chachagua, Chachagua River, 
Nicaragua, 14,16,33,242n.50 

"La Chaparra" (Elisa Marks 
Galeano Cornejo), 59-61,63, 
101,112,243n.8 

La Concordia, Nicaragua, 47. See 
also "Tigrillo" 

La Pita del Carmen, Nicaragua, 
14/62 

Las Culebras, MILPAS group, 
55-56. See also R u b h  

Las Praderas, Nicaragua, 14,40, 
49 

Las Trojes, Honduras, 29 
La Unih,  El Salvador, 

Comandante Bravo escapes to, 
72-73,249n.11 

La Zompopera, Nicaragua, 14/45 
Legi6n 15 de Septiembre, 69-70, 

74-78,81-82,84-86,200, 
258n.15,250n.22; Legionnaires 
of, 60,75,247n.56 

Legitimation, of highlander 
Resistance. See Election, 
national, of 1996 

Lencas, 155,259n.23 
Le6n, Nicaragua, 63,117-19,162, 

l64-65,237n.lr259n.7; burned 
by Bernabe Somoza, 157-58 

Leyenda Negra, La. See Black 
Legend, the 

Liberals: and anti-Somoza war, 
Revolution, 206; Comandos, 
highlanders as, 58,179-86; 
legitimizes Contras, 182-86; 
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and Liberal Party, 165,169; 
Somoza as, 157 

Linen de la Frontern EspaAola 
(Spanish Line), 154,259n.19 

Literacy brigades: brigadistas, 44, 
57,190,246n.38; Cuban, 190. See 
also Escambray peasant 
rebellion 

Literary Crusade. See Literary 
brigades, brigadistas 

Logistics, of FDN, 97-101, 
106-107,255nn.13,14. See also 
Fuerza Democratica 
Nicaragiiense 

Los Cheles (The White Guys), EPS 
high command, 164,263n.6 

Los Chiles, Nicaragua, attack on, 
77-78 

Los Zebras, first Guardia 
counterrevolutionary group, 
69-71,24811.3 

"L-20" (Hermia Hernhndez), 
6142,247n.56 

"Mack" (Jose Benito Centeno), 
l83 

Madriz, Nicaragua, department 
of, 117-19,237n.1,262n.59, 
267n.23 

Managua, Nicaragua, 43,63,74, 
77,178,183-84,246n.11,258n.6; 
Comandos from, 117-19; as 
home of elite, 162,164; 
occupied by Bernabe Somoza, 
157; peace of signed in Moscow, 
172,265n.11; as pre-Columbian 
Nahua settlement, 9,146,150 

"Marina" (Andrea Pinell), 20, 
24-26,67,112,241n.26 

Marines, US., 6,14; Marine- 
Sandino war, 160,236n.7, 
245n.32 

Maritza Zeledon Task Force, of 
FDN, 110. See also Daysi 

Market centers, Segovian, 100, 
102,105. See also Highland 
peasantry; Segovia, Segovian 
highlands 

Martinez Saenz, Alejandro Cksar 
("Comandante Martinez"), 20, 
22-23,251n.3,252n.13; passport 
with U.S. visa and 15 January 
1981 entry stamp, 231-34, 
240n.11 

Marxism, Marxists, 22-23,189, 
207,23511.2; Marxism, disabling 
anomalies of, 195-98 

Masaya, Nicaragua, 63 
Masaya Task Force, 60 
Matagalpa, Nicaragua, 10-11, 

60-61,63,90,104,237n.l, 
243n.52,245n.33,267n. 23; 
Comandos from, 117-19; Indian 
rebellion of 1881,158-60; 
Indian-Spanish battles at, 155, 
158; Re-Contra silent war and, 
177,184435. See also Rio Grande 
de Matagalpa, Nicaragua 

Matagalpan Indians, 244nn.4,ll 
Matagalpan rebellion of 1881, 

158-60 
Mestizos, mestisaje, 49,124, 

153-54,156,165,201 
Mexica-Nahua. See Nahua, 

Nahua-Mexica 
Mexico City, Mexico, 9,18,23,73, 

240n.18,247n.66. See also 
Tenochtitlan, Mexico 

Meza, Denis, execution after 
capture, l 7  

Mezas, 30,58,64. See also Clans, 
highlander 

"Mike Lima" (Luis Moreno 
Pavhn). 65 
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Milicias Populares Anti- 
Sandinistas (MILPAS), 4,7, 
13-68,104,117,168,172-73, 
204,207,24042nn.13,30,50, 
24811.83; as earliest into combat 
against Sandinista Revolution, 
18-20; and FDN, precursor of, 
combatants, combat leadership 
from, 87-90,108; as only 
antagonist without external 
help, 79. See also Calderbn, 
Irene; Culebras; Dimas; 
Highlander peasant Resistance 
to Sandinista Revolution; 
Tigrillo 

Milicias Populares Anti- 
Somocistas (MILPA), 13,22,26, 
35,200,202 

Military training in Cuba, offer of, 
52 

Militia, Sandinista, 5657,200, 
23811.17; alleged killing of 
Dimas, 35-37; pressure on 
highlander peasants to join, 31, 
59,67; skirmishes with MILPAS, 
16,38,56; as source of MILPAS 
arms, 52-53; suffer high 
casualties relative to EPS, 119 

MILPA. See Milicias Populares 
Anti-Somocistas 

MILPAS. See Milicias Populares 
Anti-Sandinistas 

MILPAS/Guardia Alliance, 4, 
86-92,108,199-201 

Milpistas. See Milicias Populares 
Anti-Sandinistas; Milicias 
Populares Anti-Somocistas 

MININT. See State Security, 
Sandinista 

Miskito Indians, 76,155-56,166, 
195,237n.10,259n.23,262n.67, 
266n.18. See also YATAMA 

INDEX 

Monimbo, Nahua settlement, 153 
Montealegres family group, 163, 

207. See also Elites; Family 
groups; Wells Fargo Bank 

Mon toneros (Argentine 
guerrillas), 76,83,252n.16 

Moralez Carrazo, Jaime, 185-86 
Moravia, Costa Rica, 83 
Moscow, peace of Managua 

signed in, 172,265n.11 
Munitions, 38,56,77,80,99,171, 

255nn.11,13,14 

Nahua, Nahua-Mexica, 8-9,12, 
124,162,25811.1; class structure 
of, 9,146; decimation of, 
151-53; deracination of, 153; 
economy of, 146-47; Spanish 
Conquest of, 145-51 

National Guard. See Guardia 
Nacional of Somoza 

New Army. See Ejercito Popular 
Sandinista 

Nicaragua: baseball in, 55-56, 
245n.32; border with Honduras, 
70,71,73,75,84,242n.50; 
censuses, 178-80, 
267nn.1,25,26,29,1; Cuban 
involvement in, 5,18,22; 
elections, 177-79; ethnic, 
geographic divides within, 
11-12,119,14748,159-60, 
16247,197-99,25811.21; first 
versus second Nicaragua, 
101-102,104,179,189,195; 
foreign entanglements in, 
79-85; foreign policies 
(Argentine, Costa Rican, 
Guatemalan, Venezuelan) 
toward, 80; highlander peasants 
of emerge as major political 
group, 184-87,199,201,204; 
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myth of mestisaje created in, 
159-61; population, 261nn.47,53; 
premiere poet Rub& Dario, 
245n.29; Soviet policies toward, 
172,252nn.9,10,11; U.S. policies 
toward, 79,81,84,172,175, 
205-206,207. See also Atlantic 
coast, littoral; Censuses; Class 
structures, Nicaraguan; 
Elections, national; Elites; 
Family groups; Highlander 
peasant resistance, pre- 
Revolution; Highlander 
peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution; 
Highlander peasantry; 
Nicaraguan history; Re-Contra 

Nicaragua, Lake, 78 
Nicaraguan history: alternative 

interpretation possible, 207; of 
colonial period, 102,120; of 
highland Chibchan, 147-59; of 
patriarchal period, 156-61, 
26111.43; of pre-Columbian, 
Pacific coast Nahua, 145-51, 
259nn.11,19,264nn.24,35, 
262n.58; of Spanish Conquest, 
148-56. See also Chibchan 
Indians; Highlander peasant 
resistance, pre-Revolution; 
Highlander peasant Resistance 
to Sandinista Revolution; 
Highland peasantry; Milicias 
Populares Anti-Sandinistas; 
Nahua, Nahua-Mexica 

Nicarao, Nahua chief, 146 
Nicarao, Base. See Base 

Operacional Nicaro 
Nicaraos (Nahua Indians), 148,150 
Nueva Segovia, Nicaragua, 

department of, 36,44,54,100, 
117-19,151,259n.19.262n.60; 

gold fields in, 154; Indian- 
Spanish battles in, 155; Re- 
Contra silent war in, 177,179 

Nuevo Ejkrcito. See Ejkrcito 
Popular Sandinista 

OAS. See Organization of 
American States 

Obando y Bravo, Cardinal 
Miguel, on promises broken by 
Americans, Chamorro, 177 

Observadores de las Naciones 
Unidas en Centroamerica 
(ONUCA), 115,257n.4 

Ocotal, Nicaragua, 24,26,162,169 
Olama y Mojellones rebellion, 79, 

24011.7 
Oligarchy, of Nicaragua. See Class 

structures, Nicaraguan; Elites 
ONUCA. See Observadores de las 

Naciones Unidas en 
Centroamerica 

Organization of American States 
(OAS), 170,177,246n.41, 
258n.19,267n.25. See also 
Comision Internacional de 
Apoyo y Verification/ 
Organizacion de Estados 
Americanos 

Ortega, Daniel, 179,183-84,197, 
208,264n.21 

Ortega, General Humberto, 103, 
235n.2,241n.27,264n.21 

"Oscar Kilo" (Orlando Algava), 
33,35,37 

Pacific lowlands, 8,44,77,102; as 
core region of Nicaragua, 102, 
104,124,162; FDN 
representation compared to 
highlands, 117; only region 
conauered bv S~anish. 145-53 
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Pacific mestizos, 124,165 
"Paloma," MILPAS group of, 53, 

55,245n.22 
Panama, 80,148 
Pantasma. See Santa Maria de 

Pantasma, Nicaragua 
Paramedics, Contra, 109,111. See 

also Women Comandos 
Pastbra Gomez, Eden (FSLNfs 

third "Comandante Zero"), 47, 
78 

Patriarchs, patriarchy. See Class 
structures, Nicaraguan; Elites; 
Family groups 

Peace process, 7,114,168,172,174 
Peasant-Marxist conflicts as a 

disabling anomaly, 189. See also 
"Descampezinizar" highlands, 
Sandinista objective to 

Peasants, peasantry. See 
Highlander peasant resistance, 
pre-Revolution; Highlander 
peasant Resistance to 
Sandinis ta Revolution; 
Highlander peasantry 

Pellas family group, 164,207. See 
also Family groups 

Pefias Blancas, Nicaragua, attacks 
on, 77,155 

PQez Bustamante, Alejandro, 7, 
236n.7 

Physical abuse. See Highlander 
peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution, causes 
of 

Pino-l, Base, 76,90 
"Pirata," Grupo de Pirata, 27, 

51-53,106,241n.28,244n.11, 
245n.17 

Piris, piricuaques, 266n.12. See also 
Compas 

Pita del Carmen, Nicarama, 14,62 

INDEX 

Plan de Grama, Nicaragua, 45,60, 
64 

Planos de BilAn, Nicaragua, 14, 
45/49! 50 

Playa Jirbn, Cuba. See Bay of Pigs 
"Pocoyo" (real name unknown), 

17,62,238n.20 
Popular support base, of FDN, 15, 

50,53, 92-94,99-101,238n.13. 
See also Highlander peasant 
Resistance to Sandinista 
Revolution 

Power structure. See Class 
structures, Nicaraguan 

Presidential Findings on 
Nicaragua, 84. See also Carter 
administration; Reagan, 
President Ronald; Senate Select 
Committee on Intelligence 

Proletarianizar. See 
"Descampesinizar" highlands, 
Sandinista objective to 

Proyecto Ariel, 75 
Prudencio Gonzilez Task Force, 

60 
"Pryor" (Juan Rodriguez 

Campos), 14-16 
Puente, Lenin Obidio (bodyguard 

of Tomas Borge), 73 
Puente Leh ,  Jose Obidio 

("Pepe"), 73,80,240n.18, 
247n.66 

Punto Cerro (Cuban school for 
guerrillas). See Cuba 

"Quich6" (Juan Ram611 Rivas), 89, 
172 

Quilali, Nicaragua, 11,24,45,62, 
95,169,236n.7,239n.3, 
24142nn.30,50, 244n.4; attack 
on by Dimas, 14,18-20,33-36, 
38,48,87; Dimas from. 21.26: 
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Indian-Spanish battles at, 155; 
Re-Contra silent war in, 174 

Racial biases. See Highlander 
peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution, causes 
of 

Radio 15 de Septiembre, 75 
Radio Noticias del Continente. See 

Argentina, Argentines, and the 
Contras 

Rama Indians, 76,166,195,250n.30 
Rape. See Highlander peasant 

Resistance to Sandinista 
Revolution, causes of 

"Raul" (Rodolfo Robles), 63 
Reagan, President Ronald, 3-8, 

84435,172,176 200,202, 
205-206,208 

Re-Compas, 176,177. See also Re- 
Contra 

Re-Contra (1990-96 silent war), 
175-77,180,185 

Reducciones (Spanish colonial 
instrument), l55 

Regional Commands, of FDN, 
106-108. See also Fuerza 
Democratica Nicaragiiense 

"Relfimpago" (real name 
unknown), 60,247n.51 

Reprisals. See Highlander peasant 
Resistance to Sandinista 
Revolution, causes of 

Requerimiento, 150,152 
Revueltos, 177,185. See also Re- 

Contra 
"Rigoberto" (Tirso Ram6n 

Moreno Aguilar), 17 
Rio Coco, Nicaragua, 14,35,38, 

70,116,241n.27,242n.50 
Rio Grande de Matagalpa, 

Nicaragua, 116,250n.30 

Rio San Juan, Nicaragua-Costa 
Rica border, 117,237n.1,267n.23 

Rivas, Nicaragua, department of, 
117-18,157 

"Ruben" (Oscar Sobalvarro 
Garcia), 17-18,28,55-57,70,100, 
173,245n.30. See also "Culebra" 

Rugamas, 30,58. See also Clans, 
highlander 

Safe houses: of Cornandos in 
highlands, 99; of FSLN in 
Mexico City, 240n.18; of Legi6n 
15 de Septiembre in Guatemala, 
74 

Sagitario, Task Force, 90,24811.2 
St. Cyr, two FDN officers as 

graduates of, 74,249n.14 
Salazar, Pablo Emilio. See 

Cornandante Bravo 
Salvadoran army, 71,73,75. See 

nlso El Salvador 
Salvador Pkrez Regional 

Command, of FDN, 109 
Sancho Castaiieda, Jose Eduardo 

("Ferm5n Cienfuegos" of 
FMLN), 235n.2,252n.12 

Sanctuary, FDN. See Honduras 
Sandinista army See EjQcito 

Popular Sandinista 
Sandinista Militia. See Militia, 

Sandinista 
Sandinista National Liberation 

Front. See Frente Sandinista de 
Liberaci6n Nacional 

Sandino, General Augusto Cesar, 
6-7,14-15,41,79,160,208, 
236n.7,240nn.11,18,251n.3 

Sandino war. See Sandino, General 
Augusto Cksar; Marines, U.S. 

San Jose de Bocay, Nicaragua, 11, 
25,38,39,64 
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San Juan de Limay, Nicaragua, 53 
San Marcos de Colon, Honduras, 

69,70 
Santa Maria de Pantasma, 

Nicaragua, 11,14,40,49,155, 
24211.50 

Santiago Meza Regional 
Command, FDN, 96 

Second (peasant) Nicaragua. See 
Highlander peasantry 

Security Forces. See State Security, 
Sandinista 

Segovia, Segovian highlands, 6,8, 
12-14,27,53-56,6548,200-201, 
237n.1,238n.8,241n.27,242n.41, 
253n.4,258n.5,261n.53; 
Sandinista military operations 
in, 6445; history of, 146,153-61. 
See also Highlander peasant 
resistance, pre-Revolution; 
Highlander peasant Resistance 
to Sandinista Revolution; 
Highlander peasantry 

Seizures of land, goods by 
Sandinistas, 16,26,42,71. See 
also Highlander peasant 
Resistance to Sandinista 
Revolution, causes of 

Seizures of Nicaragua: by Nahua, 
145; by Spanish, 145-51 

Self-identification as "indio." See 
Highlander peasantry 

Senate Select Committee on 
Intelligence (SSCI), 5,8546 

Settlement patterns. See Chibchan 
Indians; Nahua, Nahua-Mexica 

Sierra Escambray Cuba. See 
Escambray peasant rebellion 

Slavery, slave trade in Indians, 
148,26111.37; as a golden key of 
conquistadores, 151-51 

SLO. See Special Liaison Office 

Sobalvarros, 58/64. See also Clans, 
highlander 

Social place, of Comandos, 
highlander peasantry. See 
Fuerza Democratica 
Nicaragiiense; Highlander 
peasantry 

Soconusco (now Chiapas, 
Mexico), 9,145,151. See also 
Nahua, Nahua-Mexica 

Somoto, Nicaragua, 155 
Somoza, Bernabe, 157-58,263n.74 
Somoza Debayle, Anastacio, fall 

of, 13,22,24-27,30,4042,54, 
57,63,71,74,200-202; 
Argentine Montoneros 
involvement in, 83; Contras 
(Comandos), other anti- 
Sandinistas who had fought 
against or felt betrayed by, 4,6, 
13-14,16,27,30-31,6647,193, 
199-200,202-203,24111.30 

Aureliano, 61; Baldivia clan, 
4748; Bruce Lee, 4041; 
Calderh, Irene, 35,42; 
Caturra, 17; Dimas, 19-21,26, 
30,32,37-38; Dimas Tigrillo, 
240n.13; El Danto, 17,21-22, 
38; Emiliano, 94; Fabih, 33; 
Galeano clan, 48/58-59; 
Ger6nimo,l4; Jhonson, 61; 
Jimmy Leo, 49; Marina, 24; 
Martinez, Alejandro, 81, 
240n.11; Morales, Jaime, 184; 
Pkrez Bustamante, Alejandro, 
7; Pirata, 27; Rigoberto, 
23811.26; Segovia, 54; Tigre, 
16,4243; Tigrillo, 4746; 

Liberals did not participate in, 
206; as eruption within ruling 
class, 206; U.S. (Carter) turns 
back on, 80 
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Somoza Debayle, Luis, 206 
Somoza dynasty /dictatorship, 

34,13-14,19-20,40,79,82, 
157,206; ALAS, loyalists within 
Guardia, 249n.15; armed 
struggles against, 6,20-22,27, 
30-32,38,41-42,79-80; 
Berrnudez, Enrique (3-80) sent 
into exile by, 249n.15; foreign 
help, Cuban arms help over- 
throw of, 7943,252n.17. See 
also Somoza Debayle, Anastacio 

Somoza family group, 163-65, 
207. See also Class structures, 
Nicaraguan; Family groups 

Somoza Garcia, Anastacio 
("Tacho"), 157,206,249n.15; 
agrarian reform of, 25011.30 

Somoza Portocarrero, Anastacio 
("El Chigiiin"), 24811.72 

Sorcery, 124,154. See also High- 
lander peasantry; Witchcraft, 
among highlander peasantry 

Southern Fronts: of Contras, 
original, 69,76-78,86; second, 
of Eden Pastbra, 114,240n.11, 
250n.30; of Sandinistas against 
Somoza, 71 

Soviet Union, 189,195-97, 
252nn.9,10111 

Spaniards, as dominant half of 
mestisaje, 160 

Spanish Conquest, 145-55,204, 
25811.5. See also Highlander 
peasant resistance, pre- 
Revolution 

Spanish elite, colonial era. See 
Class structures, Nicaraguan; 
Elites 

Spanish-Indian battles. See 
Highlander peasant resistance, 
pre-Revolution 

Spanish Line. See Linea de la 
Frontera Espanola 

Spanish patriarchy. See Class 
structures, Nicaraguan; 
Elites 

Special Forces, of FDN, 77,106, 
255n.22 

Special Liason Office (SLO), 171, 
265n.7 

SSCI. See Senate Select Committee 
on Intelligence 

State Department, United States, 
4,172,187,202,265n.l 

State Security, Sandinista, 
193-194; director confirms exile 
group in Choluteca, 70-71; kill 
highlander peasants, 26-27,30, 
44,53,56,193-94; kill Marina's 
first husband, two children, 25; 
as probable authors of Dimas's 
aisassination, 37; terrorize 
highlander peasants 26-27. 
See also Highlander peasant 
Resistance to Sandinista 
Revolution, causes of 

Strategic Headquarters, of FDN, 
93,106-108,255n.22 

Subtiava, Nahua settlement, 153 
Survival reaction. See Highlander 

peasant Resistance to 
Sandinista Revolution 

Sympathizers-in-place. See 
Highlander peasant Resistance 
to Sandinista Revolution 

Taguzgalpa, Nahua region of, 147, 
259n.14 

Tamemes, human porters, 9,147, 
259n.14 

Task Forces. See Fuerza 
Democratica Nicaragiiense. See 
also specific task forces 
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Tegucigalpa, Honduras, 73,75,81, 
171 

Tenochtitlan, Mexico, 9. See also 
Mexico City, Mexico 

Teotecinte, Honduras, 259n.19 
TFHA (Task Force on 

Humanitarian Assistance of 
AID). See AID Task Force on 
Humanitarian Assistance 

Threats. See Highlander peasant 
Resistance to Sandinista 
Revolution, causes of 

"Tigre" (Oscar Calderh), 16,17, 
4144,67 

"Tigrillo" (Encamaci6n Baldivia 
Chavarria), 46-50,61,64,88,90, 
237n.4,240n.13,244nn.1,5 

"Tiro a1 Blanco" (Jos6 Danilo 
Galeano Rodas), 60,61,64,88, 
243n.10 

Torture. See Highlander peasant 
Resistance to Sandinista 
Revolution, causes of 

"3-80, Cornandante." See 
Bermtidez Varela, Enrique 

Tribute, during Spanish 
Conquest, colonial period, 147, 
149-51,260n.35; highlanders 
see Sandinista policies as 
repetition of, 194,198 

Tuma, Nicaragua, 61,116 
Tutwiler, Margaret, 172 
26th of July Movement, Cuban 

revolutionary, 240n.18 

UN. See United Nations 
United Nations (UN), 115,170, 

257n.4,266-67nn.5,25. See also 
Observadores de las Naciones 
Unidas en Centroamerica 

United States, 5,73-74,79-81,187, 

overthrow of Somoza, 80; aids 
Somozas; and Bay of Pigs, 191; 
best-informed citizens of wrong 
about Contras, 114; breaks 
promises to Contras, after war, 
175; and Contras during Carter 
administration, 8142,206; and 
Contras during Reagan 
administration, 86,207; covert 
aid of to Contras, 4,200; 
delivers killing blow to 
Resistance, FDN, 172; Embassy 
Managua reports on, 174-75, 
177; and Escambray peasant 
rebellion in Cuba, 190-92; 
involved Americans wrongly 
suspect Contras of 
overcounting combatants, 170; 
real objectives of unclear, 205; 
uses Argentina as cover, 83-85, 
87-88; uses Contras as cold war 
surrogates, 10 

Valenzuela, David (correo), 28 
Venado (code name), 254n.8, 

255n.14 
Venezuela, support for over throw 

of Somoza, 80 
Villa Sandino, Nicaragua, 11,174 

Walakitans, 51,244n.12 
Wamblan, Nicaragua, 45,155, 

242n.50 
Weapons: El Danto trained on, 21; 

inventory of Sandinista 
arsenals, 226-29 

Weapons, MILPAS, FDN: 28,30, 
240n.6,248n.80,251n.35, 
252nn.ll,12,255nn.13,14; 
caches of, 98-99; captured, 16, 
18,32,38,44,99,171, 

248n.83'266n.6; abets 255~.13,14; from Costa Rican 
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Guardia Civil to original 
Southern Front, 78; EPS search 
for unsuccessful, 64; given to by 
peasants, 13-14,18,41,43,48, 
55; given to ONUCA by, 115; 
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